



Musquapsink Brook Watershed Restoration and Protection Plan Final Report August 2011

# Summary Musquapsink Brook Watershed Restoration and Protection Plan

#### Introduction

The Musquapsink Brook is a tributary of the Pascack Brook, which flows along the New York/New Jersey State line to its confluence with the Oradell Reservoir, which provides drinking water for an estimated 800,000 residents of Bergen and Hudson counties. The watershed area is predominantly urbanized, causing degradation of stream health and threatening the Category One waters to which the Musquapsink Brook flows.

The development of the Musquapsink Brook Watershed Restoration and Protection Plan was funded by the 319(h) Program administered through the Division of Watershed Management of the New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection (NJDEP). Working with the Bergen County Department of Health Services, Fairleigh Dickinson University, and United Water New Jersey, the Rutgers Cooperative Extension Water Resources Program has created this plan to achieve the following watershed goals:

- Initiate effective projects to improve the quality of the Musquapsink Brook Watershed.
- Increase awareness about water quality issues and promote watershed stewardship.
- Improve the quality of life in and around the Musquapsink Brook Watershed.

The NJDEP Integrated Water Quality Monitoring and Assessment Report indicates that the Musquapsink Brook is not attaining appropriate water quality standards for total phosphorus and bacterial contamination. The NJDEP has listed the Musquapsink Brook on New Jersey's 303(d) list of impaired waters. Total maximum daily loads (TMDLs) have been developed by the United States Environmental Protection Agency requiring a 10.9% reduction in total phosphorus loadings and a 96% reduction in fecal coliform loadings in the watershed. Cited sources include urban runoff and habitat modification.

The Musquapsink Brook Watershed Restoration and Protection Plan provides an overview of the status of the stream and provides suggestions for restoration and protection and a process of implementation. The Rutgers Cooperative Extension Water Resources Program proposes to use this plan to implement best management practices (BMPs) via community involvement in demonstration projects and through available grants or other funding sources.

#### **Stream Impairments and Causes**

#### Impervious Cover

The Musquapsink Brook Watershed is nearly 85% urban, with very little agricultural land use. Nonpoint source pollution is therefore largely associated with roads, buildings, pavement, and generally compacted landscapes with impaired drainage. Pollutants of concern include: sediment; oil, grease and toxic chemicals from motor vehicles; pesticides and nutrients from lawns and gardens; bacteria and nutrients from wildlife or pet waste; road salts; heavy metals from roof shingles, motor vehicles and other sources; and thermal pollution from dark impervious surfaces such as streets and rooftops. As these pollutants, generated by urban development and wildlife, accumulate on the land surface, hydrological processes such as runoff and percolation during a storm event eventually transport these contaminants into nearby streams and groundwater. The urban land use has caused significant hydrological alteration and thus accelerated the speed and extent of pollutant transportation from sources to the stream. The aggregate contribution of all nonpoint sources of pollution to the Musquapsink Brook has severely degraded surface water quality over time.

#### Erosion and Downcutting

Visual assessments and channel analyses of the Musquapsink Brook indicate that approximately 80% of the stream reaches assessed are unstable and are characterized by disturbance, incision, and excessive downcutting, which liberates sediment and alters the floodplain. Woody vegetation near the water line has been removed due to unstable bank conditions. In most cases, the downcutting and widening can be linked to impervious cover that is directly connected to the stream, resulting in flashy hydrology.

A significant feature to note is a historic mill dam located in Westwood, New Jersey. Bogert's Pond is created by this dam and is surrounded by residential neighborhoods. Impounded waters are subject to frequent floods, destabilizing river banks formerly subjected only to occasional high waters for short periods of time. This causes erosion and downcutting both upstream and downstream of the dam. Unstable, eroding streambanks and entrenched profiles are typical of the segments of stream most closely connected to the mill dam.

#### **Benthic Macroinvertebrates**

Biological assessments have become an important tool for managing water quality to meet the goals of the Clean Water Act. The benthic macroinvertebrate community occurring within the Musquapsink Brook Watershed is under some type of stress as evidenced by the extremely low numbers of organisms collected and by sensitive taxa being markedly diminished. Also, the types of organisms found within the study area are indicative of some organic pollution and habitat assessments revealed suboptimal to marginal conditions. Candidate causes of impairment within the Musquapsink Brook Watershed include:

- 1. Elevated nutrient levels (i.e., total phosphorus)
- 2. Elevated bacteria levels (i.e., fecal coliform and *E. coli*)
- 3. Degraded instream habitat
- 4. Altered hydrology
- 5. Toxicants.

#### Leaking Infrastructure

Microbial source tracking (MST) are a series of methods employed to determine sources of microbial pollution, whether from bacteria or other pathogens. A tiered approach to microbial source tracking (MST) was conducted within the watershed as part of this study. Human-related *Bacteroides* were detected at several locations within the watershed. The study was intended to provide Bergen County and its included townships with the initial information they need for targeted investigation into sanitary sewer releases to the Brook. Aging/leaking/failing infrastructure may be a likely source of the elevated bacteria levels observed within the watershed.

#### **Recommendations for Best Management Practices**

The main objective of the watershed restoration and protection plan is to prioritize the implementation of various best management practices. For this project, water quality data and flow data were collected at six sampling locations within the Musquapsink Brook Watershed. Synthesis of this data, in conjunction with the results of the visual assessments and MST studies, indicate that the most downstream portions of the watershed are the most severely impaired. Municipalities within this priority region include the Borough of Emerson, Borough of Paramus, Borough of Westwood, and Washington Township. The major emphasis of the remediation strategies is to retain stormwater runoff and loadings by disconnection of impervious surfaces, riparian corridor restoration, implementing goose/waterfowl deterrents, and initiating or enhancing education for students, homeowners, businesses, etc. on the proper management techniques for runoff and pollutant control. Watershed-wide strategies should readily produce enhancements to the flow regime and water quality throughout the Musquapsink Brook Watershed.

Priority recommendations include:

- Disconnection of impervious cover with rain gardens, rain barrels, green streets, and permeable pavement to capture, treat, and infiltrate stormwater runoff from these surfaces. Concept designs incorporating these features are included in the report for Washington Green Townhomes in Washington Township, Berkeley Elementary School in the Borough of Westwood, and for Haines Street in the Borough of Emerson.
- Restoration of riparian buffers along stream segments and ponds to prohibit waterfowl from entering the stream and filter stormwater flows. Several of these areas should be examined for possible reconnection to the floodplain. Once reconnected to the floodplain, flood waters will move much slower downstream and receive treatment by floodplain vegetation. Concept designs incorporating the restoration of riparian buffers are included in the report for Gritman Park and a segment of stream along 3<sup>rd</sup> Avenue, both in the Borough of Westwood.

Musquapsink Brook Watershed Restoration and Protection Plan Final Report August 2011

- A Pond Management Plan should be developed for Bogert's Pond and should include a sediment survey, recommendations for land use practices, and options for dam removal. This may improve issues associated with flooding and erosion in the Musquapsink Brook Watershed.
- Three general areas should be evaluated for sources of human-related bacterial contamination in Westwood Borough and Washington Township. Maintenance and inspection records of water and wastewater infrastructure should be reviewed for each of these areas. Video inspections, smoke testing, or dye testing to determine infrastructure conditions may also be considered.
- True source reduction is exceedingly enhanced by watershed-wide information and educational programs that will bring about a true change of behavior. Programs addressing the use of the land, streamside living, landscaping practices and how it impacts the waterways can be distributed by Rutgers Cooperative Extension, Bergen SWAN, and many other entities. Targeted audiences would include homeowners, businesses, students, and municipal officials.

The list of recommendations provides a guide for potential projects to be implemented to improve surface water quality and improve the overall health of the Musquapsink Brook Watershed. Key in successfully implementing these projects in the watershed will be working closely with NJDEP, municipalities, and nonprofit groups to develop a goal-oriented schedule and time table. This plan is intended to be a guide for the project partners as they work to achieve water quality improvements in the watershed. The study and recommendations should be viewed as a working document and periodically updated as new issues arise, new data is collected, and when projects have been successfully completed. Modeling and monitoring will be key components in the assessment of restoration project successes. The RCE Water Resources Program is always available to work with stakeholders to implement stormwater management strategies throughout the watershed.







# MUSQUAPSINK BROOK WATERSHED RESTORATION AND PROTECTION PLAN

# FINAL

Developed by the Rutgers Cooperative Extension Water Resources Program Funded by the New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection RP 07-002

December 11, 2012

# **Table of Contents**

1.	ACK	NOWLEDGEMENTS	7
2.	EXE	CUTIVE SUMMARY	7
3.	INTI	RODUCTION	8
	2.1		0
	3.1	DACKGROUND	.0 0
	3.2	PINDOSE OF THIS DI AN	۶. ٥
	5.5	I UKPOSE OF THIS I LAN	.7
4.	MUS	QUAPSINK BROOK WATERSHED	11
	4.1	PHYSICAL CHARACTERISTICS	11
	4.1.1	Geography and Topography	11
	4.1.2	Demographics	14
	4.1.3	Climate	14
	4.1.4	Geology	15
	4.1.5	Soils	17
	4.1.6	Streams and Groundwater	20
	4.2	CRITICAL SOURCE AREAS	20
	4.2.1	Wetlands	20
	4.2.2	Hydric Soils	23
	4.2.3	Riparian Areas	23
	4.3	LAND USE	25
5.	CAU	SES AND SOURCES OF POLLUTION	27
	5.1	Hydrological Alteration	27
	5.2	SURFACE WATER QUALITY	28
	5.2.1	Designated Uses and Impairments2	28
	5.2.2	Monitoring Stations	30
	5.2.3	Monitoring Events	32
	5.2.4	Summary of Water Quality Data	33
	5.2.5	Biological Monitoring Data	34
	5.2.6	Stressor Identification	38
	5.2.7	Microbial Source Tracking4	40
	5.3	NONPOINT SOURCES	17
	5.4	POINT SOURCES	18
	5.5	EROSION AND SEDIMENTATION	50
	5.6	STREAM VISUAL ASSESSMENT PROTOCOL (SVAP) DATA	55
	5.6.1	Using the SVAP Data	58

6.	EST	IMATED LOADING TARGETS AND PRIORITIES	58
(	5.1.	LOADING TARGETS	58
(	5.2.	PRIORITY RANKING	58
7.	NON	POINT SOURCE POLLUTION MANAGEMENT MEASURES	64
2	7.1	LOAD REDUCTION SCENARIOS	64
	7.1.1	Total Phosphorus	64
	7.1.2	Fecal Coliform/E. coli	67
7	7.2	URBAN BEST MANAGEMENT PRACTICES	68
	7.2.1	Rain Gardens	68
	7.2.2	Permeable Pavement	
	7.2.3	Green Streets	
	7.2.4	Rain Barrels	71
	7.2.5	Bank Stabilization and Riparian Buffer Restoration	
7	7.3	SITE SPECIFIC RESTORATION PROJECTS	73
	7.3.1	Subwatershed MB1	74
	7.3.2	Subwatershed MB2	
	7.3.3	Subwatershed MB3	
	7.3.4	Subwatershed MB4	86
	7.3.5	Subwatershed MB5	96
	7.3.6	Subwatershed MB6	
7	.4	BMP CONCEPT DESIGNS	106
7	7.5	POINT SOURCE RECOMMENDATIONS	106
8.	INF	ORMATION AND EDUCATION	106
9.	IMP	LEMENTATION PLAN AND MEASURABLE MILESTONES	107
10.	EST	IMATED BUDGET, SOURCE OF FUNDING, AND TECHNICAL ASSISTANCE	108
11.	CON	ICLUSIONS	108
RE	FEREN	NCES	109
AP	PENDI	CES	113

# Appendices

Appendix A:	Musquapsink Brook Watershed Restoration and Protection Plan Data Report
Appendix B:	Optical Brightener Sampling Report
Appendix C:	Site Specific Restoration Projects
Appendix D:	Select Best Management Practice Concept Designs

# List of Figures

Figure 3.1: Municipalities and Waterbodies Located within the Musquapsink Brook Watershed	10
Figure 4.1: Geographic Location of the Musquapsink Brook Watershed	12
Figure 4.2: Spatial Distribution of Elevation within the Musquapsink Brook Watershed	13
Figure 4.3: Bedrock Formations within the Musquapsink Brook Watershed	16
Figure 4.4: Soil Types within the Musquapsink Brook Watershed	18
Figure 4.5: Linear and Delineated Wetlands within the Musquapsink Brook Watershed	22
Figure 4.6: Riparian Areas within the Musquapsink Brook Watershed	24
Figure 4.7: Spatial Distribution of Land Use Types within the Musquapsink Brook Watershed	26
Figure 5.1: Water Quality Sampling Location Map	31
Figure 5.2: <i>Bacteroides</i> Quantifications at Each Sampling Site on July 18, 2008	41
Figure 5.3: <i>Bacteroides</i> Quantifications at Each Sampling Site on August 21, 2008	42
Figure 5.4: Sampling sites for Optical Brighteners in the Musquapsink Brook Watershed	43
Figure 5.5: Average Fluorometric Readings for Samples Collected in May and August, 2010	44
Figure 5.6 Regions identified for further trackdown of human-source bacteria contamination of surfa	ce water
(a) Stream segment between Forest Avenue and Pascack Road, Washington Township (b) Stream	segment
between 4 <sup>th</sup> Avenue and Old Hook Road, Westwood Borough (c) Stream segment along Pascac	k Road,
between Sutton Way and Eastview Terrace, Washington Township	46
Figure 5.7: Musquapsink Brook Watershed Sites for Rosgen Stream Classification Analysis	52
Figure 5.8: Rosgen Stream Classification Cross Section, Plan and Profile Views (Rosgen, 1994)	53
Figure 5.9: Stream Visual Assessment Reaches with Scores in the Musquapsink Brook Watershed	56
Figure 7.1: Example of a Rain Garden installed at the Rutgers Cooperative Extension of Burlington	County,
NJ in the Lower Delaware Watershed	69
Figure 7.6: Example of an Eroded and Unstable Streambank in Musquapsink Brook Watershed	72
Figure 7.8 Aerial View of Subwatershed MB1, Borough of Woodcliff Lake Study Area	75
Figure 7.9 Aerial View of Subwatershed MB2, Hillsdale Borough Study Area	78
Figure 7.10 Aerial View of Subwatershed MB2, Washington Township Study Area	80
Figure 7.11 Aerial View of Subwatershed MB3, Washington Township Study Area	83
Figure 7.12 Aerial View of Subwatershed MB4, Borough of Emerson Study Area	86
Figure 7.13 Aerial View of Subwatershed MB4, Borough of Paramus Study Area	88
Figure 7.14 Aerial View of Subwatershed MB4, Washington Township Study Area	91
Figure 7.15 Aerial View of Subwatershed MB4, Borough of Westwood Study Area	94
Figure 7.16 Aerial View of Subwatershed MB5, Borough of Emerson Study Area	96
Figure 7.17 Aerial View of Subwatershed MB5, Borough of Westwood Study Area	98
Figure 7.18 Aerial View of Subwatershed MB6, Borough of Emerson Study Area	101
Figure 7.19 Aerial View of Subwatershed MB6, Borough of Westwood Study Area	103

# List of Tables

Table 4.1: Summary of 2010 United States Census Bureau data
Table 4.2: Total Precipitation and Mean Temperature for Northern New Jersey (includes Bergen County)15
Table 4.3: Summary of Soil Types Shown in Figure 4.4 (Soil Survey Geographic (SSURGO) Database, 2010)
Table 4.4: Wetland Types and Coverage within the Musquapsink Brook Watershed (NJDEP Land Use/Land
Cover Database, 2007)21
Table 4.5: Hydric Soil Types and Coverage within the Musquapsink Brook Watershed (SSURGO Database,
2010)
Table 4.6: Area and Percentage of Land Uses within the Musquapsink Brook Watershed (NJDEP Land
Use/Land Cover Database)
Table 5.1: New Jersey Surface Water Quality Standards for Different Substances and Surface Waters
(NJDEP, 2011)
Table 5.2: Water Quality Monitoring Location IDs and Descriptions
Table 5.3: Types of Monitoring Events for Each Sampling Date    33
Table 5.4: Summary of Water Quality Data Collected in this Planning Effort and Comparison to Water
Quality Standards
Table 5.5: Summary of NJDEP Ambient Biological Monitoring Network Results (NJDEP, 1994; NJDEP,
2000; NJDEP, 2008)
Table 5.6: Summary of Results for Optical Brightener Levels for Each Subwatershed         45
Table 5.9: Channel Evolution Evaluations for Musquapsink Brook Watershed
Table 5.10:         SVAP Assessment Elements and Data for Musquapsink Brook Watershed
Tables 6.4 a,b,c: Priority Watersheds by Surface Water Quality Parameter
Table 7.1: Total Phosphorus Loading Analysis According to 2007 Land use/Land cover Data for the Priority
Subwatersheds in the Musquapsink Brook Watershed65
Table 7.2: BMP Implementation Scenario and TP Load Reductions         66
Table 7.3 Projects Identified in Subwatershed MB1, Borough of Woodcliff Lake with Load Reduction
Scenarios76
Table 7.4 BMP Management Measures for Project Locations in Subwatershed MB1, Borough of Woodcliff
Lake77
Table 7.5 Projects Identified in Subwatershed MB2, Hillsdale Borough with Load Reduction Scenarios79
Table 7.6 BMP Management Measures for Project Locations in Subwatershed MB2, Hillsdale Borough79
Table 7.7 Projects Identified in Subwatershed MB2, Washington Township with Load Reduction Scenarios
Table 7.8 BMP Management Measures for Project Locations in Subwatershed MB2, Washington Township

Table 7.9 Projects Identified in Subwatershed MB3, Washington Township with Load Reduction Scenarios Table 7.10 BMP Management Measures for Project Locations in Subwatershed MB3, Washington Township Table 7.11 Projects Identified in Subwatershed MB4, Borough of Emerson with Load Reduction Scenarios 87 Table 7.12 BMP Management Measures for Project Locations in Subwatershed MB4, Borough of Emerson Table 7.13 Projects Identified in Subwatershed MB4, Borough of Paramus with Load Reduction Scenarios 89 Table 7.14 BMP Management Measures for Project Locations in Subwatershed MB4, Borough of Paramus Table 7.15 Projects Identified in Subwatershed MB4, Washington Township with Load Reduction Scenarios 
 Table 7.16 BMP Management Measures for Project Locations in Subwatershed MB4, Washington Township
 Table 7.17 Projects Identified in Subwatershed MB4, Borough of Westwood with Load Reduction Scenarios 
 Table 7.18 BMP Management Measures for Project Locations in Subwatershed MB4. Borough of Westwood
 Table 7.19 Projects Identified in Subwatershed MB5, Borough of Emerson with Load Reduction Scenarios 97 Table 7.20 BMP Management Measures for Project Locations in Subwatershed MB5, Borough of Emerson Table 7.21 Projects Identified in Subwatershed MB5, Borough of Westwood with Load Reduction Scenarios 
 Table 7.22 BMP Management Measures for Project Locations in Subwatershed MB5, Borough of Westwood

 Table 7.23 Projects Identified in Subwatershed MB6, Borough of Emerson with Load Reduction Scenarios
 Table 7.24 BMP Management Measures for Project Locations in Subwatershed MB6, Borough of Emerson Table 7.25 Projects Identified in Subwatershed MB6, Borough of Westwood with Load Reduction Scenarios Table 7.26 BMP Management Measures for Project Locations in Subwatershed MB6, Borough of Westwood 

# 1. Acknowledgements

The Musquapsink Brook Watershed Restoration and Protection Plan was developed by the Rutgers Cooperative Extension Water Resources Program and was funded by the **New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection** (NJDEP) through the 319(h) Grants for Nonpoint Source Pollution Control under Grant #RP 07-002. This document has been produced by the Rutgers Cooperative Extension Water Resources Program (www.water.rutgers.edu).

This document represents the culmination of efforts from all project partners. The Rutgers Cooperative Extension Water Resources Program would like to thank **Marion McClary**, **Ph.D.**, Associate Professor of Biological Sciences Co-Director, School of Natural Sciences at Fairleigh Dickinson University, who collected and analyzed the biological monitoring data; the **Bergen County Department of Health Services**, who assisted with water quality sampling and fieldwork; **Arnold Vernick**, **P.E.**, project manager on behalf of the Bergen County Department of Health Services; and **Raymond Cywinski** of United Water New Jersey, who served as project liaison between local watershed organizations, Rutgers University, and Bergen County.

The *Musquapsink Brook Watershed Restoration and Protection Plan* maps were developed using NJDEP Geographic Information System (GIS) digital data, but this secondary product has not been verified by NJDEP and is not State-authorized.

# 2. Executive Summary

The Musquapsink Brook Watershed Restoration and Protection Plan characterizes the watershed and provides insight into the problems facing the waterway and potential solutions. The Musquapsink Brook is a tributary of the Pascack Brook, which flows along the New York/New Jersey State line to its confluence with the Oradell Reservoir, which provides drinking water for an estimated 800,000 residents of Bergen and Hudson counties.

The watershed area is predominantly urbanized. This intensive land use has caused degradation of stream health, threatening the Category One waters to which the Musquapsink Brook flows. With the introduction of enhanced stormwater management, this watershed can continue these land use practices while achieving sustainability and improved water quality. Management measures that will minimize stormwater runoff will be essential to reducing phosphorus and fecal bacteria loads that now degrade the quality of the surface waters within the watershed.

Working with the Bergen County Department of Health Services, Fairleigh Dickinson University, and United Water New Jersey, the Rutgers Cooperative Extension Water Resources Program has created this plan to provide recommended implementation projects, measureable milestones and suggestions for technical assistance and funding. Along with site specific projects, watershed wide educational components will be essential for obtaining designated use goals for the future.

# 3. Introduction

The development of the Musquapsink Brook Watershed Restoration and Protection Plan is funded by the Federal Clean Water Act Section 319(h) Program administered through the Division of Watershed Management of the New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection (NJDEP). The project began in September 2006 and was granted an extended deadline of June 30, 2012. This chapter describes the general background of the planning area, the project organizational structure, and the purpose of the watershed restoration and protection plan.

### 3.1 Background

The Musquapsink Brook Watershed, located above U.S. Geological Survey (USGS) streamflow gauge #01377499 at River Vale, is approximately 6.9 square miles (about 4,407 acres) in area. The Musquapsink Brook Watershed is located in Bergen County and encompasses part of Woodcliff Lake Borough, Saddle River Borough, Hillsdale Borough, Washington Township, Westwood Borough, Emerson Borough, Paramus Borough, and Oradell Borough. Musquapsink Brook is approximately 7.3 river miles from the headwaters in Woodcliff Lake Borough to its confluence with the Pascack Brook at the border between Westwood and River Vale, New Jersey. The largest surface water body in the drainage area is Schlegel Lake, which encompasses 27.0 acres (Figure 3.1).

Under certain conditions, United Water of New Jersey diverts water from the Saddle River to the Oradell Reservoir through the Musquapsink Brook (Figure 3.1). The United Water of New Jersey records show that during the surface water sampling period (June 1, 2007 and December 31, 2007) a total of 551 million gallons of river water was transferred.

The NJDEP funded a characterization and assessment for Watershed Management Area 5 (WMA5) in which the Musquapsink Watershed is located. The WMA5 report was released in 2005 and analyzed data for the entire the WMA5 to identify concerns with land-based runoff; groundwater and water supply issues; point and nonpoint sources; and important natural resources.

Based upon numerous monitoring sources including the NJDEP Ambient Biomonitoring Network (AMNET) and the NJDEP and the USGS, the Musquapsink Brook is a moderately-to-severely impaired waterway. According to the 2010 New Jersey Integrated Water Quality Monitoring and Assessment Report, the Musquapsink Brook (reported as 'Pascack Brook (below Westwood gage)') is reported to not support the following designated:

- Agricultural Water Supply: impairment due to total dissolved solids;
- Aquatic Life: impairments due to low dissolved oxygen, pH, and total phosphorus;
- Primary Contact Recreation: impairment due to fecal coliform;
- Public Water Supply: impairment due to arsenic.

A TMDL was established in 2002 for the Musquapsink Brook requiring a 96% reduction in fecal coliform load for 7.3 miles of stream. In 2005, a TMDL for total phosphorus (TP) was established for the same 7.3 mile stretch of stream. This TMDL requires a 21.43% reduction in total phosphorus TP loadings from medium/high density residential, low density/rural residential,

commercial, industrial, and mixed urban/other urban land uses to achieve an overall 10.9% reduction in TP loadings to the Musquapsink Brook. Additional aquatic life surface water quality impairments will need to be addressed through the TMDL process.

The NJDEP Bureau of Biological & Freshwater Monitoring maintains one AMNET station within the Musquapsink Brook Watershed (Station AN0206, Westwood, NJ). This station, located at Harrington Avenue, has been sampled in July of 1993, 1998, and 2003. For each of the three sampling rounds, the Musquapsink Brook was rated as a moderately impaired site, characterized by reduced macroinvertebrate taxa richness.

### **3.2 Partnerships and Accomplishments**

Development of the Musquapsink Brook Watershed Restoration Plan is a multi-disciplinary and multi-agency collaborative effort. The partner agencies that have collaborated include Bergen County Department of Health Services, Fairleigh Dickenson University, United Water of New Jersey, and Bergen Save the Watershed Action Network (Bergen SWAN).

## 3.3 Purpose of this Plan

This watershed restoration and protection plan is the culmination of results obtained from the completion of project tasks and objectives. This plan will detail the management measures needed to achieve the necessary reduction in fecal coliform and total phosphorus loadings. In addition, this plan will provide an education component for education and outreach to enhance the public's understanding of the project and its goals. Schedules and measurable milestones for project implementation will also be included.



Figure 3.1: Municipalities and Waterbodies Located within the Musquapsink Brook Watershed

# 4. Musquapsink Brook Watershed

## 4.1 Physical Characteristics

### 4.1.1 Geography and Topography

The Musquapsink Brook Watershed is located in Bergen County in the northeastern part of New Jersey. The headwaters of the Musquapsink Brook are located in Woodcliff Lake Borough. The 7.3 miles of stream flow through Hillsdale Borough, Washington Township, and Paramus Borough, to its confluence with the Pascack Brook in Westwood Borough. The watershed area itself is approximately 6.9 square miles (about 4,407 acres) and also includes portions of Saddle River, Emerson and Oradell Boroughs. The geographic location is shown in Figure 4.1.

The highest elevations within the watershed are at approximately 407 feet above mean sea level (AMSL). The lowest elevations are around 28.9 feet AMSL. Figure 4.2 shows the spatial distribution of elevation within the watershed.



Figure 4.1: Geographic Location of the Musquapsink Brook Watershed



Figure 4.2: Spatial Distribution of Elevation within the Musquapsink Brook Watershed

#### 4.1.2 Demographics

The Musquapsink Brook flows through eight municipalities all located within Bergen County (Figure 4.1). Demographic data for these municipalities were obtained from the United States Census Bureau 2010 census.

Bergen County has a population of 905,116 people, which is a 2.4% increase in the population from 2000 (884,118). The majority of the people in Bergen County are White (71.9%) with the next highest race are Hispanics/Latinos (16.1%). There are 352, 388 housing units in the county and the median household income is \$81,708. Similar data is presented in Table 4.1 for each municipality in the Musquapsink Brook Watershed.

Municipality	2010 Population	2000 Population	% Population Change	Housing Units	Median Household Income
Emerson Borough	7,401	7,197	+2.8	2,552	\$99,292
Hillsdale Borough	10,219	10,087	+1.3%	3,567	\$116,021
Oradell Borough	7,978	8,047	-0.9%	2,831	\$123,750
Paramus Borough	26,342	25,737	+2.4%	8,915	\$104,986
Saddle River Borough	3,152	3,201	-1.5%	1,341	\$97,167
Washington Borough	9,102	8,938	+1.8%	3,341	\$117,394
Westwood Borough	10,908	10,999	-0.8%	4,636	\$79,133
Woodcliff Lake Borough	5,730	5,745	-0.3%	1,980	\$150,404

Table 4.1: Summary of 2010 United States Census Bureau data

### 4.1.3 Climate

The Musquapsink Brook Watershed lies in the Central Climate Zone of New Jersey. According to the Office of the New Jersey State Climatologist, the extensive urbanization in this zone results in a noticeable heat island effect. The concentration of buildings and paved surfaces retains heat, affecting the local temperatures. The observed night-time temperatures in heavily developed parts of the zone are regularly warmer than surrounding suburban and rural areas. The northern edge of the Central Zone is often the boundary between freezing and non-freezing precipitation in the winter months.

Based on recorded observations from years 1981-2010 for Northern New Jersey, the Musquapsink Brook Watershed receives, on average, 49.37 inches of precipitation annually (Table 4.2). The mean temperature is 51.6 degrees Fahrenheit (°F) from 1981-2010 (Table 4.2).

Year	Total Precipitation (inches)	Departure from Normal (inches)	Mean Temperature (°F)	Departure from Normal (°F)
1981	40.93	-8.86	50.1	-0.8
1982	42.20	-7.59	50.0	-0.9
1983	64.30	+14.51	51.3	+0.4
1984	54.68	+4.89	50.8	-0.1
1985	42.66	-7.13	51.0	+0.1
1986	50.33	+0.54	50.7	-0.2
1987	47.90	-1.89	50.9	0.0
1988	44.20	-5.59	50.2	-0.7
1989	55.23	+5.44	50.0	-0.9
1990	56.19	+6.40	53.0	+2.1
1991	42.64	-7.15	53.3	+2.4
1992	44.17	-5.62	50.2	-0.7
1993	45.58	-4.21	51.0	+0.1
1994	48.56	-1.23	50.9	0.0
1995	42.41	-7.38	51.1	+0.2
1996	62.96	+13.17	50.4	-0.5
1997	43.25	-6.54	50.6	-0.3
1998	44.05	-5.74	54.0	+3.1
1999	48.99	-0.80	52.6	+1.7
2000	46.22	-3.57	50.4	-0.5
2001	36.96	-12.83	52.4	+1.5
2002	47.44	-2.35	53.0	+2.1
2003	62.41	+12.62	50.5	-0.4
2004	52.71	+2.92	51.8	+0.9
2005	52.14	+2.35	53.1	+2.2
2006	55.05	+5.26	54.4	+3.5
2007	55.85	+6.06	52.8	+1.9
2008	51.35	+1.56	52.9	+2.0
2009	50.35	+0.56	51.8	+0.9
2010	49.31	-0.48	53.9	+3.0
MEAN	49.37	-0.42	51.6	+0.7

Table 4.2: Total Precipitation and Mean Temperature for Northern New Jersey (includes Bergen County)

#### 4.1.4 Geology

The Musquapsink Brook Watershed is located wholly within the Piedmont Plain physiographic province of New Jersey. The Passaic Formation (formerly known as the Brunswick Formation) is the dominant bedrock unit in the Watershed. The Passaic Formation consists of reddish brown, thin-bedded to thick-bedded shale, siltstone, and very fine-grained to coarse-grained sandstone. It is defined as a reddish-brown shale, siltstone and mudstone with a few green and brown shale interbeds; red and dark-gray interbedded argillites occur near the base of the geologic unit. There are also conglomerate and sandstone beds within the formation. See Figure 4.3 for the spatial distribution of bedrock in the Musquapsink Brook Watershed.



Figure 4.3: Bedrock Formations within the Musquapsink Brook Watershed

The fine-grained sandstones, shales, and thin-bedded siltstones of the Passaic Formation serve as the primary water-bearing layers. Massive siltstone beds often confine these layers. In the Passaic Formation, vertical to near vertical joints may interconnect water-bearing layers. The New Jersey Geological Survey ranks the Passaic Formation as a 'C' aquifer indicating that these rocks have moderate capacity to support major water-supply wells.

#### 4.1.5 Soils

Major soils types in the watershed are: Dunellen-Urban land complex (DuuA, DuuB, DuuC, and DuuD; 26.7%), Wethersfield-Urban land complex (WeuB, WeuC, WeuD; 21.6%), and Udorthents (UdwB, UdwuB; 11.8%). These three soil types account for 60.1% of the Musquapsink Brook Watershed soils. The details of their area distribution are presented in Figure 4.4 and described in Table 4.3.

According to the 1995 Soil Survey of Bergen County, New Jersey, the Dunellen-Urban land complexes consist of 55% Dunellen soil, 30% urban land, and 15% included soils (silt and/or fine sand layers in subsoils and substratum). Typically, the surface layer of the Dunellen soil is characterized by 5 inches of very dark grayish brown loam. The subsoil is brown loam about 21 inches thick. The substratum extends to a depth of 66 inches or more and is characterized by stratified reddish brown gravelly sand, sand, and loamy sand. Urban land consists of areas in which the surface is covered by parking lots, patios, paved walkways, buildings, and other structures. Surface runoff is rapid. Permeability is moderate in the subsoil layer and rapid in the substratum. The available water capacity and hazard of erosion is moderate for this soil layer. The high water table is located at a depth greater than 6 feet in this soil complex. Depth to bedrock is greater than 60 inches.

The Wethersfield-Urban land complexes consist of 55% Wethersfield soil, 30% urban land, and 15% included soils. The surface of the Wethersfield soil is dark brown gravelly loam about 8 inches thick. The subsoil is characterized by an upper 10 inches of yellowish brown gravelly loam and a lower 8 inches of brown gravelly loam. The substratum extends to a depth of 65 inches or more and is characterized by reddish yellow gravelly fine sandy loam that is very firm in place. Surface runoff is moderate. Permeability is moderate in the subsoil and slow in the substratum. The water table is seasonally high from February through April for this soil type, with a depth ranging from 1.5 to 2.5 feet. Depth to bedrock is greater than 60 inches.

The Udorthents, wet substratum units, are located on upland stream terraces in drainageways and in areas of marine or estuarine deposits. Udorthents and urban lands are typically so intricately mixed that they are not mapped separately. Udorthent areas have been filled and smoothed or otherwise extensively disturbed to a depth of three feet or more. In most areas the original soils are presumed to have been deep, somewhat poorly drained soils that were subjected to flooding or prolonged ponding. The fill material generally consists of a mixture of soil material and stone, boulders, or rubble. Urban land consists of areas in which the surface is covered by parking lots, patios, paved walkways, buildings, and other structures.



Figure 4.4: Soil Types within the Musquapsink Brook Watershed

Map Unit Symbol	Soil Name	Acres	Percent
AdrAt	Adrian muck, 0 to 2 percent slopes, frequently flooded	82	1.9%
BohB	Boonton moderately well drained gravelly loam, 3 to 8 percent slopes	17	0.4%
BohC	Boonton moderately well drained gravelly loam, 8 to 15 percent slopes	20	0.5%
BohD	Boonton moderately well drained gravelly loam, 15 to 25 percent slopes	30	0.7%
BouB	Boonton-Urban land complex, 0 to 8 percent slopes	50	1.1%
BouC	Boonton-Urban land complex, 8 to 15 percent slopes	149	3.4%
BouD	Boonton-Urban land complex, 15 to 25 percent slopes	84	1.9%
BouE	Boonton-Urban land complex, 25 to 45 percent slopes	63	1.4%
CarAt	Carlisle muck, 0 to 2 percent slopes, frequently flooded	36	0.8%
DuoB	Dunellen loam, 3 to 8 percent slopes	5	0.1%
DuuA	Dunellen-Urban land complex, 0 to 3 percent slopes	264	6.0%
DuuB	Dunellen-Urban land complex, 3 to 8 percent slopes	307	7.0%
DuuC	Dunellen-Urban land complex, 8 to 15 percent slopes	588	13.3%
DuuD	Dunellen-Urban land complex, 15 to 25 percent slopes	19	0.4%
FmhAt	Fluvaquents, loamy, 0 to 3 percent slopes, frequently flooded	27	0.6%
HamB	Haledon gravelly loam, 3 to 8 percent slopes	61	1.4%
HasB	Haledon-Urban land complex, 3 to 8 percent slopes	48	1.1%
OtsE	Otisville gravelly loamy sand, 25 to 35 percent slopes	24	0.5%
PrnAt	Preakness silt loam, 0 to 3 percent slopes, frequently flooded	55	1.2%
RkrA	Riverhead sandy loam, 0 to 3 percent slopes	8	0.2%
RkrB	Riverhead sandy loam, 3 to 8 percent slopes	213	4.8%
RkrC	Riverhead sandy loam, 8 to 15 percent slopes	93	2.1%
UdkttB	Udorthents, loamy, 0 to 8 percent slopes, frequently flooded	15	0.3%
UdrB	Udorthents, refuse substratum, 0 to 8 percent slopes	14	0.3%
UdwB	Udorthents, wet substratum, 0 to 8 percent slopes	137	3.1%
UdwuB	Udorthents, wet substratum-Urban land complex	381	8.6%
UR	Urban land	203	4.6%
WATER	Water	33	0.7%
WemB	Wethersfield gravelly loam, 3 to 8 percent slopes	67	1.5%
WemC	Wethersfield gravelly loam, 8 to 15 percent slopes	181	4.1%
WemD	Wethersfield gravelly loam, 15 to 25 percent slopes	36	0.8%
WemE	Wethersfield gravelly loam, 25 to 35 percent slopes	147	3.3%
WeuB	Wethersfield-Urban land complex, 3 to 8 percent slopes	185	4.2%
WeuC	Wethersfield-Urban land complex, 8 to 15 percent slopes	470	10.7%
WeuD	Wethersfield-Urban land complex, 15 to 25 percent slopes	295	6.7%
TOTAL		4,407	100%

Tuble net Summary of Son Types Shown in Figure in (Son Survey Geographic (SSOTGO) Dutubuse, 2010
--

Soils that are described as 'frequently flooded' (Table 4.3) are soils in which flooding is likely to occur often under usual weather conditions (more than 50 percent chance in any year, or more than 50 times in 100 years). There are 215 acres of these soils in the Musquapsink Brook Watershed (Table 4.3).

#### 4.1.6 Streams and Groundwater

The Musquapsink Brook is a tributary of the Pascack Brook, which flows along the New York/New Jersey State line to its confluence with the Oradell Reservoir. The Reservoir is managed by United Water of New Jersey and provides drinking water for an estimated 800,000 residents of Bergen and Hudson counties (United Water, 2010). The Pascack Brook and its tributaries are classified as FW2-NT (C1), or freshwater (FW) non-trout (NT) category one (C1) in the 2010 N.J.A.C. 7:9B New Jersey Surface Water Quality Criteria. "FW2" refers to water bodies that are used for primary and secondary contact recreation; industrial and agricultural water supply; maintenance, migration, and propagation of natural and established biota; public potable water supply after conventional filtration treatment and disinfection; and any other reasonable uses. "NT" means those freshwaters that have not been designated as trout production or trout maintenance. NT waters are not suitable for trout due to physical, chemical, or biological characteristics, but can support other fish species. "C1" refers to those waters designated for protection from measurable changes in water quality based on exceptional ecological significance, exceptional recreational significance, exceptional water supply significance or exceptional fisheries resource(s) to protect their aesthetic value (color, clarity, scenic setting) and ecological integrity (habitat, water quality and biological functions) (NJDEP, 2010). The C1 classification for the Musquapsink Brook and Pascack Brook are due to their significance as sources for the Oradell Reservoir.

## 4.2 Critical Source Areas

### 4.2.1 Wetlands

According to state Freshwater Wetlands Protection Act Rules (N.J.A.C. 7:7A), a wetland is any "area that is inundated or saturated by surface water or groundwater at a frequency and duration sufficient to support, and that under normal circumstances does support, a prevalence of vegetation typically adapted for life in saturated soil conditions, commonly known as hydrophytic vegetation; provided, however, that the [NJDEP], in designating a wetland, shall use the three-parameter approach (that is, hydrology, soils and vegetation)" (NJDEP, 2009). These wetlands include tidally influenced wetlands which have not been included on a promulgated map pursuant to the Wetlands Act of 1970 (N.J.S.A. 13:9A-1 et seq).

Generally, wetlands are lands where saturation with water is the dominant factor determining the nature of soil development and the types of plant and animal communities living in the soil and on its surface (Cowardin, 1979). Wetlands include swamps, marshes, bogs, and similar areas. The NJDEP Land Use Regulation program primarily regulates wetlands in New Jersey. NJDEP has adopted the federal wetlands program, and thus is the lead regulating agency. The U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (USACOE) and NJDEP both have jurisdiction over tidal wetlands, navigable waters and wetlands located within 1,000 feet of navigable waterways. New Jersey protects wetlands and transition areas under the New Jersey Freshwater Wetlands Protection Act

(NJDEP, 1998). The federal Clean Water Act, Section 404 (33 U.S.C. 1344) is enforced by the USACOE and regulates navigable waters, tributaries of navigable waters and wetlands.

NJDEP developed and maintains two types of wetlands information for general planning and regulatory purposes. The first is the delineated wetlands in the NJDEP land use/cover change databases. The second is the linear wetlands database derived from the freshwater wetlands data generated under the New Jersey Freshwater Wetlands Mapping Program. The linear wetlands are intended to serve as a resource for analysis rather than regulatory delineations. The Musquapsink Brook Watershed contains approximately 8.6 miles of linear wetlands and 199.4 acres of delineated wetlands. Over 89% of the delineated wetland area is categorized as Deciduous Wooded Wetlands (Table 4.4). See Figure 4.5 below for the spatial distribution of linear and delineated wetlands within the watershed. Table 4.4 provides a list of wetland types and coverage (in acres) within the Musquapsink Brook Watershed.

 Table 4.4: Wetland Types and Coverage within the Musquapsink Brook Watershed (NJDEP Land Use/Land Cover Database, 2007)

Wetland Type	Area (acres)	Percent of Wetland Area
Agricultural Wetlands (Modified)	2.4	1.2%
Deciduous Scrub/Shrub Wetlands	5.1	2.6%
Deciduous Wooded Wetlands	178.3	89.4%
Disturbed Wetlands	3.2	1.6%
Herbaceous Wetlands	0.5	0.2%
Managed Wetland In Built-Up Maintained Recreational Area	5.2	2.6%
Managed Wetland In Maintained Lawn Greenspace	4.2	2.1%
Mixed Wooded Wetlands (Deciduous Dominated)	0.5	0.2%
TOTAL	199.4	100%

Wetlands provide important hydrological functions, such as filtering pollutants from stormwater runoff, acting as storage areas for flood waters, protecting stream banks from erosion, providing habitat for wildlife, and providing recreational opportunities for humans. The delineated wetlands represent only about 4.5% of the land area in the Musquapsink Watershed. The loss of wetlands to urbanization significantly alters the watershed hydrology and contributes to water quality and quantity problems observed in the Musquapsink Brook Watershed.



Figure 4.5: Linear and Delineated Wetlands within the Musquapsink Brook Watershed

#### 4.2.2 Hydric Soils

The New Jersey Freshwater Wetlands Protection Act Rules (N.J.A.C. 7:7A) defines hydric soils as soils that in their "undrained condition is saturated, flooded, or ponded long enough during the growing season to develop anaerobic conditions that favor the growth and regeneration of hydrophytic vegetation" (NJDEP, 2009). Hydric soils are commonly associated with wetland areas and are strongly influenced by the presence of water. Wetland conditions may exist without the presence of hydric soils.

There are four different hydric soil types in the Musquapsink Brook Watershed, with coverage of approximately 189 acres as presented in Table 4.5. The spatial distribution of hydric soils is presented in Figure 4.5 above. These are the same soils that are described as 'frequently flooded' in Table 4.3.

Description	Area (acres)
Adrian muck	81.8
Carlisle muck	36.6
Fluvaquents, loamy	27.3
Preakness silt loam	55.0
Udorthents, loamy	15.1
TOTAL	215.8

# Table 4.5: Hydric Soil Types and Coverage within the Musquapsink Brook Watershed (SSURGO Database,2010)

### 4.2.3 Riparian Areas

Riparian areas, or riparian zones, are areas of land and vegetation within and adjacent to a regulated water, but not man-made lagoons, stormwater management basin, or oceanfront barrier island, spit or peninsula, nor along the Atlantic Ocean (NJDEP, 2010). Riparian areas are best as undeveloped areas adjacent to streams that are either within the 100-year floodplain, contain hydric soils, contain streamside wetlands and associated transition areas, or are within a 150-foot or 300-foot wildlife passage corridor on both sides of a stream. Riparian zones are important natural filters of stormwater runoff, protecting aquatic environments from excessive sedimentation, pollutants, and erosion. They supply shelter and food for many aquatic animals and also provide shade, an important part of stream temperature regulation. Because the streams within the Musquapsink Brook Watershed are designated as "C1," New Jersey regulations require a 300 foot buffer on either side of the waterway (NJDEP, 2010). Approximately 1,444 acres of land are designated as riparian area in the Musquapsink Brook Watershed using the 300 foot buffer rule (Figure 4.6).

Riparian zones are instrumental in water quality improvement for both surface runoff and water flowing into streams through subsurface or groundwater flow. The decrease of riparian areas in the Musquapsink Brook Watershed due to urbanization has contributed to poor surface water quality conditions and increased streambank erosion.



Figure 4.6: Riparian Areas within the Musquapsink Brook Watershed

#### 4.3 Land Use

The land uses in this watershed are classified under six broad land use categories including agriculture, barren, forest, urban, water and wetlands; these are further defined by 50 subcategories of land use following a 4-digit land use classification code based on a modified Anderson Land Classification system (Anderson *et al.*, 1976). Table 4.6 presents the area and percentages of land uses in the Musquapsink Brook Watershed in 1995, 2002, and 2007. The extent distribution of land use types for the year 2007 is displayed in Figure 4.7.

L and Usa	1995		2002		2007	
Land Use	Acres	Percent	Acres	Percent	Acres	Percent
Agriculture	23.2	0.5%	23.4	0.5%	19.7	0.4%
Barren	14.6	0.3%	9.4	0.2%	3.0	0.1%
Forest	427.7	9.7%	438.0	10.0%	405.6	9.2%
Urban	3,647.4	83.1%	3,653.7	83.2%	3,705.4	84.4%
Water	50.9	1.2%	58.5	1.3%	56.9	1.3%
Wetlands	226.2	5.2%	207.0	4.7%	199.4	4.5%
TOTAL	4,390	100%	4,390	100%	4,390	100%

 Table 4.6: Area and Percentage of Land Uses within the Musquapsink Brook Watershed (NJDEP Land Use/Land Cover Database)

Of the 84.4% of the land use designated as urban in 2007 Table 4.6), 49.1%, or 1,821.3 acres (or 2.8 square miles), is classified as single residential, medium density, defined by the NJDEP as residential urban/suburban neighborhoods greater than 1/8 acre and up to and including 1/2 acre lots. These areas generally contain impervious surface areas of approximately 30% to 35%. Urban land use also includes land utilized for commercial, industrial and transportation purposes (Anderson *et al.*, 1976). Table 4.7 provides further information on the types of urban land use in the Musquapsink Brook Watershed.



Figure 4.7: Spatial Distribution of Land Use Types within the Musquapsink Brook Watershed

2007 Urban Land Use	Acres	Percent Cover
Athletic Fields (Schools)	64.2	1.73%
Cemetery	308.8	8.31%
Commercial/Services	168.5	4.58%
Major Roadway	68.2	1.83%
Mixed Urban or Built-Up Land	1.9	
Other Urban or Built-Up Land	128.4	3.51%
Railroads	3.2	0.09%
Recreational Land	70.8	1.90%
Residential, High Density or Multiple Dwelling	86.8	2.34%
Residential, Rural, Single Unit	66.0	1.78%
Residential, Single Unit, Low Density	911.0	24.52%
Residential, Single Unit, Medium Density	1,821.3	49.26%
Stormwater Basin	2.2	0.06%
Transportation/Communication/Utilities	4.1	0.11%
TOTAL	3,705.4	100%

 Table 4.7: Urban Land Uses in the Musquapsink Brook Watershed

# 5. Causes and Sources of Pollution

## 5.1 Hydrological Alteration

The loss of wetlands and riparian areas to development has resulted in significant hydrological alterations in the Musquapsink Brook Watershed. Extensive urbanization has direct impacts on both water quality and quantity. The increase of impervious surface coverage (i.e., rooftops, driveways, roads, parking lots) results in decreased infiltration of stormwater and increased surface runoff. This runoff, when managed improperly, is a major pathway for the transportation of pollutants such as debris, fertilizer, bacteria, and/or sediment. These pollutants are washed directly into the Brook, ultimately degrading the surface water quality and necessitating the development of TMDLs. Stormwater runoff also causes recurrent flooding problems in many municipalities, the destruction of habitat along the streambank, and may contribute to manhole discharges.

The Brook is dammed at three locations, two of which are along Musquapsink Brook and one along Pine Brook (Figure 5.1). The two Musquapsink Brook dams create Schlegel Lake and Bogert Pond, both of which are recreational lakes. Schlegel Lake is the largest waterbody in the

watershed covering 27.0 acres. The Pine Brook dam creates Pine Lake, a 0.6 acre waterbody in Washington Township (Figure 5.1). All of the dams are privately owned.

## 5.2 Surface Water Quality

### 5.2.1 Designated Uses and Impairments

NJDEP (2011) designated the Musquapsink Brook (listed as a tributary to the Pascack Brook) as FW2-NT(C1). "FW2" refers to the freshwater bodies that are used for primary and secondary contact recreation; industrial and agricultural water supply; maintenance, migration, and propagation of natural and established biota; public potable water supply after conventional filtration treatment and disinfection; and any other reasonable uses. "NT" means those freshwaters are not suitable for trout production or trout maintenance due to their physical, chemical, or biological characteristics. "NT" streams may support other fish species. "C1" refers to its designation for protection from measurable changes in water quality based on exceptional water supply significance as a tributary to the Oradell Reservoir.

According to the designated use of FW2-NT(C1) waters, the New Jersey Surface Water Quality Standards (last amended on April 4, 2011) presented in Table 5.1 below are applicable to the Musquapsink Brook Watershed. Note that the FW2 designation applies to all streams and waterbodies in the watershed, an encompass waterways categorized as C1, as well. At the time of this project's initiation, fecal coliform was the accepted measure indicating pathogen pollution for New Jersey freshwaters. Since then, the fecal coliform standard has been replaced by an *E. coli* standard. Because the TMDL established by New Jersey refers to fecal coliform, both fecal coliform and *E. coli* were measured during sampling events in the Musquapsink Brook Watershed.

# Table 5.1: New Jersey Surface Water Quality Standards for Different Substances and Surface Waters (NJDEP, 2011)

Substance	Surface Water Classification	Standards	
Total Phosphorus (mg/L)	FW2 Streams	Total Phosphorus shall not exceed 0.1 in any stream, unless watershed- specific translators are established pursuant to N.J.A.C. 7:9B-1.5(g)2 or if the Department determines that concentrations do not render the waters unsuitable.	
	FW2 Lakes	Concentrations of total P shall not exceed 0.05 in any lake, pond or reservoir, or in a tributary at the point where it enters such bodies of water, unless watershed-specific translators are developed pursuant to N.J.A.C. 7:9B-1.5(g)2 or if the Department determines that concentrations do not render the waters unsuitable.	
Fecal Coliform* (col/100 mL)	FW2	Shall not exceed geometric average of 200/100 mL, nor should more than 10% of the total samples taken during any 30-day period exceed 400/100 mL.	
<i>E. coli</i> (col/100 mL)	FW2	Shall not exceed a geometric mean of 126/100 mL or a single sample maximum of 235/100 mL.	

\*This standard has been replaced by *E. coli*.

In accordance with Section 305(b) of the Clean Water Act, New Jersey addresses the overall water quality of the State's waters and identifies impaired waterbodies through the development of a document referred to as the *Integrated List of Waterbodies*. Within this document are lists that indicate the presence and level of impairment for each waterbody monitored. It is recommended by the EPA that this list be a guideline for water quality management actions that will address the cause of impairment. The 2010 *New Jersey Integrated Water Quality Monitoring and Assessment Report* lists the Musquapsink Brook (reported as 'Pascack Brook (below Westwood gage) as not supporting the following uses: agricultural water supply use due to total dissolved solids; aquatic life use due to dissolved oxygen, pH, and TP; primary contact recreational use due to fecal coliform; and, public water supply use due to arsenic.

A total maximum daily load was established in 2002 for the Musquapsink Brook requiring a 96% reduction in fecal coliform load for 7.3 miles of stream. In 2005, a TMDL for total phosphorus was established for the same 7.3 mile stretch of stream. This TMDL requires a 21.43% reduction in total phosphorus loadings from medium/high density residential, low density/rural residential, commercial, industrial, mixed urban/other urban, forest, and agricultural

lands. Additional aquatic life surface water quality impairments will also need to be addressed through the TMDL process.

The NJDEP Bureau of Biological & Freshwater Monitoring maintains one AMNET station within the Musquapsink Brook Watershed (Station AN0206, Westwood, NJ) (Figure 5.1). This station, located at Harrington Avenue, was sampled in July of 1993, 1998, and 2003. For each of the three sampling rounds, the Musquapsink Brook was rated as a moderately impaired site, characterized by reduced macroinvertebrate taxa richness.

A fourth round of sampling was conducted in 2008, but AMNET data for this round were not available at the time of publication.

#### 5.2.2 Monitoring Stations

To better understand the causes and sources of the water pollution in the watershed, surface water samples were regularly collected from eight water quality monitoring stations over a sixmonth time frame in 2007. These stations are depicted in Figure 5.1. Note that MB2 serves as a monitoring site for Schlegel Lake and is not included in catchment area calculations (Chapter 6). Six stations are located on the Musquapsink Brook, and two are located adjacent to the United Water Transfer intake on Saddle River and the Ho-Ho-Kus Brook, respectively. The station site descriptions are identified in Table 5.2.

Site ID	Site Description	
MB1	Musquapsink Brook at Hillside Ave, Hillsdale	
MB2	Musquapsink Brook at Woodfield Ave, Washington	
MB3	Musquapsink Brook at Ridgewood Ave, Washington	
MB4	Musquapsink Brook at Forest Ave, Westwood	
MB5	Musquapsink Brook at Third Ave, Westwood	
MB6	Musquapsink Brook at Harrington Ave, Westwood	
SR1	Saddle River at Grove St, border of Paramus and Ridgewood	
HB1	Ho-Ho-Kus Brook at Grove St, border of Paramus and Ridgewood	

Table 5.2: Water Quality Monitoring Location IDs and Descriptions



Figure 5.1: Water Quality Sampling Location Map
#### 5.2.3 Monitoring Events

Project partners, including NJDEP, Rutgers Cooperative Extension Water Resources Program, and the Bergen County Department of Health Services, began water quality monitoring on May 25, 2007. As per the NJDEP-approved Quality Assurance Project Plan (QAPP), *in situ* measurements of pH, dissolved oxygen (DO), and temperature were collected. Stream velocity and depth were measured along transects laid across the stream at each sampling station. Using this information, flow (Q) was calculated. Water samples were collected and analyzed by two separate laboratories. The Bergen County Utility Authority conducted analyses for total phosphorus (TP), dissolved orthophosphate phosphorus, ammonia-nitrogen, Total Kjeldahl Nitrogen (TKN), nitrate-nitrogen, nitrite-nitrogen, total suspended solids (TSS), and fecal coliform. Garden State Laboratories analyzed the samples for *E. coli*.

Water quality monitoring included two different types of sampling events: regular and bacteria only. Regular monitoring, which included analysis for all parameters, occurred from May 25, 2007 through October 25, 2007. These events were monitored for TP, dissolved orthophosphate phosphorus, ammonia-nitrogen, TKN, nitrate-nitrogen, nitrite-nitrogen, TSS, fecal coliform, and *E. coli* and had no specific weather conditions directing the sample collection. Bacteria-only monitoring was conducted in the months of June, July, August, and September 2007, again without conditions set by the weather. The bacteria-only sampling entailed collecting three additional samples in each of those months for pathogen analysis. Flow was measured, and *in situ* samples were collected during these events. Specific dates and the corresponding types of monitoring events are presented in Table 5.3.

Date	Regular Monitoring for all Parameters	Bacteria Only Monitoring
5/24/2007	Х	
5/31/2007	Х	
6/7/2007	Х	
6/14/2007		Х
6/19/2007		Х
6/21/2007	Х	
6/28/2007		Х
7/5/2007	Х	
7/12/2007		Х
7/24/2007		Х
7/26/2007		Х
8/2/2007	Х	
8/9/2007		Х
8/16/2007	Х	
8/23/2007		X
8/30/2007		X
9/13/2007		X
9/27/2007		X
10/10/2007	X	
10/11/2007	Х	
10/25/2007	X	

 Table 5.3: Types of Monitoring Events for Each Sampling Date



Indicates Storm Sampling Event

# 5.2.4 Summary of Water Quality Data

To evaluate the health of the Musquapsink Brook at all the stations, the monitoring results were compared to the designated water quality standards. The USEPA Guidance for the Preparation of the Comprehensive State Water Quality Assessments (1997) advises that an acceptable frequency for water quality results to exceed criteria is 10% of samples. In the 2010 Integrated Water Quality Monitoring and Assessment Methods, NJDEP further states that a minimum of eight samples collected quarterly over a two-year period are required to confirm quality of waters. Therefore, if a waterbody has a minimum of eight samples collected quarterly over a two-year period the water quality criteria for a certain parameter, the waterbody is considered "impaired" for that parameter.

By applying this rule to the water quality data, it is possible to identify which stations are impaired for each parameter that has been identified as a concern in the scope of this project—TP, fecal coliform, and *E. coli*. The applicable water quality standards for this project are detailed in Table 5.1 above, and the percent of samples that exceeded these standards are given in Table 5.4 below.

	Total Phosphorus (mg/L)								
Monitoring Station ID	Water Quality Standard (WQS)	Count	Minimum	Average	Maximum	% Not Satisfying WQS			
MB1	0.1	11	0.01	0.09	0.16	45%			
MB2	0.1	11	0.05	0.07	0.13	18%			
MB3	0.1	11	0.01	0.06	0.13	9%			
MB4	0.1	11	0.01	0.10	0.35	45%			
MB5	0.1	11	0.01	0.12	0.35	45%			
MB6	0.1	11	0.01	0.12	0.29	55%			
SR1	0.1	11	0.01	0.07	0.13	27%			
HB1	0.1	10	0.91	1.63	2.20	100%			
	Fecal Coliform (col/100mL)								
MB1	200	23	200	3479	28000	96%			
MB2	200	23	60	1481	12000	87%			
MB3	200	23	120	3706	44000	91%			
MB4	200	23	410	5530	49000	100%			
MB5	200	23	106	6627	58000	91%			
MB6	200	23	500	10373	70000	100%			
SR1	200	23	110	5550	39000	91%			
HB1	200	23	200	7270	41000	96%			
			E. coli	i (col/100mL)					
MB1	235	23	170	2645	16000	91%			
MB2	235	23	60	480	2200	65%			
MB3	235	23	160	1897	7800	96%			
MB4	235	23	160	4809	25000	96%			
MB5	235	23	120	6090	33000	96%			
MB6	235	23	210	5202	38000	96%			
SR1	235	22	380	2860	23000	100%			
HB1	235	22	410	3150	22000	100%			

Table 5.4: Summary of Water Quality Data Collected in this Planning Effort and Comparison to Water Quality Standards

Tabulated water quality monitoring data are provided in the data report (Appendix A). Data has also been graphed with corresponding surface water quality standards and daily precipitation records for Bergen County. These graphs are provided in the appendices of the data report.

#### 5.2.5 Biological Monitoring Data

Biological monitoring data is available for the Musquapsink Brook Watershed as part of the **Am**bient Biological Monitoring **Net**work (AMNET), which is administered by the New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection (NJDEP). The NJDEP has been monitoring the biological communities of the State's waterways since the early 1970's, specifically the benthic macroinvertebrate communities. Benthic macroinvertebrates are primarily bottom-dwelling

(benthic) organisms that are generally ubiquitous in freshwater and are macroscopic. Due to their important role in the food web, macroinvertebrate communities reflect current perturbations in the environment. There are several advantages to using macroinvertebrates to gauge the health of a stream. First, macroinvertebrates have limited mobility, and thus, are good indicators of site-specific water conditions. Also, macroinvertebrates are sensitive to pollution, both point and nonpoint sources; they can be impacted by short-term environmental impacts such as intermittent discharges and contaminated spills. In addition to indicating chemical impacts to stream quality, macroinvertebrates can gauge non-chemical issues of a stream such as turbidity and siltation, eutrophication, and thermal stresses. Finally, macroinvertebrate communities are a holistic overall indicator of water quality health, which is consistent with the goals of the Clean Water Act (NJDEP, 2007). These organisms are normally abundant in New Jersey freshwaters and are relatively inexpensive to sample.

# New Jersey Impairment Score (NJIS)

The AMNET program began in 1992 and is currently comprised of more than 800 stream sites with approximately 200 monitoring locations in each of the five major drainage basins of New Jersey (i.e., Upper and Lower Delaware, Northeast, Raritan, and Atlantic). These sites are sampled once every five years using a modified version of the USEPA Rapid Bioassessment Protocol (RBP) II (NJDEP, 2007). To evaluate the biological condition of the sampling locations, several community measures have been calculated by the NJDEP from the data collected and include the following:

- 1. <u>Taxa Richness</u>: Taxa richness is a measure of the total number of benthic macroinvertebrate families identified. A reduction in taxa richness typically indicates the presence of organic enrichment, toxics, sedimentation, or other factors.
- 2. <u>EPT (Ephemeroptera, Plecoptera, Trichoptera) Index</u>: The EPT Index is a measure of the total number of Ephemeroptera, Plecoptera, and Trichoptera families (i.e., mayflies, stoneflies, and caddisflies) in a sample. These organisms typically require clear moving water habitats.
- 3. <u>% EPT</u>: Percent EPT measures the numeric abundance of the mayflies, stoneflies, and caddisflies within a sample. A high percentage of EPT taxa is associated with good water quality.
- 4. <u>% CDF (percent contribution of the dominant family)</u>: Percent CDF measures the relative balance within the benthic macroinvertebrate community. A healthy community is characterized by a diverse number of taxa that have abundances somewhat proportional to each other.
- 6. <u>Family Biotic Index</u>: The Family Biotic Index measures the relative tolerances of benthic macroinvertebrates to organic enrichment based on tolerance scores assigned to families ranging from 0 (intolerant) to 10 (tolerant).

This analysis integrates several community parameters into one easily comprehended evaluation of biological integrity referred to as the New Jersey Impairment Score (NJIS). The NJIS was established for three categories of water quality bioassessment for New Jersey streams: non-

impaired, moderately impaired, and severely impaired. A non-impaired site has a benthic community comparable to other high quality "reference" streams within the region. The community is characterized by maximum taxa richness, balanced taxa groups, and a good representation of intolerant individuals. A moderately impaired site is characterized by reduced macroinvertebrate taxa richness, in particular the EPT taxa. Changes in taxa composition result in reduced community balance and intolerant taxa become absent. A severely impaired site is one in which the benthic community is significantly different from that of the reference streams. The macroinvertebrates are dominated by a few taxa which are often very abundant. Tolerant taxa are typically the only taxa present. The scoring criteria used by the NJDEP are as follows:

- non-impaired sites have total scores ranging from 24 to 30,
- moderately impaired sites have total scores ranging from 9 to 21, and
- severely impaired sites have total scores ranging from 0 to 6.

It is important to note that the entire scoring system is based on comparisons with reference streams and a historical database consisting of 200 benthic macroinvertebrate samples collected from New Jersey streams. While a low score indicates "impairment," the score may actually be a consequence of habitat or other natural differences between the subject stream and the reference stream.

Starting with the second round of sampling under the AMNET program in 1998 for the Passaic Region, habitat assessments were conducted in conjunction with the biological assessments. The habitat assessment, which was designed to provide a measure of habitat quality, involves a visually based technique for assessing stream habitat structure. The habitat assessment is designed to provide an estimate of habitat quality based upon qualitative estimates of selected habitat attributes. The assessment involves the numerical scoring of ten habitat parameters to evaluate instream substrate, channel morphology, bank structural features, and riparian vegetation. Each parameter is scored and summed to produce a total score which is assigned a habitat quality category of optimal, sub-optimal, marginal, or poor. Sites with optimal/excellent habitat conditions have total scores ranging from 110 to 159; sites with marginal/fair habitat conditions have total scores ranging from 110 to 159; sites with marginal/fair habitat conditions have total scores ranging from 100 to 109, and sites with poor habitat conditions have total scores realized from the habitat assessment are used to interpret survey results and identify obvious constraints on the attainable biological potential within the study area.

The NJDEP Bureau of Freshwater & Biological Monitoring maintains one AMNET station within the project area (i.e., Station AN0206 – Musquapsink Brook, Harrington Avenue, Westwood Borough, in Bergen County). This station corresponds with the water quality monitoring station MB6 (Figure 5.1). Station AN0206 was sampled by NJDEP in 1993, 1998, and 2003 under the AMNET program. Findings from the AMNET program are summarized in Table 5.5. A fourth round of sampling was conducted in 2008, but data were unavailable at the time of publication of this plan. The biological condition over the years has been assessed as being moderately impaired, and the habitat has ranged from marginal to sub-optimal within the Musquapsink Brook Watershed.

Station	Date	Biological Condition (Score)	Habitat Assessment (Score)
AN0206	7/6/1993	Moderately Impaired (9)	~
AN0206	7/9/1998	Moderately Impaired (15)	Marginal (104)
AN0206	7/1/2003	Moderately Impaired (15)	Suboptimal (147)

Table 5.5: Summary of NJDEP Ambient Biological Monitoring Network Results (NJDEP, 1994; NJDEP, 2000; NJDEP, 2008)

Given these aquatic life impairments, an additional biological assessment was proposed as part of the data collection needed to prepare a comprehensive watershed restoration plan for the Musquapsink Brook. A biological assessment was conducted by Marion McClary, Jr., Ph.D., Associate Director of Biological Sciences at Fairleigh Dickinson University and project partner, in the late summer of 2007 at MB1 (Musquapsink Brook at Hillside Avenue, Hillsdale), MB3 (Musquapsink Brook at Ridgewood Avenue, Washington), MB4 (Musquapsink Brook at Forest Avenue, Westwood), and at MB6 (AMNET Station AN0206, Musquapsink Brook at Harrington Avenue, Westwood). The 2007 biological assessment conducted by Dr. McClary is summarized in the Musquapsink Brook Benthic Data Report and Musquapsink Brook Benthic Species List provided in Appendix A of the Musquapsink Brook Watershed Restoration and Protection Plan Data Report. The 2007 assessment revealed that the biological condition within the Musquapsink Brook Watershed had degraded to a severely impaired condition. Marginal to suboptimal habitat conditions were found within the watershed. There was such a paucity of benthic organisms found that less than 100 specimens were collected from the four sampling locations combined, prohibiting the calculation of the various metrics needed for the NJIS score.

#### High Gradient Macroinvertebrate Index (HGMI)

New Jersey's benthic macroinvertebrate communities can be grouped into three distinct groupings based on geographical regions: high gradient (above the Fall Line), low gradient (Coastal Plain excluding the Pinelands), and Pinelands. A multimetric index has been developed, using genus level taxonomic identifications, for each distinct region. The NJIS described and presented above is a single index used statewide that is based on family level taxonomic identifications. The NJDEP, in 2009, began using the multimetric indices for each distinct region. The index appropriate to use within the Musquapsink Brook Watershed is the High Gradient Macroinvertebrate Index (HGMI). The HGMI is comprised of the following metrics: total number of genera, percent genera that are not insects, percent sensitive EPT genera, number of scraper genera, Hilsenhoff Biotic Index, number of New Jersey TALU attribute 2 genera, and number of New Jersey TALU attribute 3 genera. Excellent sites have total scores greater than or equal to 63 and are characterized as having minimal changes in the structure of biological community and having minimal changes in ecosystem function. Good sites have total scores ranging from 42-63 and are characterized as having some evident changes in the structure of the biological community and having minimal changes in ecosystem function. Fair sites have total scores ranging from 21-42 and are characterized as having moderate to major changes in the structure of the biological community and having moderate changes in ecosystem function. Poor sites have total scores of <21 and are characterized by extreme changes in the structure of the biological community and a major loss of ecosystem function.

HGMI scores for Station AN0206 (MB6) were reported as 13.75 for the July 2003 AMNET sampling (Round 3) and 18.67 for the 2008 AMNET sampling (Round 4) by NJDEP at <u>http://www.state.nj.us/dep/wms/bfbm</u> under *AMNET Stations Result Comparisons for Round 2 to* 4. These scores correspond to a poor assessment. A poor assessment under the HGMI falls below the acceptable regulatory range, and a site assessed as poor using the HGMI would be considered impaired from a Federal Clean Water Act perspective and not attaining the aquatic life use. Again, given the paucity of organisms collected, the HGMI could not be calculated from the data collected as part of the 2007 assessment conducted by Dr. McClary.

#### 5.2.6 Stressor Identification

Biological assessments have become an important tool for managing water quality to meet the goal of the Clean Water Act (i.e., to maintain the chemical, physical, and biological integrity of the nation's water). However, although biological assessments are a critical tool for detecting impairment, they do not identify the cause or causes of the impairment. The USEPA developed a process, known as the Stressor Identification (SI) process, to accurately identify any type of stressor or combination of stressors that might cause biological impairment (USEPA, 2000). The SI process involves the critical review of available information, the formation of possible stressor scenarios that may explain the observed impairment, the analysis of these possible scenarios, and the formation of conclusions about which stressor or combination of stressors are causing the impairment. The SI process is iterative, and in some cases additional data may be needed to identify the stressor(s). In addition, the SI process provides a structure or a method for assembling the scientific evidence needed to support any conclusions made about the stressor(s). When the cause of a biological impairment is identified, stakeholders are then in a better position to locate the source(s) of the stressor(s) and are better prepared to implement the appropriate management actions to improve the biological condition of the impaired waterway.

The benthic macroinvertebrate community occurring within the Musquapsink Brook Watershed is apparently under some type of stress as evidenced by the extremely low numbers of organisms collected and by sensitive taxa (i.e., EPT taxa) being markedly diminished. Also, the types of organisms found within the study area are indicative of some organic pollution (Hilsenhoff, 1988). In addition, the habitat assessment revealed sub-optimal habitat to marginal conditions which may also account for the impaired condition of the community within the study area.

Candidate causes of impairment within the Musquapsink Brook Watershed include:

- 1. Elevated nutrient levels (i.e., total phosphorus)
- 2. Elevated bacteria levels (i.e., fecal coliform and E. coli)
- 3. Degraded instream habitat
- 4. Altered hydrology
- 5. Toxicants.

## Analysis/Evaluation of Candidate Causes:

<u>Elevated nutrient levels and elevated bacteria levels</u>: The role of elevated nutrients and elevated bacteria levels in impairing the biological community was indicated by continual and persistent exceedances of the surface water quality criteria for phosphorus and bacteria throughout the watershed during the surface water quality monitoring portion of this study. Surface water quality samples were collected from stations within the Musquapsink Brook Watershed over a six month sampling time frame from May 2007 through October 2007, demonstrating a co-occurrence of these candidate causes within the watershed. Approximately 83% of the designated land use within the watershed is urban and comprised of residential (medium and low density), commercial, and roadway land use/land cover types. Stormwater runoff from these land uses is a likely source of elevated nutrients. In addition, microbial source tracking (MST) was conducted within the watershed as part of this study. Human related *Bacteroides* were detected at several locations within the watershed. Aging/leaking/failing infrastructure may be a likely source of the elevated bacteria levels observed within the watershed.

<u>Degraded habitat</u>: The role of degraded habitat in impairing the biological community within the watershed was indicated by the assessed sub-optimal to marginal habitat conditions within the watershed. Also, out of the 38 stream reaches evaluated using SVAP, 18 were rated as only fair and 15 were rated as poor. A likely source observed within the watershed for degraded habitat conditions includes channelization, which reduces channel diversity and promotes a uniform flow regime and ultimately reduces habitat diversity. Another likely source is stormwater outfalls which can increase erosion and scour leading to reduced channel diversity, homogenous flow regime, and unstable habitat. An additional source observed within the watershed is a decreased riparian vegetative zone (i.e., riparian buffer) which leads to increased stream temperatures, depressed dissolved oxygen levels, unstable banks, and an overall reduction in habitat complexity.

<u>Altered hydrology</u>: The role of altered hydrology in impairing the biological community within the watershed was indicated by reduced channel and habitat diversity, a slow and homogenous flow regime, and a potential reduction in baseflow. A likely source for altered hydrology observed within the watershed includes channelization, which reduces channel diversity and therefore promotes a uniform flow regime. Another likely source for altered hydrology observed within the watershed would include stormwater outfalls. Stormwater outfalls can increase erosion and scour leading to reduced channel diversity and homogenous flow regime.

The United Water of New Jersey water diversion from the Saddle River in Paramus Borough which discharges into the Musquapsink Brook in Washington Township may also have an impact on the biological community. According to the USGS Water-Data Report 2007, from May through October 2007, the diversion averaged, 3.27 cubic feet per second. This additional flow to the Musquapsink Brook may also be responsible for increased erosion and scour, similar to stormwater outfalls.

<u>Toxicants</u>: The role of toxicants in impairing the biological community was indicated by the observation of very few macroinvertebrates at each sampling station. Less than 100 organisms were collected from the four sampling locations combined during the 2007

assessment by Dr. McClary. Monitoring for pesticides and herbicides as possible toxicants is recommended in the future given the urban nature of the watershed.

## 5.2.7 Microbial Source Tracking

Microbial source tracking (MST) are a series of methods employed to determine sources of microbial pollution, whether from bacteria or other pathogens such as viruses and protozoa (Simpson et al. 2002). MST is the concept of applying microbiological, genotypic (molecular), phenotypic (biochemical), and chemical methods (e.g., caffeine or optical brighteners) to identify the origin of fecal pollution (Simpson et al. 2002; Scott et al. 2002; Stoeckel and Harwood 2007).

To gain a better understanding of the sources of contaminants of human origin, tiered approaches can be applied to microbial source tracking studies. Tiered approaches study multiple levels, multiple scales, or multiple parameters with increasing focus as one moves through each tier. This has been recommended by investigators as a successful means of tracking fecal contamination sources (Boehm et al. 2003; Stewart et al. 2003; Noble et al. 2006; Cao et al. 2009). The tiered approach can aid watershed management in abating the most significant sources of fecal bacteria (or other pollutant of concern) (Noble et al. 2006). Objectives and tasks are developed in this approach so that appropriate management practices are implemented and resources are allocated efficiently and economically throughout a watershed.

To track down potential sources of human-related fecal contamination, a tiered sampling approach was used. Tiered approaches study multiple levels, multiple scales, or measuring multiple parameters with increasing focus as one moves through each tier. Three tiers have been identified in which each tier uses a different method of bacterial contamination detection. The tiered sampling scheme for determining human sources as part of the Musquapsink Brook Watershed Restoration and Protection Plan is outlined below:

#### Tier 1: Screening for fecal coliform contamination

Surface water quality sampling was performed during both wet and dry weather conditions to determine the presence of fecal contamination.

Table 5.4 provides a summary of the results of surface water quality sampling analyses. Depending upon the sampling station, 87% to 100% of the samples collected in the Musquapsink Brook Watershed exceed the surface water quality standard for fecal coliform (Table 5.4).

#### Tier 2: Location of human and non-human fecal "hot spots"

MST sampling and qPCR analysis were used to differentiate between human and non-human sources of bacterial loadings to surface waters.

MST techniques typically report fecal contamination source as a percentage of targeted bacteria. One of the most promising targets for MST is *Bacteroides*, a genus of obligately anaerobic, gram-negative bacteria that are found in all mammals and birds. *Bacteroides* comprise up to 40% of the amount of bacteria in feces and 10% of the fecal mass. Due to large quantities of *Bacteroides* in feces, they are an ideal target organism for identifying fecal contamination

(Layton et al. 2006). In addition, *Bacteroides* have been recognized as having broad geographic stability and distribution in target host animals and are a promising microbial genus for differentiating fecal sources (USEPA 2005; Dick et al. 2005; Layton et al. 2006).

Three sets of primers (targets) were used to quantify *Bacteroides* from 1) all sources of *Bacteroides* ("AllBac"), 2) human sources ("HuBac"), and 3) bovine sources of *Bacteroides* ("BoBac") using quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction (qPCR). Two sets of surface water quality samples were collected in the Musquapsink Brook Watershed during July and August of 2008 and analyzed for the three target sequences. Human-related *Bacteroides* were detected at sampling locations MB2, MB4, MB5, and MB6 for at least one MST sampling event (August 21, 2008). See Figures 5.2 and 5.3 for *Bacteroides* quantifications at all sampling sites.

The Musquapsink Brook Watershed is a highly-urbanized watershed with little agriculture within its boundaries. The MST results confirmed this with no detections of agriculturally-derived bovine *Bacteroides* (BoBac) in either July or August sampling event (Figures 5.2 and 5.3).



qPCR Results July 18, 2008

Figure 5.2: Bacteroides Quantifications at Each Sampling Site on July 18, 2008



qPCR Results August 21, 2008

Figure 5.3: Bacteroides Quantifications at Each Sampling Site on August 21, 2008

# Tier 3: Source tracking with optical brighteners

Another source tracking method to identify *human* bacterial contamination in surface water is the fluorometric detection of optical brighteners. Optical brighteners are compounds added to laundry detergents and soaps, and have no natural sources. Because household plumbing systems combine effluent from washing machines and toilets, optical brighteners are associated with human sewage in sewer lines, septic systems and wastewater treatment plants (Hartel et al., 2007). Their presence in surface water, therefore, can be an indicator of an illicit connection, leaking collection pipes, or contamination from other wastewater discharges.

Fluorometric analysis was used to detect the presence of optical brighteners in the stream. Optical brightener data was correlated with *in-situ* stream measurements to verify sewer discharges. These compounds enter an excited state when exposed to UV light (360-365nm range) and emit light in the blue range (400-440nm). Fluorescence of these compounds can be measured with a fluorometer.

Two rounds of optical brightener sampling and fluorometric analysis were completed between May and August 2010 during dry conditions (no recorded precipitation within 48 hours of sampling event). Initially, there were 16 sites sampled (Figure 5.4). Two additional sites were added for the August sampling event. The locations of sampling sites for both events are provided in Appendix B. Fluorometric analysis results and *in situ* pH, DO, and temperature readings are also reported in Appendix B. Average fluorometric readings for the collected samples are presented in Figure 5.5 below.



Figure 5.4: Sampling sites for Optical Brighteners in the Musquapsink Brook Watershed



Figure 5.5: Average Fluorometric Readings for Samples Collected in May and August, 2010

#### **Recommendations**

Modeled on a similar optical brightener study conducted by the University of North Carolina (Tavares et al, 2008), bacteria source trackdown was achieved by comparing fecal coliform concentration and MST sampling results to average optical brightener levels at each sampling location. Refer to Table 5.6 for summary of this data.

Subwatershed	Average Fecal Concentration (col/100ml)	MST Human Source Detection	Optical Brightener Sampling Site	Optical Brightener Level <sup>1</sup>
			M14	Low
MD 1	2 470	No	M15	Low
NID I	5,479	INO	M16	High
			M17	Low
MDO	1 401	Vac	M12	High
MB2	1,481	res	M13	Low
MB3	3,706	No	M11	Low
	5,530	Yes	M08	High
MB4			M09	Low
			M10	Low
			M06	Low
MD5	6 607		M06a	High
MBS	0,027	res	M07	High
			M07a	Low
			M01	Low
MD6	10 272	Vaa	M02	Low
MBO	10,375	res	M04	High
			M05	High

Table 5.6: Summary of Results for Optical Brightener Levels for Each Subwatershed

<sup>1</sup>"High" Optical Brightener Level indicates that, for sites sampled in both May and August, at least one fluorometric reading was above 20 and both events yielded samples positive for optical brightener presence. For sites with only one sampling event, "High" indicates a fluorometric reading above 40. All other scenarios indicate "Low" Optical Brightener Levels.

The tiered approach study was intended to provide Bergen County and its included townships with the initial information they need for targeted investigation into sanitary sewer releases to the Brook. Based on the results provided in Table 5.6, the Rutgers Cooperative Extension Water Resources Program recommends that three general areas be evaluated for sources of human-related bacterial contamination in Westwood Borough and Washington Township. Figure 5.6 contains maps of the identified regions. Maintenance and inspection records of water and wastewater infrastructure should be reviewed for each of these areas. Video inspections, smoke testing, or dye testing to determine infrastructure conditions may also be considered.



Figure 5.6 Regions identified for further trackdown of human-source bacterial contamination of surface water (a) Stream segment between Forest Avenue and Pascack Road, Washington Township (b) Stream segment between 4<sup>th</sup> Avenue and Old Hook Road, Westwood Borough (c) Stream segment along Pascack Road, between Sutton Way and Eastview Terrace, Washington Township While optical brightener detection by fluorometry shows promise as a method of MST in watershed restoration planning, additional field sampling and comparisons with other methods need to be conducted to determine its effectiveness in watershed management. To this effect, it is important to note that the results of this study are preliminary in nature. Further data collection is necessary before infrastructure investigations are carried out, as the scope of this project (nonpoint source identification) did not provide for the intensive trackdown of wastewater infrastructure failures. Only two rounds of MST sampling were conducted for both qPCR analysis and optical brightener detection by fluorometry. At the time, avian primers were not available for qPCR analysis. Since geese have been identified as a major source of bacterial contamination, this study would be greatly enhanced with data separating avian versus human sources.

Additional lab and field work also need to be conducted to verify the results of the optical brightener detection by fluorometry. This would involve evaluating different excitation wavelengths and determining how best to account for both natural and anthropogenic sources of fluorescent compounds, such as those produced by organic material, newspapers, and cigarette butts. The best approach to this issue is to collect samples where these substances are present, and scan wavelengths to see where fluorescence occurs. Oil-based compounds from oil spills could also potentially contribute chemicals that fluoresce, and lab studies where oils are added to water could be performed to examine this issue. Seasonality is another confounding factor that should be investigated, as there may be particular times of the year when fluorescent signals are more prevalent, and if so, these times should be identified. As fluorescence is removed by sediment in riverbeds. Such information would be helpful in making decisions regarding where to sample for fluorescence in water bodies and how to interpret fluorescence after it has been found (Hagedorn, et al., 2008).

# 5.3 Nonpoint Sources

Nonpoint sources of water pollution derive from many different contaminants and landscapes. The extent and locations of these contaminant sources cannot be easily identified due to their diffuse nature, making them difficult to regulate and even more difficult to rectify.

The Musquapsink Brook Watershed is highly urbanized, with very little agricultural land use. Nonpoint source pollution is therefore largely associated with roads, buildings, pavement, and generally compacted landscapes with impaired drainage. Pollutants of concern include: sediment; oil, grease and toxic chemicals from motor vehicles; pesticides and nutrients from lawns and gardens; bacteria and nutrients from wildlife or pet waste; road salts; heavy metals from roof shingles, motor vehicles and other sources; and thermal pollution from dark impervious surfaces such as streets and rooftops are all pollutant concerns within the watershed. As these pollutants, generated by urban development and wildlife, accumulate on the land surface, hydrological processes such as runoff and percolation during a storm event will eventually transport these contaminants into nearby streams and groundwater. The urban land use has caused significant hydrological alteration and thus accelerated the speed and extent of pollutant transportation from sources to stream. The aggregate contribution of all nonpoint sources to the Musquapsink Brook has severely degraded surface water quality over time. Specifically, sources of fecal contamination most likely include failing infrastructure or septic systems, incorrect disposal of domestic pet waste, and waste from waterfowl populations. Phosphorus impairments may be due to excessive fertilizer applications in residential neighborhoods, resulting in stormwater runoff with high nutrient concentrations. Highway runoff during storm events may also contribute to phosphorus loads (Flint and Davis, 2007). Atmospheric deposition of phosphorus and nitrogen and other airborne pollutants onto impervious surfaces may also contribute largely to stormwater runoff loadings.

## 5.4 Point Sources

According to the regulation in the United States, generally point sources include municipal wastewater (sewage), industrial wastewater discharges, municipal separate storm sewer systems (MS4) and industrial stormwater discharges (Public Law 100-4. 1987). These facilities are required to obtain New Jersey Pollution Discharge Elimination System (NJPDES) permits or state/local permits. All municipalities within the Musquapsink Brook Watershed have MS4s and state permits for stormwater discharges. There are no NJPDES-permitted surface water discharges within the Watershed.

In addition, there are 10 known contaminated sites in the Musquapsink Brook Watershed (Table 5.7). Many of these sites have groundwater contamination associated with them and some have soil or other media contaminated by a substance release (Table 5.7). While the specifics of the source and type of contaminants from these sites are regulated by the NJDEP, they are included here as a possible reason for some of water quality issues not explained by monitoring conducted by the RCE Water Resources Program as part of this restoration planning effort. Confirmation of these known contaminated sites as potential sources of water quality impairments cannot be made at this time. However, future monitoring could be focused on determining the impact of these sites.

Site Name	Site Address	Status	Remedial Level	Municipality
Soldier Hill Redevelopment	Soldier Hill Road	Active	C1: No Formal Design - Source Known or Identified-Potential GW Contamination	Paramus Borough
91 4th Avenue	91 4th Avenue	Active	C1: No Formal Design - Source Known or Identified-Potential GW Contamination	Westwood Borough
Westwood Amoco	100 Kinderkamack Road	Active	C2: Formal Design - Known Source or Release with GW Contamination	Westwood Borough
Washington Town Center	285 Pascack Road	Active	C1: No Formal Design - Source Known or Identified-Potential GW Contamination	Washington Township
Lukoil #57301	290 Pascack Road	Active	C2: Formal Design - Known Source or Release with GW Contamination	Washington Township
Park Ridge Well #15	Old Mill Pond Road	Active	C3: Multi-Phased RA - Unknown or Uncontrolled Discharge to Soil or GW	Woodcliff Lake Borough
Washington Township	350 Hudson Avenue	Active	C2: Formal Design - Known Source or Release with GW Contamination	Washington Township
Sky's Trading, LLC	700 Pascack Road	Active	C2: Formal Design - Known Source or Release with GW Contamination	Washington Township
43 Brookview Terrace	43 Brookview Terrace	Active	C1: No Formal Design - Source Known or Identified-Potential GW Contamination	Hillsdale Borough
Woodcliff Lake Friendly Service	223 Woodcliff Avenue	Active	C2: Formal Design - Known Source or Release with GW Contamination	Woodcliff Lake Borough

# Table 5.7: Known contaminated sites (2009) located within the Musquapsink Brook Watershed

## 5.5 Erosion and Sedimentation

The Rosgen Stream Classification System and Simon's 1989 Channel Evolution Model were used to assess streams and tributaries in the Musquapsink Brook Watershed. Based on the simplified Rosgen analysis, several typical stream types were identified. Results are presented in Table 5.7. The geographical location of sites evaluated for the Rosgen Stream Classification analysis and the Channel Evolution Model are depicted in Figure 5.7. Low flow conditions in subwatershed MB1 prevented complete analysis and stream classification. This portion of stream is not addressed in this section of the Plan.

A significant feature to note is a historic mill dam located in Westwood, New Jersey. Bogert Pond is created by this dam and is surrounded by residential neighborhoods. Impounded waters are subject to frequent floods, destabilizing river banks formerly subjected only to occasional high waters for short periods of time. This causes erosion and downcutting both upstream and downstream of the dam. Sediment deposition at the dam site also causes further erosion downstream. Because there is no bed load just below a dam, the streambed erodes, increasing silt. If there is no equilibrium between bedload entering a stretch of river and leaving it, a river will cut into its streambed and deepen. Such is the case with the Musquapsink Brook, as indicated by findings from both the Rosgen Stream Classification and Channel Evolution Model analysis. Unstable, eroding streambanks and entrenched profiles are typical of MB4, MB5, and MB6, the subwatersheds that contain the segments of stream most closely connected to the mill dam. A Pond Management Plan should be developed for Bogert Pond and should include a sediment survey, recommendations for land use practices, and options for dam removal. This may improve issues associated with flooding and erosion in the Musquapsink Brook Watershed. See project MB6\_We\_a in Appendix C for further information on this site.

Stream classification based on morphology is meant to provide a common ground for understanding current stream conditions and potential stream conditions in varying settings with vastly different influences. Rosgen stream classification is one such morphology-based analysis. Figure 5.8 depicts the different stream types and characteristics. Type B is a moderately entrenched, moderate gradient, riffle dominated channel with frequently spaced pools. This stream type is very stable in plan and profile with stable banks. Type C is a low-gradient, meandering stream containing point-bars, riffle/pools, and alluvial channels within a broad, well-defined floodplain. This type of stream is fairly stable in plan and profile. Type D streams are multiple-channel systems that typically do not have a boulder or bedrock channel bed. Type G is an entrenched "gulley" step/pool stream with low width/depth ratio on moderate gradients. This type of stream is unstable with grade control problems and high bank erosion rates (Rosgen, 1994).

	MB1a	MB1b	MB2a	MB2b	MB3a	MB3b	MB4a	MB4b	MB5a	MB5b	MB6a	MB6b
Single Threaded		Yes	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Channels Entropolymout												
Ratio			Entrenched	Moderate	Slight	Slight	Moderate	Moderate	Entrenched	Entrenched	Entrenched	Moderate
Width/Depth Ratio	12		<12	>12	>12	<12	>12	<12	<12	<12	>12	>12
Sinuosity							1.586	1.586	1.510	1.510	1.618	1.618
Stream Type			G	DA	С	DA	В	F	G	C	В	В
Slope							0.0006		0.0013	0.0008	0.005	0.0005
Channel Material	Silt/Clay	Clay/Silt	Cobble	Clay/Silt	Boulders	Clay/Silt	Silt/Clay	Sand/Cobble	Clay/Silt	Clay/Silt	Cobble	Clay/Silt
Stream Classification			G3	DA6	C2	DA6	Вбс	F3	G6c	C6c	B3c	B6c

 Table 5.8:
 Rosgen Stream Classifications for Musquapsink Brook Watershed



Figure 5.7: Musquapsink Brook Watershed Sites for Rosgen Stream Classification Analysis



Figure 5.8: Rosgen Stream Classification Cross Section, Plan and Profile Views (Rosgen, 1994)

Simon's Channel Evolution Model describes a stream's erosive evolution in six stages, starting with a stable, undisturbed channel (Stage I) and ending with a refilled channel (Stage VI). In between, the stream is disturbed by some large-scale event, eroded, and then re-stabilized. Table 5.9 provides information on the channel evolution conditions in the Musquapsink Brook Watershed. Approximately 80% of the stream reaches assessed are unstable and fall under Stages II and III, characterized by disturbance and incision, respectively. Stage II stream reaches typically have altered channel hydrology and modified sediment input. Woody vegetation near the water line has been removed due to unstable bank conditions. Stage III stream reaches are characterized by excessive downcutting, which liberates sediment and alters the bankfull floodplain (Simon and Downs, 1995).

Observations noted in the Channel Evolution Model evaluation reflect the impacts of the high percentage of urban land use in the Musquapsink Brook Watershed. Streams in Stage II or III are most likely suffering from higher peak stormwater flows from urban land use in the upper watershed. In most cases, the downcutting and widening seen in Stages II and III can be linked to impervious cover that is directly connected to the stream, resulting in flashy hydrology. Furthermore, these unstable reaches can contribute a significant amount of sediment to the stream.

Site	Sub Watershed	Stage	<b>Description and Observations</b>
MB1a	MB1	-	-
MB1b	MB1	-	-
MB2a	MB2	II	Unstable. Bank slopes of stream are very steep with obvious headcutting occurring. Cultural features are exposed and sediment accumulation in stream.
MB2b	MB2	V	Stable. Well developed baseflow and bankfull channel, along with one stream bank slopes less than 1:1. Floodplain features are easily identified, and one terrace is apparent. A point bar is also present, due to low flow and excess sediment conditions.
MB3a	MB3	III	Unstable. Stream is widening due to stream bank sloughing; the sloughed material is being eroded creating vertical bank slopes. Erosion is especially prevalent on the insides of bends due to fast moving water.
MB3b	MB3	Ι	Stable. Well developed base flow and bank full channel, in addition to predictable streambed morphology. Floodplain features are easily identified, and there is one terrace apparent.
MB4a	MB4	II	Unstable. Bank slopes are steep with head cuts and exposed cultural features present. There's also some algae and aquatic vegetation.
MB4b	MB4	II	Unstable. Easily identifiable incisions on both banks of stream, in addition to exposed cultural features and considerable amount of sediment deposits in stream.
MB5a	MB5	II	Unstable. Slow moving stream with a storm drain pipe directed from the street on the side. It is very deep in the middle, with steep banks that contain incision and exposed roots.
MB5b	MB5	III	Unstable. Waterfowl present; at least 15 geese and 15 ducks are present. A corresponding amount of feces is on the right bank with very little to no buffer. The site is at a bend in the stream where there is heavy erosion on the inside, making it very deep there. The bank is sloughing, making it almost vertical.
MB6a	MB6	III	Stable. Riprap-lined channel. The banks are steep, and the stream is shallow but fast moving. Some incision is present.
MB6b	MB6	III	Left side of stream is residential with heavy erosion. Bank would be vertical if rocks weren't placed there to prevent further sloughing. Right bank is stable, with some headcutting.

 Table 5.9: Channel Evolution Evaluations for Musquapsink Brook Watershed

#### 5.6 Stream Visual Assessment Protocol (SVAP) Data

SVAP was developed by the Natural Resources Conservation Service (NRCS) of the U.S. Department of Agriculture to assess the health of the stream, identify pollutant sources, and identify potential management measures to control these pollutant sources based on visual inspection of instream physical and biological characteristics. The assessment is based on a threepage worksheet modified for New Jersey by the Rutgers Cooperative Extension Water Resource Program. SVAP assesses a set of 15 stream condition indicators and assigns each indicator a numerical score relative to reference conditions. The specific indicators include channel condition, hydrologic alteration, riparian zone, bank stability, water appearance, nutrient enrichment, barriers to fish movement, instream fish cover, pools, insect/invertebrate habitat, canopy cover, manure presence, riffle embeddedness, and macroinvertebrates observed if applicable. The score for each element is assessed on a scale of 1 to 10, with one being the worst and ten being the best. The scores of the 15 elements at each site are averaged to give an overall rating for that assessed stream reach. A score of less than 6.0 is considered "Poor," a score of 6.0 to 7.49 is considered "Fair," and a score above 7.5 is considered "Good." The numerical assessment is complemented by photographs and drawings of the stream site, as well as notes on visual observations of unusual or unsightly occurrences such as dumping, manure, runoff or outfall pipes, etc.

Thirty eight stream reaches were evaluated in the Musquapsink Brook Watershed; the stream reaches and the average SVAP scores are identified in Figure 5.9. The average overall SVAP score was 6.7, a "fair" score (Table 5.10). Canopy cover was the highest scoring element (average of 8.4), and instream fish cover was the lowest scoring element (average of 5.2). No assessed stream reach received a score of "excellent," five reaches were rated as "good," and eighteen were rated as "fair." The remaining fifteen reaches were rated as "poor." The reaches that were rated as poor are located along the entire length of the Musquapsink Brook.



Figure 5.9: Stream Visual Assessment Reaches with Scores in the Musquapsink Brook Watershed

		Channel Condition	Hydrologic Alteration	Riparian Zone left bank	Riparian Zone right bank	Bank Stability left bank	Bank Stability right bank	Water Appearance	Nutrient Enrichment	Barriers to Fish Movement
	# of scores	38	20	38	38	38	38	38	38	38
m	iinimum value	1	1	1	1	1	1	3	3	0
m	aximum value	10	10	10	10	10	10	10	10	10
	average	6.4	6.7	7.3	6.3	5.8	5.8	7.6	7.4	5.5
		Instream Fish Cover	Pools	Invertebrate Habitat	Canopy Cover	Manure Presence	Riffle Embeddedness	Water Apj Nutrient E Ave	pearance & Enrichment rages	Tiered Assessment Averages*
	# of scores	38	38	38	38	NA	20	3	8	36
m	iinimum value	0	1	3	1	NA	0		3	1.5
m	aximum value	8	8	10	10	NA	10	1	0	10
	average	5.2	6.3	7.9	8.4	NA	6.0	7	.5	6.7
		Overall Aver	age - left bank	Overall Averag	ze - right bank	Overall Si	te Average			
	# of scores		35	3:	5	3	5			
m	iinimum value	] ]	1.3	1.	3	1.3				
m	aximum value	Ş	9.7	9.	7	9.	.7			
			(7	6	6	6	7			

 Table 5.10:
 SVAP Assessment Elements and Data for Musquapsink Brook Watershed

## 5.6.1 Using the SVAP Data

SVAP scores have been evaluated as individual assessment elements and combined with other data collected as part of this restoration planning effort. The SVAP results were compared to land use, soil characteristics, slope and stream gradient, and water quality monitoring results to determine the quality of waters within the Musquapsink Brook Watershed. The SVAP scores, information on pipes, ditches, photos, and remediation notes have been used to identify sources of pollution and potential opportunities for improved management.

# 6. Estimated Loading Targets and Priorities

# 6.1. Loading Targets

Load reduction targets will adhere to the TMDL approved by the USEPA. In this plan, reduction targets are defined by the total pollutant load reductions that are required to satisfy the water quality standards for the non-trout FW2 streams. These targets will dictate the management plans developed for the Musquapsink Brook Watershed.

As stated previously, a TMDL was established in 2002 for the Musquapsink Brook requiring a 96% reduction in fecal coliform load. In 2005, a TMDL for total phosphorus was established and requires a 10.9% reduction in total phosphorus loadings from medium/high density residential, low density/rural residential, commercial, industrial, mixed urban/other urban, forested, and agricultural lands.

# 6.2. Priority Ranking

One of the goals of the watershed restoration and protection plan is to prioritize the implementation of various best management practices. For this project, water quality data and flow data were collected at six sampling locations. Each of these sampling locations represents the outlet of a subwatershed within the Musquapsink Brook Watershed. To identify which subwatershed was contributing the most pollution to the Musquapsink Brook, data from each of these sampling locations was used to determine the annual pollutant load leaving each of the subwatersheds. Average loading rates of fecal coliform, *E. coli*, and phosphorus were calculated for MB1, MB3, MB4, MB5, and MB6. Data at MB2 was analyzed and used for the monitoring of Schlegel Lake, but was not included in the final loading rate calculations. The subwatersheds were then ranked by their annual pollutant load.

The two primary pollutants of concern in the Musquapsink Brook Watershed are total phosphorus and fecal coliform, an indicator of pathogen contamination. Flow and pollutant concentration from each sampling event were used to calculate the daily load at each sampling location. The annual total load for each subwatershed was determined by averaging the daily loads and multiplying this average daily load by 365 days (number of day in a year). For total phosphorus this provides an annual load in kg/year. For fecal

coliform, this calculation provided an annual load in colonies per year. At the time of this project's initiation, fecal coliform was the accepted measure indicating pathogen pollution for New Jersey freshwaters. Since then, the fecal coliform standard has been replaced by an *E. coli* standard. Because the TMDL established refers to fecal coliform, both fecal coliform and *E. coli* loading rates were calculated.

The differentiation between 'wet' and 'dry' weather sampling can be used to improve the understanding of the impact of stormwater on pollutant concentrations. To more accurately determine which monitoring events were collected under wet conditions when the stream velocities exceeded baseflow conditions, the HYSEP procedure was used. HYSEP is a data analysis program developed by the USGS to separate river flow into baseflow and storm-flow (Sloto and Crouse, 1996). Normally, this model would be applied to a daily discharge monitoring station within the watershed; however, daily discharge is not recorded by the USGS in the Musquapsink Brook Watershed. Instead, USGS monitoring station 01377500, Pascack Brook at Westwood, which is just downstream of the confluence of the Musquapsink Brook and the Pascack Brook, was chosen. Although it would be preferable to use a flow gauge in the target watershed, the watershed does drain to the Pascack Brook, and the remainder of the drainage area is adjacent to the Musquapsink Brook watershed. The analysis was completed for the Pascack Brook over the length of the field sampling program. A 10% error bar was applied to the baseflow since these data are collected in a watershed other than the Musquapsink Brook. When flow was more than 10% greater than baseflow and rain occurred on the day of or the day preceding sampling, the event was considered as stormrelated flow and assigned the term "wet."

Average annual loading rates for these three parameters during both wet weather and dry weather conditions are presented in Table 6.1. The annual loads were then normalized by the area of each of the individual subcatchments. These loading rates are presented in Table 6.2.

	Fecal Coliform (Colonies/Year)		E. d (Colonia	coli es/Year)	Total Phosphorus (Kg/Year)		
Subwatershed	Wet	Dry	Wet	Dry	Wet	Dry	
MB1	8.76E+13	3.91E+12	7.33E+13	1.88E+12	5.00E+01	3.15E+01	
MB3	2.50E+13	4.36E+12	6.85E+12	2.86E+12	2.66E+01	3.88E+01	
MB4	5.31E+14	9.17E+13	5.53E+14	6.26E+13	5.09E+02	1.56E+03	
MB5	4.29E+14	-1.48E+13	4.99E+14	6.68E+13	6.92E+02	7.29E+01	
MB6	9.59E+14	-5.44E+12	2.50E+14	5.05E+13	1.67E+02	-9.33E+02	

 Table 6.1: Annual Loading Rates for Individual Subwatersheds

 Table 6.2: Annual Loading Rates Normalized to Area for Individual Subwatersheds

	Fecal Coliform		Е. с	coli	Total Phosphorus		
	(Colonies/A	Acre/Year)	(Colonies/A	Acre/Year)	(Kg/Acre/Year)		
Subwatershed	Wet	Dry	Wet	Dry	Wet	Dry	
MB1	1.12E+11	5.00E+09	9.37E+10	2.41E+09	6.40E-02	4.03E-02	
MB3	7.99E+10	1.40E+10	2.19E+10	9.14E+09	8.51E-02	1.24E-01	
MB4	3.37E+11	5.81E+10	3.51E+11	3.97E+10	3.23E-01	9.91E-01	
MB5	1.17E+12	-4.03E+10	1.36E+12	1.82E+11	1.88E+00	1.98E-01	
MB6	2.47E+12	-1.40E+10	6.46E+11	1.30E+11	4.32E-01	-2.41E+00	

Fecal coliform counts increase by 48% from station MB3 to MB4 during wet weather events and by over 56% during dry weather. This increase may be due to the discharge of the United Water intake from Saddle River and Ho-Ho-Kus Brook into the Musquapsink Brook Watershed, which occurs directly upstream of the MB4 sampling site. There is a 62% increase in fecal coliform counts between MB5 and MB6 during wet weather conditions, while average dry weather counts decrease, indicating that a significantly large pathogen source is impacting the stream via surface runoff or point source pollution within the MB6 subwatershed.

Total phosphorus loadings during wet weather conditions are most significant in MB4, MB5, and MB6. In subwatersheds MB5 and MB6, total phosphorus loads are dominated by stormwater runoff events, with over 90% of the annual load being contributed during wet weather conditions. Subwatersheds MB4 and MB5 also have total phosphorus loadings during baseflow conditions. Only in subwatershed MB4 do total phosphorus loadings from groundwater discharge exceed those from stormwater runoff.

The calculated annual loads and loading rates were used to rank the subwatersheds. Because stormwater best management practices and implementation projects typically target pollutant loading reductions during wet weather conditions, rankings are based on wet weather loadings.

The subwatershed with the highest loading rate was given one (1) point, the next highest was given two (2) and so on. This method was repeated for the area-normalized loading rate. The points were combined, and the subwatersheds were ranked highest to lowest according to their total points (maximum of 10 points, with lower values indicating highest loading impact). The results of the ranking process are shown in Tables 6.3a, b, and c. The loading rates show which subwatershed is contributing the most pollutants into the stream. The area normalized loading rates show which subwatershed is contributing the most pollutant per acre. Combining both parameters ensures that the subwatersheds with the highest priority are those where the greatest impact can be had with the least amount of implementation. For all three pollutants of concern in the Musquapsink Brook Watershed, loadings from subwatersheds MB4, MB5, and MB6 are the top three contributors to water quality impairments.

	a. Fecal Coliform							
Subwatershed	Ranking of Annual Loading	Ranking of Area- Normalized Annual Loading	Total Ranking					
MB1	4	4	8					
MB3	5	5	10					
MB4	2	3	5					
MB5	3	2	5					
MB6	1	1	2					

Table 6.3a.b.c: Summation of Rankings for Loadings and Area- Normalized Loadings

		b. E. coli							
Subwatershed	Ranking of Annual Loading	Ranking of Area- Normalized Annual Loading	Total Ranking						
MB1	4	4	8						
MB3	5	5	10						
MB4	1	3	4						
MB5	2	1	3						
MB6	3	2	5						

	c. Total Phosphorus			
Subwatershed	Ranking of Annual Loading	Ranking of Area- Normalized Annual Loading	Total Ranking	
MB1	4	5	9	
MB3	5	4	9	
MB4	2	3	5	
MB5	1	1	2	
MB6	3	2	5	

The final step in this analysis was to combine the priority rankings for total phosphorus, fecal coliform and *E. coli* to create an overall ranking for each subwatershed. These rankings will help prioritize the implementation of stormwater best management practices. Tables 6.4 a, b, and c summarize overall rankings for total phosphorus, fecal coliform and *E. coli*. Subwatersheds of top priority are in bold.

The prioritization and ranking reflect the conclusions drawn from the surface water quality sampling results; the Rosgen Analysis; and Channel Evolution Model evaluations. The downstream portion (subwatersheds MB4, MB5, and MB6) of the Musquapsink Brook Watershed is the most significantly impaired, with pollutant loadings due largely to human activities, potential infrastructure failures, and unstable stream conditions. Areas in these segments of the watershed will be targeted for BMP implementation.

	a. Fecal Coliform			
Subwatershed	Ranking of Annual Loading	Ranking of Area- Normalized Annual Loading	Total Ranking	
MB1	4	4	4	
MB3	5	5	5	
MB4	2	3	3	
MB5	3	2	2	
MB6	1	1	1	

Tables ( 1 a b a	Duiouity	Watawahada	S. C. sfaaa	Watan	<b>O</b> uglitte	Downator
Tables 0.4 a.D.C.	Priority	watersneus i	iv Surface	water	Quanty	Parameter
					~~~~~,	

		b. E. coli			
Subwatershed	Ranking of Annual Loading	Ranking of Area- Normalized Annual Loading	Total Ranking		
MB1	4	4	4		
MB3	5	5	5		
MB4	1	3	2		
MB5	2	1	1		
MB6	3	2	3		

	c. Total Phosphorus			
Subwatershed	Ranking of Annual Loading	Ranking of Area- Normalized Annual Loading	Total Ranking	
MB1	4	5	5	
MB3	5	4	4	
MB4	2	3	3	
MB5	1	1	1	
MB6	3	2	2	

# 7. Nonpoint Source Pollution Management Measures

The Musquapsink Brook Watershed Restoration and Protection Plan is dedicated to projects and efforts to control nonpoint source pollution. In the Musquapsink Brook Watershed, fecal coliform (*E. coli* as replacement standard) and TP are of greatest concern. Implementation of the suggested projects will aid in achieving the goals set up in the appropriate TMDLs. These projects have been prioritized based on a subwatershed basis, percent removal of pollutants, impact on the watershed's discharge quality, overall cost-effectiveness, and best professional judgment. Projects aim to reduce connected impervious cover, improve riparian buffers, control geese access to streams, and improve stakeholder knowledge on the importance of stormwater management.

## 7.1 Load Reduction Scenarios

Load reduction targets will adhere to those recommended by USEPA-approved TMDLs for the Musquapsink Brook Watershed. Based on the calculated annual loadings and priority rankings of the subwatersheds provided in Chapter 6 of this report, targeted reductions in TP and fecal coliform in the downstream portions of the watershed will likely have the most measurable effect on overall watershed loadings. Best management practices (BMPs) will be recommended for all subwatersheds, with a specific focus on implementation in subwatersheds MB4, MB5, and MB6.

## 7.1.1 Total Phosphorus

The 2005 TMDL load allocation for total phosphorus requires a 10.9% reduction in current loadings to the Musquapsink Brook. According to the calculations provided in Table 11 of the TMDL report for the Musquapsink Brook, the 10.9% load reduction equates to 641 kg/year reduction in total phosphorus loadings for the entire watershed. Since there are not significant point sources identified as contributing to the overall water quality exceedances in this watershed, source reduction needs to be allocated to nonpoint sources. Stormwater is considered a nonpoint source, although MS4s are a regulated point source for both Tier A and Tier B municipalities. Due to the fact that the origin of stormwater is from diffuse sources that run off of the land area, solutions will be determined while the pollutant is still considered nonpoint. Land use in each of the targeted subwatersheds has been evaluated for aerial loading and is a key determinant of recommended BMP types. Tables 7.1 a, b, and c provide information on calculated TP loading rates in the watershed.

Table 7.1:	Total Phosphorus Loading Analysis According to 2007 Land use/Land cover Data for the	
	Priority Subwatersheds in the Musquapsink Brook Watershed	

a.				
Land use: Subwatershed MB4	Coverage Area	Export Coefficient	Annual Load	% Total Load
A • 1/		Kg/acie/yeai	Kg/year	0.540/
Agriculture	1.2	0.61	4.4	0.54%
Forest/Water/Wetlands	196.0	0.04	7.9	0.99%
Urban: Recreational	26.9	0.01	0.3	0.04%
Urban: Residential-High, Medium	777.6	0.65	503.5	62.85%
Urban: Residential-Low, Rural	155.9	0.28	44.2	5.51%
Urban: Cemetery	293.4	0.45	130.6	16.31%
Urban: Athletic Fields	25.9	0.45	11.5	1.44%
Urban: Commercial	28.5	0.97	27.7	3.46%
Urban: Other	59.4	0.45	26.4	3.30%
Atmospheric Deposition (Direct)	1570.8	0.03	44.5	5.55%

b.				
Land use: Subwatershed MB5	Coverage Area acre	Export Coefficient kg/acre/year	Annual Load kg/year	% Total Load
Forest/Water/Wetlands	45.6	0.04	1.8	0.90%
Urban: Recreational	14.0	0.01	0.2	0.08%
Urban: Residential-High, Medium	283.9	0.65	183.8	89.14%
Urban: Residential-Low, Rural	13.3	0.28	3.8	1.83%
Urban: Athletic Fields	3.9	0.45	1.7	0.84%
Urban: Commercial	2.7	0.97	2.6	1.25%
Urban: Other	4.2	0.45	1.9	0.91%
Atmospheric Deposition (Direct)	367.6	0.03	10.4	5.05%

C
-

Land use: Subwatershed MB6	Coverage Area acre	Export Coefficient kg/acre/year	Annual Load kg/year	% Total Load
Forest/Water/Wetlands	38.0	0.04	1.5	0.66%
Urban: Recreational	5.2	0.01	0.1	0.03%
Urban: Residential-High, Medium	250.6	0.65	162.3	69.33%
Urban: Residential-Low, Rural	17.5	0.28	4.9	2.11%
Urban: Cemetery	15.4	0.45	6.8	2.92%
Urban: Athletic Fields	13.8	0.45	6.2	2.63%
Urban: Commercial	38.6	0.97	37.5	16.00%
Urban: Other	8.6	0.45	3.8	1.63%
Atmospheric Deposition (Direct)	387.6	0.03	11.0	4.69%

The export coefficients used in this analysis were provided by NJDEP using the Loading Coefficient Analysis and Selection Tool (LCAST) database of export coefficients (Al-Ebus 2003; NJDEP 2001). The export coefficient for recreational areas, which was not provided by NJDEP, was determined by the average of values presented in LCAST. The unit area phosphorus loading from atmospheric deposition, applied as a direct load, was based on a statewide value from the New Jersey Atmospheric Deposition Network (Eisenreich and Reinfelder 2001). To achieve a TP load reduction of 641 kg/year, nonpoint source management measures will aim to remove a significant portion of TP load from subwatersheds MB4, MB5, and MB6. Cemeteries, medium-high density residential areas, athletic fields, and commercial/service areas will be targeted for BMP implementation. See Table 7.2 below for targeted land use and the proposed area to be treated by BMPs.

Table 7.2: BMP Implementation Scenario and TP Load Reductions

а.					
Land use: Subwatershed MB4	Coverage Area	Annual Load	TP Removal by BMP	Area Treated by BMP	Total TP Load Reduction
	acre	kg/year	%	acre	kg/year
Urban: Residential- High, Medium	777.6	503.5	60	500	195
Urban: Residential-Low, Rural	155.9	44.2	60	100	16.8
Urban: Cemetery	293.4	130.6	60	290	78.3

h
υ.

c.

Land use: Subwatershed MB5	Coverage Area	Annual Load	TP Removal by BMP	Area Treated by BMP	Total TP Load Reduction
	acre	kg/year	%	acre	kg/year
Urban: Residential- High, Medium	283.9	183.8	60	200	78
Urban: Residential-Low, Rural	13.3	3.8	60	8	1.344
Urban: Commercial	2.7	2.6	60	2	1.164

Land use: Subwatershed MB6	Coverage Area	Annual Load	TP Removal by BMP	Area Treated by BMP	Total TP Load Reduction
	acre	kg/year	%	acre	kg/year
Urban: Residential- High, Medium	250.6	162.3	60	200	78
Urban: Commercial	38.6	37.5	60	25	14.55
Urban: Cemetery	15.4	6.8	60	15	4.05
Urban: Athletic Fields	13.8	6.2	60	10	2.7

Assuming the installed BMPs will achieve a 60% removal of TP from stormwater runoff, the extent of implementation proposed in Table 7.2 will yield a total reduction of 470 kg TP/year. This accounts for 73% of total TP loading reductions required by the TMDL. The totals in Table 7.2 do not account for reductions in atmospheric deposition contributions.

## 7.1.2 Fecal Coliform/E. coli

Fecal coliform and *E. coli* are present in high concentrations in the Musquapsink Brook Watershed. The main sources of total coliform are wildlife and domestic pet waste, and, to a lesser extent, from human inputs. The 2003 TMDL established for fecal coliform requires a 96% reduction in loadings to the watershed and requires that no sample exceeds a 200 col/100 mL maximum concentration. Since the initiation of this project, the indicator organism of bacterial quality has changed for freshwaters in New Jersey to the use of *E. coli*. The newly adopted water quality criterion for *E. coli* requires that no sample exceeds a 236 col/100 mL maximum concentration. All sampling stations violated the water quality criteria for both fecal coliform and *E. coli* for all sampling events.

Surface water quality sampling results indicate that pathogen loading to the brook occurs during both wet and dry events. Furthermore, MST data and fluorometric detection of optical brighteners indicate human sources of pathogenic contamination are present in the Musquapsink Brook Watershed. The potential for human fecal matter in streams is a serious public health threat and needs to be addressed. Discharge of untreated sewage in the Musquapsink Brook, broken sanitary sewer pipes, illicit connections, or failing septic systems may be contributing to the human sources detected during MST sampling. The majority of properties within the Musquapsink Brook Watershed are on community sewer systems. Further investigation into the exact type of problems leading to bacterial contamination is required before strategies for remediation can be evaluated. One method is to videotape the sanitary sewer lines to identify breaks that might allow wastewater to leak from the sewer lines and discharge into local waterways. Although the focus of this restoration and protection plan is on nonpoint sources of pollution, point sources that can create bacterial contamination of waters in the Musquapsink Brook Watershed, such as faulty wastewater treatment facilities and leaking septic systems, require further evaluation to successfully improve water quality.

All subwatersheds in the Musquapsink Brook Watershed should be considered for control of bacterial contamination due to the high number of samples that violated the water quality criteria for fecal coliform and *E. coli* (Table 5.4). Particular focus should be placed on MB4, MB5, and MB6 where preliminary MST data indicates the highest likelihood of human source pathogenic contamination (Table 5.6 and Figure 5.5). Control and reduction of pathogen contamination presents several challenges, however. Indicator organisms like fecal coliform and *E. coli* are solely indicators of fecal pollution and are not a direct measure of the amount of fecal contamination. Also, the measurement of fecal coliform and *E. coli* does not identify specific sources as these bacteria are found in many mammals. Further bacteria source trackdown is
recommended prior to the implementation of remediation strategies for pathogen loading reductions.

Loading coefficients have not been created for fecal coliform or *E. coli*, making estimation of load reductions by this method inappropriate (NJDEP, 2004). Estimation of fecal coliform and *E. coli* is further made difficult due to multiple sources of fecal contamination (wildlife feces, improper pet waste disposal, leaking septic systems, faulty sewer infrastructure) having different bacteria concentrations and loading rates. For example, Canada geese (*Branta canadensis*) have been noted as a possible source of fecal contamination in the Musquapsink Brook Watershed. The number of geese seen during field visits will vary for each site visit, due to the migratory nature of these animals. This makes proper enumeration of potential fecal loads extremely difficult to achieve. Beyond the ability to estimate bacterial loads from sampling data, estimation of bacterial loadings needs to be performed on a site by site basis to determine the impact of proposed water quality improvement projects. While rain gardens have been found to remove 90% of fecal coliform from stormwater runoff (Rusciano and Obropta, 2007) other measures described in this report (such as pervious pavement and rain barrels) do not have available information on bacteria removal rates.

### 7.2 Urban Best Management Practices

As the population within the Musquapsink Brook Watershed has remained fairly stable and land use has not changed significantly in recent years, the observed impacts to the Musquapsink Brook and within the watershed are not likely due to recent changes in the landscape. Similarly, the scope for future land use changes is limited as it has already reached capacity for development. Therefore, restoration and protection efforts need to focus on changes that can be accomplished within the current land use and environmental framework. This may include a combination of both institutional and structural controls. All proposed recommendations will function to decrease stormwater flows, increase infiltration, and ultimately reduce pollutant loading so that the Musquapsink Brook meets the water quality criteria for its designated uses.

#### 7.2.1 Rain Gardens

Designating areas within the watershed for increased stormwater infiltration is one method to reduce stormwater flow and does not require setting aside large tracts of land for construction. The general theory is to provide portions of the landscape where stormwater typically flows overland, and changing the nature of the surface such that some of the stormwater load is allowed to infiltrate into the ground. This requires permeable soils that allow stormwater to quickly seep into the ground surface before becoming saturated to the point of inefficiency. This recommendation is different from a detention/retention basin as it could spread the load of stormwater control over a large number of smaller infiltration areas, including personal property in the form of rain gardens or infiltration strips.

Rain gardens can be a simple and easily implemented BMP for private land owners. Increased infiltration could also be employed on property right-of-ways where

stormwater overland flow occurs. A rain garden is a landscaped, shallow depression designed to capture, treat, and infiltrate stormwater at the source before it reaches to a stormwater infrastructure system or a stream. Plants used in the rain garden help retain pollutants that could otherwise degrade nearby waterways. Rain gardens are becoming popular in suburban and urban areas. These systems not only improve water quality, but also help homeowners minimize the need for watering and fertilizing large turf grass areas and promote groundwater recharge. If designed properly, these systems improve the aesthetics of the urban/suburban neighborhoods through the use of flowering native plants and attractive trees and shrubs. See Figure 7.1 below for an example of a flourishing rain garden capturing rooftop runoff.



Figure 7.1: Example of a Rain Garden installed at the Rutgers Cooperative Extension of Burlington County, NJ in the Lower Delaware Watershed

A typical rain garden is designed to capture, treat and infiltrate the water quality storm of 1.25 inches of rain from a 1,000 square foot impervious area from an individual lot (i.e., a 25 foot by 40 foot roof for a house or a 20 foot wide by 50 foot long driveway). By collecting runoff generated by the first 1.25 inches of rainfall, the rain garden prevents the "first flush" of runoff from entering the stream, which characteristically has the highest concentration of contaminants. For the water quality storm of 1.25 inches of rainfall, the rain garden needs to be 10 foot by 20 foot and six inches deep. Since 90% of all rainfall events are less than one inch, rain gardens are able to treat and recharge the majority of runoff from these storms. It is fair to assume, if designed correctly, rain gardens will reduce the pollutant loading from a drainage area by 90 percent wherever they are installed. Furthermore, they will reduce stormwater runoff volumes and reduce the flashy hydrology of local streams. This reduction of flashy hydrology will minimize stream bank erosion and stream bed scour, thereby reducing TSS and phosphorus loads in the waterway. According to Rusciano and Obropta (2007), rain gardens are found to remove 90 percent of fecal coliform from stormwater runoff.

Rain gardens can be installed almost anywhere. Ideally the best installation sites are those where the soils are well-drained so that an underdrain system is not required. However, any diversion runoff and filtration through native vegetation in the watershed would help reduce pollutant loading to the stream.

#### 7.2.2 Permeable Pavement

Reduction of impervious surfaces with the installation of permeable or pervious surfaces is another BMP that can help reduce stormwater flow, increase groundwater recharge and improve water quality. Pervious surfaces can include asphalt, concrete, or even interlocking concrete blocks with soil and grass growing within the voids. These surfaces allow water to pass through the surface into an underlying reservoir (stones or gravel) that provides temporary runoff storage until infiltration to the subsurface soils can occur. Figure 7.2 demonstrates the ability of pervious concrete to infiltrate stormwater runoff as opposed to causing sheet flow like the impervious counterpart. Primary applications for these surfaces are low traffic or parking areas that do not see a high volume of vehicular traffic but have significant areas of impervious surfaces (Hun-Dorris 2005).



Figure 7.2: Example of previous concrete allowing water to flow through it<sup>1</sup>

#### 7.2.3 Green Streets

Roadways cover a significant percentage of land in most urban communities, and thus offer a unique opportunity for stormwater management. Green streets can include combinations of features such as vegetated curb extensions, flow-through planter boxes, and permeable paving to reduce stormwater flow and improve water quality (USEPA, 2009).

A curb extension is an angled narrowing of a roadway with a concurrent widening of the sidewalk space. Rain gardens can be incorporated into these extensions to capture stormwater flow from streets. Flow-through planter boxes are long, narrow landscaped areas with vertical walls and flat bottoms open to the underlying soil. They allow for increased stormwater storage volume in minimal space. The plants and topsoil within the boxes contribute to stormwater filtering and treatment for improved water quality. Planters may also incorporate street trees. Figures 7.3 and 7.4 show common applications of green street features in Portland, Oregon.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> "Pervious Concrete Pavement". September 2009. <u>U.S. Environmental Protection Agency</u>. < http://cfpub.epa.gov/npdes/stormwater/menuofbmps/index.cfm?action=browse&Rbutton=detail&bmp=137 &minmeasure=5>.



Figure 7.3: Example of a Green Street with incorporation of a Curb Extension and Rain Garden in Portland, OR<sup>2</sup>



Figure 7.4: Example of a Green Street with incorporation of a flow-through planter in Portland, OR<sup>2</sup>

#### 7.2.4 Rain Barrels

An additional recommendation that may help reduce a limited volume of stormwater flow from personal properties is the installation of rain barrels at roof gutter down spouts. Considering that a vast majority of the watershed is occupied by residential properties, there is a large total surface area of roofs that contribute to impervious surface runoff. While many gutter systems drain to lawns where infiltration can occur, a significant portion of drainage systems were observed that drain runoff directly to street curbs and therefore directly to the Musquapsink Brook. With education and awareness, rain barrels could become part of an overall approach for homeowner action. Figure 7.5 shows an example of an installed rain barrel collecting stormwater from a residential rooftop.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> "Curb Bump-Out Rain Garden". May 2009. <u>Flickr</u>. 2011.

<sup>&</sup>lt;a href="http://www.flickr.com/photos/dcgreeninfrastructure/5036625486/in/photostream">http://www.flickr.com/photos/dcgreeninfrastructure/5036625486/in/photostream</a>>.



Figure 7.5: Example of an installed Rain Barrel in the Lower Delaware Watershed

#### 7.2.5 Bank Stabilization and Riparian Buffer Restoration

As presented in Chapter 4 of this plan, there are a number of areas along the Musquapsink Brook where steep and unstable or unvegetated banks are eroding. Figure 7.6 illustrates an example of these conditions in the watershed. There are several bank stabilization methods that alleviate excessive sedimentation and allow for the interception of direct storm flow. The installation and planting of native riparian plant species in unvegetated areas of the Musquapsink Brook Watershed would stabilize the exposed and eroding bank areas and reduce the sediment load. This form of bank stabilization can be conducted in a relatively cost-effective manner. See Figure 7.7 for an example of installed live stakes and coir fiber mat for erosion control and stabilization.



Figure 7.6: Example of an Eroded and Unstable Streambank in Musquapsink Brook Watershed

Increased buffer areas in the riparian corridor can reduce both stormwater flow and pollutant loading. Riparian zones are recognized for their ability to perform a variety of functions, including erosion control by regulating sediment storage; stabilizing stream channels; serving as nutrient sinks; reducing flood peaks; and serving as key recharge points for renewing groundwater supplies. They create better macroinvertebrate habitat within the stream by increasing canopy cover and reducing water temperatures.

Additionally, riparian buffers can also deter geese and other waterfowl from entering the waterway.



Figure 7.7: Erosion control and streambank stabilization with live stake plant material, North Carolina<sup>3</sup>

Finally, there are sections of the Musquapsink Brook where down-cutting is occurring. This is the deepening of the river so that it loses its ability to rise beyond its banks into the floodplain. This disconnection from the floodplain makes the stream flow much faster during storm events and limits its ability to provide stormwater detention in its floodplains. Several of these areas should be examined for possible reconnection to the floodplain. Once reconnected to the floodplain, flood waters will move much slower downstream and receive treatment by floodplain vegetation. Caution needs to be taken in these reconnection projects so as to not put infrastructure and buildings in danger as a result of flood waters.

# 7.3 Site Specific Restoration Projects

The major emphasis of the remediation strategies is to retain stormwater runoff and loadings by disconnection of impervious surfaces, riparian corridor restoration, implementing goose/waterfowl deterrents, and initiating or enhancing education for students, homeowners, businesses, etc. on the proper management techniques for runoff and pollutant control. Watershed-wide strategies should readily produce enhancements to the flow regime and water quality throughout Musquapsink Brook Watershed. Sitespecific strategies should provide localized remediation for sources of stormwater runoff and the associated contaminants while also serving as a demonstration for universal application to foster a more effective restoration and protection program.

For each subwatershed, BMP opportunities were identified in each municipality. The figures that illustrate theses opportunities are presented in Appendix C. Each site was field inspected and a brief description of the site and possible BMPs are also presented in Appendix C. Each potential project was given a unique identification code. In Tables 7.3 through 7.26, information for each project is presented including site description, land use, area of project, existing pollutant loading from each project site as calculated using aerial loading coefficients, recommended management measures and BMP type, estimated implementation costs, and load reductions anticipated by the BMP. Aerial loading coefficients were used to determine the load reductions for total phosphorus, total nitrogen, and total suspended solids. These loading coefficients were multiplied by the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Charlotte-Mecklenburg Storm Water Services

area disconnected for each of the identified project sites. Annual pollutant loading reductions and water quantity reductions are based on 90% volume reductions as management measures are designed to capture all runoff from two-year rainfall events and are estimated to capture 90% of the annual rainfall (44.1 inches in Bergen County).

7.3.1 Subwatershed MB1

Borough of Woodcliff Lake



Figure 7.8 Aerial View of Subwatershed MB1, Borough of Woodcliff Lake Study Area

Project ID		LAND USE	AREA ACRES	Calculated TP Load lbs/yr	Estimated TP Removal by BMP lbs/yr	Calculated TN Load lbs/yr	Estimated TN Removal by BMP lbs/yr	Calculated TSS Load lbs/yr	Estimated TSS Removal by BMP lbs/yr	Estimated Water Quantity Reduction Mgal/yr
MB1_WL	a	COMMERCIAL (PARKING)	25	53	47	550	495	5,000	4,500	27
MB1_WL	b	RESIDENTIAL	50	30	27	250	225	5,000	4,500	54
MB1_WL	c	RESIDENTIAL	38	23	21	190	171	3,800	3,420	41
MB1_WL	d	RESIDENTIAL	124	174	156	1,860	1,674	17,360	15,624	134
MB1_WL	e	RECREATIONAL	8	8	7	80	72	960	864	9
MB1_WL	f	RECREATIONAL	16	16	14	160	144	1,920	1,728	17
MB1_WL	g	COMMERCIAL (PARKING)	1	2	2	22	20	200	180	1
		Total	262	303	273	3,090	2,781	34,040	30,636	282
		Total Impervious Cover (Acres)	73							

Table 7.3 Projects Identified in Subwatershed MB1, Borough of Woodcliff Lake with Load Reduction Scenarios

Project	ID	Site Description	Management Measure	Type of BMP	Estimated Cost
MB1_WL	а	Car Dealership	Disconnection of Parking Lot	Rain Garden Pervious Asphalt	\$12,000-\$720,000
MB1_WL	b	Residential Neighborhood	Disconnection of Roadway	Rain Garden	\$2,000
MB1_WL	с	Residential Neighborhood	Disconnection of Roadway	Pervious Asphalt	\$300,000
MB1_WL	d	Residential Neighborhood	Disconnection of Roadway, Rooftops Educational Programs	Rain Garden Grassed Swales Rain Barrels	\$6,000-\$20,000
MB1_WL	e	Park	Disconnection of Parking Lot, Rooftop	Rain Garden Pervious Asphalt	\$2,000-\$100,000
MB1_WL	f	School	Disconnection of Parking Lot	Rain Garden	\$2,000
MB1_WL	g	Church	Disconnection of Parking Lot	Pervious Asphalt	\$450,000

Table 7.4 BMP Management Measures for Project Locations in Subwatershed MB1, Borough of Woodcliff Lake

## 7.3.2 Subwatershed MB2

## Hillsdale Borough



Figure 7.9 Aerial View of Subwatershed MB2, Hillsdale Borough Study Area

Project ID		LANDUSE	AREA ACRES	Calculated TP Load lbs/yr	Estimated TP Removal by BMP lbs/yr	Calculated TN Load lbs/yr	Estimated TN Removal by BMP lbs/yr	Calculated TSS Load lbs/yr	Estimated TSS Removal by BMP lbs/yr	Estimated Water Quantity Reduction Mgal/yr
MB2_H	а	COMMERCIAL (PARKING)	3	6	6	66	59	600	540	3
MB2_H	b	RESIDENTIAL	40	24	22	200	180	4,000	3,600	43
MB2_H	с	RESIDENTIAL	32	19	17	160	144	3,200	2,880	34
MB2_H	d	RECREATIONAL (SCHOOL)	8	8	7	80	72	960	864	9
		Total	83	58	52	506	455	8,760	7,884	89
		Total Impervious Cover (Acres)	19							

Table 7.5 Projects Identified in Subwatershed MB2, Hillsdale Borough with Load Reduction Scenarios

#### Table 7.6 BMP Management Measures for Project Locations in Subwatershed MB2, Hillsdale Borough

Project ID	)	Site Description	Management Measure	Type of BMP	Estimated Cost
MB2_H	a	Business	Disconnection of Parking Lot	Pervious Asphalt Planter Boxes	\$150,000
MB2_H	b	Residential Neighborhood	Disconnection of Rooftop Educational Programs	Rain Gardens Rain Barrels	\$10,000-\$20,000
MB2_H	c	Residential Neighborhood	Disconnection of Roadway	Green Streets	\$1,540,000
MB2_H	d	School	Disconnection of Parking Lot	Rain Garden	\$2,000-\$4,000

# Washington Township



Figure 7.10 Aerial View of Subwatershed MB2, Washington Township Study Area

Project ID		LANDUSE	AREA	Calculated TP Load	Estimated TP Removal by BMP	Calculated TN Load	Estimated TN Removal by BMP	Calculated TSS Load	Estimated TSS Removal by BMP	Estimated Water Quantity Reduction
			ACRES	lbs/yr	lbs/yr	lbs/yr	lbs/yr	lbs/yr	lbs/yr	Mgal/yr
MB2_Wa	а	COMMERCIAL	8	17	15	176	158	1,600	1,440	9
MB2_Wa	b	COMMERCIAL	7	15	13	154	139	1,400	1,260	8
MB2_Wa	с	COMMERCIAL	1	2	2	22	20	200	180	1
MB2_Wa	d	RESIDENTIAL	18	11	10	90	81	1,800	1,620	19
MB2_Wa	e	RESIDENTIAL	35	21	19	175	158	3,500	3,150	38
MB2_Wa	f	RESIDENTIAL	12	7	6	60	54	1,200	1,080	13
MB2_Wa	g	RESIDENTIAL	27	16	15	135	122	2,700	2,430	29
MB2_Wa	h	RECREATIONAL (SCHOOL)	6	6	5	60	54	720	648	6
		Total	114	95	85	872	785	13,120	11,808	123
		Total Impervious Cover (Acres)	50							

#### Table 7.7 Projects Identified in Subwatershed MB2, Washington Township with Load Reduction Scenarios

Project ID	Site Description	Management Measure	Type of BMP	Estimated Cost
MB2_Wa a	Recreation	Disconnection of Parking Lot	Naturalize basin, swale Rain garden Pervious pavement	\$12,100
MB2_Wa b	Commercial	Disconnection of Parking Lot	Pervious Pavement	\$100,000
MB2_Wa c	Commercial	Disconnection of Parking Lot	Pervious Pavement Rain gardens	\$96,200
MB2_Wa d	Residential	Disconnection of Rooftop	Rain barrels Green Alleyway	\$70,680
MB2_Wa e	Residential	Disconnection of Rooftop	Rain Gardens Rain Barrels	\$22,000
MB2_Wa f	Residential	Disconnection of Rooftop	Rain Gardens Rain Barrels Naturalize Basin, Swale	\$22,040
MB2_Wa g	Park	Disconnection of Parking Lot	Rain Garden Shoreline Stabilization	\$3,300
MB2_Wa h	School	Disconnection of Parking Lot	Rain Garden Pervious Pavement	\$50,400

#### Table 7.8 BMP Management Measures for Project Locations in Subwatershed MB2, Washington Township

## 7.3.3 Subwatershed MB3

# Washington Township



Figure 7.11 Aerial View of Subwatershed MB3, Washington Township Study Area

Project ID		LAND USE	AREA	Calculated TP Load	Estimated TP Removal by BMP lbs/yr	Calculated TN Load	Estimated TN Removal by BMP	Calculated TSS Load	Estimated TSS Removal by BMP	Estimated Water Quantity Reduction
			ACKES	105/y1	108/y1	105/91	105/ 91	105/91	105/ y1	Ivigal/yi
MB3_Wa	а	(PARKING)	14	29	26	308	277	2,800	2,520	15
MB3_Wa	b	COMMERCIAL (PARKING)	3	6	6	66	59	600	540	3
MB3_Wa	с	RESIDENTIAL	4	2	2	20	18	400	360	4
MB3_Wa	d	RESIDENTIAL	9	5	5	45	41	900	810	10
MB3_Wa	e	RESIDENTIAL	11	7	6	55	50	1,100	990	12
MB3_Wa	f	RESIDENTIAL	37	22	20	185	167	3,700	3,330	40
MB3_Wa	g	RECREATIONAL	3	3	3	30	27	360	324	3
MB3_Wa	h	RECREATIONAL (SCHOOL)	4	4	4	40	36	480	432	4
		Total	85	79	71	749	674	10,340	9,306	92
		Total Impervious Cover (Acres)	40							

Table 7.9 Projects Identified in Subwatershed MB3, Washington Township with Load Reduction Scenarios

Project l	D	Site Description	Management Measure	Type of BMP	Estimated Cost (\$)
MB3_Wa	a	Commercial	Disconnection of Parking lot	Rain Garden/Pervious Asphalt/Swale/Increase buffer	\$156,800
MB3_Wa	b	Church	Disconnection of Parking lot	Disconnect downspouts/Rain Gardens	\$840
MB3_Wa	с	Residential	Disconnection of Rooftops, Roadways	Rain Gardens/Rain Barrels	\$11,680
MB3_Wa	d	Residential	Disconnection of Rooftops, Roadways	Rain Gardens/Rain Barrels/Swales	\$33,900
MB3_Wa	e	Residential	Disconnection of Rooftops, Roadways	Rain Gardens/Rain Barrels/Swales	\$13,500
MB3_Wa	f	Residential	Disconnection of Rooftops, Roadways	Rain Gardens/Rain Barrels/Swales	\$79,800
MB3_Wa	g	Recreation	Disconnection of Parking lot, Rooftop	Pervious Asphalt, Increase Buffer	\$106,000
MB3_Wa	h	School	Disconnection of Rooftops, Parking lot	Rain Gardens, Pervious Asphalt, Swales	\$102,000

#### Table 7.10 BMP Management Measures for Project Locations in Subwatershed MB3, Washington Township

## 7.3.4 Subwatershed MB4

## Borough of Emerson



Figure 7.12 Aerial View of Subwatershed MB4, Borough of Emerson Study Area

Project ID		LAND USE	AREA ACRES	Calculated TP Load lbs/yr	Estimated TP Removal by BMP lbs/yr	Calculated TN Load lbs/yr	Estimated TN Removal by BMP Ibs/yr	Calculated TSS Load lbs/yr	Estimated TSS Removal by BMP lbs/yr	Estimated Water Quantity Reduction Mgal/yr
MB4_E	а	CEMETERY	82	82	74	820	738	9,840	8,856	88
MB4_E	b	RESIDENTIAL	27	16	15	135	122	2,700	2,430	29
MB4_E	с	RESIDENTIAL	61	37	33	305	275	6,100	5,490	66
MB4_E	d	RECREATIONAL	17	17	15	170	153	2,040	1,836	18
		Total	187	152	137	1,430	1,287	20,680	18,612	202
		Total Impervious Cover (Acres)	38							

#### Table 7.11 Projects Identified in Subwatershed MB4, Borough of Emerson with Load Reduction Scenarios

Table 7.12 BMP Management Measures for Project Locations in Subwatershed MB4, Borough of Emerson

Project ID		Site Description	Management Measure	Type of BMP	Estimated Cost
MB4_E	а	Cemetery	Disconnection of Roadways	Flow-Through Planter Boxes	\$60,000
MB4_E	b	Residential	Disconnect Rooftops	Rain Gardens/Rain Barrels	\$39,600
MB4_E	с	Residential	Disconnect Rooftops, Roadways	Rain Gardens/Rain Barrels/Swales	\$73,400
MB4_E	d	Golf Club	Disconnect Parking Lot	Pervious Pavement	\$200,000

# Borough of Paramus



Figure 7.13 Aerial View of Subwatershed MB4, Borough of Paramus Study Area

Project ID	LAND USE	AREA ACRES	Calculated TP Load lbs/yr	Estimated TP Removal by BMP lbs/yr	Calculated TN Load lbs/yr	Estimated TN Removal by BMP lbs/yr	Calculated TSS Load lbs/yr	Estimated TSS Removal by BMP lbs/yr	Estimated Water Quantity Reduction Mgal/yr
MB4_P a	CEMETERY	100	100	90	1,000	900	12,000	10,800	108
MB4_P b	RESIDENTIAL	42	25	23	210	189	4,200	3,780	45
MB4_P c	RESIDENTIAL	22	13	12	110	99	2,200	1,980	24
MB4_P d	RESIDENTIAL	86	52	46	430	387	8,600	7,740	93
MB4_P e	RESIDENTIAL	29	17	16	290	261	3,480	3,132	31
MB4_P f	RECREATIONAL (SCHOOL)	12	12	11	120	108	1,440	1,296	13
MB4_P g	RESIDENTIAL	14	8	8	70	63	1,400	1,260	15
	Total	305	228	205	2,230	2,007	33,320	29,988	329
	Total Impervious Cover (Acres)	81							

 Table 7.13 Projects Identified in Subwatershed MB4, Borough of Paramus with Load Reduction Scenarios

	Project ID	Site Description	Management Measure	Type of BMP	Estimated Cost
MB4_P	а	Cemetery	Disconnection of Roadways	Flow-Through Planter Boxes	\$65,000
MB4_P	b	Residential	Disconnection of Rooftops	Rain Gardens/Rain Barrels	\$17,600
MB4_P	С	Residential	Disconnection of Rooftops, Roadways	Rain Gardens/Rain Barrels/Increase Buffer	\$17,600
MB4_P	d	Residential	Disconnection of Rooftops, Roadways	Rain Gardens/Rain Barrels/Increase Buffer	\$89,600
MB4_P	e	Residential	Disconnection of Rooftops, Roadways	Rain Gardens/Rain Barrels/Increase Buffer	\$164,000
MB4_P	f	School	Disconnection of Parking Lot	Rain Gardens/Pervious Pavement	\$244,600
MB4_P	g	Residential	Disconnection of Rooftops	Rain Gardens/Rain Barrels	\$19,800

#### Table 7.14 BMP Management Measures for Project Locations in Subwatershed MB4, Borough of Paramus

# Washington Township



Figure 7.14 Aerial View of Subwatershed MB4, Washington Township Study Area

Project ID		LAND USE	AREA	Calculated TP Load	Estimated TP Removal by BMP	Calculated TN Load	Estimated TN Removal by BMP	Calculated TSS Load	Estimated TSS Removal by BMP	Estimated Water Quantity Reduction
			ACRES	lbs/yr	lbs/yr	lbs/yr	lbs/yr	lbs/yr	lbs/yr	Mgal/yr
MB4_Wa	а	CEMETERY	89	89	80	890	801	10,680	9,612	96
MB4_Wa	b	COMMERCIAL (PARKING)	3	6	6	66	59	600	540	3
MB4_Wa	c	COMMERCIAL (PARKING)	4	8	8	88	79	800	720	4
MB4_Wa	d	COMMERCIAL (PARKING)	2	4	4	44	40	400	360	2
MB4_Wa	e	RESIDENTIAL	14	8	8	70	63	1,400	1,260	15
MB4_Wa	f	RESIDENTIAL	3	2	2	15	14	300	270	3
MB4_Wa	g	RESIDENTIAL	73	44	39	365	329	7,300	6,570	79
MB4_Wa	h	RECREATIONAL	3	3	3	30	27	360	324	3
MB4_Wa	i	RECREATIONAL (SCHOOL)	27	27	24	270	243	3,240	2,916	29
		Total	218	192	173	1,838	1,654	25,080	22,572	235
		Total Impervious Cover (Acres)	55							

Table 7.15 Projects Identified in Subwatershed MB4, Washington Township with Load Reduction Scenarios

Project ID	Site Description	Management Measure	Type of BMP	Estimated Cost
MB4_Wa a	Cemetery	Disconnection of Roadways	Flow-Through Planter Boxes Rain Garden	\$50,800
MB4_Wa b	Public Building	Disconnection of Parking Lot	Rain Garden	\$1,600
MB4_Wa c	Church	Disconnection of Rooftops, Roadways	Rain Garden	\$800
MB4_Wa d	Commercial	Disconnection of Parking Lot	Pervious Asphalt	\$150,000
MB4_Wa e	Recreation	Disconnection of Rooftops, Roadways	Rain Gardens/Rain Barrels/Increase Buffer	\$12,600
MB4_Wa f	Residential	Disconnection of Rooftops	Cluster Rain Gardens	\$20,000
MB4_Wa g	Residential	Disconnection of Rooftops, Roadways	Rain Gardens/Rain Barrels/Pervious Asphalt	\$532,800
MB4_Wa h	Recreation	Disconnection of Roadways	Increase Buffer	\$8,000
MB4_Wa i	School	Disconnect Parking Lot, Rooftops	Rain Garden/Pervious Pavement	\$151,000

 Table 7.16 BMP Management Measures for Project Locations in Subwatershed MB4, Washington Township

# Borough of Westwood



Figure 7.15 Aerial View of Subwatershed MB4, Borough of Westwood Study Area

Project	t ID	LANDUSE	AREA	Calculated TP Load	Estimated TP Removal by BMP	Calculated TN Load	Estimated TN Removal by BMP	Calculated TSS Load	Estimated TSS Removal by BMP	Estimated Water Quantity Reduction
			ACRES	lbs/yr	lbs/yr	lbs/yr	lbs/yr	lbs/yr	lbs/yr	Mgal/yr
MB4_We	а	RESIDENTIAL	19	11	10	95	86	1,900	1,710	20
MB4_We	b	RESIDENTIAL	8	5	4	40	36	800	720	9
		Total	27	16	15	135	122	2,700	2,430	29
		Total Impervious Cover (Acres)	10							

#### Table 7.17 Projects Identified in Subwatershed MB4, Borough of Westwood with Load Reduction Scenarios

#### Table 7.18 BMP Management Measures for Project Locations in Subwatershed MB4, Borough of Westwood

Project ID	Site Description	Management Measure	Type of BMP	Estimated Cost
MB4_We a	Residential	Disconnection of Rooftops, Roadways	Rain Gardens/Rain Barrels/Pervious Asphalt/Swales	\$225,000
MB4_We b	Residential	Disconnection of Rooftops, Roadways	Rain Gardens/Rain Barrels/Pervious Asphalt/Swales	\$157,300

# 7.3.5 Subwatershed MB5

## Borough of Emerson



Figure 7.16 Aerial View of Subwatershed MB5, Borough of Emerson Study Area

Projec	t ID	LAND USE	AREA ACRES	Calculated TP Load lbs/yr	Estimated TP Removal by BMP lbs/yr	Calculated TN Load lbs/yr	Estimated TN Removal by BMP Ibs/yr	Calculated TSS Load lbs/yr	Estimated TSS Removal by BMP lbs/yr	Estimated Water Quantity Reduction Mgal/yr
MB5_E	а	RESIDENTIAL	17	10	9	85	77	1,700	1,530	18
MB5_E	b	RESIDENTIAL	11	7	6	55	50	1,100	990	12
		Total	28	17	15	140	126	2,800	2,520	30
		Total Impervious Cover (Acres)	12							

 Table 7.19
 Projects Identified in Subwatershed MB5, Borough of Emerson with Load Reduction Scenarios

#### Table 7.20 BMP Management Measures for Project Locations in Subwatershed MB5, Borough of Emerson

Project ID	Site Description	Management Measure	Type of BMP	Estimated Cost
MB5_E a	Residential	Disconnect Rooftops, Roadways	Rain Gardens/Rain Barrels/Pervious Asphalt	\$659,200
MB5_E b	Residential/Recreation	Disconnect Roadways, Rooftops	Rain Garden	\$17,600

# Borough of Westwood



Figure 7.17 Aerial View of Subwatershed MB5, Borough of Westwood Study Area

Project ID		LAND USE	AREA	Calculated TP Load	Estimated TP Removal by BMP	Calculated TN Load	Estimated TN Removal by BMP	Calculated TSS Load	Estimated TSS Removal by BMP	Estimated Water Quantity Reduction
			ACRES	lbs/yr	lbs/yr	lbs/yr	lbs/yr	lbs/yr	lbs/yr	Mgal/yr
MB5_We	а	RESIDENTIAL	6	4	3	30	27	600	540	6
MB5_We	b	RESIDENTIAL	3	2	2	15	14	300	270	3
MB5_We	с	RESIDENTIAL	20	12	11	100	90	2,000	1,800	22
MB5_We	d	RESIDENTIAL	7	4	4	35	32	700	630	8
MB5_We	e	RESIDENTIAL	10	6	5	50	45	1,000	900	11
MB5_We	f	RESIDENTIAL	3	2	2	15	14	300	270	3
MB5_We	g	RESIDENTIAL	14	8	8	70	63	1,400	1,260	15
MB5_We	h	RECREATIONAL	1	1	1	10	9	120	108	1
MB5_We	i	RECREATIONAL (SCHOOL)	6	6	5	60	54	720	648	6
		Total	70	45	40	385	347	7,140	6,426	75
		Total Impervious Cover (Acres)	24							

Table 7.21 Projects Identified in Subwatershed MB5, Borough of Westwood with Load Reduction Scenarios

Project ID	Site Description	Management Measure	Type of BMP	Estimated Cost	
MB5_We a	Residential	Disconnection of Roadways, Rooftops	Rain Gardens/Rain Barrels/Pervious Asphalt	\$183,200	
MB5_We b	Residential	Disconnection of Roadways, Rooftops	Rain Gardens/Rain Barrels/Pervious Asphalt	\$93,600	
MB5_We c	Residential	Disconnection of Roadways, Rooftops	Rain Gardens/Rain Barrels/Pervious Asphalt	\$211,000	
MB5_We d	Residential	Disconnection of Roadways, Rooftops	Rain Gardens/Rain Barrels/Pervious Asphalt	\$152,800	
MB5_We e	Recreation	Disconnection of Roadways	Increase Buffer	\$77,760	
MB5_We f	Residential	Disconnection of Roadways, Rooftops	Rain Gardens/Rain Barrels/Pervious Asphalt	\$76,600	
MB5_We g	Residential	Disconnection of Roadways, Rooftops	Rain Gardens/Rain Barrels/Pervious Asphalt	\$906,000	
MB5_We h	Recreation	Riparian Buffer Restoration	Increase Buffer	\$20,000	
MB5_We i	School	Disconnect Roadways, Rooftops	Rain Garden	\$800	

#### Table 7.22 BMP Management Measures for Project Locations in Subwatershed MB5, Borough of Westwood

# 7.3.6 Subwatershed MB6

## Borough of Emerson



Figure 7.18 Aerial View of Subwatershed MB6, Borough of Emerson Study Area

Proj	iect ID	LANDUSE	AREA	Calculated TP Load	Estimated TP Removal by BMP lbs/yr	Calculated TN Load	Estimated TN Removal by BMP lbs/yr	Calculated TSS Load	Estimated TSS Removal by BMP lbs/vr	Estimated Water Quantity Reduction Mgal/yr
			ACKES	105/y1	105/ y1	105/y1	105/y1	105/ y1	105/ y1	Ivigal/yi
MB6_E	а	RESIDENTIAL	19	11	10	95	86	1,900	1,710	20
MB6_E	b	RECREATIONAL (SCHOOL)	7	7	6	70	63	840	756	8
		Total	26	18	17	165	149	2,740	2,466	28
		Total Impervious Cover (Acres)	9							

#### Table 7.23 Projects Identified in Subwatershed MB6, Borough of Emerson with Load Reduction Scenarios

 Table 7.24 BMP Management Measures for Project Locations in Subwatershed MB6, Borough of Emerson

Project ID	Site Description	Management Measure	Type of BMP	Estimated Cost
MB6_E a	Residential	Disconnect Roadways	Green Street	\$65,000
MB6_E b	School	Disconnect Rooftops	Rain Garden/Rain Barrels	\$37,400

# Borough of Westwood



Figure 7.19 Aerial View of Subwatershed MB6, Borough of Westwood Study Area
Project ID		LAND USE	AREA	Calculated TP Load	Estimated TP Removal by BMP	Calculated TN Load	Estimated TN Removal by BMP	Calculated TSS Load	Estimated TSS Removal by BMP	Estimated Water Quantity Reduction
			ACRES	lbs/yr	lbs/yr	lbs/yr	lbs/yr	lbs/yr	lbs/yr	Mgal/yr
MB6_We	а	RESIDENTIAL	4	2	2	20	18	400	360	4
MB6_We	b	COMMERCIAL	10	21	19	220	198	2,000	1,800	11
MB6_We	с	RESIDENTIAL	4	6	5	20	18	400	360	4
MB6_We	d	COMMERCIAL	3	6	6	66	59	600	540	3
MB6_We	e	COMMERCIAL	3	6	6	66	59	600	540	3
MB6_We	f	COMMERCIAL	4	8	8	88	79	800	720	4
MB6_We	g	COMMERCIAL	3	6	6	66	59	600	540	3
MB6_We	h	RESIDENTIAL	15	9	8	75	68	1,500	1,350	16
MB6_We	i	RESIDENTIAL	4	2	2	20	18	400	360	4
		Total	50	68	61	641	577	7,300	6,570	54
		Total								
		Impervious	25							
		Cover (Acres)								

#### Table 7.25 Projects Identified in Subwatershed MB6, Borough of Westwood with Load Reduction Scenarios

Project ID	Site Description	Management Measure	Type of BMP	Estimated Cost	
MB6_We a	Recreation	Disconnection of Roadways	Increase Buffer	\$10,000	
MB6_We b	Commercial	Disconnection of Parking Lot	Pervious Asphalt	\$95,000	
MB6_We c	Residential	Disconnection of Parking Lot, Rooftops	Rain Gardens/Rain Barrels	\$12,500	
MB6_We d	Commercial	Disconnection of Parking Lot	Pervious Asphalt	\$75,000	
MB6_We e	Commercial	Disconnection of Parking Lot	Pervious Asphalt/Increase Buffer	\$99,500	
MB6_We f	School	Disconnection of Parking Lot	Rain Gardens	\$2,200-\$5,500	
MB6_We g	School	Disconnection of Rooftop, Parking Lot	Rain Gardens/Permeable Pavement/Green Roof	\$90,000-\$200,000	
MB6_We h	Residential	Disconnection of Rooftop	Rain Gardens/Rain Barrels	\$26,500	
MB6_We i	Residential	Disconnection of Rooftops, Roadways	Rain Gardens/Rain Barrels/Increase Buffer	\$17,500-\$120,000	

Table 7.26 BMP Management Measures for Project Locations in Subwatershed MB6, Borough of Westwood

#### 7.4 BMP Concept Designs

BMP concept designs for five (5) priority projects located in subwatersheds MB4, MB5, and MB6 are included in Appendix D of this report and provide the following project information:

- Summary of current conditions at the location or in the watershed
- Anticipated pollutant removal
- Potential funding sources and project partners.
- An estimate of cost

These projects have been prioritized based on a subwatershed basis, percent removal of pollutants, impact on the watershed's discharge quality, overall cost-effectiveness, and best professional judgment. Projects aim to reduce connected impervious cover, improve riparian buffers, control geese access to streams, and improve stakeholder knowledge on the importance of stormwater management.

#### 7.5 Point Source Recommendations

Although the primary focus of this plan is addressing nonpoint source pollution, microbial source tracking was completed and human bacterial contamination was detected, particularly in subwatersheds MB4, MB5, and MB6. Even though the significance of human sources compared to other sources is unknown (see *Section 7.1.2*), it is highly recommended that further study be completed to better track down and then remediate these human sources. A common practice among sewage authorities is to videotape the sanitary sewer lines to identify breaks that might allow wastewater to leak. Municipalities in MB4, MB5, and MB6 should consider videotaping sewer lines and possibly installing liners in areas where leaks are detected. Further investigation into the sanitary sewer systems within the Musquapsink Brook Watershed is suggested.

## 8. Information and Education

Although site specific projects will address the physical nature of the nonpoint source entry into the waterway, true source reduction is exceedingly enhanced by watershed wide information and educational programs that will bring about a true change of behavior. Programs addressing the use of the land, streamside living, landscaping practices and how it impacts the waterways can be distributed by Rutgers Cooperative Extension, Bergen SWAN, and many other entities.

The Musquapsink Brook Watershed would benefit from the implementation of extension programs similar to New Hampshire's "Landscaping at the Water's Edge" program. "Landscaping at the Water's Edge" was developed by a team of water resource and horticulture specialists to train landscapers and decision makers in ecological landscape practices for protection of water quality in lakes, rivers, streams, and coastal areas. Through collaboration with the USDA NIFA Regional Water Center for Northeast States and Caribbean Islands, a pilot training session has already been offered in New Jersey

with great success. States such as Pennsylvania and Virginia also have their own versions of "Streamside Living" educational programs that could be used as models for the development of programs specific to New Jersey needs and conditions. The extension programs should include pertinent information on: limiting the use of pesticides, herbicides, and fertilizer; establishing a no-mow zone along banks; protecting storm drains from debris; planting native trees, shrubs, perennials and grasses; and identifying and removing invasive plants. The curriculum should also include the state and local regulations.

Rutgers Cooperative Extension Water Resources Program offers extension programs that would benefit homeowners, landscapers, and local officials in the Musquapsink Brook Watershed. Descriptions are provided below:

- Stormwater Management in Your Backyard program was developed by the Rutgers Cooperative Extension Water Resources Program in collaboration with the USDA Regional Water Program and New Jersey Sea Grant. The program provides educational lectures, hands-on training, and community-level outreach for homeowners and other groups on the topics of water quality issues and management practices such as rain gardens and rain barrels. County Master Gardener and Environmental Steward volunteers play an important role in many aspects of the program;
- Stormwater Management in Your School Yard educational program is designed to provide fourth and/or fifth grade students with an opportunity to apply their science, math, and communication skills to real-world environmental problems through the building of a rain garden on the school's campus. The main focus of the *Stormwater Management in Your School Yard* program curriculum is rain gardens. However, topics such as water, soil, and plant ecology are presented, and connections between these topics and rain gardens are introduced and discussed with the students;
- *Rain Barrel Workshops* are designed to teach participants how to build their own rain barrel and learn how to install it at home. A rain barrel is placed under a downspout next to a house to collect rain water from the roof. The barrel holds approximately 50 gallons of water which can be used to water gardens. The use of collected rain water can save money on water bills, prevent basement flooding, and reduce flooding in local rivers and streams.

Many of these programs have been developed and tested with great success throughout New Jersey. Some may have to be adapted to the specific conditions and issues affecting the Musquapsink Brook Watershed prior to being delivered. Depending on the scope of the need for these programs, additional funding will have to be acquired by the RCE Water Resources Program to deliver the appropriate programs.

## 9. Implementation Plan and Measurable Milestones

The list of recommendations provides a guide for potential projects to be implemented to improve surface water quality and improve the overall health of the Musquapsink Brook Watershed. Key in successfully implementing these projects in the watershed will be working closely with NJDEP, municipalities, and nonprofit groups to develop a goaloriented schedule and time table. This plan is intended to be a guide for the project partners as they work to achieve water quality improvements in the watershed. The study and recommendations should be viewed as a working document and periodically updated as new issues arise, new data is collected, and when projects have been successfully completed. Modeling and monitoring will be key components in the assessment of restoration project successes.

Five years after the acceptance of an implementation plan, a detailed evaluation should be conducted to quantify the improvements attained in the watershed with respect to water quality. Based upon this evaluation, the priorities in the plan can be modified to further refine the recommendations for management measures, which are needed to ultimately attain the goal of the plan. The project partners should work together to secure funding for this effort.

## 10. Estimated Budget, Source of Funding, and Technical Assistance

The implementation of the proposed BMPs could be funded through various federal, state and local programs that provide cost-share for implementation. The NJDEP 319(h) program is a viable source of funding for these efforts. In addition, utility companies may also be able to provide monetary contributions and technical assistance. United Water donates close to \$1.5 million each year in direct contributions and in-kind services to nonprofit groups across the country who are dedicated to the environment, education, and humanitarian services.

## **11.** Conclusions

The Musquapsink Brook is a valuable resource for New Jersey as it ultimately drains to a reservoir that provides drinking water for an estimated 800,000 residents of Bergen and Hudson counties. Urbanization threatens the water resources within this watershed and management measures have not been implemented to mitigate the impacts of development. The pollutants entering the waterways of the Musquapsink Brook Watershed serve to impair its uses, including recreational uses and the macroinvertebrate habitat. This plan provides cost effective solutions to improve water quality while maintaining the character of the watershed. It is in the best interest of future generations to create a system of sustainable water resources that will provide for all the needs of the watershed.

#### References

- Anderson, James R., Hardy, Ernest E., and Roach, John T. 1976. A land-use classification system for use with remote-sensor data: U.S. Geol, Survey Circ. 671.
- Boehm, A.B., J.A. Fuhrman, R.D. Morse, and S.B. Grant. 2003. Tiered Approach for Identification of a Human Fecal Pollution Source at a Recreational Beach: Case Study at Avalon Bay, Catalina Island, California. *Environmental Science and Technology*. 37:673-680.
- Cao, Y., J.F. Griffith, and S.B. Weisberg. 2009. Evaluation of Optical Brightener Photodecay Characteristics for Detection of Human Fecal Contamination. *Water Research*. 43:2273-2279.
- Cowardin, L. M., V. Carter, F. C. Golet, E. T. LaRoe. 1979. Classification of wetlands and deepwater habitats of the United States. U. S. Department of the Interior, Fish and Wildlife Service, Washington, D.C. Jamestown, ND: Northern Prairie Wildlife Research Center Home Page.
- Federal Water Pollution Control Act (Clean Water Act) (<u>33 U.S.C. 1251 1376</u>; Chapter 758; P.L. 845, June 30, 1948; 62 Stat. 1155). As amended by P.L. 100-4 February 4, 1987.
- Flint, K. R., and Davis, A. P. 2007. Pollutant mass flushing characterization of highway stormwater runoff from an ultra-urban area. *J. Environ. Eng.*, 133(6), 616–626.
- Hilsenhoff, W.L. 1988. Rapid field assessment of organic pollution with family-level biotic index. *Journal of North American Benthol. Soc.* 7: 65-68.
- New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection (NJDEP). 1994. Ambient Biomonitoring Network Arthur Kill, Passaic, Hackensack, and Wallkill River Drainage Basins, Trenton, NJ.
- New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection (NJDEP). 2000. Ambient Biomonitoring Network, Watershed Management Areas 3, 4, 5, and6, Trenton, NJ.
- New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection (NJDEP). 2004. New Jersey 2004 Integrated Water Quality Monitoring and Assessment Report [305(b) and 303(d)]. Trenton, NJ.
- New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection (NJDEP). 2003. Total Maximum Daily Loads for Fecal Coliform to Address 32 Streams in the Northeast Water Region. Trenton, NJ.

- New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection (NJDEP). 2010. Surface Water Quality Standards, N.J.A.C. 7:9B. Trenton, NJ.
- New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection (NJDEP). 2000. NJDEP 1995 Land Use/Land Cover Update, WMA-5. Trenton, NJ.
- NJDEP, 2004, New Jersey Stormwater Best Management Practices Manual. Division of Watershed Management. Trenton, NJ.
- New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection (NJDEP). 2007. NJDEP 2002 Land Use/Land Cover Update, WMA-5. Trenton, NJ.
- New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection (NJDEP). 2008. NJDEP 2007 Land Use/Land Cover Update, WMA-5. Trenton, NJ.
- New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection (NJDEP). 2008. NJDEP Ambient Biomonitoring Network Northeast Region Volume 1 of 2, Trenton, NJ.
- New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection (NJDEP) Division of Land Use Regulation (DLUR). 1998. Freshwater Wetlands Protection Act, N.J.S.A 13:9B. Trenton, NJ.
- Noble, R.T., J.F. Griffith, A.D. Blackwood, J.A. Fuhrman, J.B. Gregory, X. Hernandez, X. Liang, A.A. Berg, and K. Schiff. 2006. Multitiered Approach Using Quantitative PCR to Track Sources of Fecal Pollution Affecting Santa Monica Bay, California. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*. 72(2):1604-1612.
- Office of the New Jersey State Climatologist. Accessed March 2011. http://climate.rutgers.edu/stateclim/
- Rosgen, D. L. 1994. A Classification of Natural Rivers. Catena 22: 169–199.
- Rusciano, G.M, and C.C. Obropta, 2007, Bioretention Column Study: Fecal Coliform and Total Suspended Solids Reductions. Transactions of the ASABE. 50(4):1261–1269.
- Simon, A. 1989. The discharge of sediment in channelized alluvial streams. *Water Resources. Bulletin*, 25-6, 1177–1188.
- Simon, A., and Downs, P. W. 1995. An interdisciplinary approach to evaluation of potential instability in alluvial channels. *Geomorphology*, 12, 215–232.
- Simpson, J.M., J.W. Santo Domingo, and D.J. Reasoner. 2002. Microbial Source Tracking: State of the Science. *Environmental Science and Technology*. 36(24): 5279-5288.

- Sloto, R. A. and M. Y. Crouse. 1996. HYSEP: A Computer Program for Streamflow Hydrograph Separation and Analysis. USGS Water-Resources Investigations Report 96-4040, Lemoyne, PA.
- Stewart, J.R., R.D. Ellender, J.A. Gooch, S. Jiang, S.P. Myoda, and S.B. Weisberg. 2003. Recommendations for Microbial Source Tracking: Lessons from a Methods Study Comparison. *Journal of Water and Health*. 1(4):225-231.
- Tavares, M.E., I.H. Spivey, M. McIver, and M.A. Mallin. 2008. Testing for Optical Brighteners and Fecal Bacteria to Detect Sewage Leaks in Tidal Creeks. University of North Carolina Wilmington Center for Marine Sciences. http://people.uncw.edu/hillj/classes/EVS595/Optical%20brightener%20paper%20 for%20NCAS.pdf
- United States Department of Agriculture (USDA), Natural Resource Conservation Service (NRCS). 1998. Stream Visual Assessment Protocol. National Weather and Climate Center Technical Note 99-1.
- USDA, Natural Resources Conservation Service (NRCS). 2010. Soil Survey Geographic (SSURGO) Database.
- United States Department of Agriculture (USDA), Soil Conservation Service. 1995. Soil Survey of Bergen County, New Jersey.
- United States Census Bureau. 2000. American FactFinder fact sheets, New Jersey. Accessed March 2011.
- United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA). 1997. Guidance for the Preparation of the Comprehensive State Water Quality Assessments (305(b) Reports) and Electronic Updates. EPA 841-B-97-0027). Washington, D.C.
- USEPA. 2000. Stressor Identification Guidance Document. Office of Water. Washington, DC. EPA 822/B-00/025.
- United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA). 2005. Microbial Source Tracking Guidance Document. EPA/600/R-05/064. Office of Research and Development National Risk Management Research Library. Washington, DC. 151 pp.
- United Water New Jersey. 2010. Facts and Figures. http://www.unitedwater.com/index.aspx

APPENDICES

## APPENDIX A

Musquapsink Brook Watershed Restoration and Protection Plan Data Report





# Musquapsink Brook Watershed Restoration and Protection Plan: DATA REPORT

Developed by the Rutgers Cooperative Extension Water Resources Program

Funded by the New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection RP 07–002

August 2011

# Acknowledgements

This document has been produced by the Rutgers Cooperative Extension (RCE) Water Resources Program (more information at <u>www.water.rutgers.edu</u>). Data collection was carried out by staff from the RCE Water Resources Program and project partners including the Bergen County Health Department, the Bergen County Utilities Authority, and Marion McClary, Jr., Ph.D. of Fairleigh Dickinson University.

# **Table of Contents**

LIST OF FIGURES	4
LIST OF TABLES	4
WATERSHED OVERVIEW	5
PROJECT BACKGROUND AND THE TMDL DEVELOPMENT PROCESS	8
BIOLOGICAL MONITORING DATA	10
NEW JERSEY IMPAIRMENT SCORE (NJIS) The 2007 Biological Assessment by Marion McClary, Jr., Ph.D	11 14
STREAM VISUAL ASSESSMENT PROTOCOL (SVAP) DATA COLLECTED IN THE MUSQUAPSINK BROOK WATERSHED	15
INTRODUCTION TO SVAP SVAP in the Musouapsink Brook Watershed	15 16
SVAP DATA Using the SVAP DATA	18 21
WATER QUALITY SAMPLING OVERVIEW	21
DATA RESULTS AND COMPARISON TO WATER QUALITY CRITERIA	26
MST DATA IN THE MUSQUAPSINK BROOK WATERSHED	29
Methods Results of qPCR and Source Detection	30 32
DATA SUMMARY	34
REFERENCES	35
APPENDIX A: MUSQUAPSINK BROOK BENTHIC DATA REPORT & SPECIES LIST, MARION MCCLARY, JR., PH.D., FAIRLEIGH DICKINSON UNIVERSITY	37
APPENDIX B: TABULATED STREAM VISUAL ASSESSMENT PROTOCOL (SVAP) DATA	38
APPENDIX C: QUALITY ASSURANCE PROJECT PLAN, RP 07-002 MUSQUAPSINK BROOD WATERSHED RESTORATION PLAN, RUTGERS COOPERATIVE EXTENSION WATER DESCUBLES PROCEDAM	K 20
ADDENDLY D. TARULATED WATED OUAL ITV MONITODING DATA	<u></u> 70
APPENDIX D: TABULATED WATER QUALITY MONITORING DATA	40

# List of Figures

Figure 1:	Land use/ land cover map	6
Figure 2:	Land use/land cover types and relative distribution	6
Figure 3:	Municipalities and waterbodies located within the Musquapsink Brook	
Watershe	d	. 7
Figure 4:	Manure presence at 3 <sup>rd</sup> Street in the Musquapsink Brook Watershed 1	18
Figure 5:	Stream visual assessment reaches with scores in the Musquapsink Brook	
Watershe	d 1	19
Watershe Figure 6:	d1 Water quality sampling location map2	19 25
Watershe Figure 6: Figure 7:	d1 Water quality sampling location map	19 25 26
Watershe Figure 6: Figure 7: Figure 8:	d1 Water quality sampling location map UWNJ transfer record	19 25 26 31
Watershe Figure 6: Figure 7: Figure 8: Figure 9:	d Water quality sampling location map	19 25 26 31 r

# List of Tables

Table 1:	Summary of NJDEP Ambient Biological Monitoring Network results	14
Table 2:	SVAP assessment elements and data	20
Table 3:	Water quality monitoring events	23
Table 4:	Water quality monitoring location IDs and descriptions	25
Table 5:	Water quality criteria according to N.J.A.C. 7:9B (NJDEP, 2006a)	28
Table 6:	Summary of water quality data collected and comparison to water quality	
criteria		29
Table 7:	Primers and probes used for the MST effort	32
Table 8:	Frequency of detection of AllBac, HuBac (human), or BoBac (bovine) target	
sequence	·S	33

## Watershed Overview

The Musquapsink Brook Watershed, located above U.S. Geological Survey (USGS) streamflow gauge #01377499 at River Vale, is approximately nine square miles in size and is dominated by urban land uses (Figure 1). The New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection (NJDEP) 2002 land use data identifies the urban land uses as primarily consisting of residential (medium and low density), commercial, and roadways (Figure 2). The remainder of the land use consists of forest, wetlands, water bodies, agriculture, and barren land (NJDEP, 2007).

The Musquapsink Brook Watershed encompasses part of Woodcliff Lake Borough, Saddle River Borough, Hillsdale Borough, Washington Township, Westwood Borough, Emerson Borough, Paramus Borough, and Oradell Borough (Figure 3). The Musquapsink Brook is approximately 6.6 river miles from the headwaters to its confluence with the Pascack Brook. The largest surface water body in the drainage area is Schlegel Lake, which encompasses 26.5 acres.

Under certain conditions, United Water of New Jersey (UWNJ) diverts water from the Saddle River to the Oradell Reservoir through the Musquapsink Brook. UWNJ records show that during the period between June 1, 2007 and December 31, 2007 a total of 551 million gallons of river water was transferred.



Figure 1: Land use/ land cover map



Figure 2: Land use/ land cover types and relative distribution



Figure 3: Municipalities and waterbodies located within the Musquapsink Brook Watershed

# Project Background and the TMDL Development Process

The development of the Musquapsink Brook Watershed Restoration and Protection Plan was funded in 2007 by the NJDEP (RP 07-002). The project has been established to address a fecal coliform impairment that has been identified in the total maximum daily load (TMDL) developed based on data collected in the Musquapsink Brook at the US Geological Survey (USGS) monitoring station at River Vale (USGS 01377499).

TMDLs are developed by the NJDEP, and approval is given by the US Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA). In accordance with Section 305(b) of the Clean Water Act, New Jersey addresses the overall water quality of the State's waters and identifies impaired waterbodies through the development of a document referred to as the *Integrated List of Waterbodies* (NJDEP, 2006). Within this document are lists that indicate the presence and level of impairment for each waterbody monitored. The lists are defined as follows:

- **Sublist 1** suggests that the waterbody is meeting water quality standards.
- Sublist 2 states that a waterbody is attaining some of the designated uses, and no use is threatened. Furthermore, Sublist 2 suggests that data are insufficient to declare if other uses are being met.
- **Sublist 3** maintains a list of waterbodies where no data or information are available to support an attainment determination.

• Sublist 4 lists waterbodies where use attainment is threatened and/or a waterbody is impaired; however, a TMDL will not be required to restore the waterbody to meet its use designation.

>Sublist 4a includes waterbodies that have a TMDL developed and approved by the USEPA, that when implemented, will result in the waterbody reaching its designated use.

Sublist 4b establishes that the impaired reach will require pollutant control measurements taken by local, state, or federal authorities that will result in full attainment of designated use.

Sublist 4c states that the impairment is not caused by a pollutant, but is due to factors such as instream channel condition and so forth. It is recommended by the USEPA that this list be a guideline for water quality management actions that will address the cause of impairment.

• Sublist 5 clearly states that the water quality standard is not being attained and requires a TMDL.

Biological monitoring data is available for one location at the outlet of the Musquapsink Brook as part of the Ambient Biological Monitoring Network (AMNET), which is administered by the NJDEP. Based upon AMNET and other monitoring sources, water quality impairments have been identified in the Musquapsink Brook. According to the New Jersey 2004 Integrated Water Quality Monitoring and Assessment Report, the Musquapsink Brook has been cited with the following listings:

• Sublist 3 - No data or information are available to support attainment determination: cadmium, chromium, copper, lead, mercury, nickel, selenium, silver, and zinc;

- Sublist 4 Attainment is threatened or waterbody is impaired; a TMDL has been developed and/or approved <u>or</u> pollution control measures do not require a TMDL: fecal coliform;
- Sublist 5 Water quality standard is not being attained and requires a TMDL: aquatic life, total phosphorus, and arsenic. Arsenic will be addressed by the NJDEP and will not be a focus of this project.

Based on the TMDL prepared for the Musquapsink Brook at River Vale, USGS 01377499, a 96% reduction in fecal coliform load for 6.6 miles of stream is needed (NJDEP, 2003). Additional aquatic life and total phosphorus surface water quality impairments will also need to be addressed through the TMDL process.

## **Biological Monitoring Data**

Biological monitoring data is available for the Musquapsink Brook Watershed as part of the AMNET program administered by NJDEP. The NJDEP has been monitoring the biological communities of the State's waterways since the early 1970's, specifically the benthic macroinvertebrate communities. Benthic macroinvertebrates are primarily bottom-dwelling (benthic) organisms that are generally ubiquitous in freshwater and are Due to their important role in the food web, macroinvertebrate macroscopic. communities reflect current perturbations in the environment. There are several advantages to using macroinvertebrates to gauge the health of a stream. Macroinvertebrates have limited mobility, and thus, are good indicators of site-specific water conditions. Macroinvertebrates are sensitive to pollution, both point and nonpoint sources; they can be impacted by short-term environmental impacts such as intermittent discharges and contaminated spills. In addition to indicating chemical impacts to stream quality, macroinvertebrates can gauge non-chemical issues of a stream such as turbidity and siltation, eutrophication, and thermal stresses. Macroinvertebrate communities are a holistic overall indicator of water quality health, which is consistent with the goals of the Clean Water Act (NJDEP, 2007a). Finally, these organisms are normally abundant in New Jersey freshwaters and are relatively inexpensive to sample.

## New Jersey Impairment Score (NJIS)

The AMNET program began in 1992 and is currently comprised of more than 800 stream sites with approximately 200 monitoring locations in each of the five major drainage basins of New Jersey (i.e., Upper and Lower Delaware, Northeast, Raritan, and Atlantic). These sites are sampled once every five years using a modified version of the USEPA Rapid Bioassessment Protocol (RBP) II (NJDEP, 2007a). To evaluate the biological condition of the sampling locations, several community measures have been calculated by the NJDEP from the data collected and include the following:

- 1. <u>Taxa Richness</u>: Taxa richness is a measure of the total number of benthic macroinvertebrate families identified. A reduction in taxa richness typically indicates the presence of organic enrichment, toxics, sedimentation, or other factors.
- 2. <u>EPT (Ephemeroptera, Plecoptera, Trichoptera) Index</u>: The EPT Index is a measure of the total number of Ephemeroptera, Plecoptera, and Trichoptera families (i.e., mayflies, stoneflies, and caddisflies) in a sample. These organisms typically require clear moving water habitats.
- 3. <u>% EPT</u>: Percent EPT measures the numeric abundance of the mayflies, stoneflies, and caddisflies within a sample. A high percentage of EPT taxa is associated with good water quality.
- 4. <u>% CDF (percent contribution of the dominant family)</u>: Percent CDF measures the relative balance within the benthic macroinvertebrate community. A healthy community is characterized by a diverse number of taxa that have abundances somewhat proportional to each other.
- 5. <u>Family Biotic Index</u>: The Family Biotic Index measures the relative tolerances of benthic macroinvertebrates to organic enrichment based on tolerance scores assigned to families ranging from 0 (intolerant) to 10 (tolerant).

This analysis integrates several community parameters into one easily comprehended evaluation of biological integrity referred to as the New Jersey Impairment Score (NJIS). The NJIS was established for three categories of water quality bioassessment for New Jersey streams: non-impaired, moderately impaired, and severely impaired. A non-impaired site has a benthic community comparable to other high quality "reference" streams within the region. The community is characterized by maximum taxa richness, balanced taxa groups, and a good representation of intolerant individuals. A moderately impaired site is characterized by reduced macroinvertebrate taxa richness, in particular the EPT taxa. Changes in taxa composition result in reduced community balance and intolerant taxa become absent. A severely impaired site is one in which the benthic community is significantly different from that of the reference streams. The macroinvertebrates are dominated by a few taxa which are often very abundant. Tolerant taxa are typically the only taxa present. The scoring criteria used by the NJDEP are as follows:

- non-impaired sites have total scores ranging from 24 to 30,
- moderately impaired sites have total scores ranging from 9 to 21, and
- severely impaired sites have total scores ranging from 0 to 6.

It is important to note that the entire scoring system is based on comparisons with reference streams and a historical database consisting of 200 benthic macroinvertebrate samples collected from New Jersey streams. While a low score indicates "impairment," the score may actually be a consequence of habitat or other natural differences between the subject stream and the reference stream.

Starting with the second round of sampling under the AMNET program in 1998 for the Northeast Basin, habitat assessments were conducted in conjunction with the biological assessments. The first round of sampling under the AMNET program did not include habitat assessments. The habitat assessment, which was designed to provide a measure of habitat quality, involves a visually based technique for assessing stream habitat structure. The habitat assessment is designed to provide an estimate of habitat quality based upon qualitative estimates of selected habitat attributes. The assessment involves the numerical scoring of ten habitat parameters to evaluate instream substrate, channel morphology, bank structural features, and riparian vegetation. Each parameter is scored and summed to produce a total score which is assigned a habitat quality category of optimal, sub-optimal, marginal, or poor. Sites with optimal/excellent habitat conditions have total scores ranging from 160 to 200; sites with suboptimal/good habitat conditions have total scores ranging from 60 to 109, and sites with poor habitat conditions have total scores less than 60. The findings from the habitat assessment are used to interpret survey results and identify obvious constraints on the attainable biological potential within the study area.

The NJDEP Bureau of Freshwater & Biological Monitoring maintains one AMNET station within the project area (i.e., Station AN0206 – Musquapsink Brook, Harrington Avenue, Westwood Borough, Bergen County). This station corresponds with the water quality monitoring station MB6. Station AN0206 was sampled by NJDEP in 1993, 1998, and 2003 under the AMNET program. Findings from the AMNET program are summarized in Table 1. The biological condition over the years has been assessed as being moderately impaired, and the habitat has ranged from marginal to sub-optimal within the Musquapsink Brook Watershed.

			Habitat
		<b>Biological Condition</b>	Assessment
Station	Date	(Score)	(Score)
		Moderately Impaired	
AN0206	7/6/1993	(9)	~
		Moderately Impaired	
AN0206	7/9/1998	(15)	Marginal (104)
		Moderately Impaired	
AN0206	7/1/2003	(15)	Suboptimal (147)

 Table 1: Summary of NJDEP Ambient Biological Monitoring Network results

 (NJDEP, 1994; NJDEP, 2000; NJDEP, 2008)

## The 2007 Biological Assessment by Marion McClary, Jr., Ph.D.

Given these aquatic life impairments, an additional biological assessment was proposed as part of the data collection needed to prepare a comprehensive watershed restoration and protection plan for the Musquapsink Brook. A biological assessment was conducted by Marion McClary, Jr., Ph.D., Associate Director of Biological Sciences at Fairleigh Dickinson University and project partner, in the late summer of 2007 at MB1 (Musquapsink Brook at Hillside Avenue, Hillsdale), MB3 (Musquapsink Brook at Ridgewood Avenue, Washington), MB4 (Musquapsink Brook at Forest Avenue, Westwood), and at MB6 (AMNET Station AN0206, Musquapsink Brook at Harrington Avenue, Westwood). The 2007 biological assessment conducted Dr. McClary is summarized in the Musquapsink Brook Benthic Data Report and Musquapsink Brook Benthic Species List provided in Appendix A of the Musquapsink Brook Watershed Restoration Plan Data Report. The 2007 assessment revealed that the biological condition within the Musquapsink Brook Watershed had degraded to a severely impaired condition. Marginal to sub-optimal habitat conditions were found within the watershed. There was such a paucity of benthic organisms found that less than 100 specimens were collected from the four sampling locations combined, prohibiting the calculation of the various metrics needed for the NJIS score.

# Stream Visual Assessment Protocol (SVAP) Data Collected in the Musquapsink Brook Watershed

## Introduction to SVAP

Among the hierarchy of tools used to characterize watershed health, the United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) Natural Resources Conservation Service (NRCS) Stream Visual Assessment Protocol (SVAP) is one method that fills this need. SVAP was originally developed for use by the landowner (USDA, 1998), but it has proved to also be useful by those familiar with the river system and flooding occurrences. The protocol provides an outline on how to quantitatively score in-stream and riparian qualities that includes water appearance, channel condition, and riparian health. There are 10 primary SVAP elements:

- channel condition,
- hydrologic alternation,
- riparian zone,
- bank stability,
- water appearance,

- nutrient enrichment,
- barriers to fish movement,
- instream fish cover,
- presence of pools, and
- invertebrate habitat

In addition, there are elements that should only be scored if applicable. These are canopy cover, manure presence, salinity, riffle embeddedness, and observed macroinvertebrates. Elements are scored 1 to 10 (poor to excellent) with the exception of observed macroinvertebrates, which uses a scale ranging from 1 to 15. The range of scores is qualitatively described as follows:

- < 6.0 is Poor;
- 6.1-7.4 is Fair;
- 7.5-8.9 is Good;
- 9.0 is Excellent.

The SVAP data sheet was modified to include other reach features that could aid pollution source trackdown in the Musquapsink Brook Watershed. These reach features include the identification of pipes and ditches, details as to erosion or impairment caused by the pipes or ditches, and access to stream reach for restoration. Additionally, all assessed reaches were photo-documented, and a sketch was made denoting important reach characteristics.

#### SVAP in the Musquapsink Brook Watershed

The visual assessment process in the Musquapsink Brook Watershed began in April 2007. In March 2006, all project partners were trained in using SVAP at the RCE Water Resources Program's SVAP Workshop. The training workshop consisted of a full day of SVAP introduction and use, and the workshop included presentations in a classroom setting and group and paired exercises in the field. Additional training included instructions on how to use the RCE online database entry system for the SVAP data. The Bergen County Department of GIS (geographic information systems) also developed an application to fill out SVAP data on a hand held ArcPad unit, which was used for this project. The Musquapsink Brook watershed was then divided into a grid; grids were assigned to the participating project partners. Considerations were agreed upon at the onset of the assessment effort. Macroinvertebrates observed were not scored through this SVAP process, since macroinvertebrate data would be collected as part of the NJDEP-approved sampling plan for this project. Also, the manure presence element was expanded to include signs of waterfowl, pet, and wildlife waste. This category is only scored when the presence of manure or animal waste is visible within the reach, which includes the floodplain for that particular reach. As per the SVAP protocol and the agreed upon revisions, the following rules apply:

- A score of "1" indicates that extensive amount of manure is on the banks or in the stream, or, untreated human waste discharge pipes are present.
- A score of "3" indicates occasional manure in the stream, or there is a waste storage structure located on the floodplain.
- A score of "5" indicates evidence of waterfowl, wildlife, or domestic pet access to riparian zone.

Only one reach was scored for manure presence out of the 38 reaches assessed; this location is shown in Figure and had a manure presence score of 3 indicating occasional manure in the stream, or there is a waste storage structure located on the floodplain.



Figure 4: Manure presence at 3<sup>rd</sup> Street in the Musquapsink Brook Watershed

## SVAP Data

Thirty eight stream reaches were evaluated in the Musquapsink Brook Watershed; the stream reaches and the average SVAP scores are identified in Figure . The average overall SVAP score was 6.7, a "fair" score (Table 2). Canopy cover was the highest scoring element (average of 8.4), and instream fish cover was the lowest scoring element (average of 5.2). No assessed stream reach received a score of "excellent," five reaches were rated as "good" and eighteen were rated as "fair" (Table 2). The remaining fifteen reaches were rated as "poor." The reaches that were rated as poor were located along the entire length of the Musquapsink Brook (Figure 5). Tabulated SVAP data are provided in Appendix B.



Figure 5: Stream visual assessment reaches with scores in the Musquapsink Brook Watershed

	Channel Condition	Hydrologic Alteration	Riparian Zone left bank	Riparian Zone right bank	Bank Stability left bank	Bank Stability right bank	Water Appearance	Nutrient Enrichment	Barriers to Fish Movement
# of scores	38	20	38	38	38	38	38	38	38
minimum value	1	1	1	1	1	1	3	3	0
maximum value	10	10	10	10	10	10	10	10	10
average	6.4	6.7	7.3	6.3	5.8	5.8	7.6	7.4	5.5
	Instream Fish Cover	Pools	Invertebrate Habitat	Canopy Cover	Manure Presence	Riffle Embeddedness	Water Ap Nutrient F Ave	pearance & Enrichment rages	Tiered Assessment Averages*
# of scores	38	38	38	38	NA	20	3	38	36
minimum value	0	1	3	1	NA	0		3	1.5
maximum value	8	8	10	10	NA	10	1	10	10
average	5.2	6.3	7.9	8.4	NA	6.0	7	.5	6.7
	Overall Average - left bank		Overall Average - right bank		Overall Site Average				
# of scores	35		35		35				
minimum value	nimum value 1.3		1.3		1.3				
maximum value	naximum value 9.7		9.	7	9	.7			
average	average 6.7		6.6		6.7				

Table 2: SVAP assessment elements and data

\* "Tiered Assessment Averages" refers collectively to Hydrologic Alteration, Channel Condition, Riparian Zones left and right, Bank Stability left and right, Water Appearance, and Nutrient Enrichment.

#### Using the SVAP Data

SVAP scores will be evaluated as individual assessment elements and combined with other data collected as part of this restoration planning effort. The SVAP results will be compared to land use, soil characteristics, slope and stream gradient, and water quality monitoring results to determine the quality of waters within the Musquapsink Brook Watershed. The SVAP scores, information on pipes, ditches, photos, and remediation notes will be used to identify sources of pollution and potential opportunities for improved management.

## Water Quality Sampling Overview

Project partners, including NJDEP, the RCE Water Resources Program, and the Bergen County Department of Health Services, began water quality monitoring on May 25, 2007. As per the approved Quality Assurance Project Plan (QAPP) provided in Appendix C, *in situ* measurements of pH, dissolved oxygen (DO), and temperature were collected. Stream velocity and depth were measured across the transect of the stream at each sampling station. Using this information, flow rate was calculated for each event where access to the stream was deemed safe. Water samples were collected and analyzed by two separate laboratories. The Bergen County Utility Authority conducted analyses for total phosphorus (TP), dissolved orthophosphate phosphorus ( $PO_4^{3^-}$ ), ammonia-nitrogen ( $NO_2$ -N), total kjeldahl nitrogen (TKN), nitrate-nitrogen ( $NO_3$ -N), nitrite-nitrogen ( $NO_2$ -N), total suspended solids (TSS), and fecal coliform. Garden State Laboratories analyzed samples for *Escherichia coli* (*E. coli*).

Water quality monitoring included two different types of sampling events, regular and bacteria only. Regular monitoring, which included analysis for all parameters, occurred from May 25, 2007 through October 25, 2007. These events were monitored for total phosphorus, dissolved orthophosphate phosphorus, ammonia-nitrogen, TKN, nitrate-nitrogen, nitrite-nitrogen, total suspended solids, fecal coliform, and *E. coli* and had no specific weather conditions directing the sample collection. Bacteria-only monitoring was conducted in the summer months of June, July, and August 2007, again without conditions set by the weather. The bacteria-only sampling entailed collecting three additional samples in each of those months. Flow was measured, and *in situ* measurements were taken during these events. The dates and the types of monitoring events are summarized in Table 3.

Three storm events were supposed to be collected as part of this project. Due to the weather patterns and timing of storms during the six months of monitoring, only one storm event was encountered that would meet the requirements of the approved QAPP. Surface water samples collected during this storm were taken twice on October 10, 2007 and one the following morning on October 11, 2007. In addition to the one storm sampling event, several sampling events were representative of 'wet' conditions in the watershed.

To more accurately determine which monitoring events were collected under wet conditions when the stream velocities exceeded baseflow conditions, the HYSEP procedure was used. HYSEP is a data analysis program developed by the USGS to separate river flow into baseflow and storm-flow (Sloto and Crouse, 1996). Normally, this model would be applied to a daily discharge monitoring station within the watershed;

Date	Weather	Regular Monitoring for all Parameters	Bacteria Only Monitoring
5/24/2007	Dry	Х	
5/31/2007	Wet	Х	
6/7/2007	Dry	Х	
6/14/2007	Dry		Х
6/19/2007	Dry		Х
6/21/2007	Dry	Х	
6/28/2007	Wet		Х
7/5/2007	Wet	Х	
7/12/2007	Wet		Х
7/24/2007	Wet		Х
7/26/2007	Dry		Х
8/2/2007	Dry	Х	
8/9/2007	Wet		Х
8/16/2007	Wet	Х	
8/23/2007	Wet		Х
8/30/2007	Wet		Х
9/13/2007	Wet		X
9/27/2007	Dry		X
10/10/2007	Storm	X	
10/11/2007	Storm	X	
10/25/2007	Wet	X	

 Table 3: Water quality monitoring events

however daily discharge is not recorded by the USGS in the Musquapsink Brook Watershed. Instead, USGS monitoring station 01377500, Pascack Brook at Westwood, which is just downstream of the confluence of the Musquapsink Brook and the Pascack Brook, was chosen. Although it would be preferable to use a flow gauge in the target watershed, the watershed does drain to the Pascack Brook, and the remainder of the drainage area is adjacent to the Musquapsink Brook watershed. The analysis was completed for the Pascack Brook over the length of the field sampling program. A 10% error bar was also applied to the baseflow since these data are collected in a watershed other than the Musquapsink Brook. When flow was more than 10% greater than baseflow and rain occurred on the day of or the day preceding sampling, the event was considered as storm-related flow and assigned the term "wet" in Table 3.

Surface water samples from eight water quality monitoring stations were regularly collected over the six-month sampling time frame. These stations are depicted in Figure 6. Six stations were located on the Musquapsink Brook, and two were located adjacent to the UWNJ transfer intake located at the confluence of the Saddle River and the Ho Ho Kus Brook. The stations are identified in Table 4.

A record of the water transfers to the Musquapsink Brook was obtained from UWNJ. It shows that transfers were made on 188 days out of the 214 day interval between June 1, 2007 and December 31, 2007. The total volume of water transferred was 551 million gallons. Figure 7 shows the water transfer record.


Figure 6: Water quality sampling location map

Site ID	Site Description
MB1	Musquapsink Brook at Hillside Ave, Hillsdale
MB2	Musquapsink Brook at Woodfield Ave, Washington
MB3	Musquapsink Brook at Ridgewood Ave, Washington
MB4	Musquapsink Brook at Forest Ave, Westwood
MB5	Musquapsink Brook at Third Ave, Westwood
MB6	Musquapsink Brook at Harrington Ave, Westwood
SR1	Saddle River at Grove St, border of Paramus and Ridgewood
HB1	Ho Ho Kus Brook at Grove St, border of Paramus and Ridgewood

Table 4.	Water	anality	monitoring	location	IDs and	description	ne
1 abic 4.	vv ater	quanty	monitoring	location	ins and	uescription	12



Figure 7: UWNJ transfer record

# Data Results and Comparison to Water Quality Criteria

To evaluate the health of the Musquapsink Brook at all the stations, the monitoring results were compared to the designated water quality criteria. Water quality criteria are developed according to the designated uses of the waterbody. The Musquapsink Brook is classified as FW2-NT, or freshwater (FW) non trout (NT). "FW2" refers to waterbodies that are used for primary and secondary contact recreation; industrial and agricultural water supply; maintenance, migration, and propagation of natural and established biota; public potable water supply after conventional filtration treatment and disinfection; and any other reasonable uses. "NT" means those freshwaters that have not been designated as trout production or trout maintenance. NT waters are not suitable for trout due to physical, chemical, or biological characteristics, but NT

waters can support other fish species (NJDEP, 2006a). Furthermore, the Musquapsink Brook is a Category One antidegradation waterbody due to its discharge to the Oradell Reservoir, which is a potable water supply.

The USEPA Guidance for the Preparation of the Comprehensive State Water Quality Assessments (USEPA, 1997) advises that an acceptable frequency for water quality results to exceed criteria is 10% of samples. NJDEP has further stated that a minimum of eight samples collected quarterly over a two-year period are required to confirm quality of waters. Therefore, if a waterbody has a minimum of eight samples collected quarterly over a two-year period with more than 10% of the samples exceeding the water quality criteria for a certain parameter, the waterbody is considered "impaired" for that parameter. By applying this rule to the water quality data, it is possible to identify which stations are impaired for each parameter that has been identified as a concern to the project – total phosphorus, fecal coliform, and E. coli. The applicable water quality criteria for this project are detailed in Table 5, and the percent of samples that exceeded these standards are given in Table 6. At the time of this project's initiation, fecal coliform was the accepted measure indicating pathogen pollution for New Jersey freshwaters. Since then, the fecal coliform criterion has been replaced by an E. coli criterion. Since the TMDL refers to fecal coliform, both fecal and E. coli were measured.

Tabulated water quality monitoring results are provided in Appendix D. Water quality monitoring data have also been graphed with surface water quality criterion; these graphs are available in Appendix E.

Substance	Surface Water Classification	Criteria
TP (mg/L)	FW2 Streams	Except as necessary to satisfy the more stringent criteria in accordance with "Lakes" (above) or where watershed or site-specific criteria are developed pursuant to N.J.A.C. 7:9B-1.5(g)3, phosphorus as total P shall not exceed 0.1 in any stream, unless it can be demonstrated that total P is not a limiting nutrient and will not otherwise render the waters unsuitable for the designated uses.
	FW2 Lakes	Phosphorus as total P shall not exceed 0.05 in any lake, pond, or reservoir, or in a tributary at the point where it enters such bodies of water, except where watershed or site-specific criteria are developed pursuant to N.J.A.C. 7:9B-1.5(g)3.
Fecal Coliform (Col/100 mL)	FW2	Shall not exceed geometric average of 200/100 mL, nor should more than 10% of the total samples taken during any 30-day period exceed 400/100 mL.
<i>E. coli</i> (Col/100 mL)	FW2	Shall not exceed a geometric mean of 126/100 mL or a single sample maximum of 235/100 mL.

# Table 5: Water quality criteria according to N.J.A.C. 7:9B (NJDEP, 2006a)

Monitoring	TP (mg/L)							
Station ID	criterion	count	minimum	maximum	average	% not satisfying criterion		
MB1	0.1	6	0.05	0.14	0.08	44		
MB2	0.1	7	0.05	0.11	0.07	10		
MB3	0.1	7	0.03	0.09	0.06	0		
MB4	0.1	7	0.03	0.35	0.11	50		
MB5	0.1	6	0.06	0.35	0.17	60		
MB6	0.1	7	0.04	0.19	0.10	50		
SR1	0.1	7	0.01	0.11	0.05	30		
HB1	0.1	7	0.91	2.20	1.77	90		
Fecal Coliform (col/100mL)								
MB1	200	23	200	28,000	3,479	96		
MB2	200	23	60	12,000	1,481	87		
MB3	200	23	120	44,000	3,706	91		
MB4	200	23	410	49,000	5,530	100		
MB5	200	23	106	58,000	6,627	100		
MB6	200	22	500	70,000	8,117	100		
SR1	200	23	110	39,000	5,550	87		
HB1	200	23	200	41,000	7,270	91		
			Е. со	<i>li</i> (col/100m)	L)			
MB1	235	23	170	16,000	2,639	91		
MB2	235	23	60	2,200	480	65		
MB3	235	23	160	7,800	1,897	96		
MB4	235	23	160	25,000	4,809	96		
MB5	235	23	120	33,000	6,090	96		
MB6	235	23	210	38,000	5,202	96		
SR1	235	22	380	23,000	2,860	100		
HB1	235	22	410	22,000	3,150	100		

Table 6: Summary of water quality data collected and comparison to water quality criteria

# **MST** Data in the Musquapsink Brook Watershed

Microbial source tracking (MST) techniques have recently been developed that have the ability to identify the origin of fecal pollution. MST is the concept of applying microbiological, genotypic (molecular), phenotypic (biochemical), and chemical methods to identify the origin of fecal pollution (USEPA, 2005). MST techniques typically report fecal contamination source as a percentage of targeted bacteria. One of the most promising targets for MST is group *Bacteroides*, a genus of obligately anaerobic, gramnegative bacteria that are found in all mammals and birds. *Bacteroides* comprise up to 40% of the amount of bacteria in feces and 10% of the fecal mass. Due to the large quantity of *Bacteroides* in feces, they are an ideal target organism for identifying fecal contamination (Layton *et al.*, 2006). In addition, *Bacteroides* have been recognized as having broad geographic stability and distribution in target host animals and are a promising microbial species for differentiating fecal sources (USEPA, 2005; Dick *et al.*, 2005; Layton *et al.*, 2006).

Three sets of PCR primers (targets) were used to quantify *Bacteroides* from 1) all sources of *Bacteroides* ("AllBac"), 2) human sources ("HuBac"), and 3) bovine sources of *Bacteroides* ("BoBac"). This assay is based on published results from a study sponsored by the Tennessee Department of Environmental Conservation (Layton *et al.*, 2006).

# Methods

Samples were collected in sterile bottles at all six monitoring sites and held at 4°C until processing. On one sampling occasion, additional samples were collected at stations HR1 and SR1. A 100 mL aliquot of each sample was filtered aseptically onto a membrane filter and DNA was extracted from total filtered biomass using a DNeasy® tissue kit (Qiagen). The protocol used is a modification of the procedure found in the DNeasy Tissue Handbook (Qiagen, 2004).

After extraction, all DNA samples were quantified by spectroscopy (Beckman DU 640) at 260 and 280 nm then diluted in sterile water to a concentration of  $1 \mu g/mL$ .

This diluted DNA was used as the template for quantitative, real-time PCR reactions to measure the number of *Bacteroides* present.

The number of *Bacteroides* was measured using a TaqMan® based assay using Applied Biosystems reagents and standard conditions on an Applied Biosystems 7300 Real-Time PCR system. Three target sequences were measured. These targets indicate the total number of *Bacteroides* (AllBac) as well as the number of specifically humansourced (HuBac) and bovine-sourced (BoBac) *Bacteroides*. The copy number of each target was calculated by comparison to a standard curve made with plasmids containing human- or bovine-sourced target 16S RNA genes amplified with the primers Bac 32f and Bac 708r (Bernhard and Field, 2000). Dilutions of plasmid DNA provided standard curves which were linear from 10 to 100,000 copies per  $\mu$ L. Figure presents individual standard curves plotting log copy number vs. threshold cycle (Ct) for AllBac (a), Hubac (b), and BoBac (c) primer sets. All primers and probes were taken from Layton *et al.* (2006) or Bernhard and Field (2000) (Table 7).



Figure 8: Standard curves for quantification of Bacteroides

PCR Primers				
HuBac 566f	5' GGG TTT AAA GGG AGC GTA GG 3'			
HuBac 692r	5' CTA CAC CAC GAA TTC CGC CT 3'			
BoBac 367f	5' GAA GRC TGA ACC AGC CAA GTA 3'			
BoBac 467r	5' GCT TAT TCA TAC GGT ACA TAC AAG 3'			
AllBac 296f	5' GAG AGG AAG GTC CCC CAC 3'			
AllBac 412r	5' CGC TAC TTG GCT GGT TCA G 3'			
Bac 32f	5' AAC GCT AGC TAC AGG CTT 3'			
Bac 708r	5' CAA TCG GAG TTC TTC GTG 3'			
TaqMan Probes				
BoBac402Tman	5' 6FAM TGA AGG ATG AAG GTT CTA TGG ATT GTA AAC TT TAMRA 3'			
HuBac594Tman	5' 6FAM TAA GTC AGT TGT GAA AGT TTG CGG CTC TAMRA 3'			
AllBac375Tman	5' VIC CCA TTG ACC AAT ATT CCT CAC TGC TGC CT TAMRA 3'			

Table 7: Primers and probes used for the MST effort

# **Results of qPCR and Source Detection**

The Musquapsink Brook Watershed is an urban watershed with no cattle within its boundaries, and the MST confirmed this with no detections of bovine-related *Bacteroides* in any sample. Human-related *Bacteroides* were detected in MB2, MB4, MB5, MB6, and HB1 on at least one sampling occasion (Figure 9). Pollution sources could be determined by the frequency of detection of specific markers at particular sampling locations (

Table 8). These data show that certain stations (MB2, MB4, MB5, MB6, and HB1) have a higher incidence of contamination with human feces.



Figure 9: Sample data showing the numbers of *Bacteroides* detected by the three primer sets on two days of sampling

	% of Samples Containing Target Sequence							
	MB1	MB2	MB3	MB4	MB5	MB6	HB1	SR1
AllBac	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100
HuBac	0	50	0	50	50	50	50	0

Table 8: Frequency of detection of AllBac, HuBac (human), or BoBac (bovine) target sequences

# **Data Summary**

The data show a variety of water quality concerns in the Musquapsink Brook Watershed. The AMNET macroinvertebrate results show moderate impairments to the biological communities within the watershed (Table 1). The biological community may be impacted by environmental stressors or degraded habitat. Habitat quality may be low due to physical alterations as observed during SVAP assessments conducted throughout the watershed. Overall quality of the streams was assessed as "fair" but individual element scores ranged from "poor" to "good" (Table 2). Further analysis of this data may help to explain what physical factors (i.e., erosion, habitat structure, and water availability) may be responsible for the composition of the macroinvertebrate communities seen in the watershed.

While the biological monitoring and SVAP assessments shed light on watershed quality, surface water monitoring provides possible reasons for this quality. Results indicate that total phosphorus and fecal coliform concentrations, and pH levels are in violation of water quality criteria established by the NJDEP (Table 6). All eight (8) monitoring locations were in violation of both pH and total phosphorus water quality criteria in greater than 10% of the samples (Table 6). All eight (8) stations were also in violation of the fecal coliform water quality criterion (Table 6). Tracking of bacterial sources within the watershed indicate a higher human contribution to bacteria at stations MB2, MB4, MB5, MB6, and HB1 (Table 8).

Water quality data will be combined with land use data analyses to determine sources of pollutants. A full analysis of data will be conducted and presented in the Musquapsink Brook Watershed Restoration and Protection Plan.

# References

- Bernhard, A.E., and K.G. Field, 2000, A PCR Assay to Discriminate Human and Ruminant Feces on the Basis of Host Differences in *Bacteroides – Prevotella* Genes Encoding 16S rRNA. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 66:4571-4574.
- Dick, L.K., A.E. Bernhard, T.J. Brodeur, J.W. Santo-Domingo, J.M. Simpson, S.P. Walters and K.G. Field, 2005, Host Distributions of Uncultivated Fecal Bacteroidales Bacteria Reveal Genetic Markers for Fecal Source Identification. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 71(6):3184-3191.
- Layton, A., L. McKay, D. Williams, V. Garrett, R. Gentry and G. Sayler, 2006, Development of *Bacteroides* 16S rRNA Gene TaqMan-Based Real-Time PCR Assays for estimation of Total, Human, and Bovine Fecal Pollution in Water. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 72(6):4214-4224.
- New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection (NJDEP), 1994, Ambient Biomonitoring Network Arthur Kill, Passaic, Hackensack, and Wallkill River Drainage Basins: 1993 Benthic Macroinvertebrate Data. Trenton, NJ.
- New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection (NJDEP), 2000, Ambient Biomonitoring Network Watershed Management Areas 3, 4, 5, and 6, Passaic Region: 1998 Benthic Macroinvertebrate Data. Trenton, NJ.
- New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection (NJDEP), 2003, Total Maximum Daily Loads for Fecal Coliform to Address 32 Streams in the Northeast Water Region. Trenton, NJ.
- New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection (NJDEP), 2006. Integrated Water Quality Monitoring and Assessment Report. Trenton, NJ.
- New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection (NJDEP), 2006a. Surface Water Quality Standards, N.J.A.C. 7:9B. Trenton, NJ.
- New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection (NJDEP), 2007. NJDEP 2002 Land Use/Land Cover Update, WMA-3. Trenton, NJ.

- New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection (NJDEP), 2007a, Standard Operating Procedures, Ambient Biological Monitoring Using Benthic Macroinvertebrates, Field, Lab, and Assessment Methods. Bureau of Freshwater and Biological Monitoring Document No. BMNJ2. http://www.nj.gov/dep/wms//bfbm/download/AMNET SOP.pdf.
- New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection (NJDEP), 2008, Ambient Biomonitoring Network Northeast Water Region, Passaic River Drainages, Watershed Management Areas 3, 4, 5, and 6, Round 3 Benthic Macroinvertebrate Data (Volume 1 of 2). Trenton, NJ.
- Qiagen, Inc., 2004, DNeasy<sup>®</sup> Tissue Handbook. Valencia, CA.
- Sloto, R. A. and M. Y. Crouse, 1996, HYSEP: A Computer Program for Streamflow Hydrograph Separation and Analysis. USGS Water-Resources Investigations Report 96-4040, Lemoyne, PA.
- United States Department of Agriculture (USDA), Natural Resource Conservation Service (NRCS), 1998, Stream Visual Assessment Protocol. National Weather and Climate Center Technical Note 99-1.
- United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA), 1997, Guidance for the Preparation of the Comprehensive State Water Quality Assessments (305(b) Reports) and Electronic Updates. EPA 841-B-97-0027). Washington, D.C.
- United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA), 2005. Microbial Source Tracking Guidance Document. EPA/600/R-05/064. Office of Research and Development National Risk Management Research Library. Washington, DC. 151 pp.

# **Musquapsink Brook Benthic Data Report**

**Prepared by:** 

Marion McClary, Jr., Ph.D. Associate Professor of Biological Sciences Associate Director of Biological Sciences Fairleigh Dickinson University

for

Rutgers Cooperative Extension Water Resources Program as part of RP07-002 Musquapsink Brook Watershed Restoration and Protection Plan

June 2008

# **Biological Monitoring Materials and Methods**

Upon arrival at the sampling location, the end of a tape measure was placed and held below any road or bridge crossing that was present and stretched 100 meters upstream to minimize the effect of the road or bridge on stream velocity, depth, and overall habitat quality as per the Rapid Bioassessment Protocols for Use in Streams and Wadeable Rivers: Periphyton, Benthic Macroinvertebrates, and Fish, Second Edition. At this location, 100 meters upstream of the road or bridge crossing, the tape measure was again placed and held and stretched 100 meters upstream to include a 100 meter reach that was representative of the characteristics of the stream (the study area). Other road or bridge crossings were avoided. If this was not possible, the tape measure was placed and held below this road or bridge crossing and the aforementioned procedure was repeated until road and bridge crossing could be avoided. There were no major tributaries discharging to the stream in the study area as suggested by the Rapid Bioassessment Protocols for Use in Streams and Wadeable Rivers: Periphyton, Benthic Macroinvertebrates, and Fish, Second Edition. The tape measure was left in the study area for sampling.

Before sampling the physical/chemical field sheet (Chapter 5; Appendix A-1, Form 1 of the Rapid Bioassessment Protocols for Use in Streams and Wadeable Rivers: Periphyton, Benthic Macroinvertebrates, and Fish, Second Edition) was completed to document the site description, weather conditions, and land use. After sampling this information was reviewed for accuracy and completeness.

The straight-away portions of the sampling reach were photographed with a digital camera starting downstream and ending upstream (with the exception of MB6 which was done in the reverse direction) to include in-stream attributes (e.g. riffles, falls, fallen trees, pools, bends, etc.) and important structures, plants, and attributes of the bank and near stream areas. If the sampling reach had curves, the "straight-away portions of each curve" were photographed. This means more photographs were taken of sampling reaches that had more curves because each "straight-away segment of the curve" received a photograph, and fewer photographs were taken of sampling reaches that had less curves.

Two sampling procedures were used. One procedure was used depending upon if the habitat was a single habitat or a multihabitat. Habitats that had a very slow current or were greater than 1 ft deep, and lacked riffles were considered to be multihabitats and a multihabitat approach was used for them. Habitats that were 1 ft deep or less and had riffles and runs were considered single habitats. The second procedure was used for all habitats whether they were single or multihabitats. For single habitats with riffles and runs, all riffle and run areas within the 100-m reach were candidates for sampling macroinvertebrates. A composite sample was taken from individual sampling spots in the riffle and runs representing different velocities.

#### Field Sampling Procedures for Single Habitat

Sampling began at the downstream end of the reach and proceeded upstream. Sampling was done in triplicate. The first replicate (A) was done along the bank on the right. The second replicate (B) was done along the bank on the left. The third replicate

(C) was done in the middle of the channel. For sampling, a surber sampler  $(0.3 \text{ m x } 0.3 \text{ m with a mesh size of } 500 \text{ }\mu)$  was placed horizontally on cobble substrate and 2 or 3 kicks (use of the toe or heel of the boot to dislodge the upper layer of cobble or gravel and to scrape the underlying bed) were done at various velocities in the riffle or series or riffles. Larger substrate particles were picked up and rubbed by hand to remove attached organisms. The net on the vertical section of the frame captured the dislodged organisms from the sampling area.

The kicks collected from three different locations in the cobble substrate were composited to obtain a single homogenous sample for each replicate. After each kick, the collected material was washed by running clean stream water through the net 2 to 3 times until the water was clear. Large debris was removed after rinsing and inspecting for organisms. Any organisms found were placed into a sample container.

The sample in the net was transferred to a sample container and enough 95 percent ethanol was added to cover the sample. Forceps were used to remove organisms from the net. A label indicating the date, stream name and sampling location was placed on the sample container. This information was recorded in the "Sample log" (Appendix A-3, Form 2) of the Rapid Bioassessment Protocols for Use in Streams and Wadeable Rivers: Periphyton, Benthic Macroinvertebrates, and Fish, Second Edition.

The top portion of the "Benthic Macroinvertebrate Field Data Sheet" (Appendix A-3, Form 1) of the Rapid Bioassessment Protocols for Use in Streams and Wadeable Rivers: Periphyton, Benthic Macroinvertebrates, and Fish, Second Edition was completed.

The percentage of each habitat type in the reach was recorded, and the sampling gear used and the conditions of the sampling, e.g. high flows, treacherous rocks, difficult access to the stream, or anything that would indicate adverse sampling conditions were noted.

Observations of aquatic flora and fauna were documented and qualitative estimates of macroinvertebrate composition and relative abundance as a cursory estimate of ecosystem health and to check adequacy of sampling were made.

Habitat assessment (Appendix A-1, Form 2) of the Rapid Bioassessment Protocols for Use in Streams and Wadeable Rivers: Periphyton, Benthic Macroinvertebrates, and Fish, Second Edition was performed after sampling was completed by walking the reach.

The samples were returned to the laboratory and the log-in form (Appendix A-3, Form 2) of the Rapid Bioassessment Protocols for Use in Streams and Wadeable Rivers: Periphyton, Benthic Macroinvertebrates, and Fish, Second Edition was completed.

After sampling was completed at the site, all nets, pans, and etc. that came in contact with a sample was rinsed thoroughly, examined carefully, and picked free of organisms or debris. Any additional organisms found were placed in the sample containers. The equipment was examined again prior to use at the next sampling site.

#### Field Sampling Procedures for Multihabitat

Different types of habitat were sampled in approximate proportion to their representation of surface area of the total macroinvertebrate habitat in the reach. For example, if snags comprised 50% of the habitat in a reach and riffles comprised 20%,

then 10 kicks were done in snag material and 4 kicks were done in riffle areas. The remainder of the kicks (6) would be done in any remaining habitat type. Habitat types contributing less than 5% of the stable habitat in the stream were not sampled. In this case, the remaining kicks were allocated proportionately among the predominate substrates. The number of kicks done in each habitat was recorded on the field data sheet.

Sampling began at the downstream end of the reach and proceeded upstream. Sampling was done in triplicate. The first replicate (A) was done along the bank on the right. The second replicate (B) was done along the bank on the left. The third replicate (C) was done in the middle of the channel. A total of 20 kicks were done over the length of the reach. A kick was a stationary sampling accomplished by positioning a D-frame dip net (0.3 m width and 0.3 m height and shaped as a "D" with a mesh size of 500  $\mu$ ) and disturbing the substrate for a distance of 0.5 m upstream of the net.

Kicks collected from the multiple habitats were composited to obtain a single homogenous sample for each replicate. After every 3 kicks or more if necessary, the collected material was washed by running clean stream water through the net two to three times. Large debris was removed after rinsing and inspecting for organisms. Any organisms found were placed into a sample container.

The sample in the net was transferred to a sample container and enough 95 percent ethanol was added to cover the sample. Forceps were used to remove organisms from the net. A label indicating the date, stream name and sampling location was placed on the sample container. This information was recorded in the "Sample log" (Appendix

A-3, Form 2) of the Rapid Bioassessment Protocols for Use in Streams and Wadeable Rivers: Periphyton, Benthic Macroinvertebrates, and Fish, Second Edition.

The top portion of the "Benthic Macroinvertebrate Field Data Sheet" (Appendix A-3, Form 1) of the Rapid Bioassessment Protocols for Use in Streams and Wadeable Rivers: Periphyton, Benthic Macroinvertebrates, and Fish, Second Edition was completed.

The percentage of each habitat type in the reach was recorded, and the sampling gear used and the conditions of the sampling, e.g. high flows, treacherous rocks, difficult access to the stream, or anything that would indicate adverse sampling conditions were noted.

Observations of aquatic flora and fauna were documented and qualitative estimates of macroinvertebrate composition and relative abundance as a cursory estimate of ecosystem health and to check adequacy of sampling were made.

Habitat assessment (Appendix A-1, Form 2) of the Rapid Bioassessment Protocols for Use in Streams and Wadeable Rivers: Periphyton, Benthic Macroinvertebrates, and Fish, Second Edition was performed after sampling was completed by walking the reach.

The samples were returned to the laboratory and the log-in form (Appendix A-3, Form 2) of the Rapid Bioassessment Protocols for Use in Streams and Wadeable Rivers: Periphyton, Benthic Macroinvertebrates, and Fish, Second Edition was completed.

After sampling was completed at the site, all nets, pans, and etc. that came in contact with a sample was rinsed thoroughly, examined carefully, and picked free of

organisms or debris. Any additional organisms found were placed in the sample containers. The equipment was examined again prior to use at the next sampling site.

#### Coarse Particulate Organic Matter (CPOM) Sampling Procedures

Sampling began at the downstream end of the reach and proceeded upstream. Sampling was done in triplicate. The first replicate (D) was done along the bank on the right. The second replicate (E) was done along the bank on the left. The third replicate (F) was done in the middle of the channel. Three grab type samples were collected for each replicate. These samples were sorted in the field, composited (i.e., the contents from the three grab samples from each site was combined into a single container) for each replicate, and preserved in 80% ethanol for later subsampling, identification and enumeration.

A composite collection of a variety of CPOM forms (e.g., leaves, needles, twigs, bark, or fragments of these) was collected for each replicate. The material was sampled in depositional areas, such as pools and along snags and undercut banks. The CPOM sample was processed using a U.S. Standard No. 30 sieve, and added to the composite of the replicate grab samples for each site.

A label indicating the date, stream name and sampling location was placed on the sample container. This information was recorded in the "Sample log" (Appendix A-3, Form 2) of the Rapid Bioassessment Protocols for Use in Streams and Wadeable Rivers: Periphyton, Benthic Macroinvertebrates, and Fish, Second Edition.

The top portion of the "Benthic Macroinvertebrate Field Data Sheet" (Appendix A-3, Form 1) of the Rapid Bioassessment Protocols for Use in Streams and Wadeable

Rivers: Periphyton, Benthic Macroinvertebrates, and Fish, Second Edition was completed.

The percentage of each habitat type in the reach was recorded, and the sampling gear used and the conditions of the sampling, e.g. high flows, treacherous rocks, difficult access to the stream, or anything that would indicate adverse sampling conditions were noted.

The samples were returned to the laboratory and the log-in form (Appendix A-3, Form 2) of the Rapid Bioassessment Protocols for Use in Streams and Wadeable Rivers: Periphyton, Benthic Macroinvertebrates, and Fish, Second Edition was completed.

After sampling was completed at the site, the sieve was rinsed thoroughly, examined carefully, and picked free of organisms or debris. Any additional organisms found were placed in the sample containers. The sieve was examined again prior to use at the next sampling site.

#### Laboratory Processing For Macroinvertebrate Samples

All samples were dated and recorded in the "Sample Log" notebook or on sample log form (Appendix A-3, Form 2) of the Rapid Bioassessment Protocols for Use in Streams and Wadeable Rivers: Periphyton, Benthic Macroinvertebrates, and Fish, Second Edition in the laboratory. All information from the sample container label was included on the sample log sheet. All samples were sorted in a single laboratory to enhance quality control.

The identity and number of organisms were recorded on the Laboratory Bench Sheet (Appendix A-3, Form 3) of the Rapid Bioassessment Protocols for Use in Streams

and Wadeable Rivers: Periphyton, Benthic Macroinvertebrates, and Fish, Second Edition. The life stage of the organisms, the taxonomist's initials and the Taxonomic Certainty Rating (TCR) was recorded as a measure of confidence.

The back of the bench sheet was used to explain certain TCR ratings or condition of organisms. Other comments were included to provide additional insights for data interpretation.

A 100-organism subsample of the benthic macroinvertebrate composite sample from each sampling site was to be taken into the laboratory according to the methods outlined in the Rapid Bioassessment Protocol used by the NJDEP Bureau of Freshwater and Biological Monitoring. With the exception of chironomids and oligochaetes, benthic macroinvertebrates were to be identified to genus. Chironomids were to be identified to subfamily as a minimum, and oligochaetes were to be identified to family as a minimum.

Each individual organism was to be assigned a number and 100 numbers were to be randomly selected out of a hat. The organisms assigned to these numbers were to be the randomly selected sub-sample. Taxa richness (total families) was to be determined by totaling each different family represented in the sub-sample. The EPT (*Ephemeroptera*, *Plecoptera*, and *Trichoptera* orders; mayflies, stoneflies, and caddisflies) Index was to be determined by adding each individual EPT family in the subsample. Percent dominance was to be determined by the family that has the greatest number of individuals in the sub-sample. Percent EPT was to be determined by adding the total number of individuals found in all EPT families in the sub-sample. A Modified Family Biotic Index (FBI) was to be determined by FBI =  $\Sigma x_i t_i / n$  where  $x_i$  = number of individuals within a family,  $t_i$  = tolerance value of a family (in appendix B, Tables C-1

and C-2 of the NJDEP guide), and n = total number of organisms within the sub-sample (100). Taxa richness, EPT Index, percent dominance, percent EPT, and FBI were to be assigned a biometric score of 0, 3, or 6 (in Table 1 of the NJDEP guide) and totaled. A score of 24-30 means the Musquapsink Brook is not impaired, 9-21 means it is moderately impaired, and 0-6 means it is severely impaired. A good or bad land assessment moves a score between a range up or down.

The measurement of physicochemical parameters was also conducted concurrent with the benthic macroinvertebrate sampling. These parameters, pH, temperature, dissolved oxygen, and total dissolved solids (TDS) were conducted by Rutgers University.

For archiving samples, specimen vials, (grouped by station and date), were placed in jars with a small amount of denatured 70% ethanol and tightly capped. The ethanol levels in these jars was examined periodically and replenished as needed. A stick-on label was placed on the outside of the jar indicating sample identifier and date.

# **Biological Monitoring Results and Discussion**

#### Physical characterization/water quality

The stations sampled in the Musquapsink Brook became deeper moving from an upstream to a downstream location. Station MB1, the most upstream sampling site, is composed of mainly bedrock and had the least amount of water of the other stations (Table 1). Station MB3, further downstream, has more water than MB1 and was composed of sediment and rocks (Table 2). Station MB6, even further downstream, has more water than MB3 and it too has sediment and rocks unlike station MB1 which lacks

sediment (Table 3). Station MB4, the most downstream sampling site, had the most water and was also the slowest moving of the other sites. It was the only site that lacked riffles (Table 4). Tables 1-4 also include information about the stream such as weather conditions during sampling, watershed features, riparian vegetation, instream features, large woody debris, aquatic vegetation, water quality, and sediment and substrate characteristics. The photographs of each station are immediately after the table. The table indicates the number of pages that contain the photographs.

# Table 1. Physical characterization/water quality field data sheet for MB1.

Stream Name: Musquapsink Brook	
Station #: MB1	
Investigator: Dr. Marion McClary	
and students	
Form completed by: Dr. Marion	Date: 8/30/07
McClary and students	Time: 8:28 am
Weather conditions:	Clear/sunny, no heavy rain in the last 7 days
Site location/photographs	See the next 3 pages
Watershed features	Predominant surrounding land use: forest and
	residential, no evidence of local watershed NPS
	pollution, moderate evidence of local watershed
	erosion
Riparian vegetation (18 meter	Trees are the dominant type
buffer)	
Instream features	Estimated reach length: 100 m, width: 2 m, stream
	depth: < 0.3 m, canopy cover: partly shaded, 40
	riffle, 20% pool, 40% run, channelized, no dam
	present
Large woody debris	LWD: $0 \text{ m}^2$
Aquatic vegetation	0% of the reach with aquatic vegetation
Water quality	No water odors, no surface oils, clear
Sediment/substrate	No odors, no oils, no deposits
Inorganic substrate components %	Organic substrate components % composition in
composition in reach (should add up	sampling area (does not necessarily add up to
to 100%)	100%)
Bedrock: 70%	Detritus: 5%
Boulder: 5%	
Cobble: 20%	Muck-Mud: 0%
Gravel: 5%	
Sand: 0%	Marl: 0%
Silt: 0%	
Clay: 0%	







Stream Name: Musquapsink Brook	
Station #: MB3	
Investigator: Dr. Marion McClary	
and students	
Form completed by: Dr. Marion	Date: 8/30/07
McClary and students	Time: 11:07 am
Weather conditions:	70% cloud cover, clear/sunny, heavy rain in the
	last 7 days, air temperature: 22 ° C
Site location/photographs	See the next 4 pages
Watershed features	Predominant surrounding land use: residential, no
	evidence of local watershed NPS pollution,
	moderate evidence of local watershed erosion
Riparian vegetation (18 meter	Trees and shrubs are the dominant type
buffer)	
Instream features	Estimated reach length: 100 m, width: 5 m, stream
	depth: $< 0.3$ m, canopy cover: partly shaded, 30%
	riffle, 30% pool, 30% run, channelized, no dam
	present
Large woody debris	LWD: 1 m <sup>2</sup>
Aquatic vegetation	0% of the reach with aquatic vegetation
Water quality	No water odors, surface oils, slightly turbid
Sediment/substrate	No odors, no oils, trash
Inorganic substrate components %	Organic substrate components % composition in
composition in reach (should add up	sampling area (does not necessarily add up to
to 100%)	100%)
Bedrock: 0%	Detritus: 60%
Boulder: 0%	
Cobble: 20%	Muck-Mud: 0%
Gravel: 20%	
Sand: 20%	Marl: 0%
Silt: 20%	
Clay: 20%	

Table 2. Physical characterization/water quality field data sheet for MB3.









Stream Name: Musquapsink Brook	
Station #: MB6	
Investigator: Dr. Marion McClary	
and students	
Form completed by: Dr. Marion	Date: 9/13/07
McClary and students	Time: 9:30 am
Weather conditions:	Clear/sunny, heavy rain in the last 7 days, air temperature: 75 ° F
Site location/photographs	See the next 3 pages
Watershed features	Predominant surrounding land use: residential, no
	evidence of local watershed NPS pollution, no
	evidence of local watershed erosion
Riparian vegetation (18 meter buffer)	Trees and shrubs are the dominant type
Instream features	Estimated reach length: 100 m, width: 7 m, stream
	depth: 0.3 m, canopy cover: partly shaded, 20%
	riffle, 40% pool, 20% run, not channelized, no
	dam present
Large woody debris	LWD: $1 \text{ m}^2$
Aquatic vegetation	0% of the reach with aquatic vegetation
Water quality	No water odors, no surface oils, slightly turbid to turbid
Sediment/substrate	No odors, no oils, trash
Inorganic substrate components %	Organic substrate components % composition in
composition in reach (should add up	sampling area (does not necessarily add up to
to 100%)	100%)
Bedrock: 0%	Detritus: 20%
Boulder: 5%	
Cobble: 15%	Muck-Mud: 0%
Gravel: 20%	
Sand: 20%	Marl: 10%
Silt: 20%	
Clay: 20%	

Table 3. Physical characterization/water quality field data sheet for MB6.






Stream Name: Musquapsink Brook	
Station #: MB4	
Investigator: Dr. Marion McClary and	
students	
Form completed by: Dr. Marion	Date: 9/13/07
McClary and students	Time: 11:30 am
Weather conditions:	Clear/sunny, heavy rain in the last 7 days, air
	temperature: 78 ° F
Site location/photographs	See the next 4 pages
Watershed features	Predominant surrounding land use: park, no
	evidence of local watershed NPS pollution, no
	evidence of local watershed erosion
Riparian vegetation (18 meter buffer)	Shrubs are the dominant type
Instream features	Estimated reach length: 100 m, width: 8 m,
	stream depth: > 1 m, canopy cover: partly
	shaded, 100% run, channelized, no dam present
Large woody debris	LWD: $1 \text{ m}^2$
Aquatic vegetation	Rooted emergent (70%), rooted submergent
	(30%) are dominant, 100% of the reach with
	aquatic vegetation
Water quality	No water odors, no surface oils, turbid
Sediment/substrate	No odors, no oils, no deposits
Inorganic substrate components %	Organic substrate components % composition in
composition in reach (should add up	sampling area (does not necessarily add up to
to 100%)	100%)
Bedrock: 0%	Detritus: 10%
Boulder: 0%	
Cobble: 0%	Muck-Mud: 90%
Gravel: 0%	
Sand: 0%	Marl: 0%
Silt: 50%	
Clay: 50%	

Table 4. Physical characterization/water quality field data sheet for MB4.







#### **Benthic Macroinvertebrates**

Because station MB1 was shallow and had riffles (see Table 1), a surber was used to collect macroinvertebrates. An average of 0 (absent/not observed) were collected from MB1 using this technique and grab samples (Table 5).

Because MB3 was shallow and had riffles (see Table 2), a surber was used to collect macroinvertebrates. An average of 1 (rare) was collected from MB3 using this technique and grab samples (Table 6). Of the macroinvertebrates collected, the most abundant was an average of 1 (rare) which was found for Coleoptera and Trichoptera (Table 6).

Because MB6 was shallow and had riffles (see Table 3), a surber was used to collect macroinvertebrates. An average of 2 (common) was collected from MB6 using this technique and grab samples (Table 7). Of the macroinvertebrates collected, the most abundant was an average of 1 (rare) which was found for Amphipoda, Coleoptera and Chironomidae (Table 7).

Because station MB4 was deep and lacked riffles (see Table 4), a D frame dip was used to collect macroinvertebrates. An average of 1 (rare) was collected from MB4 using this technique and grab samples (Table 8). Of the macroinvertebrates collected, the most abundant was an average of 1 (rare) which was found for Anisoptera and Zygoptera (Table 8).

Stream Name: Musquapsink Brook								
Station #: MB1								
A-C are replicates, D-F are replicates	Α	В	С	Ave.	D	Е	F	Ave.
Habitat types: % $c = cobble$ , $s = snags$ , $vb =$				0s				0vb
vegetated banks, $s = sand$ , $sm = submerged$ veg.								
Sample collection: $d = d$ frame, $s =$ surber, $g =$ grab	S	S	S		g	g	g	
Qualitative listing of aquatic biota: $0 = absent/not$								
observed, 1 = 1-3, 2 = 3-9, 3 = > 10, 4 = > 50 orgs.								
Periphyton	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Filamentous algae	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Macrophytes	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Slimes	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Macroinvertebrates	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Fish	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Field observations of macrobenthos: 0 = absent/not								
observed, 1 = rare (1-3), 2 = common (3-9), 3 =								
abundant (>10), 4 = dominant (>50 organisms)								
Porifera	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Hydrozoa	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Platyhelminthes	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Turbellaria	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Hirudinea	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Oligochaeta	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Isopoda	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Amphipoda	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Decapoda	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Gastropoda	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Bivalvia	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Anisoptera	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Zygoptera	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Hemiptera	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Coleoptera	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Lepidoptera	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Sialidae	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Corydalidae	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Tipulidae	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Empididae	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Simuliidae	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Tabanidae	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Culicidae	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Chironomidae	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Ephemeroptera	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Trichoptera	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Other (Nematocera)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

Table 5. Benthic macroinvertebrate field data sheet for MB1.

Stream Name: Musquapsink Brook								
Station #: MB3								
A-C are replicates, D-F are replicates	Α	В	С	Ave.	D	Е	F	Ave.
Habitat types: % $c = cobble$ , $s = snags$ , $vb =$				30s				0vb
vegetated banks, $s = sand$ , $sm = submerged$ veg.								
Sample collection: $d = d$ frame, $s =$ surber, $g =$ grab	S	S	S		g	g	g	
Qualitative listing of aquatic biota: $0 = absent/not$								
observed, 1 = 1-3, 2 = 3-9, 3 = > 10, 4 = > 50 orgs.								
Periphyton	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Filamentous algae	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Macrophytes	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Slimes	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Macroinvertebrates	0	1	3	1.3	1	1	2	1.3
Fish	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Field observations of macrobenthos: $0 = absent/not$								
observed, 1 = rare (1-3), 2 = common (3-9), 3 =								
abundant (>10), 4 = dominant (>50 organisms)								
Porifera	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Hydrozoa	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Platyhelminthes	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Turbellaria	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Hirudinea	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Oligochaeta		0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Isopoda	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0.3
Amphipoda	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0.3
Decapoda	0	0	1	0.3	1	0	0	0.3
Gastropoda	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Bivalvia	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Anisoptera	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Zygoptera	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Hemiptera	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Coleoptera	0	1	2	1	0	0	0	0
Lepidoptera	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Sialidae	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Corydalidae	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Tipulidae	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Empididae	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Simuliidae	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Tabanidae	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Culicidae	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Chironomidae	0	0	1	0.3	0	1	2	1
Ephemeroptera	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Trichoptera	0	0	2	0.7	0	0	0	0
Other (Nematocera)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

Table 6. Benthic macroinvertebrate field data sheet for MB3.

Stream Name: Musquapsink Brook								
Station #: MB6								
A-C are replicates, D-F are replicates	Α	В	С	Ave.	D	Е	F	Ave.
Habitat types: % $c = cobble$ , $s = snags$ , $vb =$				30s				50vb
vegetated banks, $s = sand$ , $sm = submerged$ veg.								
Sample collection: $d = d$ frame, $s =$ surber, $g =$ grab	S	S	S		g	g	ы	
Qualitative listing of aquatic biota: $0 = absent/not$								
observed, 1 = 1-3, 2 = 3-9, 3 = > 10, 4 = > 50 orgs.								
Periphyton	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Filamentous algae	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Macrophytes	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Slimes	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Macroinvertebrates	2	2	2	2	1	3	2	2
Fish	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Field observations of macrobenthos: $0 = absent/not$								
observed, 1 = rare (1-3), 2 = common (3-9), 3 =								
abundant (>10), 4 = dominant (>50 organisms)								
Porifera	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Hydrozoa	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Platyhelminthes	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Turbellaria	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Hirudinea	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Oligochaeta	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Isopoda	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Amphipoda	1	1	0	0.7	1	2	1	1.3
Decapoda	1	0	0	0.3	0	0	0	0
Gastropoda	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Bivalvia	0	0	1	0.3	0	1	0	0.3
Anisoptera	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0.3
Zygoptera	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Hemiptera	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Coleoptera	2	0	0	0.7	0	0	1	0.3
Lepidoptera	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Sialidae	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Corydalidae	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Tipulidae	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Empididae	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Simuliidae	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Tabanidae	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Culicidae	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Chironomidae	0	1	1	0.7	0	1	1	0.7
Ephemeroptera	0	1	0	0.3	0	0	0	0
Trichoptera	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0.3
Other (Nematocera)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

 Table 7. Benthic macroinvertebrate field data sheet for MB6.

Stream Name: Musquapsink Brook								
Station #: MB4								
A-C are replicates, D-F are replicates	Α	В	С	Ave.	D	Е	F	Ave.
Habitat types: % $c = cobble$ , $s = snags$ , $vb =$				20s				100
vegetated banks, $s = sand$ , $sm = submerged$ veg.								Vb
Sample collection: $d = d$ frame, $s =$ surber, $g =$ grab	d	d	d		g	g	g	
Qualitative listing of aquatic biota: $0 = absent/not$								
observed, 1 = 1-3, 2 = 3-9, 3 = > 10, 4 = > 50 orgs.								
Periphyton	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Filamentous algae	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Macrophytes	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Slimes	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Macroinvertebrates	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	0.7
Fish	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Field observations of macrobenthos: $0 = absent/not$								
observed, 1 = rare (1-3), 2 = common (3-9), 3 =								
abundant (>10), 4 = dominant (>50 organisms)								
Porifera	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Hydrozoa	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Platyhelminthes	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Turbellaria	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Hirudinea	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Oligochaeta	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Isopoda	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Amphipoda	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Decapoda	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Gastropoda	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Bivalvia	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Anisoptera	1	1	0	0.7	0	0	0	0
Zygoptera	0	0	1	0.3	1	1	0	0.7
Hemiptera	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Coleoptera	1	0	0	0.3	0	0	0	0
Lepidoptera	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Sialidae	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Corydalidae	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Tipulidae	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Empididae	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Simuliidae	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Tabanidae	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Culicidae	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Chironomidae	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Ephemeroptera	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Trichoptera	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Other (Nematocera)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

Table 8. Benthic macroinvertebrate field data sheet for MB4.

#### Habitat assessment

Station MB1 is poor for epifaunal substrate/available cover, optimal for embeddedness, marginal for velocity/depth regime, optimal for sediment deposition and marginal for channel flow status for an overall score of marginal (Table 9).

MB3 is suboptimal for epifaunal substrate/available cover, marginal for embeddedness, suboptimal for velocity/depth regime, optimal for sediment deposition and suboptimal for channel flow status for an overall score of suboptimal (Table 10).

MB6 is suboptimal for epifaunal substrate/available cover, poor for embeddedness, suboptimal for velocity/depth regime, optimal for sediment deposition and optimal for channel flow status for an overall score of suboptimal (Table 11)

Station MB4 is marginal for epifaunal substrate/available cover, poor for embeddedness, poor for velocity/depth regime, optimal for sediment deposition and optimal for channel flow status for an overall score of marginal (Table 12).

MB6 having an overall score of suboptimal (Table 11) may be the reason why it was the only station to have a macroinvertebrate collection average of 2 (the number of macroinvertebrates collected is common) (Table 7). When considering the type of macroinvertebrates present, all stations, including MB6, have a collection average of 1 (the number in the different types of macroinvertebrates is rare) or 0 (the macroinvertebrates are absent/not observed). This suggests a lack of diversity or a lack in general. Like MB6, MB3 also has an overall habitat assessment score of suboptimal (Table 10) but it does not have a macroinvertebrate collection average of 2 (Table 6) like MB6. This suggests that the problem is not entirely related to the habitat.

Jonctain Franker         Optimal         Suboptimal         Marginal         Poor           Lepifaunal substrate/ available cover         Greater than 70% of for the epifaunal colonization and fish cover; mix of snags, submerged logs, undercut banks, cobble or other stable habitat and at stage to allow full (i.e., logs/mags that are to the wfall and not framsient).         40-70% mix of stable habitat; well- substrate fraquently habitat for additional substrate presence of allow full (i.e., logs/mags that are to the wfall and not framsient).         40-70% mix of stable habitat; colonization pretraind in the form of newfall, but not yet prepared for colonization (may rate at high end of scale).         Poor           2.         Gravel, cobble, and boulder particles score:         Gravel, cobble, and boulder particles in the form of nicke space. 200         Gravel, cobble, and boulder particles are 25-07% surrounded by fine sediment.         Gravel, cobble, and boulder particles are 25-07% surrounded by fine sediment.         Gravel, cobble, and boulder particles are 25-07% surrounded by fine sediment.         Only 2 of the 4 habitat regimes shallow, fast-deep, fast-shallow), (Slow is stable habits; sore:         Only 3 of the 4 regimes present (if bar- stable), (Slow- eep).         Only 3 of the 4 regimes present (if bar- stable), and boulder particles are 25-07% surrounded by fine sediment.         Dominated by 1 velocity/depth regimes present (if bar- stable), (Slow- deposition 20         Only 3 of the 4 regimes present (if bar- stable), (Slow- eeplagement of riskands or point bars and less than 5% of the bottom affected; slight deposition in pools.         Moderate deposition in bar form gravel, sadiment; 5-30% of the bottom affected; slight deposition in pools.	Stream Name: M	usquansink Brook			
Hadrat parameterSubprintSubprintPoint1. Epifannal substrate/ available cover Score:Greater than 70% of substratel colonization and fish colonization and fish colonization and fish colonization and fish colonization and at stage to allow full colonization potential (i.e., logs/snags that are noine with any new fall and regimes resource of allow full colonization potential (i.e., logs/snags that are noine with are noine with any new fall and resource of allow full colonization potential (i.e., logs/snags that are noine with any new fall and resource of allow full colonization potential (i.e., logs/snags that are thigh end of scale).Gravel, cobble, and boulder particles are score:Gravel, cobble, and boulder particles are velocity/depth regime dow scale).Gravel, cobble, and boulder particles are sediment.Gravel, cobble, and boulder particles are sediment.Only 2 of the 4 habitat regimes present (if fast-shallow, issow shallow, rast-deep, and missing, score shallow are shallow, sta-deep, and sediment.Only 2 of the 4 shallow are shallow fast-deep, shallow are shallow fast-deep, shallow are shallow fast-deep, shallow are shallow fast-deep, shallow fast-deep, and frieted, sight deposition foods the bottom affected s	Habitat	Ontimel	Subortimel	Marginal	Door
2.       Eristand substrate/ available cover       Greater than 70% of suble habitat; well- substrate favorable substrate favorable regime Score:       20-40% mix of stable habitat; well- substrate favorable substrate favorable propulations; presence of additional substrate in the form of newfall, but not yet scale).       20-40% mix of stable habitat; substrate favorable substrate favorable propulations; presence of substrate favorable sectiment.       20-40% mix of stable habitat; substrate favorable substrate favorable substrate favorable substrate favorable scale).       Less than 20% obstrate available obvious; substrate favorable substrate favorable substrate favorable sectiment.         2.       Gravel, cobble, and boulder particles are 0-25% surrounded by fine sediment.       Cravel, cobble, and boulder particles are 25-50% surrounded by fine sediment.       Gravel, cobble, and boulder particles are 50-75% surrounded by fine sediment.       Conly 2 of the 4 habitat regimes spresent (if fast-shallow) (Slow sediment;	naramatar	Optilliai	Suboptilla	warginar	1 001
1. Epriatianal substrate/ available cover       Creater frain /0% of substrate/ substrate frequently colonization and fish cover; mix of snags, submerged logs, undercut banks, cobbie or other stable habitat at stage to allow full colonization potential; adequate habitat for maintenance of populations; presence of allow full colonization potential (i.e., logs/nags that are noi new fall and not transient).       Coreater fram /0% stable habitat; lack oclonization potential; adequate habitat for maintenance of populations; presence of alditional substrate in the form of newfall, but not yet prepared for colonization (may rate at high end of scale).       Less than dexis, but obvious; substrate in the form of newfall, but not yet prepared for colonization (may rate at high end of scale).       Gravel, cobble, and boulder particles are 0-25% surrounded by fine sediment.       Gravel, cobble, and boulder particles are 25-0% surrounded by fine sediment.       Gravel, cobble, and boulder particles are 25-0% surrounded by fine sediment.       Gravel, cobble, and boulder particles are more stable habitat provides diversity of nicle space. 20       Gravel, cobble, and boulder particles are 35-0% surrounded by fine sediment.       Only 2 of the 4 missing, score shallow are missing, score soft, fif fast- shallow are missing, score soft, fif fast- shallow are missing other the bottom affected by sediment deposition in pools.       Only 2 of the 4 missing, score soft, fif fast- shallow are missing, score soft, fif fast- shallow are missing, score soft, fif fast- stable habitat; sediment, 5-30% of the bottom affected; selight deposition in pools.       Moderate deposition of fine sediment on ol sediment on ol sediment on ol sediment deposition of the bottom affected; selight deposition in pools.       Moderate deposition, forevel sediment deposition fine sediment deposition of pools prevale		Care of a set 1 and 700/ a f	40.700/	20.400/	<b>I</b>
2.       Gravel, cobble, and boulder particles are 0-25% surrounded by fine sediment.       Gravel, cobble, and boulder particles are 25-50%       Gravel, cobble, and boulder particles are 50-75%	1. Epifaunal substrate/ available cover Score:	Greater than 70% of substrate favorable for the epifaunal colonization and fish cover; mix of snags, submerged logs, undercut banks, cobble or other stable habitat and at stage to allow full colonization potential (i.e., logs/snags that are <u>not</u> new fall and <u>not</u> transient).	40-70% mix of stable habitat; well- suited for full colonization potential; adequate habitat for maintenance of populations; presence of additional substrate in the form of newfall, but not yet prepared for colonization (may rate at high end of scale).	20-40% mix of stable habitat; habitat availability less than desirable; substrate frequently disturbed or removed.	Less than 20% stable habitat; lack of habitat is obvious; substrate unstable or lacking. 0
Embeddedness Score:boulder particles are 0-25% surrounded by fine sediment.boulder particles are 25-50%boulder particles are 50-75%and boulder particles are more sediment.3.All four velocity/depth regime Score:Only 3 of the 4 velocity/depthOnly 3 of the 4 regimes present (if fast-shallow. (Slow- shallow, fast-deep, 0.5 m.)Only 3 of the 4 regimes present (if fast-shallow is missing, score lower than 16 0.5 m.)Only 2 of the 4 habitat regimes present (if fast- shallow are missing, score lower than 16 sediment.Dominated by 1 velocity/depth regime (usually slow-deep.).4. Sediment deposition Score:Little or no the bottom affected by sediment deposition.Some new increase sand or fine sediment, 5-30% of affected; slight deposition in pools.Moderate deposition of new score:Heavy deposits of fine material, increased bar deposition.5. Channel flow status Score:Water reaches base of both lower banks, and of the available channel substrate isWater fills >75% of the available of channelWater reaches base of of channelWater fills >75% of channel channel substrate isWater fills >75% mostly reposed.Very little water in channel substrate is of channelVery little water in channel substrate isVery little water in channel substrate is	2.	Gravel, cobble, and	Gravel, cobble, and	Gravel, cobble, and	Gravel, cobble,
Score: $0-25\%$ surrounded by fine sediment. Layering of cobble provides diversity of niche space. 20are 25-50\% surrounded by fine sediment.are 50-75\% surrounded by fine sediment.particles are more than 75% surrounded by fine sediment.3.All four velocity/depth regimes present (slow-deep, slow- shallow, fast-deep, fast-shallow). (Slow is < 0.3 m/s deep is > 0.5 m.)Only 3 of the 4 regimes present (if fast-shallow is shallow are missing, score lower than if shallow are missing, score lower than if shallow are missing, score low. 10Dominated by 1 velocity/depth regime (usually slow-deep).4. Sediment deposition Score:Little or no enlargement of islands or point bars and less than 5% of the bottom affected by sediment deposition. 20Some new increase and ess than 5% of affected; slight deposition in pools.Moderate deposits of fine material, and new bars; 30- 50% of the bottom affected; slight deposition in pools.Heavy deposits of frequently: pools adment deposition in pools.5. Channel flow staus Score:Water reaches base of both lower banks, and minimal amount of channel substrate is exposed.Water fills >75% of channelWater fills >75% substrate is of channel substrate is substrate is substrate isWater fills >75% substrate isVery little water in contanel and mostly present as standing pols.	Embeddedness	boulder particles are	boulder particles	boulder particles	and boulder
Inte sediment. Layering of cobble provides diversity of niche space. 20surrounded by rine sediment.surrounded by rine sediment.surrounded by rine sediment.surrounded by rine sediment.3.All four velocity/depth regimes present (slow-deep, slow- shallow, fast-deep, fast-shallow). (Slow is < 0.3 m/s deep is > 0.5 m.)Only 3 of the 4 regimes present (if fast-shallow is missing, score lower than if shallow are missing, score low). 10Dominated by 1 velocity/depth regime (usually slow-deep).4. Sediment deposition Score:Little or no enlargement of islands or point bars and less than 5% of the bottom affected by sediment deposition. 20Some new increase sand or fine sand or fine sediment; 5-30% of the bottom affected; slight deposition in pools.Moderate deposition of new affected; slight deposition of poly affected; slight deposition, 20Heavy deposits of fine material, increased bar affected; slight deposition in pools.Heavy deposits of the bottom affected; slight deposition of poly affected; slight deposition of poly of the available of the available of the available constructions, and bends; moderate deposition.Water fills >75% of the available constructions, and bends; moderate admost absent due to substantial sediment deposition.Water fills 25.75% of the available channel and mostly present as standing pools.Very little water in channel, and/or mostly present as standing pools.	Score:	0-25% surrounded by	are 25-50%	are 50-75%	particles are more
Layering of coord provides diversity of niche space. 20sediment.sediment.sediment.3.All four velocity/depth regimes present (slow-deep, slow- shallow, fast-deep, fast-shallow). (Slow is < 0.3 m/s deep is > 0.5 m.)Only 3 of the 4 regimes present (if fast-shallow is obver than if missing, scoreOnly 2 of the 4 habitat regimes present (if fast- shallow or slow- shallow are missing, score low). 10Dominated by 1 velocity/depth regime (usually slow-deep).4. Sediment deposition Score:Little or no enlargement of islands or point bars and less than 5% of the bottom affected by sediment deposition. 20Some new increase nostly from gravel, sand or fine sediment, 5-30% of affected; slight deposition in pools.Heavy deposits of fine material, increased bar deposition of new affected; slight deposition in pools.Heavy deposits of fine material, increased bar deposition of new affected; slight deposition in pools.Heavy deposits of fine material, increased bar deposition in pools.5. Channel flow staus Score:Water reaches base of both lower banks, and both lower banks, and scoreWater fills >75% of the available of the available of he available of heavailable of channel, in <225%		fine sediment.	surrounded by fine	surrounded by fine	than 75%
and the space. 20Seminant3.All four velocity/depth regime Score:Only 3 of the 4 regimes present (slow-deep, slow- shallow, fast-deep, fast-shallow). (Slow is < 0.3 m/s deep is > 0.5 m.)Only 3 of the 4 regimes present (if fast-shallow is missing, score lower than if missing other regimes).Only 2 of the 4 habitat regimes present (if fast- shallow or slow- shallow or slow- o.5 m.)Dominated by 1 velocity/depth regimes present (if fast-shallow is missing, score in bar formation, mostly from gravel, sand or fine sediment of by sediment deposition . 20Moderate the bottom affected by sediment deposition in pools.Moderate deposition of new gravel, sand or fine sediment on old affected; slight deposition in pools.Heavy deposits of fine material, increased bar affected; slight deposition in pools.Heavy deposits of fine material, increased bar sediment on old affected; slight deposition in pools.Heavy deposits of the bottom affected; slight deposition of pools prevalent.5. Channel flow status Score:Water reaches base of both lower banks, and minimal amount of channel substrate isWater fills >75% of the available of the available of channel of channel substrate isWater fills >75% of shallow if the available of channel of channel substrate isVery little water in of channel of channel substrate is		browides diversity of	seannent.	seannent.	surrounded by line
3.       All four       Only 3 of the 4       Only 2 of the 4       Dominated by 1         Velocity/depth       velocity/depth       regimes present       fast-shallow is       present (if fast-shallow aregimes)       velocity/depth         Score:       (slow-deep, slow-shallow, fast-deep, fast-shallow). (Slow       missing, score       shallow or slow-shallow aregimes).       shallow aregimes).       shallow aregimes).       sow-deep).         4. Sediment       Little or no       enlargement of       Some new increase       Moderate       Heavy deposits of         and less than 5% of       sand or fine       sediment; 5-30% of       more than 50% of       more than 50% of       more than 50% of         by sediment       deposition. 20       affected; slight       deposition in pools.       obstructions, and       sediment         5. Channel       Water reaches base of       Water reaches base of       Water fills >75%       Water fills >75%       Very little water in         flow status       both lower banks, and       of the available       channel, of channel       of the available       channel, and/or         standing pools.       water is exposed.       water is substrate is       substrate is       mostly present as       standing pools.		niche space 20			scument.
Velocity/depth regime Score:velocity/depth regimes present (slow-deep, slow- shallow, fast-deep, fast-shallow). (Slow is < 0.3 m/s deep is > 0.5 m.)regimes present (if fast-shallow is missing, score lower than if missing other regimes).habitat regimes present (if fast- shallow or slow- shallow are missing, score low. 10velocity/depth regime (usually slow-deep).4. Sediment deposition Score:Little or no enlargement of islands or point bars and less than 5% of the bottom affected by sediment deposition. 20Some new increase in bar formation, mostly from gravel, sand or fine sediment; 5-30% of the bottom affected; slight deposition in pools.Moderate deposition of new gravel, sand or fine sediment on old and new bars; 30- 50% of the bottom affected; slight deposition of pools prevalent.Heavy deposits of fine material, increased bar development; more than 50% of the bottom affected; slight deposition in pools.Moderate deposition in pools.Heavy deposits of fine material, increased bar addreate deposition of pools prevalent.5. Channel flow status Score:Water reaches base of both lower banks, and minimal amount of channel substrate is exposed.Water fills >75% of channel substrate isWater fills >75% of channel substrate isVery little water in channel, and/or riffle substrates are substrate isVery little water in mostly exposed. 10	3.	All four	Only 3 of the 4	Only 2 of the 4	Dominated by 1
regime Score:regimes present (slow-deep, slow- shallow, fast-deep, fast-shallow). (Slow is < 0.3 m/s deep is > 0.5 m.)fast-shallow is missing other regimes).present (if fast- shallow or slow- shallow are missing, score lower than if missing other regimes).regime (usually slow-deep).4. Sediment deposition Score:Little or no enlargement of islands or point bars and less than 5% of the bottom affected by sediment deposition. 20Some new increase in bar formation, mostly from gravel, sand or fine sediment; 5-30% of the bottom affected; slight deposition in pools.Moderate deposition of new gravel, sand or fine sediment; 5-30% of the bottom affected; slight deposition in pools.Heavy deposits of fine material, increased bar sediment; bow of the bottom affected; slight deposition in pools.Heavy deposits of fine material, increased bar sediment; deposition in pools.5. Channel flow status Score:Water reaches base of both lower banks, and minimal amount of channel substrate isWater fills >75% of channel substrate isWater fills >75% of channel substrate isWater fills >75% of channel substrate isVery little water in mostly exposed. 10	Velocity/depth	velocity/depth	regimes present (if	habitat regimes	velocity/depth
Score:(slow-deep, slow- shallow, fast-deep, fast-shallow). (Slow is < 0.3 m/s deep is > 0.5 m.)missing, score now missing other regimes).shallow are missing, score low? 10slow-deep).4. Sediment depositionLittle or no enlargement of islands or point bars and less than 5% of the bottom affected by sediment deposition. 20Some new increase in bar formation, mostly from gravel, sand or fineModerate deposition of new gravel, sand or fine sediment, 5-30% of affected; slight deposition in pools.Heavy deposits of fine material, increased bar development; mostly from gravel, and new bars; 30- by sediment deposition. 20mostly from gravel, sediment; 5-30% of affected; slight deposition in pools.Moderate deposition in pools.Heavy deposits of fine material, increased bar development; and new bars; 30- obstructions, and bends; moderate deposition of pools prevalent.more than 50% of the bottom affected; slight deposition in pools.and new bars; 30- obstructions, and bends; moderate deposition.more than 50% of the bottom deposition in pools.5. Channel flow status Score:Water reaches base of both lower banks, and minimal amount of channel substrate is exposed.Water fills >75% of channel substrate isWater fills >75% of channel substrate isWater fills >75% of channel substrate isWater fills and/or mostly exposed.Very little water in channel and mostly exposed.	regime	regimes present	fast-shallow is	present (if fast-	regime (usually
shallow, fast-deep, fast-shallow). (Slow is < 0.3 m/s deep is > 0.5 m.)lower than if missing other regimes).shallow are missing, score low). 104. Sediment depositionLittle or no enlargement of islands or point bars and less than 5% of the bottom affected by sediment deposition. 20Some new increase in bar formation, mostly from gravel, sand or fine sediment, 5-30% of the bottom affected; slight deposition in pools.Moderate deposition of new gravel, sand or fine sediment on old affected; slight deposition in pools.Heavy deposits of fine material, increased bar development; more than 50% of the bottom affected; slight deposition in pools.Moderate deposition in pools.Heavy deposits of fine material, increased bar sediment on old affected; sediment deposition in pools.5. Channel flow status Score:Water reaches base of both lower banks, and minimal amount of channel substrate isWater fills >75% of channel of channel is substrate isWater fills soltanel of the available of channel, and/or riffle substrates are substrate isVery little water in mostly present as standing pools.	Score:	(slow-deep, slow-	missing, score	shallow or slow-	slow-deep).
Iast-shallow). (Slow is < 0.3 m/s deep is > 0.5 m.)Imssing other regimes).Imssing, score low). 104. Sediment depositionLittle or no enlargement of islands or point bars and less than 5% of the bottom affected by sediment deposition. 20Some new increase mostly from gravel, sediment, 5-30% of the bottom affected, sediment, 5-30% of the bottom affected, by sediment deposition in pools.Moderate deposition of new gravel, sand or fine sediment on old and new bars; 30- 50% of the bottom affected; sediment deposition in pools.Heavy deposits of fine material, increased bar sediment on old affected; sediment deposition in pools.5. Channel flow status Score:Water reaches base of both lower banks, and minimal amount of channel substrate isWater fills >75% of channel of channel, or <25% of channel substrate isWater fills substrate is of channel substrate isVery little water in channel, and/or riffle substrates are mostly exposed. 10		shallow, fast-deep,	lower than if	shallow are	
A. Sediment depositionLittle or no enlargement of islands or point bars and less than 5% of the bottom affected by sediment deposition. 20Some new increase in bar formation, mostly from gravel, sand or fine sediment; 5-30% of the bottom affected; slight deposition in pools.Moderate deposition of new gravel, sand or fine sediment on old and new bars; 30- 50% of the bottom affected; slight deposition fine sediment deposition in pools.Heavy deposits of fine material, increased bar sediment on old and new bars; 30- the bottom affected; slight deposition in pools.Heavy deposits of fine material, increased bar sediment on old and new bars; 30- the bottom affected; slight deposition in pools.Heavy deposits of fine material, increased bar development; and new bars; 30- the bottom affected; slight deposition in pools.5. Channel flow status Score:Water reaches base of both lower banks, and minimal amount of channel substrate isWater fills >75% of channel substrate isWater fills >75% of channel substrate isVery little water in channel, and/or riffle substrates are mostly exposed. 10		1ast-shallow). (Slow is < 0.3 m/s deep is >	regimes)	low) 10	
4. Sediment depositionLittle or no enlargement of islands or point bars 		0.5  m	regimes).	10w). 10	
deposition Score:enlargement of islands or point bars and less than 5% of the bottom affected by sediment deposition. 20in bar formation, mostly from gravel, sand or fine sediment; 5-30% of the bottom affected; slight deposition in pools.increased bar development; and new bars; 30- 50% of the bottom affected; slight deposition in pools.fine material, increased bar development; and new bars; 30- of the bottom affected; slight deposition in pools.mostly from gravel, sediment, 5-30% of the bottom affected; slight deposition in pools.fine material, development; more than 50% of f both the bottom affected; slight deposition in pools.mostly from gravel, and new bars; 30- soft the bottom affected; sediment obstructions, almost absent due to substantial bends; moderate deposition of pools prevalent.fine material, increased bar development; more than 50% of the bottom affected; slight deposition in pools.5. Channel flow status Score:Water reaches base of both lower banks, and minimal amount of channel substrate is exposed.Water fills >75% of channel substrate isWater fills 25-75% of channel substrate is of channel isVery little water in channel, and/or mostly present as standing pools.	4. Sediment	Little or no	Some new increase	Moderate	Heavy deposits of
Score:islands or point bars and less than 5% of the bottom affected by sediment deposition. 20mostly from gravel, sand or fine sediment; 5-30% of the bottom affected; slight deposition in pools.gravel, sand or fine sediment on old and new bars; 30- 50% of the bottom affected; slight depositions, constructions, and bends; moderate deposition.increased bar development; more than 50% of the bottom affected; slight deposition in pools.5. Channel flow statusWater reaches base of both lower banks, and minimal amount of channel substrate is exposed.Water fills >75% of channel substrate isWater fills >75% of channel substrate is substrate isWater fills substrates are substrate isVery little water in channel, and/or riffle substrates are substrates are substrate isVery little water in strates	deposition	enlargement of	in bar formation,	deposition of new	fine material,
and less than 5% of the bottom affected by sediment deposition. 20sand or fine sediment; 5-30% of the bottom affected; slight deposition in pools.sediment on old and new bars; 30- 50% of the bottom affected; sediment deposits at obstructions, and bends; moderate deposition. 20development; more than 50% of the bottom affected; slight deposits on in pools.5. Channel flow status Score:Water reaches base of minimal amount of channel substrate is exposed.Water fills >75% of channel substrate is substrate is substrate isWater fills value substrate is substrate isVery little water in mostly exposed. 10	Score:	islands or point bars	mostly from gravel,	gravel, sand or fine	increased bar
the bottom affected by sediment deposition. 20sediment; 5-30% of the bottom affected; slight deposition in pools.and new bars; 30- 50% of the bottom affected; sediment deposits at obstructions, and bends; moderate deposition of pools prevalent.more than 50% of the bottom affected; slight deposits at obstructions, and bends; moderate deposition of pools prevalent.more than 50% of the bottom affected; sediment deposits at obstructions, and bends; moderate deposition of pools prevalent.5. Channel flow status Score:Water reaches base of both lower banks, and minimal amount of channel substrate is exposed.Water fills >75% of the available of the available of channel, and/or riffle substrates are mostly exposed. 10Very little water in mostly present as standing pools.		and less than 5% of	sand or fine	sediment on old	development;
by sediment deposition. 20the bottom affected; slight deposition in pools.50% of the bottom affected; sediment obstructions, constructions, and bends; moderate deposition of pools prevalent.the bottom affected; slight deposits at obstructions, and bends; moderate deposition.the bottom affected; slight deposits at obstructions, and bends; moderate deposition.the bottom affected; sediment deposits at of sediment deposition.5. Channel flow status Score:Water reaches base of both lower banks, and minimal amount of channel substrate is exposed.Water fills >75% of channel of channel, or <25% of channel substrate isWater fills 25-75% of channel, and/or mostly present as standing pools.		the bottom affected	sediment; 5-30% of	and new bars; 30-	more than 50% of
deposition. 20affected; slight deposition in pools.affected; sediment deposits at obstructions, constructions, and bends; moderate deposition of poolschanging frequently; pools almost absent due to substantial sediment deposition.5. Channel flow status Score:Water reaches base of minimal amount of channel substrate is exposed.Water fills >75% of channel of channel substrate isWater fills >75% of channel of the available of channel substrate is exposed.Water fills >75% of channel of channel substrate isWater fills >75% of channel of the available of channel substrate is substrate isVery little water in mostly exposed. 10		by sediment	the bottom	50% of the bottom	the bottom
deposition in pools.deposits at obstructions, constructions, and bends; moderate deposition of poolsrrequently; pools almost absent due to substantial sediment deposition. prevalent.5. Channel flow status Score:Water reaches base of minimal amount of channel substrate is exposed.Water fills >75% of the available of the available of the availableWater fills 25-75% channel, and/or riffle substrates are mostly present as standing pools.Very little water in mostly present as standing pools.		deposition. 20	affected; slight	affected; sediment	changing
5. Channel flow statusWater reaches base of minimal amount of channel substrate isWater fills >75% of channel, and/or of channel, and/or mostly exposed.Water fills 25-75% mostly exposed.Very little water in mostly present as standing pools.			deposition in pools.	deposits at	frequently; pools
5. Channel flow statusWater reaches base of minimal amount of channel substrate is exposed.Water fills >75% of the available of the available of the available riffle substrates are mostly exposed.Very little water in channel, and/or riffle substrates are mostly exposed.				constructions and	to substantial
S. Channel flow status Score:Water reaches base of both lower banks, and minimal amount of channel substrate is exposed.Water fills >75% of the available of the available of the available riffle substrates are mostly exposed.Wery little water in channel, and/or riffle substrates are mostly exposed.				bends: moderate	sediment
Image: standing provident in the systemImage: standing provident in the systemImage: standing provident in the system5. ChannelWater reaches base ofWater fills >75%Water fills 25-75%Very little water in the systemflow statusboth lower banks, andof the availableof the availablechannel andScore:minimal amount ofchannel; or <25%				deposition of pools	deposition.
5. Channel flow status Score:Water reaches base of both lower banks, and minimal amount of channel substrate is exposed.Water fills >75% of the available of the available of the available channel, and/or riffle substrates are mostly exposed.Very little water in channel, and/or mostly present as standing pools.				prevalent.	1
flow status Score:both lower banks, and minimal amount of channel substrate is exposed.of the available channel; or <25% of channel substrate isof the available channel, and/or riffle substrates are mostly exposed.channel and mostly present as standing pools.	5. Channel	Water reaches base of	Water fills >75%	Water fills 25-75%	Very little water in
Score:minimal amount of channel substrate is exposed.channel; or <25% of channel substrate ischannel; or <25% of channel mostly exposed.mostly present as standing pools.	flow status	both lower banks, and	of the available	of the available	channel and
channel substrate isof channelriffle substrates arestanding pools.exposed.substrate ismostly exposed.10	Score:	minimal amount of	channel; or <25%	channel, and/or	mostly present as
exposed. substrate is mostly exposed. 10		channel substrate is	of channel	rittle substrates are	standing pools.
La sonare de		exposed.	substrate 1s	mostry exposed. 10	

Table 9. Habitat assessment field data sheet for MB1.
-------------------------------------------------------

Stream Name: M	usquapsink Brook			
Habitat	Optimal	Suboptimal	Marginal	Poor
parameter	• F	~ · · · · F · · · · ·	8	
1. Epifaunal substrate/ available cover Score:	Greater than 70% of substrate favorable for the epifaunal colonization and fish cover; mix of snags, submerged logs, undercut banks, cobble or other stable habitat and at stage to allow full colonization potential (i.e., logs/snags that are <u>not</u> new fall and <u>not</u> transient).	40-70% mix of stable habitat; well- suited for full colonization potential; adequate habitat for maintenance of populations; presence of additional substrate in the form of newfall, but not yet prepared for colonization (may rate at high end of scale). 14	20-40% mix of stable habitat; habitat availability less than desirable; substrate frequently disturbed or removed.	Less than 20% stable habitat; lack of habitat is obvious; substrate unstable or lacking.
2. Embeddedness Score:	Gravel, cobble, and boulder particles are 0-25% surrounded by fine sediment. Layering of cobble provides diversity of niche space.	Gravel, cobble, and boulder particles are 25-50% surrounded by fine sediment.	Gravel, cobble, and boulder particles are 50-75% surrounded by fine sediment. 6	Gravel, cobble, and boulder particles are more than 75% surrounded by fine sediment.
3. Velocity/depth regime Score:	All four velocity/depth regimes present (slow-deep, slow- shallow, fast-deep, fast-shallow). (Slow is $< 0.3$ m/s deep is $>$ 0.5 m.)	Only 3 of the 4 regimes present (if fast-shallow is missing, score lower than if missing other regimes). 13	Only 2 of the 4 habitat regimes present (if fast- shallow or slow- shallow are missing, score low).	Dominated by 1 velocity/depth regime (usually slow-deep).
4. Sediment deposition Score:	Little or no enlargement of islands or point bars and less than 5% of the bottom affected by sediment deposition. 20	Some new increase in bar formation, mostly from gravel, sand or fine sediment; 5-30% of the bottom affected; slight deposition in pools.	Moderate deposition of new gravel, sand or fine sediment on old and new bars; 30- 50% of the bottom affected; sediment deposits at obstructions, constructions, and bends; moderate deposition of pools prevalent.	Heavy deposits of fine material, increased bar development; more than 50% of the bottom changing frequently; pools almost absent due to substantial sediment deposition.
5. Channel flow status Score:	Water reaches base of both lower banks, and minimal amount of channel substrate is exposed.	Water fills >75% of the available channel; or <25% of channel substrate is exposed. 11	Water fills 25-75% of the available channel, and/or riffle substrates are mostly exposed.	Very little water in channel and mostly present as standing pools.

Stream Name: M	usquansink Brook	SHEET IN THE		
Habitat	Ontimal	Subontimal	Marginal	Poor
narameter	Optimier	Suboptiniai	iviai gillai	1 001
1. Epifaunal substrate/ available cover Score:	Greater than 70% of substrate favorable for the epifaunal colonization and fish cover; mix of snags, submerged logs, undercut banks, cobble or other stable habitat and at stage to allow full colonization potential (i.e., logs/snags that are <u>not</u> new fall and <u>not</u> transient).	40-70% mix of stable habitat; well- suited for full colonization potential; adequate habitat for maintenance of populations; presence of additional substrate in the form of newfall, but not yet prepared for colonization (may rate at high end of scale). 13	20-40% mix of stable habitat; habitat availability less than desirable; substrate frequently disturbed or removed.	Less than 20% stable habitat; lack of habitat is obvious; substrate unstable or lacking.
2. Embeddedness Score:	Gravel, cobble, and boulder particles are 0-25% surrounded by fine sediment. Layering of cobble provides diversity of niche space.	Gravel, cobble, and boulder particles are 25-50% surrounded by fine sediment.	Gravel, cobble, and boulder particles are 50-75% surrounded by fine sediment.	Gravel, cobble, and boulder particles are more than 75% surrounded by fine sediment. 5
3. Velocity/depth regime Score:	All four velocity/depth regimes present (slow-deep, slow- shallow, fast-deep, fast-shallow). (Slow is $< 0.3$ m/s deep is $>$ 0.5 m.)	Only 3 of the 4 regimes present (if fast-shallow is missing, score lower than if missing other regimes). 15	Only 2 of the 4 habitat regimes present (if fast- shallow or slow- shallow are missing, score low).	Dominated by 1 velocity/depth regime (usually slow-deep).
4. Sediment deposition Score:	Little or no enlargement of islands or point bars and less than 5% of the bottom affected by sediment deposition. 20	Some new increase in bar formation, mostly from gravel, sand or fine sediment; 5-30% of the bottom affected; slight deposition in pools.	Moderate deposition of new gravel, sand or fine sediment on old and new bars; 30- 50% of the bottom affected; sediment deposits at obstructions, and bends; moderate deposition of pools prevalent.	Heavy deposits of fine material, increased bar development; more than 50% of the bottom changing frequently; pools almost absent due to substantial sediment deposition.
5. Channel flow status Score:	Water reaches base of both lower banks, and minimal amount of channel substrate is exposed. 20	Water fills >75% of the available channel; or <25% of channel substrate is exposed.	Water fills 25-75% of the available channel, and/or riffle substrates are mostly exposed.	Very little water in channel and mostly present as standing pools.

Table 11. Habitat assessment field data she	eet for MB6.
---------------------------------------------	--------------

Stream Name: M	usquansink Brook			
Unbitat	Ontimal	Subontimal	Morginal	Door
naromotor	Optimai	Suboptinia	wiarginar	1 001
1. Epifaunal substrate/ available cover Score:	Greater than 70% of substrate favorable for the epifaunal colonization and fish cover; mix of snags, submerged logs, undercut banks, cobble or other stable habitat and at stage to allow full colonization potential (i.e., logs/snags that are <u>not</u> new fall and <u>not</u> transient).	40-70% mix of stable habitat; well- suited for full colonization potential; adequate habitat for maintenance of populations; presence of additional substrate in the form of newfall, but not yet prepared for colonization (may rate at high end of scale).	20-40% mix of stable habitat; habitat availability less than desirable; substrate frequently disturbed or removed. 10	Less than 20% stable habitat; lack of habitat is obvious; substrate unstable or lacking.
2. Embeddedness Score:	Gravel, cobble, and boulder particles are 0-25% surrounded by fine sediment. Layering of cobble provides diversity of niche space.	Gravel, cobble, and boulder particles are 25-50% surrounded by fine sediment.	Gravel, cobble, and boulder particles are 50-75% surrounded by fine sediment.	Gravel, cobble, and boulder particles are more than 75% surrounded by fine sediment. 0
3. Velocity/depth regime Score:	All four velocity/depth regimes present (slow-deep, slow- shallow, fast-deep, fast-shallow). (Slow is < 0.3 m/s deep is > 0.5 m.)	Only 3 of the 4 regimes present (if fast-shallow is missing, score lower than if missing other regimes).	Only 2 of the 4 habitat regimes present (if fast- shallow or slow- shallow are missing, score low).	Dominated by 1 velocity/depth regime (usually slow-deep). 5
4. Sediment deposition Score:	Little or no enlargement of islands or point bars and less than 5% of the bottom affected by sediment deposition. 20	Some new increase in bar formation, mostly from gravel, sand or fine sediment; 5-30% of the bottom affected; slight deposition in pools.	Moderate deposition of new gravel, sand or fine sediment on old and new bars; 30- 50% of the bottom affected; sediment deposits at obstructions, and bends; moderate deposition of pools prevalent.	Heavy deposits of fine material, increased bar development; more than 50% of the bottom changing frequently; pools almost absent due to substantial sediment deposition.
5. Channel flow status Score:	Water reaches base of both lower banks, and minimal amount of channel substrate is exposed. 20	Water fills >75% of the available channel; or <25% of channel substrate is exposed.	Water fills 25-75% of the available channel, and/or riffle substrates are mostly exposed.	Very little water in channel and mostly present as standing pools.

**Benthic Macroinvertebrates** 

At MB1 no macroinvertebrates were found (Table 13).

At MB3, the Hydropsychidae, the Gammaridae and the Chironomidae averaged 1 individual followed by the Asellidae with 0.3 (Table 14).

At MB6, the Gammaridae averaged 3 individuals by grab samples and 1 individual with the surber followed by the Elmidae, the Chironomidae and the Gomphidae with 1 (Table 15).

At MB4, the Coenagrionidae averaged 1 individual followed by the Psephenidae with 0.3 (Table 16).

Due to the inability of obtaining a 100-organism subsample, even if combining replicates A-C with D-F which could not be done because different techniques were used in replicates A-C and D-F, taxa richness, EPT Index, percent dominance, percent EPT, and FBI were not calculated for a score. This suggests that Musquapsink Brook should receive the most severe level of biological impairment.

Tuble 10. Dentine macionivertebrate nela at	ita s	nee	. 101					
Stream Name: Musquapsink Brook								
Station #: MB1								
Investigator: Dr. Marion McClary and students								
A-C are replicates, D-F are replicates	Α	В	С	Ave.	D	E	F	Ave.
# of Oligochaeta	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
# of Hirudinea	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
# of Isopoda	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
# of Amphipoda	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
# of Decapoda	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
# of Ephemeroptera	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
# of Plecoptera	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
# of Trichoptera	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
# of Hemiptera	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
# of Megaloptera	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
# of Coleoptera	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
# of Diptera	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
# of Gastropoda	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
# of Pelecypoda	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
# of Other	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

Table 13. Benthic macroinvertebrate field data sheet for MB1.

Tuble I ii Dentine much om ver tebrute neta ut		mee	C IOI		2			
Stream Name: Musquapsink Brook								
Station #: MB3								
Investigator: Dr. Marion McClary and students								
A-C are replicates, D-F are replicates	Α	В	С	Ave.	D	E	F	Ave.
# of Oligochaeta	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
# of Hirudinea	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
# of Isopoda, Asellidae	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0.3
# of Amphipoda, Gammaridae	0	0	0	0	0	0	2	0.7
# of Decapoda, Cambaridae	0	0	1	0.3	1	0	0	0.3
# of Ephemeroptera	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
# of Plecoptera	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
# of Trichoptera, Hydropsychidae	0	0	4	1.3	0	0	0	0
# of Hemiptera	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
<b>_</b>								
# of Megaloptera	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
# of Coleoptera, beetle larva	0	1	3	1.3	0	0	0	0
Elmidae	0	0	1	0.3	0	0	0	0
# of Diptera	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
<b>^</b>								
# of Gastropoda	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	-	-	-	_		-	-	
# of Pelecypoda	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	-	-	-	_		-	-	
# of Other, Nematocera, Chironomidae	0	0	1	0.3	0	1	4	1.7
	-	-	-			-		
						<u> </u>		
						<u> </u>	<u> </u>	
					1	1		
						<u> </u>	<u> </u>	
	1	1		1	1	1	1	1

Table 14. Benthic macroinvertebrate field data sheet for MB3.

Tuble 16. Dentine much on vertebrute neta at	erer D	nee	. 101		÷			
Stream Name: Musquapsink Brook								
Station #: MB6								
Investigator: Dr. Marion McClary and students								
A-C are replicates, D-F are replicates	Α	В	С	Ave.	D	Е	F	Ave.
# of Oligochaeta	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
# of Hirudinea	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
# of Isopoda, Asellidae	0	1	0	0.3	0	0	0	0
# of Amphipoda, Gammaridae	1	3	0	1.3	2	5	1	2.7
# of Decapoda, Cambaridae	1	0	0	0.3	0	0	0	0
# of Ephemeroptera, Baetidae	0	2	0	0.7	0	0	0	0
# of Plecoptera	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
# of Trichoptera, Hydropsychidae	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0.3
# of Hemiptera	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·								
# of Megaloptera	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
# of Coleoptera, beetle larva	7	0	0	2.3	0	0	0	0
Elmidae	1	0	0	0.3	0	0	2	0.7
# of Diptera	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
# of Gastropoda	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
•								
# of Pelecypoda, Corbiculidae	0	0	3	1	0	1	0	0.3
# of Other, Nematocera, Chironomidae	0	2	1	1	0	1	1	0.7
· · · · ·								
Anisoptera, Gomphidae	0	0	0	0	0	2	0	0.7
•					1	1		
						1		
	1	1	1	İ	1	1	1	İ
	1	1	1	İ	1	1	1	İ

Table 15. Benthic macroinvertebrate field data sheet for MB6.

Table 10: Dentine macrom vertebrate neid da	ita s	nee	t 101		,			
Stream Name: Musquapsink Brook								
Station #: MB4								
Investigator: Dr. Marion McClary and students								
A-C are replicates, D-F are replicates	Α	В	С	Ave.	D	Ε	F	Ave.
# of Oligochaeta	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
# of Hirudinea	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
# of Isopoda	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
# of Amphipoda	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
# of Decapoda	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
# of Ephemeroptera	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
# of Plecoptera	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
# of Trichoptera	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
# of Hemiptera	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
# of Megaloptera	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
# of Coleoptera, Psephenidae	1	0	0	0.3	0	0	0	0
# of Diptera	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
# of Gastropoda	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
# of Pelecypoda	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
# of Other, Anisoptera	1	1	0	0.7	0	0	0	0
Zygoptera, Coenagrionidae	0	2	1	1	2	2	0	1.3
					_			

Table 16. Benthic macroinvertebrate field data sheet for MB4.

### References

- NWCC Technical Note 99-1, Stream Visual Assessment Protocol, December 1998. 2 pgs.
- Peckarsky, B.L., Fraissinet, P.R., Penton, M.A., and Conklin, Jr., D.J. 1990. Freshwater Macroinvertebrates of Northeastern North America. Cornell University Press. Ithaca, N.Y. 442 pgs.
- Rawlyk, W. 1998. The Common Benthic Macroinvertebrates of New Jersey Streams: A Field Guide to Family Level Identification. William Rawlyk. 101 pgs.
- USEPA 1997. Volunteer Monitoring Guide for Macroinvertebrate Sampling and Data Analysis: New Jersey Impairment Score (NJIS) Bioassessment.
- USEPA Rapid Bioassessment Protocols for use in Streams and Wadeable Rivers (EPA 841-B-99-002 Nov. 1999).

**Musquapsink Brook Benthic Species List** 

**Prepared by:** 

Marion McClary, Jr., Ph.D. Associate Professor of Biological Sciences Associate Director of Biological Sciences Fairleigh Dickinson University

for

Rutgers Cooperative Extension Water Resources Program as part of RP07-002 Musquapsink Brook Watershed Restoration and Protection Plan

June 2009

					r	r	r	1
Stream Name: Musquapsink Brook								
Station #: MB1								
Investigator: Dr. Marion McClary and students		D	0		D	Г	Г	
A-C are replicates, D-F are replicates	A	B	C	Ave.	D	E	F	Ave.
# of Oligochaeta	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	-
# of Hirudinea	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	0	0	0	-		-	-	-
# of Isopoda	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
# of Amphipoda	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	0	0	0		0	0	0	
# of Decapoda	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	0	0	0	0		-	-	-
# of Ephemeroptera	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
				_				_
# of Plecoptera	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
# of Trichoptera	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
# of Hemiptera	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
# of Megaloptera	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
# of Coleoptera	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
# of Diptera	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
# of Gastropoda	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
# of Pelecypoda	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
# of Other	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

Table 1. Benthic macroinvertebrate field data sheet for MB1.

Streem Neme: Musquencink Prook								
Stream Name. Musquapshik Brook								
Investigator: Dr Marion McClary and students								
A-C are replicates. D-F are replicates	A	В	С	Ave.	D	Е	F	Ave.
# of Oligochaeta	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Ŭ	Ŭ			0			
# of Hirudinea	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
# of Isopoda, Asellidae, <i>Caecidotea</i> sp.	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0.3
# of Amphipoda, Gammaridae,	0	0	0	0	0	0	2	0.7
Gammarua fasciatus								
# of Decapoda, Cambaridae	0	0	1	0.3	1	0	0	0.3
Orconectes virilis								
# of Ephemeroptera	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
# of Plecoptera	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
# of Trichoptera, Hydropsychidae,	0	0	4	1.3	0	0	0	0
Hydropsyche sp.								
# of Hemiptera	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
# of Megaloptera	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
# of Coleoptera, beetle larva	0	1	3	1.3	0	0	0	0
Elmidae, <i>Dubiraphia</i> sp.	0	0	1	0.3	0	0	0	0
# of Diptera	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
# of Gastropoda	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
		0	0		_			
# of Pelecypoda	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	0	0	1	0.0	0	1		1 7
# of Other, Nematocera, Chironomidae,	0	0	1	0.3	0	1	4	1./
Axarus sp.								
	1							1

Table 2. Benthic macroinvertebrate field data sheet for MB3.

Table 3. Benthic macroinvertebrate field data sheet for MB6.

C N M '1 D 1								1
Stream Name: Musquapsink Brook								
Station #: MB4								
Investigator: Dr. Marion McClary and students	•	D	C	•	D	Г	Г	•
A-C are replicates, D-F are replicates	A	B	C	Ave.	D	E	F	Ave.
# of Oligochaeta	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
и стт. 1 <sup>.</sup>	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
# of Hirudinea	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
# - <b>F I 1</b> -	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
# of Isopoda	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
# of Amphinodo	0	Δ	0	0	0	0	0	0
# of Amphipoda	0	0	0	0	0	U	0	0
# of Decenada	0	Δ	0	0	0	0	0	0
# 01 Decapoda	0	0	0	0	0	U	U	0
# of Ephamoroptore	Δ	Δ	0	0	0	Ο	0	0
	0	0	0	0	0	0	U	0
# of Discontors	Δ	Δ	0	0	0	Ο	0	0
	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
# of Trichontera	0	Ο	0	0	0	0	0	0
	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
# of Hemintera	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	0	0	0	U	0	0	0	U
# of Megaloptera	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	0	0	0	U	0	U	0	U
# of Coleoptera, Psephenidae,	1	0	0	0.3	0	0	0	0
Psephenus herricki								
# of Diptera	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
•								
# of Gastropoda	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
•								
# of Pelecypoda	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
· · · · ·								
# of Other, Anisoptera, Hagenius sp.	1	1	0	0.7	0	0	0	0
Zygoptera, Coenagrionidae, Argia sp.	0	2	1	1	2	2	0	1.3

Table 4. Benthic macroinvertebrate field data sheet for MB4.

### References

- NWCC Technical Note 99-1, Stream Visual Assessment Protocol, December 1998. 2 pgs.
- Peckarsky, B.L., Fraissinet, P.R., Penton, M.A., and Conklin, Jr., D.J. 1990. Freshwater Macroinvertebrates of Northeastern North America. Cornell University Press. Ithaca, N.Y. 442 pgs.
- Rawlyk, W. 1998. The Common Benthic Macroinvertebrates of New Jersey Streams: A Field Guide to Family Level Identification. William Rawlyk. 101 pgs.

Appendix B: Tabulated Stream Visual Assessment Protocol (SVAP) Data

REACH LOCATION	DATE	HYDROLOGIC ALTERATATION	CHANNEL CONDITION	RIPARIANZONE 1	RIPARIAN ZONE 2	BANKSTABILITY	BANKSTABILITY 2	WATER APPEARANCE	NUTRIENT ENRICHMENT	FISH BARRIER	INSTREAM FISHCOVER	STOOA	INVERTEBRATES	CANOPY COVER	MANURE PRESENCE	SALINITY	RIFFLE EMBEDEDNESS	MACROINVERTEBRATES	SITE AVERAGE
E3R005	6/29/07	NA	3	3	1	6	6	5	4	1	3	5	5	1	NA	NA	NA	NA	3.5
GB2R001	5/10/07	1	1	1	3	1	1	10	8	1	8	1	7	7	NA	NA	9	NA	4.7
E4R007	6/29/07	NA	3	5	3	5	7	7	7	7	5	3	7	1	NA	NA	NA	NA	5.0
GD2R001	5/10/07	5	3	5	1	3	5	10	8	1	3	1	7	7	NA	NA	10	NA	5.2
F2R005	7/3/07	NA	7	10	6	7	3	3	7	10	3	3	3	3	NA	NA	NA	NA	5.2
E3R004	6/29/07	NA	5	4	3	3	3	3	3	8	7	7	8	7	NA	NA	NA	NA	5.2
E4R006	6/29/07	NA	1	2	2	3	3	7	7	7	7	5	7	7	NA	NA	NA	NA	5.3
E4R009	6/29/07	NA	6	6	2	2	2	5	6	7	5	3	7	10	NA	NA	NA	NA	5.5
GD2R002	5/10/07	3	1	4	10	1	2	10	9	3	8	3	7	8	NA	NA	9	NA	5.6
GC2R001	4/30/07	5	8	4	8	3	3	10	9	1	3	1	7	8	NA	NA	8	NA	5.7
ge3r002	6/13/07	10	10	8	3	10	7	7	7	1	5	5	3	1	NA	NA	0	NA	5.7
G1R002	7/6/07	NA	1	3	3	7	7	8	7	6	5	5	6	10	NA	NA	NA	NA	5.8
F2R002	7/3/07	NA	6	10	6	8	6	8	7	8	3	5	3	3	NA	NA	NA	NA	5.8
GB2R002	5/10/07	7	7	1	1	5	5	10	10	1	8	1	10	1	NA	NA	10	NA	5.9
GF2R001	5/15/07	7	8	10	10	8	3	3	3	10	5	1	3	10	NA	NA	0	NA	6.0
G1R001	7/6/07	NA	3	8	6	3	5	8	8	5	5	7	7	7	NA	NA	NA	NA	6.1
F3R001	6/29/07	NA	6	5	6	4	4	7	3	7	8	7	7	7	NA	NA	NA	NA	6.2
ge2r002	6/13/07	7	7	9	8	8	9	7	7	4	5	5	7	3	NA	NA	5	NA	6.2
F3R002	6/29/07	NA	7	7	3	7	3	7	7	8	3	6	7	7	NA	NA	NA	NA	6.2
F2R003a	7/6/07	NA	8	10	10	5	2	5	5	7	5	3	7	10	NA	NA	NA	NA	6.4
gf2r004	6/13/07	8	9	10	10	10	9	7	7	3	3	3	3	8	NA	NA	0	NA	6.5

REACH LOCATION	DATE	HYDROLOGIC ALTERATATION	CHANNEL CONDITION	<b>RIPARIANZONE 1</b>	RIPARIAN ZONE 2	BANKSTABILITY	BANKSTABILITY 2	WATER APPEARANCE	NUTRIENT ENRICHMENT	FISH BARRIER	INSTREAM FISHCOVER	STOOA	INVERTEBRATES	CANOPY COVER	MANURE PRESENCE	SALINITY	RIFFLE EMBEDEDNESS	MACROINVERTEBRATES	SITE AVERAGE
GD2R002	5/15/07	8	7	8	10	10	10	10	9	1	5	1	3	10	NA	NA	0	NA	6.6
F2R003b	7/6/07	NA	8	10	7	5	5	9	8	8	5	1	7	7	NA	NA	NA	NA	6.7
ge3r001	6/13/07	10	10	8	5	10	10	7	8	10	5	3	3	1	NA	NA	0	NA	6.7
F2R001	7/3/07	NA	7	5	8	4	7	9	8	8	5	3	7	8	NA	NA	NA	NA	6.7
GC2R002	4/30/07	8	8	10	5	8	8	9	9	3	3	1	7	9	NA	NA	10	NA	6.9
E4R008	6/29/07	NA	7	9	5	5	5	5	7	8	7	5	8	10	NA	NA	NA	NA	6.9
F2R004	7/3/07	NA	9	8	3	5	7	3	7	10	6	7	7	9	NA	NA	NA	NA	7.0
F2R003	7/3/07	NA	5	9	9	9	8	3	7	10	7	8	7	6	NA	NA	NA	NA	7.1
ge2r003	6/13/07	5	8	8	10	6	6	10	8	1	8	7	7	7	NA	NA	10	NA	7.2
ge2r004	6/13/07	7	8	8	10	7	8	10	9	3	5	1	7	10	NA	NA	10	NA	7.2
gf2r003	6/13/07	3	8	9	10	5	5	10	9	3	5	8	7	10	NA	NA	10	NA	7.3
GD2R001	5/15/07	7	8	10	10	2	8	10	9	10	5	1	3	10	NA	NA	10	NA	7.4
GA2R001	5/10/07	8	7	10	10	4	8	10	8	1	8	3	10	10	NA	NA	10	NA	7.5
F3R003	6/29/07	NA	8	10	7	7	7	7	7	8	7	7	7	10	NA	NA	NA	NA	7.7
GE2R002	5/15/07	9	7	10	8	10	10	10	10	0	0	1	3	10	NA	NA	0	NA	7.7
GE2R001	5/15/07	8	8	10	7	10	8	10	9	10	3	1	7	10	NA	NA	8	NA	7.8
GF2R002	5/15/07	8	10	10	10	5	5	10	10	10	8	3	7	10	NA	NA	0	NA	8.3

Appendix C: Quality Assurance Project Plan, RP 07-002 Musquapsink Brook Watershed Restoration Plan, Rutgers Cooperative Extension Water Resources Program

### QUALITY ASSURANCE PROJECT PLAN

### **RP07-002 MUSQUAPSINK BROOK WATERSHED RESTORATION PLAN**

**Rutgers Cooperative Extension Water Resources Program** 

**January 8, 2007** 

Revised & Resubmitted April 12, 2007

Revised & Resubmitted May 15, 2007

### QUALITY ASSURANCE PROJECT PLAN

### **RP07-002 MUSQUAPSINK BROOK WATERSHED RESTORATION PLAN**

### **Rutgers Cooperative Extension Water Resources Program**

Applicant/ Project Officer: Christopher C. Obropta, Ph.D., P.E. Rutgers Cooperative Extension Water Resources Program 14 College Farm Road – 2<sup>nd</sup> Floor New Brunswick, NJ 08901-8551 732-932-9800 x 6209 (phone); 732-932-8644 (fax) obropta@envsci.rutgers.edu

high COG

Signature

Date

QA Officers:

Lisa Galloway Evrard Rutgers Cooperative Extension Water Resources Program 14 College Farm Road – 2<sup>nd</sup> Floor New Brunswick, NJ 08901-8551 732-932-9800 x 6130 (phone); 732-932-8644 (fax) evrard@rci.rutgers.edu

Lisa Galloway Eurard

Signature

Date

NJDEP Main Point of Contact:

Michele Bakacs Watershed Management Area 5 Manager Division of Watershed Management New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection 401 East State Street P.O. Box 418 Trenton, New Jersey 08625-0418 609-292-9247 (phone); 609-633-0750 (fax) Michele.Bakacs@dep.state.nj.us

Signature

Date

NJDEP Additional Data Quality Review: Beth Torpey Division of Watershed Management New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection 401 East State Street P.O. Box 418 Trenton, New Jersey 08625-0418 609-633-1471 (phone); 609-633-0750 (fax) Beth.Torpey@dep.state.nj.us

Signature

Date

NJDEP Office of Quality Assurance: Marc Ferko Research Scientist Office of Quality Assurance New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection 9 Ewing Street P.O. Box 424 Trenton, NJ 08625-0418 609-292-3950 (phone); 609-777-1774 (fax) Marc.Ferko@dep.state.nj.us

Signature

1.	Project Name:	Musquapsink Brook Watershed Restoration Plan
	Requested By:	Michele Bakacs New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection

- 2. This project has been initiated by the New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection to collect data needed to prepare a comprehensive watershed restoration plan for the Musquapsink Brook.
- Date Project Requested: January 2007
   Date Project Initiated: May 2007
   Project Officer: Christopher C. Obropta, Ph.D., P.E. Rutgers Cooperative Extension Water Resources Program
   QA Officer: Lisa Galloway Evrard Rutgers Cooperative Extension Water Resources Program

### 7. Project Description:

### A. <u>Objective and Scope</u>

The proposed watershed study area is the Musquapsink Brook Watershed of Watershed Management Area 5 (WMA 5). The Musquapsink Brook Watershed, Hydrologic Unit Code 02030103170020, is approximately nine square miles in size. Based upon numerous monitoring sources, including the New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection (NJDEP) Ambient Biomonitoring Network (AMNET) program and the NJDEP/United States Geological Survey (USGS) water quality monitoring network, water quality impairments exist in the Musquapsink Brook Watershed.

According to the *New Jersey 2004 Integrated Water Quality Monitoring and Assessment Report,* the Musquapsink Brook maintains the following listings:

- Sublist 3 No data or information are available to support attainment determination: cadmium, chromium, copper, lead, mercury, nickel, selenium, silver, and zinc;
- Sublist 4 Attainment is threatened or waterbody is impaired; a TMDL has been developed and/or approved <u>or</u> pollution control measures do not require a TMDL: fecal coliform;
- Sublist 5 Water quality standard is not being attained and requires a TMDL: aquatic life, total phosphorus, and arsenic.

According to the recently adopted 2006 Integrated List, which uses a HUC-14 based water quality impairment listing methodology, the Musquapsink Brook Watershed (HUC 02030103170020), maintains the following listings:

• Sublist 4 for fecal coliform, phosphorus (primary recreation)
• Sublist 5 for drinking water, agricultural use, total dissolved solids (TDS), arsenic, aquatic life (general).

Based on the Total Maximum Daily Load (TMDL) prepared for the Musquapsink Brook at River Vale, USGS 01377499, a 96% reduction in fecal coliform load for 6.6 miles of stream is needed. Additional aquatic life and total phosphorus surface water quality impairments will also need to be addressed through the TMDL process.

# B. Data Usage

The data collected in accordance with this Quality Assurance Project Plan (QAPP) will help describe both dry weather and wet weather water quality conditions. These data will provide the information needed to identify and quantify sources of pollution so that appropriate management practices can be implemented to minimize these sources.

# C. Monitoring Network Design and Rationale

## **Sampling Locations:**

A draft of this QAPP was forwarded to various stakeholders by Michele Bakacs on 2/16/07 for review and comment. In addition, an overview of the QAPP, in particular a review of all the sampling locations for the study, was presented by the Rutgers Cooperative Extension Water Resources Program at the Northeast NJ Watershed Alliance March meeting on 3/6/07 for review and comment. An additional presentation regarding addressing fecal contamination in the watershed was presented by the Rutgers Cooperative Extension Water Resources Program at the Northeast NJ Watershed Alliance March meeting on 3/6/07 for review and comment. An additional presentation regarding addressing fecal contamination in the watershed was presented by the Rutgers Cooperative Extension Water Resources Program at the Northeast NJ Watershed Alliance April meeting on 4/10/07 for review and comment.

# The sampling locations, following the above referenced presentations, are shown in Attachment A. The eight sampling stations throughout the watershed are as follows:

	Musquapsink Brook Proposed Water Quality Stations		
Station ID	Station Name	Northing	Easting
SR1	Saddle River at Grove St., Ridgewood, NJ	604,246	775,678
HB1	Hohokus Brook at Saddle River County Park, Ridgewood, NJ	600,871	775,240
MB1	Musquapsink Brook at Hillsdale Ave, Hillsdale, NJ	612,208	791,635
MB2	Musquapsink Brook at Woodfield, below Schlegel Lake, Washington, NJ	613,070	784,469
MB3	Musquapsink Brook at Ridgewood Ave, Washington, NJ	612,454	782,650
MB4	Musquapsink Brook at Forest Ave, Westwood, NJ	617,409	781,658
MB5	Musquapsink Brook at Third Ave, Westwood, NJ	619,373	783,768
MB6	Musquapsink Brook at Harrington Avenue, Westwood, NJ	623,729	786,736

A WAAS-enable Garmin Rino 120 GPS (global positioning system) unit will be used to locate and identify the sampling locations. Sampling locations will be marked with stakes and surveying tape *or flags*. Field personnel will take GPS readings in the field to aid in verifying the correct sampling locations during the first sampling event.

## **Basis for Sampling Locations:**

Surface water quality sampling will be conducted to assess the loading inputs of nutrients, total suspended solids and bacteria to the Musquapsink Brook, as well as the movement of nutrients, total suspended solids and bacteria from basin to basin to identify and quantify the sources of pollution under dry weather and wet weather conditions. Biological sampling will be conducted so that the benthic macroinvertebrate community can be better characterized, compared, and evaluated for biological integrity within the study area.

- Location SR1 Saddle River at Grove Street, Ridgewood was selected to monitor the Saddle River upstream of the United Water interbasin transfer site.
- Location HB1 Hohokus Brook at Saddle River County Park, Ridgewood was selected to monitor the Hohokus Brook upstream of the United Water interbasin transfer location.
- Location MB1 Musquapsink Brook at Hillsdale Avenue, Hillsdale was selected to yield water quality information on the headwaters of the Musquapsink Brook.
- Location MB2 Musquapsink Brook at Woodfield Avenue, Washington was selected to yield water quality information on Musquapsink Brook just downstream of the spillway/discharge from Schlegel Lake and upstream from the interbasin discharge point.
- Location MB3 Musquapsink Brook at Ridgewood Avenue, Westwood was selected to yield water quality information on the Musquapsink Brook below the interbasin transfer.
- Location MB4 Musquapsink Brook at Forest Avenue, Westwood was selected to yield water quality information on the Musquapsink Brook downstream from the confluence with an unnamed tributary to the Musquapsink.
- Location MB5 Musquapsink Brook at Third Avenue, Westwood was selected to yield water quality information on the Musquapsink Brook as the stream flows further downstream through the watershed and to monitor any inputs from the large duck and goose population in this area, as well as drainage from the Beth El and Cedar Park Cemeteries.
- Location MB6 Musquapsink Brook at Harrington Avenue, Westwood was selected to yield water quality information on the Musquapsink Brook at the most downstream location within the study area prior to the confluence with Pascack Brook.

## **Temporal and Spatial Aspects:**

## Biweekly Surface Water Sampling

Surface water quality samples will be collected from all sampling locations in a downstream to upstream order to avoid disturbances to downstream water column samples twice a month, independent of weather, from May through October 2007 (12 events). Three additional surface water quality samples will be collected from all sampling locations in June, July, and August 2007 for fecal coliform and *Eschericia coli* (*E. coli*) analyses (nine additional sampling events). These nine additional sampling events will be independent of precipitation and will allow for a total of five fecal coliform, as well as five *E. coli* analyses at all sampling locations within a 30 day period during the warmer summer months. NJDEP considers the warm weather sampling months to fall between Memorial Day (i.e., May 28, 2007) and Labor Day (i.e., September 3, 2007).

All scheduling is subject to the natural occurrence of appropriate stream flow conditions (i.e., non-flooding conditions). In accordance with the Field Sampling Procedures Manual (See

Section 6.8.1.1, Chapter 6D – page 59 of 188), field personnel will not wade into flowing water when the product of depth (in feet) and velocity (in feet per second) equals ten or greater to ensure the health and safety of all field personnel. If the stream flow conditions preclude entry into the stream, samples will be collected from the closest bridge crossing to that location or from the stream bank.

Bacteriology samples will be collected directly into a bacteriological sample container in accordance with the methods outlined in section 6.8.2.2.7 of the Field Sampling Procedures Manual (See Chapter 6D - page 67 of 188). Composite samples will not be collected for bacteriology samples.

For the most part, the Musquapsink Brook and its tributaries are uniformly mixed, which warrants grab sampling (See Section 6.8.2.2.3, Chapter 6D-Page 66 of 188 of the Field Sampling Procedures Manual). A single grab sample will be collected at all locations where the stream width is six feet or less. At stream locations with a width greater than six feet, <u>a minimum</u> of three subsurface grab samples (i.e., quarter points) will be collected at equidistant points across the stream. The number of individual samples in a composite varies with the width of the stream being sampled. Horizontal intervals will be <u>at least</u> one foot wide (See Section 6.8.2.2.2, Chapter 6D – Page 64 of 188 of the Field Sampling Procedures Manual). These grab samples then will be composited in a larger volume container from which the desired volume will be transferred to the sample bottles. A dedicated large volume container will be assigned to each sample location.

Field equipment used for surface water quality sample collection (i.e., bottles and buckets) will be decontaminated/cleaned <u>in the laboratory</u> prior to each sampling event. A dedicated large volume container will be assigned to each sample location. Prior to each sampling event, the large volume containers will be decontaminated <u>in the laboratory</u> using the following procedures in accordance with the Field Sampling Procedures Manual (See Chapter 2A – Page 10 of 61): 1) laboratory grade glassware detergent plus tap water wash, 2) generous tap water rinse, 3) distilled/deionized water rinse, 4) 10% nitric acid rinse, 5) distilled/deionized water rinse. Note that the samples collected will not be analyzed for metals or organics. Also, field equipment decontamination water will be disposed of in accordance with the laboratory's Standard Operating Procedures and Quality Assurance Manual.

## Wet Weather Surface Water Sampling

Three wet weather sampling events, at a minimum, will be conducted between May and October 2007 at each station. The wet weather samples for this plan will be in addition to the 12 biweekly surface water sampling events described above. Collection of stormwater samples will begin at the onset of the storm (i.e., a storm predicted to produce a minimum of ½ inch of precipitation), and an attempt will be made to span the course of the event. By using this method of sampling, the samples should accurately reflect loading for the entire event. A priority will be to acquire first flush samples. Flow will be measured along with concentrations to quantify loading for selected parameters. A total of three samples will be obtained between the onset of the storm and the time when the flow reaches the pre-storm level, unless impractical, at each station during each storm event. At each station, the samples obtained for the entire event will be flow-weight composited to provide one sample from each station, with the exception of fecal

coliform and *E. coli*, which will require analysis of each individual grab sample. Rainfall data will be collected from a rain gauge that will be installed in the watershed.

If three samples can not be collected between the onset of the storm and the time when the flow reaches the pre-storm level, then the sampling event will not count as a wet weather surface water sampling event. If three  $\frac{1}{2}$  inch storm events are not captured between May - October 2007, the Water Resources Program, after consultation with the Department, may have to defer the Wet Weather Surface Water Sampling portions of the study to May – October 2008. Attempts will be made to conduct this portion of the study as early on in the study period as possible. Regarding time for collection of the first flush samples, the Water Resources Program will attempt to capture the first flush using the expected or anticipated rising limb of the hydrograph. The actual point on the hydrograph will have to be confirmed after sample completion.

### **Biological Sampling**

Samples of the benthic macroinvertebrate community will be collected in accordance with the Rapid Bioassessment Protocol (RBP) procedure used by the NJDEP Bureau of Freshwater and Biological Monitoring, which is based on USEPA's *Rapid Bioassessment Protocols for Use in Streams and Wadeable Rivers* (EPA 841-B-99-002 Nov. 1999). A multihabitat sampling approach, concentrating on the most productive habitat of the stream plus coarse particulate organic matter (CPOM) or leaf litter, will be used. Benthic macroinvertebrates will be collected from four locations (i.e., MB1, MB3, MB4, and MB6) once in either early summer or late summer as described in Attachment B. The biological sampling locations were selected to bracket the upstream and downstream boundaries of the study areas, as well as to characterize as much of the study area as possible since there are no AMNET monitoring locations on the Musquapsink Brook. In addition, locations with comparable substrate, canopy coverage, and flow conditions were selected within the study area for data comparability.

Туре:	Biweekly Surface Water Sampling	Additional Bacteriology Sampling	Wet Weather Surface Water Sampling	Biological Sampling
Frequency:	Two (2) times a month from May - October 2007 (12 events)	Three (3) times, in addition to biweekly samples, in June, July, & August 2007 (9 events)	Three (3) times between May - October 2007 (3 events)	One (1) time in either early summer <u>or</u> late summer (1 event)
Parameters:	pH, temperature, dissolved oxygen, stream width, stream depth, stream velocity, ammonia-N, nitrate-N, nitrite-N, total Kjeldahl nitrogen, total phosphorus, dissolved orthophosphate phosphorus, total suspended solids, fecal coliform, <i>E.</i> <i>coli</i>	Stream width, stream depth, stream velocity, fecal coliform, <i>E.</i> <i>coli</i>	pH, temperature, dissolved oxygen, stream width, stream depth, stream velocity, ammonia-N, nitrate-N, nitrite-N, total Kjeldahl nitrogen, total phosphorus, dissolved orthophosphate phosphorus, total suspended solids, fecal coliform, <i>E.</i> <i>coli</i>	pH, temperature, dissolved oxygen, stream width, stream depth, stream velocity, total dissolved solids, benthic macroinvertebrate survey, habitat assessment
Sampling Lo	cations:			
SR1	Х	X	X	
HB1	Х	X	X	
MB1	Х	X	X	X
MB2	Х	X	X	
MB3	Х	X	X	X
MB4	X	X	X	X
MB5	Х	X	X	
MB6	X	Х	X	X

# Summary of Monitoring Network Design and Rational – Temporal and Spatial Aspects

## D. <u>Monitoring Parameters</u>

Surface water quality sample collection will be conducted by the Rutgers Cooperative Extension Water Resources Program (RCE WRP). Stream width, stream depth, and stream velocity will be measured in accordance with the methods outlined in Attachment C by the RCE WRP. *In situ* measurements of pH, temperature, and dissolved oxygen will be conducted by the Rutgers EcoComplex Laboratory (NJDEP Certified Laboratory #03019). Collected samples will be analyzed for fecal coliform, ammonia-nitrogen, total Kjeldahl nitrogen, total phosphorus, dissolved orthophosphate phosphorus, and total suspended solids by Bergen County Utilities Authority (NJDEP Certified Laboratory #02268). Collected samples will also be analyzed for nitrate-nitrogen, nitrite-nitrogen, and total dissolved solids by Hampton Clarke Veritech (NJDEP Certified Laboratory #14622) via the Bergen County Utilities Authority. In addition, collected samples will be analyzed for *E. coli* by Garden State Laboratories (NJDEP Certified Laboratory #20044).

Biological sampling will include benthic macroinvertebrate grab/jab type sampling, along with the collection of CPOM. Physicochemical measurements will include total dissolved solids and *in situ* pH, temperature, dissolved oxygen, stream width, stream depth, and stream velocity. Benthic macroinvertebrate sampling and identification will be conducted by Marion McClary, Jr., Ph.D., Associate Professor of Biological Sciences and Associate Director of Biological Sciences at Fairleigh Dickinson University, in accordance with the Rapid Bioassessment Protocol (RBP) procedure used by the NJDEP Bureau of Freshwater and Biological Monitoring, which is based on USEPA's *Rapid Bioassessment Protocols for Use in Streams and Wadeable Rivers* (EPA 841-B-99-002 Nov. 1999). The RCE WRP will make stream width, stream depth, and stream velocity determinations in accordance with the procedures specified in Attachment C. *In situ* measurements of pH, temperature, and dissolved oxygen will be conducted by the Rutgers EcoComplex Laboratory (NJDEP Certified Laboratory #03019). Total dissolved solids will be measured by Hampton Clarke Veritech (NJDEP Certified Laboratory #14622) via the Bergen County Utilities Authority.

## E. <u>Parameter Table</u>

Measurements of the sampled parameters will be performed in accordance with Table 1A – List of Approved Biological Methods and Table 1B – List of Approved Inorganic Test Procedures (40 CFR Part 136.3) of Attachment D. Sample containers, preservation techniques, and holding times will be in accordance with Table II (40 CFR Part 136.3) of Attachment E. The Bergen County Utilities Authority, Hampton Clarke Veritech, and Garden State Laboratories will provide appropriate containers for all analyses. Any deviations from the test procedures and/or preservation methods and holding times will be reported to the NJDEP Office of Quality Assurance and will be noted in the final report from the laboratory.

# 8. Schedule:\*

Task	Date
Submit QAPP	January 2007
Conduct biweekly surface water sampling	May – October 2007
Conduct additional bacteriology sampling	June, July, August 2007
Conduct wet weather surface water sampling	May - October 2007
Conduct biological sampling	Early Summer or Late Summer 2007
Submit data and summary report to NJDEP	January 2008

\* All scheduling is subject to the natural occurrence of appropriate stream flow conditions (i.e., non-flooding conditions).

# 9. Project Organization and Responsibility:

Laboratory Operations:	(Bergen CUA) (Hampton Clarke V.) (Garden State L.) (Rutgers EcoComplex) (Fairleigh Dickinson U.) (NJDEP Representative)	John Dinice Stanley E. Gilewicz Harvey Klein Lisa Galloway Evrard Marion McClary, Jr. Marc Ferko
Sampling Operations:	(QA Officer) (NJDEP Representative)	Lisa Galloway Evrard Marc Ferko
Data Processing/ Data Quality Review:	(QA Officer) (NJDEP Representative)	Lisa Galloway Evrard Beth Torpey Michele Bakacs
Overall QA:	(QA Officer)	Lisa Galloway Evrard
Overall Coordination:	(Project Officer)	Christopher C. Obropta

## 10. Organizational Chart:

Overall Coordination: Christopher C. Obropta (RCE WRP) Overall QA: Lisa Galloway Evrard (RCE WRP) Data Quality Review/Data Processing: Lisa Galloway Evrard (RCE WRP) Beth Torpey (NJDEP) Michele Bakacs (NJDEP) Sampling QC/Sampling Operations: Lisa Galloway Evrard (RCE WRP) Marc Ferko (NJDEP) Laboratory Operations: John Dinice (Bergen County Utilities Authority) Stanley E. Gilewicz (Hampton Clarke Veritech) Harvey Klein (Garden State Laboratories) Lisa Galloway Evrard (Rutgers EcoComplex) Marion McClary, Jr. (Fairleigh Dickinson University) Marc Ferko (NJDEP)

11. Sampling Procedures:

All sampling procedures will be in conformance with the NJDEP 2005 Field Sampling Procedures Manual, any applicable USEPA guidance, or with prior written approval.

- Bacteriology samples will be collected in accordance with the methods outlined in section 6.8.2.2.7 of the Field Sampling Procedures Manual (See Chapter 6D page 67 of 188).
- Manual composite sampling for wider portions of the streams will be conducted in accordance with the methods outlined in section 6.8.2.2.2 of the Field Sampling Procedures Manual (See Chapter 6D page 64 of 188).

• Grab sampling where the natural stream conditions make compositing unnecessary will be conducted in accordance with the methods outlined in section 6.8.2.2.3 of the Field Sampling Procedures Manual (See Chapter 6D – page 66 of 188).

In addition, instrumentation used for the collection of field data will be properly calibrated, in conformance with the manufacturer's instructions, laboratory SOPs and QA Manuals, and the NJDEP Field Sampling Procedures Manual.

12. Chain of Custody Procedures:

Chain of Custody procedures will be followed for all samples collected for this monitoring program. A sample chain of custody form is provided in Attachment F. A sample is in someone's "custody" if 1) it is in one's actual physical possession, 2) it is in one's view, after being in one's physical possession, 3) it is in one's physical possession and then locked up so that no one can tamper with it, and 4) it is kept in a secured area, restricted to authorized personnel only.

13. Calibration Procedures and Preventative Maintenance:

Calibration and preventative maintenance of laboratory and field equipment will be in accordance with the manufacturer's instructions, NJDEP Field Sampling Procedures Manual, NJAC 7:18 and 40 CFR Part 136.

14. Documentation, Data Reduction, and Reporting:

The QA Officer, for a minimum of five years, will keep all data on file, and all applicable data will be included in the summary report to NJDEP. An electronic version of all reports and data will be provided on a CD for the Department's use.

15. Quality Assurance and Quality Control:

NJAC 7:18 and 40 CFR Part 136 will be followed for all quality assurance and quality control (QA/QC) practices, including detection limits, quantitation limits, precision, and accuracy. Tables of parameter detection limits, quantitation limits, accuracy, and precision applicable to this study are provided in Attachment G. Bergen County Utilities Authority, Hampton Clarke Veritech, Garden State Laboratories, and Rutgers Cooperative Extension will perform data validation.

Lisa Galloway Evrard of the Rutgers Cooperative Extension Water Resources Program will verify the reference/voucher collection prepared by Marion McClary, Jr., Ph.D. (Associate Professor of Biological Sciences and Associate Director of Biological Sciences at Fairleigh Dickinson University).

16. Performance and Systems Audits:

All NJDEP certified laboratories participate *annually in a NJDEP mandated Performance Testing program.* The NJDEP Office of Quality Assurance conducts a performance audit of each laboratory that is certified. The NJDEP Office of Quality Assurance also periodically conducts on-site technical systems audits of each certified laboratory. The findings of these audits, together with the *NJDEP mandated Performance Testing program*, are used to update each laboratory's certification status.

The NJDEP Office of Quality Assurance periodically conducts field audits of project sampling operations. The Office of Quality Assurance will be contacted during the project to schedule a possible field audit.

17. Corrective Action:

All NJDEP certified laboratories must have a written corrective action procedure which they adhere to in the event that calibration standards, performance evaluation results, blanks, duplicates, spikes, etc. are out of the acceptable range or control limits. If the acceptable results cannot be obtained for the above-mentioned QA/QC samples during any given day, sample analysis must be repeated for that day with the acceptable QA/QC results. NJDEP will be notified if there are any deviations from the approved work plan.

# All signatories of this QAPP will be notified when deviations to the QAPP are made prior to their implementation.

18. Reports:

The summary report will include at a minimum an Introduction, Purpose and Scope, Results and Discussion, Conclusions and Recommendations, and an appendix with data tables. An electronic version of all reports and data will be provided on a CD for the Department's use.

# ATTACHMENT A

Sampling Locations Musquapsink Brook Watershed



# ATTACHMENT B

**Biological Sampling Procedures and Analysis** 

#### **Biological Sampling Procedures and Analysis**

These sampling and data analysis procedures are in accordance with the Rapid Bioassessment Protocol procedures used by the NJDEP Bureau of Freshwater and Biological Monitoring, which is based on USEPA's *Rapid Bioassessment Protocols for Use in Streams and Wadeable Rivers* (EPA 841-B-99-02 Nov. 1999).

#### Sampling Procedures:

Samples will be collected using a multi-habitat sampling approach, concentrating on the most productive habitat of the stream (i.e., the riffle/run areas), plus coarse particulate organic matter (CPOM) or leaf litter. This sampling method minimizes habitat or substrate variation between sampling sites, and includes all likely functional feeding groups of macroinvertebrates in the stream. Three grab type samples will be collected at each sampling site. These samples will be sorted in the field, composited (i.e., the contents from the three grab samples from each site will be combined into a single container), and preserved in 80% ethanol for later subsampling, identification and enumeration.

A composite collection of a variety of CPOM forms (e.g., leaves, needles, twigs, bark, or fragments of these) will be collected. It is difficult to quantify the amount of CPOM to be collected in terms of weight or volume, given the variability of its composition. Collection of several handfuls of material is usually adequate, and the material is typically found in depositional areas, such as in pools and along snags and undercut banks. The CPOM sample will be processed using a U.S. Standard No. 30 sieve, and added to the composite of the grab samples for each site.

A 100-organism subsample of the benthic macroinvertebrate composite sample from each sampling site will be taken in the laboratory according to the methods outlined in the Rapid Bioassessment Protocol used by the NJDEP Bureau of Freshwater and Biological Monitoring. With the exception of chironomids and oligochaetes, benthic macroinvertebrates will be identified to genus. Chironomids will be identified to subfamily as a minimum, and oligochaetes will be identified to family as a minimum.

A habitat assessment will be conducted concurrent with the benthic macroinvertebrate sampling in accordance with the methods used by the NJDEP Bureau of Freshwater and Biological Monitoring. The measurement of physicochemical parameters will also be conducted concurrent with the benthic macroinvertebrate sampling. Surface water sampling for the measurement of pH, temperature, and dissolved oxygen will be conducted on a representative cross section of the steam. At least four subsurface grab samples will be collected across an established transect. These grab samples will be composited, and an appropriate volume will be transferred to sample bottles for *in situ* measurements of pH, temperature, and dissolved oxygen. Stream width, stream depth, and stream velocity will be measured in accordance with the methods outlined in Attachment C. Total dissolved solids (TDS) will also be measured as part of the biological sampling.

### **Biological Sampling Procedures and Analysis (continued)**

#### Data Analysis:

The NJDEP Bureau of Freshwater and Biological Monitoring uses several community measures of biometrics adapted from the Rapid Bioassessment Protocols to evaluate the biological condition of sampling sites within the Ambient Biomonitoring Network in New Jersey. These community measures include taxa richness, EPT index, %EPT, %CDF, and Modified Family Biotic Index. This analysis integrates several community parameters into one easily comprehended evaluation of biological integrity referred to as the New Jersey Impairment Score (NJIS). The NJIS has been established for three categories of water quality bioassessment for New Jersey streams: non-impaired, moderately impaired, and severely impaired, and is based on comparisons with reference streams and a historical database consisting of 200 benthic macroinvertebrate samples collected from New Jersey streams.

If the above metrics are not utilized, or if different metrics or indices are used, these changes will be discussed with NJDEP for approval. For example, to determine the similarity among the sampling sites with respect to species composition, the Percentage Similarity Index may be calculated for all pair wise comparisons of the sampling sites. Also, the benthic macroinvertebrates may be separated into the four broad functional feeding groups to evaluate community structure. In addition, the Shannon diversity index may be calculated to evaluate community structure. In addition, the findings from the habitat assessment will be used to interpret survey results and identify obvious constraints on the attainable biological potential of the site.

The final report will include a characterization of the aquatic biota, in particular the benthic macroinvertebrate community.

# ATTACHMENT C

**Stream Flow Measurement Procedure** 

#### **Stream Flow Measurement Procedure**

Stream width, depth, velocity, and flow determinations will be made in conformance with the following procedures:

- 1. A measuring tape is extended across the stream, from bank to bank, perpendicular to flow. Meter calibration is checked.
- 2. Using a Marsh-McBirney, Inc. Model 2000 Flo-Mate Portable Water Flow meter, velocity and depth measurements are made at points along the tape. Normally depth is measured using a rod calibrated in tenths of a foot. In shallow streams, a yardstick may be used to measure depth. Velocities are measured at approximately 0.6 depth (from the surface) where depths are less than 2.5 feet and at 0.2 and 0.8 depth (from the surface) in areas where the depth exceeds 2.5 feet.
- 3. The stream cross section is divided into segments with depth and velocity measurements made at equal intervals along the cross section. The number of measurements will vary with site conditions and uniformity of stream cross section. Each cross section is divided into equal parts depending upon the total width and uniformity of the section. At a minimum, velocities are taken at quarter points for very narrow sections. In general, velocity and depth measurements are taken every one to five feet. A minimum of ten velocity locations is used whenever possible. The velocity is determined by direct readout from the Marsh-McBirney meter set for 5 second velocity averaging.
- 4. Using the field data collected, total flow, average velocity, and average depth can be computed. Individual partial cross-sectional areas are computed for each depth and velocity measurement. The mean velocity of flow in each partial area is computed and multiplied by the partial cross-sectional area to produce an incremental flow. Incremental flows are summed to calculate the total flow. The average velocity for the stream can be computed by dividing the total flow by the sum of the partial cross-sectional areas. The average depth for the stream can be computed by dividing the stream can be computed by dividing the stream can be computed by dividing the stream can be computed by dividing the stream can be computed by dividing the stream can be computed by dividing the stream can be computed by dividing the stream can be computed by dividing the stream can be computed by dividing the stream can be computed by dividing the stream can be computed by dividing the stream can be computed by dividing the stream can be computed by dividing the sum of the partial cross-sectional areas by the total width of the stream. The accuracy of this method depends upon a number of factors, which include the uniformity of the steam bottom, total width, and the uniformity of the velocity profile.
  - Flow measurements will be collected for all sampling events. However, in accordance with the Field Sampling Procedures Manual (See Section 6.8.1.1, Chapter 6D page 59 of 188), field personnel will not wade into flowing water when the product of depth (in feet) and velocity (in feet per second) equals ten or greater. All scheduling is subject to the natural occurrence of appropriate stream flow conditions (i.e., non-flooding conditions) to ensure the health and safety of all field personnel. If the stream flow conditions preclude entry into the stream, flow will have to be estimated or calculated based on the recorded flow at the closest USGS gaging station and the drainage area.

# ATTACHMENT D

Table 1A – List of Approved Biological Methods & Table 1B – List of Approved Inorganic Test Procedures 40 CFR Part 136.3 July 1, 2005

	TABLE	A-LIST C	F APPROVED BIOLOGIC	CAL METHOD	S			
Parameter and units	Method 1	EPA	Standard methods 18th, 19th, 20th Ed.	ASTM	AOAC	NSGS	Other	
Bacteria 1. Coliform (fecal), num-	Most Probable Number (MPN), 5	p. 132 <sup>3</sup>	9221C E 4					
Der per 100 mL.	Membrane filter (MF)2, single	p. 1243	9222D4			B-0050-		
2. Coliform (fecal) in presence of chlorine.	MPN, 5 tube, 3 dilution, or	p. 132 <sup>3</sup>	9221C E 4			20		
3. Coliform (total), num-	MF, single step <sup>6</sup> MPN, 5 tube, 3 dilution, or	p. 124 <sup>3</sup> p. 114 <sup>3</sup>	9222D 4 9221B 4					
Der per IOU mL.	MF <sup>2</sup> , single step or two step	p. 108 <sup>3</sup>	9222B4			B-0025-		
4. Coliform (total), in presence of chlorine	MPN, 5 tube, 3 dilution, or	p. 1143	9221B4			00		
5. E. coli, number per	MF <sup>2</sup> with enrichment	p. 1113	9222(B+B.5c) <sup>4</sup> 9221B.1/9221F <sup>4,12,14</sup>					
	multiple tube/multiple well,		9223B 4.13		991.1511		Colliert @ 13.17	
Ū	MF 2.87.8.9 two step, or single step	1103-120 1603-21 1604-22	9222B/922264.19 9213D4	D5392-9310			Collect-18 e 19 e 19	
6. Fecal streptococci,	MPN, 5 tube, 3 dilution,	p. 1393	9230B4, 9230C4				mColiBue 24 18	
number per 100 mL.	MF2, or	p. 136 <sup>3</sup>			B-0055-			
<ol> <li>Enterococci, number per 100 mL.</li> </ol>	Plate count	p. 1434	923084		20			
	multiple tube/multiple well MF 287.89 two step single step, or Plate count	1106.124 160025 p. 1433	923004	D6503-9910 D6259-9210			Enterolert #13.23	
Protozoa: 8. Cryptosporidium <sup>28</sup>	Fibration/IMS/FA	1622 <sup>26</sup> 1623 <sup>27</sup>						
9. Gierdie <sup>28</sup> Amietic Tovicity	Filtration/IMS/FA	1623 27						
10. Toxicity, acute, fresh water organisms, LC50, percent effluent	Ceriodephnie dubie acute	2002.029						

7

#### **Environmental Protection Agency**

§136.3

Environmental	Protection	Agency
---------------	------------	--------

 Benucia hudorication yaddection by dependent by the invested by the invested by dependent by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the invested by the The method must be specied when results are resorted.
The manufacturer to Auty retain organisms to be outwated and to be they of extradables when could interface with their 2.6.0.45 µm menticase filer (MF) or other pore size calified by the manufacturer to Auty retain organisms to be outwated and to be they of extradables when could interface with their 2.6.0.45 µm menticase filer (MF) or other pore size calified by the manufacturer to Auty retain organisms to be outwated and to be they of extradables when could interface with their 2.6.0.45 µm menticase filer (MF) or other pore size calified by the manufacturer to Auty retain organisms to be outwated and to be they of extradables when could interface with their 2.6.0.45 µm menticase filer (MF) or other pore size calified by the manufacturer to Auty retain organisms to be outwated and to be they of extradables when could interface with their 2.6.0.45 µm menticase filer (MF) or other pore size calified by the manufacturer to Auty retain organisms to be outwated and to be they of extradables when could interface with their 2.6.0.45 µm menticase filer (MF) or other pore size calified by the manufacturer to Auty retain organisms to be outwated and to be they of extradables when could interface with their 2.6.0.45 µm menticase filer (MF) or other pore size calified by the manufacturer to Auty and the manufacturer to Auty and the manufacturer to Auty and the manufacturer to Auty and the manufacturer to Auty and the manufacturer to Auty and the manufacturer to Auty and the manufacturer to Auty and the manufacturer to Auty and the manufacturer to Auty and the manufacturer to Auty and the manufacturer to Auty and the manufacturer to Auty and the manufacturer to Auty and the manufacturer to Auty and the manufacturer to Auty and the manufacturer to Auty and the manufacturer to Auty and the manufacturer to Auty and the manufacturer to Auty and the manufacturer to Auty and the manufacturer to Auty and the manufacturer to Auty and the manufacturer to Auty and the m 1523 uses thration, concentration, immunomagned: separation of locysts and cysts from captured material, immunolituorescence assay to detarmine concentrations, and con-uprivide two saming and offencing interference or instantionacions of electron of Chyptosoricum and Gaarda posses upsite. U.S. Emmonantial Protection Approx, other in Valence 2020 and an electron of Chyptosoricum and Gaarda posses upsite. U.S. Emmonantial Protection Approx, other and valence assay to the multi-upsite and espect USEPA. 2001 Melhod social for enumeration of larger organism ranibatives to the minute of protection Approx, other on Water, Washington DC, EPA-801-ER-011-0755. Sea urchin Areacre punctiviate, 1006.03\*

9

§ 136.3

- o	Parameer unis and method Addty, as CaCO, mg/L. Electrometric endpoint or prenophthalein endpoint. Alkalinity, as CaCO, mg/L. Electrometric		Refe	erence (method number or pag	(e)	
- 6	Acidity, as CaCO3, mg/t. Electrometric endpoint or phenolphthalen endpoint. Alkalinity, as CaCO3, mg/t. Electrometric of Colometric	EPA1.35	Standard Methods [Edi- tion(s)]	ASTM	USGS2	Other
5	Alkalinity, as CaCO3, mgA. Electrometric of Colorimetric	305.1	2310 B(4a) [18th, 19th, 20th].	D1067-92	I-1020-85	
		310.1	2320 B [18th, 19th, 20th]	D1067-92	F-1030-85	973.433
e3	Auminium—Total,* mg/L; Diges-	310.2.			1-2030-85	
1	tion* followed by: AA direct aspiration 38 AA furmace	202.1 202.2	3111 D [18th, 19th] 3113 B [18th, 19th]		1-3051-85	
0	Atomic Emission Spec- thometry (CD/AES)®	200.7s	3120 B [18th, 19th, 20th]		I-4471-9750	
	Direct Current Plasma			D4190-94		Note 34.
1	Colorimetric (Enochrome		3500-AI B [20th] and 3500-AI D [18th, 19th].			
U	Manual, distillation (at pH	350.2	4500-NH3 B [18th, 19th, 20th1			973,493
	Nesslerization	350.2	4500-NH <sub>3</sub> C [18th] 4500-NH <sub>3</sub> C [19th, 20th]	D1426-98(A)	I-3520-85	973.493
	Electrode	350.3	and 4500–NH <sub>3</sub> E [18th] 4500–NH <sub>3</sub> D or E [19th, 20th] and 4500–NH <sub>3</sub> F or	D1426-98(B).		
	Automated phenate, or	350.1	G [18th] 4500–NH <sub>3</sub> G [19th, 20th] and 4500–NH <sub>5</sub> H [18th]		1-4523-85	
ις.	Automated electrode Antimony-Total, <sup>4</sup> mg/L; Digestion <sup>4</sup>					Note 7.
4	Addrect aspiration <sup>38</sup> Ad furnace ICPI/AES <sup>36</sup>	204.1 204.2 200.75	3111 B [13th, 19th] 3113 B [13th, 19th] 3120 B [13th, 19th, 20th]			

<sup>28</sup> USEPA. October 2002, Methods for Measuring the Acute Toxicity of Effuents and Receiving Waters to Freshwater and Martine Organisms. Firth Edition, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Water Washington DC: EPA3251, E-2001 20. USEPA, october 2002, Shorel-arm Mathods for Estimating the Chronic Toxicity of Effuents and Receiving Waters to Freshwater Organisms. Fourth Edition, U.S. Environmental Protec-tion Agency, Office of Water Washington DC: EPA3251, E-2020

### §136.3

#### 40 CFR Ch. I (7-1-05 Edition)

	Parameter, units and	TABLE IB-LIST (	DF APPROVED INORGANIC	C TEST PROCEDURES—( arence (method number or par	Continued	
	method	EPA1,35	Standard Methods [Edi- tion[s]]	ASTM	USGS2	Other
	Tritrimetric (EDTA), or Ca plus Mg as their carbon- ates, by inductively cou- pled plasma or AA direct aspiration (See Param-	130.2	2340 B or C [18th, 19th, 20th]	D1126-86(92)	I-1338-85	973.5283
	28. Hydrogen ton (pH), pH units Electrometric measurement	150,1	4500-H+ B [18th, 19th, 20th]	D1293-84 (90)(A or B)	H-1586-85	973.413 Note 21.
	A direct aspiration or A direct aspiration or A furnace 30. Iron-Total, mg/L, Digestion4	235.1 235.2	3111 B [18th, 19th]			
14	Nollowed by AA furned aspiration * AA furnace ICP/AES * DCP* or DCP* or COofmethic (Phenan- Colorimethic (as Nr	236.1 236.2 200.75	3111 B or C [18th, 19th] 3113 B [18th, 19th] 3120 B [18th, 18th, 20th] 3500-Fe B [20th] and 3500-Fe D [18th, 19th].	D1068-96(A or B) D1068-96(C) D4180-94 D1068-96(D)	-3381-85  -4471-97%	974.273 Note 34 Note 22
	mg.t. Logestion and distilation fol- Lowed by Nessentration Electrode	\$513 \$513 \$513 \$513	4500–Ntw B or C and 4500–NtH5 B (18th, 15th, 20th) 4500–NH5 C (18th) 4500–NH5 C (18th) 4500–NH5 C (18th) and 4500–NH5 E (18th)	D3590-89(A) D3590-89(A) D3590-89(A)		673,48 a
	Automated phenate colorimetric Semi-automated block digestor ool- orimetric. Manual or block digestor potentio-	351.1 351.2 351.4		D3590-89(B) D3590-89(A)	I=4515-9145	
	meiro. Block digester, followed by Auto dis- bladon and Tarabon, or. Nessilerization, or. Flow injecton gas diffusion 32. Lead-Total mgu. Digeston 4					Note 39. Note 40. Note 41.
	followed by: AA direct aspiration <sup>36</sup>	239.1	3111 B or C [18th, 19th]	D3559-96(A or B)	I-3399-85	974.273

§136.3

40 CFR Ch. I (7-1-05 Edition)

Note 34.	974.273 Note 34.	974.273 Note 34 920.2033 Note 23.	977.223	Note 34.	Note 34.	- 07 14 - 100 to 100 to 100 to 100 to 100 to 100 to 100 to 100 to 100 to 100 to 100 to 100 to 100 to 100 to 100	
1-4403-6951 1-4471-9750	-347-85  -471-9750	-3454-85  -4471-9780	I-3462-85	-3490-85  -3490-85  -4471-9750	1-3439-85 1-4503-8981 1-4471-9750		
D3559-96(D) D4190-94 D3559-96(C)	D511-93(B)	D856-95(A or B) D856-95(C) D858-95(C) D4190-94	D3223-91		D1886-90(A or B) D1886-90(C) D4190-94	D3867-99(B).	
3113 B (18th, 19th) 3120 B (18th, 19th, 20th) 3500-Pb B ( 20th) and 3500-Pb D (18th, 19th).	3111 B [18th, 19th]	3111 B [18th, 19th] 3113 B [18th, 19th] 3120 B [18th, 19th, 20th] 3500-Mn B [20th] and 3500-Mn D [18th, 19th]	3112 B [18th, 19th]	3111 D [18th, 19th] 3113 B [18th, 19th] 3120 B [18th, 19th, 20th]	3111 B or C [18th, 19th] 3113 B [18th, 19th] 3120 B [18th, 19th, 20th] 3500-Vi D [17th]	4500-NO <sub>3</sub> -E [18th, 19th. 20th]	
239.2 200.7 s	242.1 200.75	243.1 243.2 200.75	245.1 245.2 1631E 43	246.1 246.2 200.75	249.1 249.2 200.75	353.3	
AA furnace ICPPAES® DCP* DCP* Votamety' to Cotormetric (Dthizone) 33. Magnesium—Total,* mol.: Di-	gestion 4 fellowed by A direct apretion ICP/AES DCP or Gravitic	bon <sup>4</sup> Soltwed by AA direct aspiration <sup>38</sup> AA furnace AA furnace ICPAES <sup>35</sup> Colorimetric (Persulfale), or (Penodate)	35. Mercury—Tratal, mg/L cold vapor, manual or Automated Oxidation, purge and trap, and cold vapor atomic fitu- orescence spectrometry.	<ol> <li>Mojuderum—Total 4. mg/t.; Di- gestion 4 billowed by: AA dref aspration AA turace</li> <li>AA turace</li> <li>AA turace</li> <li>AA turace</li> <li>AA turace</li> <li>AA turace</li> <li>A turace</li> </ol>	And first aspiration <sup>36</sup> And furnace And furnace And furnace Cultimization (15pt 000me) Cultimization (15pt 000me) Cultimization (15pt 000me)	Commence Layours an ital), or Intrade-Intra an minus Nuthe N (See pe- rameters 39 and 40), 39. Nitrate-ritrite (as N), mg/t. Cadmium reduction, Marual or	Nitrate: EPA 300.0; Ion Chromatography

#### **Environmental Protection Agency**

§136.3

15

Construction of the second		Ref	erence (method number or pag	(et	
method	EPA1.35	Standard Methods [Edi- tion(s)]	ASTM	USGS2	Other
Automated, or	353,2	4500-NO3-F [18th, 19th, 20th-1	D3867-99(A)	I-4545-85.	
Automated hydrazine	353.1	4500-NO <sub>3</sub> -H [18th, 19th, 20th]			
40. Nitrite (as N), mol	•	1.007			
Manual or	354.1	4500-NO2-B [18th, 19th, 20th]			Note 25.
Automated (Diazotization) 41. Oil and grease-Total recover-				I-4540-85.	
Gravimetric (extraction)	413.1 1664A42	5520B [18th, 19th, 20th] <sup>38</sup> . 5520B [18th, 19th, 20th] <sup>38</sup> .			
polar material, mg/L: Hexane extractable mate- rial (HEM); n-Hexane ex-					
traction and gravimetry. Silica gel treated HEM (SGT-HEM): Silica gel	1664A 42,				
42. Organic carbon—Total (TOC), mol.					
Combustion or oxidation	415.1	5310 B, C, or D [18th, 19th, 20th]	D2579-93 (A or B)		973.47,3 p. 14.24
43. Organic nitrogen (as N), mg/L: Total Kjeldahi N (Parameter 31) minus ammonia N					
Athophosphate (as P), may					
Automated or	365.1 365.2	4500-P F [18th, 19th, 20th] 4500-P E [18th, 19th, 20th]	D515-88(A)	I-4601-85	973.56 <sup>3</sup> 973.55 <sup>3</sup>
Manual two reagent 45. Osmium-Total 4, mg/L; Diges-	365.3.				
tion <sup>4</sup> followed by: AA direct aspiration, or	252.1	3111 D [18th, 19th].			
46. Oxygen, dissolved, mg/L:	262.2				
White (Azide modification),	360.2	4500-0 C [18th, 19th, 20th]	D888-92(A)	I-1575-788	973.45B3
Flectrode	360.1	4500-0 G [18th, 19th).	D888-92(B)	I-1576-78°.	
Nitrite: EPA 300.0, on Chromatography					

16

§136.3

40 CFR Ch. I (7-1-05 Edition)

p. S2710 p. S2810 Moto 34	Note 27.	Note 27.		Note 28.	973.553	973.563				Note 34	973.533		317 B <sup>17</sup>						
						1-4600-85	I-4610-9148				I-3630-85			I-3750-85.	I-1750-85.	I-3765-85.		H-3753-85.	
						D515-88(A)	D515-88(B)												
3111 B [18th, 19th]					4500-P B, 5 [18th, 19th, 20th1	4500-P E [18th, 19th, 20th] 4500-P F [18th, 19th, 20th]			3111 B [18th, 19th]		3111 B [18th, 19th] 3120 B [18th, 19th, 20th].	3500-K B (20th) and 3500- K D [18th, 19th].		2540 B [18th, 19th, 20th]	2540 C [18th, 19th, 20th]	2540 D [18th, 19th, 20th]	2540 F [18th, 19th, 20th].		3111 B [18th, 19th]
263,1	420.1	420.1	420.2.		365.2	305.2 or 365.3	365.4		255.1 255.2.		258.1 200.7s			160.3	(160.1	160.2	160.5	160.4	265.1
47, Palladium—Total, <sup>4</sup> mg/L, Diges- tion <sup>4</sup> followed by: AA tirrect aspiration, or AA turrace	48. Phenols, mg/L: Manuel distillation 26 Enlowed hor	Colorimetric (4AAP) manual.	Automated <sup>19</sup> 49. Phosphorus (elemental), mg/L	So. Phosphorus-Total, mg/L:	Persultate digestion tol- lowed by	Manual or Automated ascorbic acid re-	Semi-automated block	51. Platinum—Total,* mg/L. Diges- tion* followed bv:	AA direct aspiration	52. Potassium-Total, <sup>4</sup> mg/L. Diges-	AA direct aspiration	Flame photometric, or	Colorimetric 53. Residue—T otal mo/L	Gravimetric 103-105°	Creationatric 1809	mg.L.: Gravimetric, 103-105° post washing of residua	56. Residue-semeating mg/L: Volumetric, (Imhoff cone), or	57. Residue-Volatile, mg/L: 67. Residue-Volatile, mg/L: 68. Rhofiim-Total 4. mn/ - Diree-	tion <sup>4</sup> followed by AA direct aspiration, or
									17							$\cup$			

#### **Environmental Protection Agency**

§136.3

	Colorimetric (methylene	376.2	4500-S - 2D [18th, 19th, 20th, 20th,			
	67. Sulfite (as SO <sub>3</sub> ), mgA.: Trimetric (rodine-iodate)	377.1	4500-SO3-2B [18th, 19th, 20thJ			
	68. Surfactarts, mg/L: Colonimetric (methylene hina)	425.1	5540 C [18th, 19th, 20th]	D2330-88.		
V	70. Thallium—Total, <sup>4</sup> mg/L. Diges-	170.1	2550 B [18th, 19th, 20th]			Note 32.
	tion 4 followed by: AA direct aspiration	279.1	3111 B [18th, 19th]			
	71, Tin-Total, MgAL; Digestion 4 fol-	200.75	3120 B [18th, 19th, 20th].			
	Iowed by AA direct aspiration AA dirace, or AA dirace, or CP/AES 72 Tranum—Total 4 mod. Dices.	282.1 282.2 200.7 <sup>6</sup> .	3111 B [18th, 19th] 3113 B [18th, 19th]		I-3850-78ª	
	tion <sup>4</sup> followed by: AA furnece AA furnece	283.1 283.2.	3111 D [18th, 19th].			Note 24
0	73. Turbidity. NTU: Nephelometric 74. Vanadium—Total, <sup>4</sup> mg/L; Diges-	180.1	2130 B [18th, 19th, 20th]	D1889-94(A)	I-3860-85.	***
	tion <sup>4</sup> followed by: AA direct aspiration AA furnace	286.1 286.2	3111 D [18th, 19th].	D3373-93.	- 100-00-0	
	ICP/AES DCP, or Colorimetric / Collic Action	200.75	3120 B [18th, 19th, 20th]	D4190-94	1-4471-9750	Note 34.
	75. Zine-Total, <sup>4</sup> mg/L; Digestion <sup>4</sup>		V D [18th, 19th]			
	followed by. AA direct aspiration <sup>36</sup>	289.1	3111 B or C [18th, 19th]	D1691-95(A or B)	I-3900-85	974.27,3 p. 379
	A tumace ICP/AES as DCD 36 or	200.75	3120 B [18th, 19th, 20th]	D4100-04	I-4471-9750	Note 34
	Colorimetric (Dithizone) or (Zincon)		3500-Zn E [18th, 19th]. 3500-Zn B [20th] and 3500-Zn F [18th, 19th].			Note 33.
	Table 1B Notes: - Wethoots for Chemical Analysis ( - Wethoots for Chemical Analysis ( Revised March 1983 and 1979 where Pression M.J., et al. "Nethods for the U.S. Geological Streety Chemer. ( the U.S. Geological Streety Chemer. (	of Water and Wastes," Environ applicable, of Inorganic Substar r Analysis of Inorganic Substar Co. Revised 1989, unless other	imental Protection Agency, En ces in Water and Fluvial Sedir wise stated.	wironmental Monitoring System ments, "U.S. Department of th a teth of 240000	ns Laboratory-Cincinnati (EM	ISL-CI), EPA-600/4-79-020, er-Resource Investigations of

#### **Environmental Protection Agency**

§136.3

19

<page-header><page-header>

20

#### **Environmental Protection Agency**

Environmental hole control and the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the production of the

21

ŝ
9
5
5
N
ŏ
0
Ż.
5
ĸ
2
ä
ō
s
Ű,
Ţ
ô
z
ĸ
й
ŝ
Ř
ъ
ы
ŏ
Ľ
-
ŝ
-
2
ž
6
∢
Ь
F
2
T
5
-
긆
A
_

		EPA, method numbe	8.47		Other approved methy	305
Parameter	90	GC/MS.	HPLC	Sternard Methods [Edition(s)]	ASTM	Other
1. Acenaphthene	610	625, 16258	610	6440 B [18th, 19th	D4657-92	N0te B, p 27
2 Acsnaphthyene	940	625, 1625B	610	6440 B, 6410 B (18th,	E4657-92	Note 9 p 27
3 Acrolem A Acrohentria	603 603	6244, 1824B 6244, 1824B		funce mint		
5 Arthracene	610	625, 16258	610	6410 B, 6440 B (18th. 19th. 20thl	D4657-02	Note 9. p. 27

§ 136.3

## ATTACHMENT E

Table II - Required Containers, Preservation Techniques, and Holding Times40 CFR Part 136.3July 1, 2005

3544. Available from the American Society for Microbiology, 1752 N Street NW., Washington, DC 20036. Table IA, Note 22.

(58) USEPA. 2002. Method 1604: Total Coliforms and Escherichia coli (E. coli) in Water by Membrane Filtration using a Simultaneous Detection Technique (MI Medium). U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Water, Washington D.C. September 2002, EPA 821-R-02-024. Available from NTIS, PB2003-100129. Table IA, Note 22.

(59) USEPA. 2002. Method 1600: Enterococci in Water by Membrane Filtration using membrane-Enterococcus Indoxyl-β-D-Glucoside Agar (mEl). U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Water, Washington D.C. September 2002, EPA-821-R-02-022. Available from NTIS, PB2003-100127. Table IA, Note 25.

(60) USEPA. 2001. Method 1622: *Cryptosporidium* in Water by Filtration/ IMS/FA. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Water, Washington, DC April 2001, EPA-821-R-01-026.

Available from NTIS, PB2002-108709. Table IA, Note 26. (61) USEPA. 2001. Method 1623:

(61) USEPA. 2001. Method 1623: Cryptosporidium and Giardia in Water by Filtration/IMS/FA. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Water, Washington, DC April 2001, EPA-821-R-01-025. Available from NTIS, PB2002-106710. Table IA, Note 27. (62) AOAC. 1995. Official Methods of Analysis of AOAC International, 16th Edition, Volume I, Chapter 17. AOAC International. 481 North Frederick Avenue, Suite 500, Gaithersburg, Maryland 20877-2417. Table IA, Note 11.

(c) Under certain circumstances the Regional Administrator or the Director in the Region or State where the discharge will occur may determine for a particular discharge that additional 40 CFR Ch. I (7-1-05 Edition)

parameters or pollutants must be reported. Under such circumstances, additional test procedures for analysis of pollutants may be specified by the Regional Administrator, or the Director upon the recommendation of the Director of the Environmental Monitoring Systems Laboratory—Cincinnati.

(d) Under certain circumstances, the Administrator may approve, upon recommendation by the Director, Environmental Monitoring Systems Laboratory—Cincinnati, additional alternate test procedures for nationwide use.

(e) Sample preservation procedures, container materials, and maximum allowable holding times for parameters cited in Tables IA, IB, IC, ID, and IE are prescribed in Table II. Any person may apply for a variance from the prescribed preservation techniques, container materials, and maximum hold-ing times applicable to samples taken from a specific discharge. Applications for variances may be made by letters to the Regional Administrator in the Region in which the discharge will occur. Sufficient data should be provided to assure such variance does not adversely affect the integrity of the sample. Such data will be forwarded, by the Regional Administrator, to the Director of the Environmental Monitoring Systems Laboratory-Cincinnati, Ohio for technical review and recommendations for action on the variance application. Upon receipt of the recommendations from the Director of the Environmental Monitoring Systems Laboratory, the Regional Administrator may grant a variance applicable to the specific charge to the applicant. A decision to approve or deny a variance will be made within 90 days of receipt of the application by the Regional Administrator.

TABLE II-REQUIRED CONTAINERS, PRESERVATION TECHNIQUES, AND HOLDING TIMES

Parameter No /name	Container <sup>1</sup>	Preservation 2, 3	Maximum holding time 4	
Table IA—Bacteria Tests: 1–5 Coliform, total decal, and E. coli	(PP)G	Cool. <10 °C. 0.0008%	6 hours.	
6 Fecal streptococci 7 Enterococci Table IA-Protozoa Tests	PP. G PP. G	Cool, <10° 0.0008% Na <sub>2</sub> S <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub> <sup>3</sup> Cool, <10° 0.0008% Na <sub>2</sub> S <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub> <sup>3</sup>	6 hours. 6 hours.	
8 Cryptosporidium 9 Giardia	LDPE	0-8 °C 0-8 °C	96 hours. 17 96 hours. 17	
Table IA—Aquatic Toxicity Tests: 6–10 Toxicity, acute and chronic	P.G	Cool, 4 °C16	36 hours.	

#### Environmental Protection Agency

#### §136.3

#### TABLE II-REQUIRED CONTAINERS, PRESERVATION TECHNIQUES, AND HOLDING TIMES-Continued

Parameter No /name	Container <sup>1</sup>	Preservation 2.3	Maximum holding time 4
Table ID Income Table	ļ.		
Table IB-Inorganic Tests:	1.00	(10) 1 200	1.22.2
1. Acidity	P, G	Cool, 4°C	14 days.
2. Alkalinity	P, G	do	Do.
4 Ammonia	CDG	Cool, 4°C, H <sub>2</sub> SO <sub>4</sub> to pH<2	28 days.
9. Biochemical oxygen demand	F.G	Cool, 4°C	48 hours.
10. Boron	P, PFTE, or	HNO3 TO pH<2	6 months.
	Quartz.		
11. Bromide	P. G	None required	28 days.
<ol><li>Biochemical oxygen demand, carbonaceous</li></ol>	P, G	Cool, 4°C	48 hours
15. Chemical oxygen demand	P, G	Cool, 4°C, H2SO4 to pH<2	28 days.
16. Chloride	P, G	None required	Do.
17. Chlorine, total residual	P. G	do	Analyze immediately.
21. Color	P. G	Cool, 4°C	48 hours.
23-24. Cyanide, total and amenable to	P, G	Cool, 4°C, NaOH to pH>12,	14 days.6
chlorination.		0.6g ascorbic acid 5.	
25. Fluoride	P	None required	28 days.
27. Hardness	P. G	HNO3 to pH<2, H2SO4 to pH<2	6 months
28 lydrogen ion (pH)	P, G	None required	Analyze immediately
31, 43. Kjeldahl and organic nitrogen	P, G	Cool, 4°C, H2SO4 to pH<2	28 days.
Metals?			
18. Chromium VI7	P, G	Cool, 4 °C	24 hours
35. Mercury 17	P. G	HNO3 to pH<2	28 days.
3, 5-8, 12, 13, 19, 20, 22, 26, 29, 30, 32-34,	P. G	do	6 months.
36, 37, 45, 47, 51, 52, 58-60, 62, 63, 70-72,			
74, 75. Metals except boron, chromium VI			
and mercury <sup>7</sup> .	<b>_</b>		
C38 Dtrate	(P)6	Cool, 4°C	48 hours.
39 Nitrate-nitrite	P. G	Cool, 4ºC, H2SO4 to pH<2	28 days.
(40)Nitrite	(P)G	Cool, 4°C	48 hours.
41. Oil and grease	Ğ	Cool to 4°C, HCl or H2SO4 to	28 days.
42. Organic Carbon	P, G	Cool to 4 °C HC1 or H <sub>2</sub> SO4 or H <sub>2</sub> PO4 to pH<2	28 days.
(AA) Orthophosphate	(D)G	Filter immediately Cool 49C	48 hours
A Ovuman Dissolved Draha	Pattia and	Name required	Anglura immediatelu
Colorygen, Dissolved Flobe	top	None required	Analyze minediately.
47 Mielder	top.	Eise on eite and store in dade	2 hours
42 Dhanala	C aplu	Cool 490 H-CO, to pU/22	20 days
40. Phenois	C Only	Cool 48C	18 hours
49. Phosphorus (elefinental)	(A)	Cool 490 H-SO, to pH<2	28 days
52 Decidue total		Cool 490	Z daus
54 Pasidus Eiltarable	6	do	7 days.
Desidue, Massilamble (TSS)		do	7 days.
55. Residue, Normiterable (155)	P.G	de	1 uays.
50. Residue, Settleable	P.G		40 HOURS.
57. Residue, volable	P, G		7 days.
61. Silica	P. PFIE. OF	C001. 4 °C	28 days.
	Guariz.	i.	
64. Specific conductance	P.G		Do.
65. Sulfate	P.G		Do.
bb. Suinde	P, G	plus sodium hydroxide to	7 days.
67 Sulfite	PG	None required	Analyze immediately
68. Surfactants	PG	Cool 4%C	48 hours
69 Temperature	PG	None required	Analyze
73 Turbidity	PG	Cool 49C	AR DOURS
Table IC Organia Tastaß	La Missione	000,40	40 110013.
12 19-20 22 24-29 24-37 30-43 45-47	G Tellon	Cool 4 9C 0.009% Na-S-0-5	14 dave
56, 76, 104, 105, 108-111, 113. Purgeable	lined sep-	0001,4 0,0.000101020203	14 days.
Halocarbons.	tum.		
6, 57, 106. Purgeable aromatic hydrocarbons	do	Cool. 4 °C, 0.008% Na <sub>2</sub> S <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub> ,5	Do.
3. 4. Acrolein and acrylonitrile	do	HCI to pH29. Cool, 4 °C, 0.008% Na <sub>2</sub> S <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub> . <sup>5</sup>	Do.
		adjust pH to 4-510.	
23, 30, 44, 49, 53, 77, 80, 81, 98, 100, 112. Phenols <sup>11</sup> .	G, Teflon- lined cap	Cool, 4 °C, 0.008% Na2S2O35	7 days until extraction; 40 days after extrac-
			tion.
7, 38. Benzidines <sup>11</sup>	do	do	7 days until extraction.13
14, 17, 48, 50–52. Phthalate esters 11	do	Cool, 4 °C	7 days until extraction; 40 days after extrac-
	L		tion.

#### § 136.3

#### 40 CFR Ch. I (7-1-05 Edition)

TABLE II-REQUIRED CONTAINERS, PRESERVATION TECHNIQUES, AND HOLDING TIMES-Continued

	Parameter No /name	Container*	Preservation 4.2	Maximum holding time
	82-84. Nitrosamines II 14	do	Cool, 4 VC, 0.008% Na <sub>2</sub> SeO <sub>3</sub> ,5 store in dark	Dó:
	68-94 PCBs11	do	Cool, 4 °C	Do:
	54, 55, 75, 79 Nitroaromatics and isophorona II	do	Cool, 4 VC, 0 008% NapSeDy 5 store in dark.	Do
	<ol> <li>2, 5, 6–12, 32, 33, 58, 59, 74, 78, 99, 101 Polynuclear aromatic hydrocarbons<sup>11</sup></li> </ol>	do	xdo	Do.
	15, 16, 21, 31, 87 Haloethers11	do	Cool, 4. *C, 0.008% Nep50015	Do
	29, 35-37, 63-65, 73, 107. Chlonneted hydro- cerbons <sup>31</sup>	do .	Cool, 4 °C	Do
	60-62, 66-72, 85, 86, 95-97, 102, 103, CDDs/ CDFs <sup>11</sup>			
	aqueous, field and lab preservation.	G	Cool, 0-4 °C, pHs9, 0.008% NasS203 <sup>5</sup>	l year
	Solids, mixed phase, and tissue, field preserva- tion	. do	Cool, <4 *C	7 days
	Solids, mixed phase, and lissue tab preserva- bon	dó	Freeze, ≤ 10 °C	1 year
Tet	de IC-Pestades Tests		and the second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second s	
	T-70. Pestelides !!	do	Cool, 4°C, pH 5-913	Do:
Tat	le IE-Radiological Tests			
	1-5 Alpha, beta and radium	P.E	HNO3 to pH<2	6 months

 Table III—Radiological Tests
 P. E
 HN03 to pH<2</th>
 fit months

 Table III Notes
 Table II Notes
 Toget II Notes
 Toget II Notes
 Toget II Notes
 Toget II Notes
 Toget II Notes
 Toget II Notes
 Toget II Notes
 Toget II Notes
 Toget II Notes
 Toget II Notes
 Toget II Notes
 Toget II Notes
 Toget II Notes
 Toget II Notes
 Toget II Notes
 Toget II Notes
 Toget II Notes
 Toget II Notes
 Toget II Notes
 Toget II Notes
 Toget II Notes
 Toget II Notes
 Toget II Notes
 Toget II Notes
 Toget II Notes
 Toget II Notes
 Toget II Notes
 Toget II Notes
 Toget II Notes
 Toget II Notes
 Toget II Notes
 Toget II Notes
 Toget II Notes
 Toget II Notes
 Toget II Notes
 Toget II Notes
 Toget II Notes
 Toget II Notes
 Toget II Notes
 Toget II Notes
 Toget II Notes
 Toget II Notes
 Toget II Notes
 Toget II Notes
 Toget II Notes
 Toget II Notes
 Toget II Notes
 Toget II Notes
 Toget II Notes
 Toget II Notes
 Toget II Notes
 Toget II Notes
 Toget II Notes
 Toget II Notes
 Toget II Notes
 Toget II Notes
 Toget II Notes

in feetnete 5 (re the requirement for thresunate reduction or resource and the sample to 4 040.2 to prevent rearrangement to barraina the pH of the sample to 4 040.2 to prevent rearrangement to barraina the sample to 4 040.2 to prevent rearrangement to barraina the sample to 4 040.2 to prevent rearrangement to barraina the sample to 4 040.2 to prevent rearrangement to barraina the sample to 4 040.2 to prevent rearrangement to barraina the sample to 4 040.2 to prevent rearrangement to barraina the sample to 4 040.2 to prevent rearrangement to barraina the sample to 4 040.2 to prevent rearrangement to barraina the sample to 4 040.2 to prevent rearrangement to barraina the sample to 4 040.2 to prevent rearrangement to barraina the sample to 4 040.2 to prevent rearrangement to barraina the sample to 4 040.2 to prevent rearrangement to barraina the sample to 4 040.2 to prevent rearrangement to barraina the sample to 4 040.2 to prevent rearrangement to barraina the sample to 4 040.2 to prevent rearrangement to barraina the sample to 4 040.2 to prevent rearrangement to barraina the sample to 4 040.2 to prevent rearrangement to barraina the sample to 4 040.2 to prevent rearrangement to barraina the sample to 4 040.2 to prevent rearrangement to barraina the sample to 4 040.2 to prevent rearrangement to barraina the sample to 4 040.2 to prevent rearrangement to barraina the sample to 4 040.2 to prevent rearrangement to barraina the sample to 4 040.2 to prevent rearrangement to barraina the sample to 4 040.2 to prevent rearrangement to barraina the sample to 4 040.2 to prevent rearrangement to barraina the sample to 4 040.2 to prevent rearrangement to barraina the sample to 4 040.2 to prevent to a sample to 4 040.2 to prevent to a sample to 4 040.2 to prevent to a sample to 4 040.2 to prevent to a sample to 4 040.2 to prevent to a sample to 4 040.2 to prevent to a sample to 4 040.2 to prevent to a sample to 4 040.2 to prevent to a sample to 4 040.2 to prevent to a sample to a sample to 4 040.2 to prevent to a sample to 4

dine UEstrads may be stored up to 7 days before analysis if storage is conducted under an inert (oxidant-free) atmosphere UEstrads may be stored up to 7 days before analysis if storage is conducted under an inert (oxidant-free) atmosphere 44For the analysis of diphenylnitrosamine, add 0.008% Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>2</sub>O, and adjust µH to 7-10 with NaOH within 24 hours of sam-

<sup>14</sup>For the analysis of ophenytrifrosomine, add 0.008% Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>2</sub>O<sub>4</sub> and adjust pH to 7=10 with NeOH within 24 hours of same <sup>14</sup>That pH adjustment may be performed upon propint at the laboratory and may be omitted if the samples are extracted within <sup>27</sup> hours of collection. For the analysis of addins, add 0.008% Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>2</sub>O<sub>4</sub>, and adjust pH to 7=10 with NeOH within 24 hours of same <sup>14</sup>Sinfaert los collection. For the analysis of addins, add 0.008% Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>2</sub>O<sub>4</sub>. <sup>28</sup>Sinfaert los collection for the analysis of addins, add 0.008% Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>2</sub>O<sub>4</sub>. <sup>29</sup>Sinfaert los collection for the analysis of addins, add 0.008% Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>2</sub>O<sub>4</sub>. <sup>20</sup>Sinfaert los collection for the analysis of addins, add 0.008% Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>2</sub>O<sub>4</sub>. <sup>20</sup>Sinfaert los collection for the samples and confirm that the 4C temperature inasomum has not been exceeded in the isolated cases whare to an request a variance. The request for a variance should include supportive data which show that the folded cases whare <sup>20</sup>Sinfaert collection for the adelemination of trace level modulu (100 ngL) using EPA Method 1631 must be collected in the <sup>20</sup>Singles is not educed because of the increased holding temperature. <sup>20</sup>Singles collected the delemination of trace level mecury (100 ngL) using EPA Method 1631 must be collected in the terror variable bottles collected to the solute the delemination of trace level mecury (100 ngL) using EPA Method 1631 must be collected in the level mercurv should be filtered in the taboratory. However, if droumstances prevent covering(t) signifies should be filtered in the barded variance with procedures given in Method 1695 samples collected to the list level mercurv should be filtered in the laboratory. However, if droumstances prevent covering(t) signifies allowed become level mercurv should be filtered in the list of data or descave the received test because of the level mercury must be analyzed within 80 days of sample collection.

36

# ATTACHMENT F

Sample Chain of Custody Form



Bergen County Utilities Authority PO Box 9 Little Ferry NJ 07643

## ORDER ID:

# CHAIN OF CUSTODY RECORD

			Pen	mit / Site umber	t / Site Sampler's Initials mber		Received Date/Time	
l/we certify that the relinquished.	samples belov (S) SIGNATI	/ have not been out of our custo	ady until	Wor	k Or	der Comments:	-	
Bottle Type		Preservation		pH Ch	eck			
Sample ID	Sample Type	Analysis	_	BCUA Bottle Type		JA Bottle Type (Initial)		Time
Start Colle	ct Date/Tim	8:	End	l Collect D	ate/	Time:	-	-
ample Comme	nts:							
sample comme	1115.							
-								

Page 1 of 1

# ATTACHMENT G

Tables of Parameter Detection Limits, Accuracy, and Precision

Parameter:	(Dissolved) Ortho- Phosphate (as P)	Total Phosphorous (as P)	Ammonia- Nitrogen	Nitrate- Nitrogen <sup>†</sup>	Nitrite - Nitrogen <sup>†</sup>	Total Kjeldahl Nitrogen	Total Suspended Solids	Total Dissolved Solids <sup>†</sup>
Referenced Methodology –(NJDEP Certified Methodology)	EPA 365.2	EPA 365.2	EPA 350.2	EPA 300.0	EPA 300.0	EPA 351.3	EPA 160.2	EPA 160.1
Technique Description	Ascorbic Acid, Manual Single Reagent	Persulfate Digestion + Manual	Distillation, Titration	Ion Chroma- tography	Ion Chroma- tography	Digestion, Distillation, Titration	Gravi- metric, 103-105°C, Post Washing	Gravi- metric, 180°C
Method Detection Limit (ppm) – Calculated	0.005	0.01	0.164	0.027	0.08	0.579	4	8.9
Instrument Detection Limit (ppm)	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
Project Detection Limit (ppm)	0.015	0.03	0.5	0.27	0.8	1.8	12	10
Quantitation Limit (ppm)	0.015	0.03	0.5	0.27	0.8	1.8	12	10
Accuracy (mean % recovery	98.2	99.6	103.4	90-110	90-110	101.6	NA	NA
Precision -% (mean – RPD	2.23	1.6	2.7	20	20	2.8	9.4	20
Accuracy Protocol (% recovery for LCL/UCL)	75.00 / 123.20	75.00 / 123.20	86.636 / 103.981			80.8 / 116.8	NA	
Precision Protocol - % (maximum RPD)	4.7	4.9	4.6			5.13	28.6	

# Parameter Detection Limits, Quantitation Limits, Accuracy, and Precision

RPD- Relative % Difference; NA-Not Applicable Laboratory: Bergen County Utilities Authority – (NJDEP #02268) <sup>†</sup>Laboratory: Hampton Clarke Veritech – (NJDEP #14622)
Parameter:	pH (SU)	Temperature (°C)	Dissolved Oxygen (mg/L)	<sup>†</sup> Fecal Coliform	<sup>‡</sup> Eschericia coli (E. coli)
Referenced Methodology – (NJDEP Certified Methodology)	Standard Methods 4500-H <sup>+</sup> B	Standard Methods 2550 B	Standard Methods 4500-O G	Standard Methods 9222D	EPA 1603
Technique Description	Electrometric	Thermometric	Electrode	Membrane Filter (MF), Single Step	Membrane Filter (modified mTEC)
Method Detection Limit (ppm)	NA	NA	NA	2 (col/ 100 ml)	<10 organisms per 100 ml
Instrument Detection Limit (ppm)	0.00-14.00 S.U.	0.0 to 100.0 °C	0 – 20 mg/L	NA	NA
Project Detection Limit (ppm)	0.00-14.00 S.U.	0.0 to 100.0 °C	0 - 20 mg/L	2 (col/ 100 ml)	<10 organisms per 100 ml
Quantitation Limit (ppm)	NA	NA	NA	2 (col/ 100 ml)	60,000 organisms per 100 ml
Accuracy (mean % recovery)	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
Precision (mean – RPD)	± 0.01 S.U.	± 0.3 °C	$\pm$ 0.3 mg/l	5.7	NA
Accuracy Protocol (% recovery for LCL/UCL)	NA	NA	NA	NA	Detect – 144%
Precision Protocol (maximum RPD)	± 0.01 S.U.	± 0.3 °C	± 0.3 mg/l	20.55	61%

RPD – Relative % Difference; NA – Not Applicable Laboratory: Rutgers EcoComplex Laboratory (NJDEP #03019) <sup>†</sup>Laboratory: Bergen County Utilities Authority (NJDEP #02268) <sup>‡</sup>Laboratory: Garden State Laboratories, Inc. (NJDEP #20044)



LISA GALLOWAY EVRARD Program Associate • Rutgers Cooperative Extension 14 College Farm Road • New Brunswick, NJ 08901-8551 • USA Phone: 732/932-9800 x 6130 • Fax: 732/932-8644 <u>evrard@rci.rutgers.edu</u>

June 29, 2007

VIA E-MAIL Michele Bakacs Watershed Management Area 5 Manager Division of Watershed Management New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection 401 East State Street P.O. Box 418 Trenton, NJ 08625

## Re: Addendum to Quality Assurance Project Plans (QAPPs) RP07-001 Tenakill Brook Watershed Restoration Plan RP07-002 Musquapsink Brook Watershed Restoration Plan

Michele:

For both the Tenakill Brook and Musquapsink Brook Watershed Restoration Plans, the Bergen County Utilities Authority (BCUA) has requested that surface water samples be delivered to the BCUA laboratory (NJDEP Certified Laboratory #02268) by noon for analysis. To date, this has not been a problem for the biweekly surface water sampling and additional bacteriology sampling. However, it will be extremely difficult, if not impossible, to meet this sample drop-off requirement for the wet weather surface water sampling portion of these studies.

We would like to amend the QAPPs to reflect that for the wet weather surface water sampling portion of these studies Garden State Laboratories (NJDEP Certified Laboratory #20044) will be conducting the necessary water quality analyses. Garden State Laboratories is currently conducting the *E. coli* analyses for these studies, and they have more reasonable sample drop-off requirements, which will be suitable for the wet weather surface water sampling portion of these studies.

I have attached the following for you to review and for you to forward to the Office of Quality Assurance:

- Wet Weather Surface Water Sampling Parameter Detection Limits, Quantitation Limits, Accuracy, and Precision
- Wet Weather Surface Water Sampling Table 1A: List of Approved Biological Methods & Table 1B: List of Approved Inorganic Test Procedures, 40 CRF Part 136.3, July 1, 2005
- Wet Weather Surface Water Sampling Table II: Required Containers, Preservation Techniques, and Holding Times, 40 CFR Part 136.3, July 1, 2005.

If you have any questions, please do not hesitate to contact me at <u>evrard@rci.rutgers.edu</u> or call me at 732-932-9800 x 6130. If for some reason we are not allowed to use Garden State Laboratories for the wet weather surface water sampling portion of the Musquapsink and Tenakill studies, please contact me, Katie Buckley at <u>kbuckley@envsci.rutgers.edu</u>, or Rob Miskewitz at <u>rmiskewitz@aesop.rutgers.edu</u> as soon as possible.

Thank you for your attention to this matter.

Sincerely,

Lisa Galloway Eusard

Lisa Galloway Evrard QAPP QA Officer

C: P. Rector C. Obropta K. Buckley R. Miskewitz

# Wet Weather Surface Water Sampling

## Parameter Detection Limits, Quantitation Limits, Accuracy, and Precision

# RP07-002 MUSQUAPSINK BROOK WATERSHED RESTORATION PLAN & & RP07-001 TENAKILL BROOK WATERSHED RESTORATION PLAN

# Wet Weather Surface Water Sampling Parameter Detection Limits, Quantitation Limits, Accuracy, and Precision

Parameter:	(Dissolved) Ortho- Phosphate (as P)	Total Phosphorous (as P)	Ammonia- Nitrogen	Nitrate- Nitrogen	Nitrite - Nitrogen	Total Kjeldahl Nitrogen	Total Suspended Solids
Referenced Methodology –(NJDEP Certified Methodology)	Standard Methods 4500-P E	Standard Methods 4500-P E	Standard Methods 4500-NH <sub>3</sub> D	EPA 353.2	Standard Methods 4500-NO <sub>2</sub> B	LACHAT 10- 107-06-2-D	Standard Methods 2540 D
Technique Description	Colorimetric	Persulfate Digestion + Manual	Electrode	Automated Cadmium Reduction	Spectro- photometric	Digestion, Distillation, Semiautomated Digestor	Gravi- metric, 103-105°C, Post Washing
Method Detection Limit (ppm) – Calculated	0.008	0.010	0.018	0.010	0.0002	0.059	NA
Instrument Detection Limit (ppm)	0.01	0.01	0.05	0.20	0.005	0.50	NA
Project Detection Limit (ppm)	0.015	0.03	0.5	0.27	0.8	1.8	12
Quantitation Limit (ppm)	0.015	0.03	0.5	0.27	0.8	1.8	12
Accuracy (mean % recovery	100.8	93.7	99.2	103.9	98.6	89.9	NA
Precision -% (mean – RPD	1.20	0.56	1.75	0.72	1.32	1.50	3.85
Accuracy Protocol (% recovery for LCL/UCL)	90 / 110	90 / 110	90 / 110	90 / 110	90 / 110	90 / 110	90 / 110
Precision Protocol - % (maximum RPD)	10%	10%	10%	10%	10%	10%	10%

RPD- Relative % Difference; NA-Not Applicable

Laboratory: Garden State Laboratories, Inc. (NJDEP #20044)

Parameter:	<sup>†</sup> pH (SU)	<sup>†</sup> Temperature (°C)	<sup>†</sup> Dissolved Oxygen (mg/L)	Fecal Coliform	Eschericia coli (E. coli)
Referenced Methodology – (NJDEP Certified Methodology)	Standard Methods 4500-H <sup>+</sup> B	Standard Methods 2550 B	Standard Methods 4500-O G	Standard Methods 9222D	EPA 1603
Technique Description	Electrometric	Thermometric	Electrode	Membrane Filter (MF), Single Step	Membrane Filter (modified mTEC)
Method Detection Limit (ppm)	NA	NA	NA	<10 organisms per 100 ml	<10 organisms per 100 ml
Instrument Detection Limit (ppm)	0.00-14.00 S.U.	0.0 to 100.0 °C	0 – 20 mg/L	NA	NA
Project Detection Limit (ppm)	0.00-14.00 S.U.	0.0 to 100.0 °C	0 - 20 mg/L		<10 organisms per 100 ml
Quantitation Limit (ppm)	NA	NA	NA		60,000 organisms per 100 ml
Accuracy (mean % recovery)	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
Precision (mean – RPD)	± 0.01 S.U.	± 0.3 °C	$\pm 0.3$ mg/l	NA	NA
Accuracy Protocol (% recovery for LCL/UCL)	NA	NA	NA	NA	Detect – 144%
Precision Protocol (maximum RPD)	± 0.01 S.U.	± 0.3 °C	± 0.3 mg/l	NA	61%

RPD – Relative % Difference; NA – Not Applicable

Laboratory: Garden State Laboratories, Inc. (NJDEP #20044) <sup>†</sup>Laboratory: Rutgers EcoComplex Laboratory (NJDEP #03019)

### Wet Weather Surface Water Sampling

Table 1A – List of Approved Biological Methods & Table 1B – List of Approved Inorganic Test Procedures 40 CFR Part 136.3 July 1, 2005

## RP07-002 MUSQUAPSINK BROOK WATERSHED RESTORATION PLAN & RP07-001 TENAKILL BROOK WATERSHED RESTORATION PLAN

	SOther	-050-	700		025- of #	1 60		Colliert@13,17	Collect-18 was to the	mColBue 24 18			Erterolert #13,23			
	USG	8			-B-0						1.10					
S	AOAC							991.151			B-0055- 865	3				
CAL METHO	ASTM								D5392-9310				D6503-9910 D5259-9210			
F APPROVED BIOLOGI	Standard methods 18th, 19th, 20th Ed.	9221C E 4 9222D4	9221C E <sup>4</sup>	9222D 4 9221B 4	9222B <sup>4</sup>	9221B4	9222(B+B.5c) <sup>4</sup> 9221B.1/9221F 4.12.14	9223B 4,13	9222B/92226 4.19 9213D 4	9230B4, 9230C4		923084	9230C <sup>4</sup>			
A-LIST C	EPA	p. 132 <sup>3</sup> p. 124 <sup>3</sup>	p. 132 <sup>3</sup>	p. 124 <sup>3</sup> p. 114 <sup>3</sup>	p. 108 <sup>3</sup>	p. 1143	p. 1113		1103.22 1604.22	p. 1393	p. 136 <sup>3</sup>	p. 1434	1106.124 160025 D. 1433	162228 162228	1623.27	2002.029
TABLE	Method <sup>1</sup>	Most Probable Number (MPN), 5 tube 3 division, or Membrane litter (MF)2, single	MPN, 5 tube, 3 dilution, or	MF, single step <sup>6</sup> MPN, 5 tube, 3 dilution, or	MF2, single step or two step	MPN, 5 tube, 3 dilution, or	MP 2 with enrichment	multiple tube/multiple well,	MF 2.6.7.8.9 two step, or single step	MPN, 5 tube, 3 dilution,	MF2, or	Plate count MPN 7.9 multiple tube	muttiple tube/multiple well MF26789 two step single step, or Plate court	Filtration/IMS/FA	Filtration/IMS/FA	Ceriodaphnia dubia acute
	Parameter and units	Bacteria 1. Coliform (fecal), num ber per 100 mL.	2. Coliform (fecal) in presence of chlorine.	3. Coliform (total), num- bor nor 100 ml	741 100 HILL	4. Coliform (total), in presence of chlorine.	5. E. coli, number per		~	6. Fecal streptococci,		7. Enterococci, number per 100 ml		Protozoa: 8. Cryptosporidium <sup>28</sup>	9. Giardia 28	Aquator I oxiorry: 10. Toxiorry, acute, fresh water organisms, LC50, percent effluent.

7

### **Environmental Protection Agency**

§136.3

#### **Environmental Protection Agency**

Bend hole control before the second state benome there are a determined when a benome there are the man and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and the second and nofluorescence assay to determine concertrations, and con-valuer and Gredia occysts and cysts. USEPA, 2001. Method righton DC, EPA-821-8-01-025 Weter by Membrane Filtration Using membrane Enteroroccus indoxy 8-D-Glucoside Agar (mEI), U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, 05 thee of extractables which could interfere with their oocysts from certured meterial, immunoluorescence assay to determine concentrations, and continnation tereform of Cryptosponnum. USEPA. 2001. Method: 1622. Cryptospindum in Water by Flustion-MISEF. nd cysts from captured material, immunofluoresc e simultaneous detection of Cryptosporg/um and lection Agency, Office of Water Washington Dic and to be be-cultivated manufacturer to tully retain organisms to 1008.031 separation of a ngton DC EPA-a separation of Sea urchin. Arbacia punctulata lertitization specified when results are reported a fiter (MF) or other pore size partified by the 0. Enteroco EPIA.-821-1 of the Enterolart<sup>®</sup> 2 Method 1106.1 Igton DC. EPA-821 1600 vital dve star DOL staining a Notes to Table IA 1 The method must be s 2.4 0.45 µm membrane Mat ondium a a lo Table IA method must I of Water, Water, Water 1623 C

9

§ 136.3

not	90	Ital
al Protec	ental Pro	wironme
onmenta	wironme	U.S. Er
S. Envir	U.S. Er	Edition.
ition. U.	Edition.	s. Third
Fifth Ed	Fourth	rganism
anisms.	anisms.	Jarine O
ine Org	rater Org	and Estu
and Ma	Freshw	Manne
shwater	Waters to	Vaters to
s to Fre	ceiving V	eiving V
ng Water	and Re-	and Rec
Receivir	Effluents	iffuents
nts and	dicity of E	icity of E
of Efflue	onic Tox	onic Tox
Toxicity	the Chr 13	the Chr
a Acute 02/012.	timating /R-02/0	PA/8216
uring th /821/R-	FPA/87	ts for Es
for Meas	In Method	Method Ashinoto
lethods I	Machine Machine	hort-term
2002. M er, Wast	2002. S	2002. SI
October 9 of Wat	October Office of	October
ISEPA. I	SEPA.	ISEPA.
29 L	Joe A uni	31 U

§136.3

	1
	ļ
	1
	•
21	
SUI4	1
Ĩ	ļ
417	
PAL	į
ŭ	
Ě	
offic	
ILISP	
/ale/	
10	
8	

OF APPROVED INORGANIC TEST PROCEDURES	Reference (method number or page)	ndard Methods [Edi- ASTM USGS <sup>2</sup> Other tion(s)]	B(4a) [18th, 19th, D1067-92	B [18th, 19th, 20th] D1067-92	D [18th, 19th]	D4190-94 Note 34.	0-Al D [18th, 19th] MH3 B [18th, 19th,	0. NHL5 C[18h1] D1426-98(A) P-3520-85 973.493 NHL5 C[18h1] Z010] A5020-H15 E[18h1]	NH3, Dr E (19th.) 17and 4300-NH3, F or 18th] 48th3, G (19th. 20th) 44500-NH3 + (19th)	B [18th, 19th] B [18th, 19th] B [18th, 19th] B [18th, 19th]
DRGANIC TEST PROCE	ference (method number o	ASTM	D1067-92	D1067-92		D4190-94		D1426-98(A)	D1426-98(B)	
LIST OF APPROVED INC	Re	Standard Methods [Edi- tion(s)]	2310 B(4a) [18th, 19th, 20th]	2320 B [18th, 19th, 20th]	3111 D [18th, 19th] 3113 B [18th, 19th] 3120 B [18th, 19th, 20th]	3500-AI B [20th] and	3500-AI D [18th, 19th]. 4500-NH <sub>3</sub> B [18th, 19th,	20mJ 4500-NH <sub>3</sub> C [18th] 4500-NH <sub>3</sub> C [19th, 20th] and 4500-NH <sub>4</sub> E [18th]	4500-NH <sub>3</sub> D r E [19th. 2000) and 4500-NH <sub>3</sub> F or G [18th] 4500-NH <sub>3</sub> G [19th. 20th] and 4500-NH <sub>3</sub> H [18th]	3111 B [18th, 19th] 3113 B [18th, 19th] 31013 H [18th, 19th]
TABLE IB		EPA1.35	305.1	310.1	202.1 202.2 200.75		350.2	350.2 350.2	350.3 350.1	204.1 204.2 201.75
	Daramatar unite and	method	1. Acidity, as CaCO3, mg/L: Electrometric endpoint or phenolphthalein endpoint.	<ol> <li>Alkalinity, as CaCO3, mgA. Electrometric of Colorimetric titration to pH 4.5, manual or automatic</li> </ol>	A direct aspiration <sup>38</sup> A direct aspiration <sup>38</sup> A direct aspiration <sup>38</sup> A direct aspiration <sup>38</sup> A direct aspiration <sup>38</sup> A direct aspiration <sup>38</sup> A direct aspiration <sup>38</sup> A direct aspiration <sup>38</sup> A direct aspiration <sup>38</sup> A direct aspiration <sup>38</sup> A direct aspiration <sup>38</sup> A direct aspiration <sup>38</sup> A direct aspiration <sup>38</sup> A direct aspiration <sup>38</sup> A direct aspiration <sup>38</sup> A direct aspiration <sup>38</sup> A direct aspiration <sup>38</sup> A direct aspiration <sup>38</sup> A direct aspiration <sup>38</sup> A direct aspiration <sup>38</sup> A direct aspiration <sup>38</sup> A direct aspiration <sup>38</sup> A direct aspiration <sup>38</sup> A direct aspiration <sup>38</sup> A direct aspiration <sup>38</sup> A direct aspiration <sup>38</sup> A direct aspiration <sup>38</sup> A direct aspiration <sup>38</sup> A direct aspiration <sup>38</sup> A direct aspiration <sup>38</sup> A direct aspiration <sup>38</sup> A direct aspiration <sup>38</sup> A direct aspiration <sup>38</sup> A direct aspiration <sup>38</sup> A direct aspiration <sup>38</sup> A direct aspiration <sup>38</sup> A direct aspiration <sup>38</sup> A direct aspiration <sup>38</sup> A direct aspiration <sup>38</sup> A direct aspiration <sup>38</sup> A direct aspiration <sup>38</sup> A direct aspiration <sup>38</sup> A direct aspiration <sup>38</sup> A direct aspiration <sup>38</sup> A direct aspiration <sup>38</sup> A direct aspiration <sup>38</sup> A direct aspiration <sup>38</sup> A direct aspiration <sup>38</sup> A direct aspiration <sup>38</sup> A direct aspiration <sup>38</sup> A direct aspiration <sup>38</sup> A direct aspiration <sup>38</sup> A direct aspiration <sup>38</sup> A direct aspiration <sup>38</sup> A direct aspiration <sup>38</sup> A direct aspiration <sup>38</sup> A direct aspiration <sup>38</sup> A direct aspiration <sup>38</sup> A direct aspiration <sup>38</sup> A direct aspiration <sup>38</sup> A direct aspiration <sup>38</sup> A direct aspiration <sup>38</sup> A direct aspiration <sup>38</sup> A direct aspiration <sup>38</sup> A direct aspiration <sup>38</sup> A direct aspiration <sup>38</sup> A direct aspiration <sup>38</sup> A direct aspiration <sup>38</sup> A direct aspiration <sup>38</sup> A direct aspiration <sup>38</sup> A direct aspiration <sup>38</sup> A direct aspiration <sup>38</sup> A direct aspiration <sup>38</sup> A direct aspiration <sup>38</sup> A direct aspiration <sup>38</sup> A direct aspiration <sup>38</sup> A direct aspiration <sup>38</sup> A direct aspiration <sup>38</sup> A direct aspiration <sup>38</sup> A direct aspiration <sup>38</sup> A direct aspiration <sup>38</sup> A direct aspiration <sup>38</sup> A direct aspiration <sup>38</sup> A direct aspiration <sup>38</sup> A direct aspiration <sup>38</sup> A dire	trometry (ICP/AES) <sup>36</sup> Direct Current Plasma (DCP) <sup>36</sup> Colonmetric (Enochrome	Ammonia (as N), mg/L. Manual, distillation (at pH	9.5.0 followed by. Nesslerization Titration	Electrode Automated phenate, or	5. Antimony-Total, a mg/L: Digestion 4 followed by: A direct aspiration <sup>36</sup> AA direct aspiration <sup>36</sup> AA furnec

10

### 40 CFR Ch. I (7-1-05 Edition)

			Ref	erence (method number or pag	(e(	
	rarameter, units and method	EPA1, 35	Standard Methods [Edi- tion(s)]	ASTM	USGS2	Other
	Trimetric (EDTA), or Ca plus Mg as their carbon- ales, by inductively cou- pled plasma or AA direct aspliration (See Param-	130.2	2340 B or C [18th, 19th, 20th]	D1126-86(92)	I-1338-85	973.52B <sup>3</sup>
	26. Hydrogen Ion (pH), pH units. 0. Autometric messurement Automated electrode 29. Indium-Tatla <sup>4</sup> molt. Dipession <sup>4</sup>	150.1	4500-H+ B [18th, 18th, 20th]	D1293-84 (90)(A or B)	l–1586–85 l–2587–85	973.41° Note 21.
	followed by: AA direct aspiration or AA furnace 30. Iron-Total + mp/L; Digestion+	235.1 235.2	3111 B [18th, 19th]			
	A direct aspiration *	236.1 236.2 200.7 <i>3</i>	3111 B or C [18th, 19th] 3113 B [18th, 19th] 3120 B [18th, 19th, 20th] 3500-Fe B [20th] and 3500-Fe D [18th, 19th]	D1068-96(A or B) D1068-96(C) D4180-94 D1068-96(D)	I-3381-55 I-4471-9739	974.273 Note 34. Note 22.
0	mgL. Digestion and distillation fol- lowed by Transform Nessencedion	<b>J</b> 51.3 351.3 351.3 351.3	4500–Neg B or C and 4500–Neg B (18th, 19th, 20th) 4500–Neb C (18th) 4500–Neb C (18th) 4500–Neb C (18th) and 4500–Neb C (18th)	D358089(A) D358089(A) D358089(A)		973.48 3
	Automated phenetic otterimetric Semi-automated block digestor col- opmetric. Manual or block ugestor potentio- menic.	351.1 <b>3</b> 51.2 351.4		D3590-89(B) D3590-89(A)	1-4551-788 1-4515-91 45	
	Block digester, followed by Audo dis- tiletion and Tration, or. Nesslenzation, or and antibusion Flow njecton gas diffusion 32. Lead-Total,4 mg/L. Digestion4					Note 39. Note 40. Note 41.
	AA direct aspiration 36	239.1	3111 B or C [18th, 19th]	D3559-96(A or B)	I-3399-85	974.273

§136.3

### 40 CFR Ch. I (7-1-05 Edition)

QAPP Addendum, 6/29/07 RP07-002 Musquapsink Brook Watershed Restoration Plan RP07-001 Tenakill Brook Watershed Restoration Plan TKN: Lachat 10-107--06-2-D; Digestion, Distillation, Semiautomatic Digestor

Note 34.		974.273 Note 34 920.2033	977.22 <sup>3</sup>	Note 34.	Note 34. 973.50,° 4190,17 p. 28°		
-4403-8951  -4471-9750	1-3447-85 1-4471-9750	-3454-85  -4471-9790	1-3462-85	1-3490-85 1-3490-85 1-4471-97 so	H-3499-85 H-4500-89 st H-471-97 so		
D3559-96(D) D4190-94 D3559-96(C)	D511-83(B)	D858-95(A or B) D858-95(C) D4190-94	D3223-91		D1886-90(A or B) D1886-90(C) D4180-94	D386799(B).	
3113 B [18th, 19th] 3120 B [18th, 19th, 20th] 3500-Pb B [ 20th] and 3500-Pb D [18th, 19th]	3111 B [18th, 18th] 3120 B [18th, 18th, 18th] 3500-Mg D [18th, 19th]	3111 B [18th, 19th] 3113 B [18th, 19th] 3120 B [18th, 19th, 20th] 3500-Mn B [20th] and 3500-Mn D [18th, 19th]	3112 B [18th, 19th]	3111 D [18th, 19th] 3113 B [18th, 18th] 3120 B [18th, 19th, 20th]	3111 B or C [18th, 19th] 3113 B [18th, 19th] 3120 B [18th, 19th, 20th] 3500-M D [17th]	4500-NO3-E [18th, 19th, 20th]	mir
239.2 - 200.75 -	242.1 200,75	243.1 243.2 200.75	245.1 245.2 1631E <sup>43</sup>	246.1 246.2 200.75	2491 2492 20075 3521	353.3	.2; Automated Cadm
AA fumace DCPAES ** DCPAES ** Voltametry ** or Voltametry ** or	<ol> <li>Magnesium—Total,4 mgL; Di- gestion4 followed by;</li> <li>AA direved aspiration DCP of DCP of Gravimetro</li> <li>Mangarees-Total,4 mgL; Diges-</li> </ol>	Non* Plowed By Tellowed By Funder aspiration 36 AA furnace AA furnace CCPARE 38 DCCP8, or Coormetic (Persulfate), or	35. Mercury-Total 4 mg/L Cold vapor, manual or Automated and trap. Ordeator, purge and trap. and cold vapor alonnic fup.	orescence spectrometry (ngu), 36. Molydderum—Total 4, mgu: Di- gestion4 bilowed by, A dired spiration AA timese CPPAES (CPIAES 33. Nickel—Total,4 mgu: Digaston4 33. Nickel—Total,4 mgu: Digaston4	followed by A direct aspiration <sup>36</sup> AA three PCPAES <sup>36</sup> DCPAES <sup>36</sup> DCPA <sup>36</sup> DCPA <sup>36</sup> A three is Nit Nit Conometric flagtone sub- conometric flagtone sub- date, or three-right N	rameters 39 and 40) 39. Mtrate-httria (as N), mg/L: Cadmium reduction, Manual or.	Nitrate (as N), EPA 353 Reduction

15

### **Environmental Protection Agency**

§136.3

	TABLE IB-LIST (	DF APPROVED INORGANIC	CTEST PROCEDURES-(	Continued	
Deremotor units and		Ref	erence (method number or pag	(e)	
method method	EPA1.35	Standard Methods [Edi- tion(s)]	ASTM	US6S2	Other
Automated, or	353.2	4500-NO3-F [18th, 19th, 20th]	D3867-99(A)	I-4545-85	
Automated hydrazine	353.1	4500-NO3-H [18th, 19th, 20th]			
Spectrophotometric:	354.1	4500-NO <sub>2</sub> -B 18th, 19th,			Note 25.
Automated (Diazotization) 41. Oil and grease—Total recover- able mod				I-4540-85.	
Gravimetric (extraction) Of and grease and non- polar material, mg/L:	413.1 1664A <sup>42</sup>	5520B [18th, 19th, 20th]³8. 5520B [18th, 19th, 20th] <sup>38</sup> .			
Hexane extractable mate- rial (HEM): n-Hexane ex- traction and gravimetry.					
Silica gel treated HEM (SGT-HEM) Silica gel treatment and gravimetry.	1664A 42				
<ol> <li>42. Organic carbon—Total (TOC). mg/L: Combustion or oxidation</li> </ol>	415.1	5310 B, C, or D [18th, 19th,	D2579-93 (A or B)		973.47.3 p. 14.24
43. Organic nitrogen (as N), mg/L: Total Kjeldahl N (Parameter		20th]			
31) minus ammonia N (Parameter 4) 44. Orthophosphate (as P), mgn					
Asorptic acid method: Automated or Marual single reagent	365.1 365.2	4500-P F [18th, 19th, 20th] 4500-P E 18th, 19th, 20th]	D515-88(A)	1-4601-85	973.563 973.553
Manual two reagent	365.3.				
Ad direct aspiration, or	2521 2522	3111 D [18th, 19th]			
46. Oxygen, dissolved, mg/L: Vinkler (Azide modification).	360.2	4500-0 C [18th, 19th, 20th]	D888-92(A)	L-1575-78ª	973,45B3
Electrode	360.1	4500-0 G [18th, 19th, 20th]	D888-92(B)	I-1576-78ª.	

§136.3

### 40 CFR Ch. I (7-1-05 Edition)

p. S2710 p. S2810 Moh. 34	Note 27.	Note 27.		Note 28.	973.553	00.010		Note 34	973.533	317 B <sup>17</sup>						
					1600 SE	L-4610-9148			I-3630-85		I-3750-85	I-1750-85.	I-3765-85.		I-3753-85.	
					D515-88(A)	D515-88(B)										
3111 B [18th, 19th]					4500-P B, 5 [18th, 19th, 20th) 4500-P E,18th, 19th, 20th] 4500-P E,18th, 10th, 20th]	[ 10.7 '10.01 '10.01 ] 1 1 00.04	3111 B [18th, 19th]		3111 B [18th, 19th] 3120 B [18th, 19th, 20th]. 3500-K B [20th] and 3500-	K D [18th, 19th].	2540 B [18th, 19th, 20th]	2540 C [18th, 19th, 20th]	2540 D 18th, 19th, 20th]	2540 F [18th, 19th, 20th].		3111 B [18th, 19th]
253.1 253.2	420.1	420.1	420.2.		365.2 365.2 or 365.3	365.4	255.1 		258.1 200.75		160.3	160.1	160.2	160.5	160.4	265.1
<ol> <li>Palladium—Total,<sup>4</sup> mg/L; Diges- tion<sup>4</sup> followed by: AA direct aspiration, or AA furmace</li> </ol>	48. Phenols, mg/L. Manual distillation <sup>28</sup>	Colorimetric Colorimetric (4 AAP) manual,	or. Automated <sup>19</sup>	50. Phosphorus—Total, mg/L:	Persuitate digestion fol- lowed by. Manual or	duction. Semi-automated block	digestor. 51. Platinum—Total, <sup>4</sup> mg/L: Diges- tion <sup>4</sup> followed by: A direct aspiration	52. Potassium—Total, <sup>4</sup> mg/L. Diges-	tion <sup>4</sup> followed by: AA direct aspiration ICP/AES Flame photometric, or	Colorimetric	53, Residue—Total, mg/L: Gravimetric, 103–105°	34. Residue-Interative, III.04. Gravinotrio, 1800 35. Residue-nonfilterable (1951)	mg.A.: Gravimetric, 103-105° post washing of residue	56. Residue - serueable, mg/L: Volumetric, (Imhoff cone), or oravimetric	57. Residue—Volatile, mg/L. Gravimetric, 550° 58. Rhodium-Total, mg/L. Diges-	pon 7 followed by: AA direct aspiration, or
				1			17	,				1	J			

### **Environmental Protection Agency**

§136.3

QAPP Addendum, 6/29/07 RP07-002 Musquapsink Brook Watershed Restoration Plan RP07-001 Tenakill Brook Watershed Restoration Plan

	Note 32.		Note 34.	Note 34.	974.27,3 p. 379 Note 34.	Note 33. ASL-CI), EPA-600/4-79-020.
		I-3850-78a	I-3860-85.	1-447(-97 <sup>50</sup> ,	L-3900-85 L-4471-9750	ns Laboratory—Cincinnati (Eh
D2330- <del>8</del> 8.			D1889-94(A)	D3373-93. D4190-94	D1691-95(A or B) D4190-94	vironmental Monitoring Syster
4500-5 <sup>-2</sup> D [18th, 19th, 20th] 4500-50 <sub>3</sub> - <sup>2</sup> B [18th, 19th, 20th] 5540 C [18th, 19th, 20th]	2550 B (18th, 19th, 20th). 3111 B (18th, 19th) 3120 B (18th, 19th, 20th).	3111 B [18th, 19th] 3113 B [18th, 19th] 3111 D [18th, 19th]	2130 B [18th, 19th, 20th]	3111 D [18th, 19th] 3120 B [18th, 19th, 20th] 3500-V B [20th] and 3500- V D [18th, 19th]	3111 B or C [18th, 19th] 3120 B [18th, 19th, 20th]	3500-Zn E (19th, 19th), 3500-Zn F (20th) and 3500-Zn F (19th), 19th), mental Protection Agency, En
376.2 377.4 425.1	170.1 279.1 209.75 200.75	282.1 282.2 200.75	283.2	286.1 286.2 200.75	289.1 289.2 200.75	Water and Wastes," Environ
Colorimetric (methylene blue) 67. Suffice (as SO <sub>3</sub> ), mg/L. Trimmetric (odine-iodate) 68. Surfactants, mg/L. (methylene <sup>1</sup>	80. Temperature. °C. 70. Thallum—Total, mg/L, Diges- bon4 blowed by. AA fumed apriation AA fumed apriation	<ol> <li>Med by: lowed by: AA finet aspiration</li> <li>AA finet aspiration</li> <li>AA funet.</li> <li>CPAES</li> <li>Ttanium—Tdai, mgA. Diges- bort followed by:</li> </ol>	AA furnace 73. Turbidicy, NTU: Nephelmetric 74. Vanadum-Tidal,4 mgL; Diges-	AA direct aspiration AA direct aspiration CP/AES DCP, of Colormethe (Galle Add) 75. ZhoTotal,4 mgL: Digeston4	followed by: A direct aspiration <sup>36</sup> AA furnes ICP/AESs DCP. <sup>35</sup> or	Colorimation (Dithrizone) or (Zincon) Table 18 Notes: 1 Methods for Chemical Analysis of 8 weed March 1983 and 1979 where a
	V		10			

**Environmental Protection Agency** 

§136.3

§136.3

20

spectively

Thermoly: "The barrowed method is that clear in Standard for the Examination of Water and Wastewater. Turn Freedoms 197, "The Collion, 1976. "The particular distribution of Water and Wastewater, "The Freedoms 197, "The Collion, 1976. "The control of the Participation methods for the Analysis, 1976 Handlook of Water Analysis, 1976 Handlook of Water Analysis, 1976 Handlook of Water Analysis, 1976 Handlook of Water Analysis, 1976 Handlook of Water Analysis, 1976 Handlook of Water Analysis, 1976 Handlook of Water Analysis, 1976 Handlook of Water Analysis, 1976 Handlook of Water Analysis, 1976 Handlook of Water Analysis, 1976 Handlook of Water Analysis, 1976 Handlook of Water Analysis, 1976 Handlook of Water Analysis, 1976 Handlook of Water Analysis, 1976 Handlook of Water Analysis, 1976 Handlook of Water Analysis, 1976 Handlook of Water Analysis, 1976 Handlook of Water Analysis, 1976 Handlook of Water Analysis, 1976 Handlook of Water Analysis, 1976 Handlook of Water Analysis, 1976 Handlook of Water Analysis, 1976 Handlook of Water Analysis, 1976 Handlook of Water Analysis, 1976 Handlook of Water Analysis, 1976 Handlook of Water Analysis, 1976 Handlook of Water Analysis, 1976 Handlook of Water Analysis, 1976 Handlook of Water Analysis, 1975 Apades and an Mathod 355, 118 Utation Analysis, 1072 Analysis, 1072 Analysis, 1072 Analysis, 1072 Analysis, 1072 Analysis, 1072 Analysis, 1072 Analysis, 1073 Analysis, 1073 Analysis, 1073 Analysis, 1073 Analysis, 1073 Analysis, 1073 Analysis, 1073 Analysis, 1073 Analysis, 1073 Analysis, 1073 Analysis, 1073 Analysis, 1073 Analysis, 1073 Analysis, 1073 Analysis, 1073 Analysis, 1073 Analysis, 1073 Analysis, 1073 Analysis, 1073 Analysis, 1073 Analysis, 1073 Analysis, 1073 Analysis, 1073 Analysis, 1073 Analysis, 1073 Analysis, 1073 Analysis, 1073 Analysis, 1073 Analysis, 1073 Analysis, 1073 Analysis, 1073 Analysis, 1073 Analysis, 1073 Analysis, 1073 Analysis, 1073 Analysis, 1073 Analysis, 1073 Analysis, 1073 Analysis, 1073 Ananalysis, 1074 Anandis, 2083 Analysis, 1074 Anandis, 2083

phy. Vol. 47. No. 5, pp. 421–426, 1970, revisits as an mrogramic halide Silver halides thissultate and sodium hydroxide to pH of 12, 4. Standards shourd he prepared in the same Journal of Chromatography, inadequate where silver ex-NaOH -S of sod and for the analysis of silver in industrial Phosphone by Cask-Upuld Chromatopachy. "Journal of Chromatopachy," Journal of Chromatopachy, "Journal of Chromatopachy," "Journal of Chromatopachy, "Journal of Chromatopachy," "Journal of Chromatopachy, "Journal of Chromatopachy," "Journal of Chromatopachy, "Journal of Chromatopachy," Journal of Chromatopachy, "Journal of Chromatopachy," "Journal of Chromatopachy, "Journal of Chromatopachy," Journal of Chromatopachy, "Journal of Ch 29 Approved method such as the bromice a Therefore, for levels of manner. For levels of a 30 The approved met Addle

40 CFR Ch. I (7-1-05 Edition)

#### **Environmental Protection Agency**

determination of total cyanide. Techniques of Watar-Resources investigations of the

adjusted to 0.25 N before colonmetric Measurement and Data Presentation

-Influential Factors Field

noutulos

B.F. Wat

and 335.5

Vdd 15

 <sup>4</sup>Nitropan, rotal repearant instruct instrument processions derived PLA case (Intervent Procession). Field repearation in the restance of commerce and the restance of commerce and restance and restance of commerce and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restance and restanc Servers H1, Fick JF and Smoot G F, "Water Fangement servers advances to use on types output waterim transmound servers and the servers and the server server advances of the servers and the secret servers advances of Natar Area Company. Loveland, C Carbos Area C Carbos A. Characto T. Gagero JT. 195.
2.5. Geological Method 8000; Hach Handook of Water Analysis, 1979, pages 2–231 and 2–333, Hach Chemical Company. Loveland, C O 80537.
2.8. Zhond, Method 8000; Hach Handook of Water Analysis, 1979, pages 2–231 and 2–333, Hach Chemical Company. Loveland, C 0 80537.
2.8. Zhond, Method 8000; Hach Handook of Water Analysis, 1979, pages 2–231 and 2–333, Hach Chemical Company. Loveland, C 0 80537.
2.8. Zhond, Method 8000; Hach Handook of Water Analysis, 1979, pages 2–231 and 2–333, Hach Chemical Company. Loveland, C 0 80537.
2.8. Zhond, Method 8000; Hach Handook of Water Analysis, 1979, pages 2–231 and 2–333, Hach Chemical Company. Loveland, D 800537.
2.8. Concerts of second second 2000; Hach Handook of Water Analysis, 1978, pages 2–231 and 2–333, Hach Chemical Company. Loveland, D 811, Thermo. Jameil Aah Approximative Analysis of Water and Waster, and Waster, Analysis of Water and Waster, and Waster, and Waster, Analysis, 1978, pages 2–231 and 2–333, Hach Chemical Company. Loveland, D 811, 2012, Analada 1931. Thermo. Jameil Aah Approximative Advances of Pacing Analysis of Water and Waster, Analysis of Company. Loveland, Actor Advances Analysis, 1978, Donoted Analysis of Water and Waster, and D 812, 2010, April 16, 1392. Available for Company. D of Material Fandook Chemical Experimentation. The Approximation Conflict Analysis of National Analysis (Advances Advances LE IC-LIST OF APPROVED TEST PROCEDURES FOR NON-PESTICIDE ORGANIC COMPOUNDS

21

		EPA method number	11		Other approved method	
Parameter 1	6C	GCMS	HPLC	Standard Methods [Edition(s)]	ASTM	Other
Acenaphthene	610	625 16258	610	644.0 B [18th 19th.	D4657-92	Note 9, p.27
2. Acenaphthy ene	610	625, 1625B	610	6440 5, 6410 B (1851,	D4657-92	Note 9, p.27
Adrolein	603	6244, 1624B		Track States		
L. Acrylonstrile	605	6244, 16245				
5. Anthracena	610	625, 1625B	610	5410 B, 5440 B (18th)	D4657-92	Note 9, p. 27

QAPP Addendum, 6/29/07 RP07-002 Musquapsink Brook Watershed Restoration Plan RP07-001 Tenakill Brook Watershed Restoration Plan

\$136.3

# Wet Weather Surface Water Sampling

Table II - Required Containers, Preservation Techniques, and Holding Times40 CFR Part 136.3July 1, 2005

RP07-002 MUSQUAPSINK BROOK WATERSHED RESTORATION PLAN & & RP07-001 TENAKILL BROOK WATERSHED RESTORATION PLAN

3544. Available from the American Society for Microbiology, 1752 N Street NW., Washington, DC 20036. Table IA, Note 22.

(58) USEPA. 2002. Method 1604: Total Coliforms and Escherichia coli (E. coli) in Water by Membrane Filtration using a Simultaneous Detection Technique (MI Medium). U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Water, Washington D.C. September 2002, EPA 821-R-02-024. Available from NTIS, PB2003-100129. Table IA, Note 22.

(59) USEPA. 2002. Method 1600: Enterococci in Water by Membrane Filtration using membrane-Enterococcus Indoxyl-β-D-Glucoside Agar (mEI). U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Water, Wash-ington D.C. September 2002, EPA-821-R-02-022. Available from NTIS, PB2003-100127. Table IA, Note 25.

(60) USEPA. 2001. Method 1622: Cryptosporidium in Water by Filtration/ IMS/FA. U.S. Environmental Protec-tion Agency, Office of Water, Wash-ington, DC April 2001, EPA-821-R-01-026.

Available from NTIS, PB2002-108709.

 

 Table IA, Note 26.

 (61)
 USEPA. 2001. Method 1623:

 Cryptosporidium and Giardia in Water

 Filtration/IMS/FA. U.S. by Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Water, Washington, DC April 2001, EPA-821-R-01-025. Available from NTIS, PB2002-108710. Table IA, Note 27. Washington, DC April 2001, 1-R-01-025. Available from

(62) AOAC. 1995. Official Methods of Analysis of AOAC International, 16th Edition, Volume I, Chapter 17. AOAC International. 481 North Frederick Avenue, Suite 500, Gaithersburg, Maryland 20877-2417. Table IA, Note 11.

(c) Under certain circumstances the Regional Administrator or the Director in the Region or State where the discharge will occur may determine for a particular discharge that additional 40 CFR Ch. I (7-1-05 Edition)

parameters or pollutants must be reported. Under such circumstances, additional test procedures for analysis of pollutants may be specified by the Regional Administrator, or the Director upon the recommendation of the Director of the Environmental Monitoring Systems Laboratory-Cincinnati.

(d) Under certain circumstances, the Administrator may approve, upon recommendation by the Director, Environmental Monitoring Systems Laboratory-Cincinnati, additional alternate test procedures for nationwide use.

(e) Sample preservation procedures, container materials, and maximum allowable holding times for parameters cited in Tables IA, IB, IC, ID, and IE are prescribed in Table II. Any person may apply for a variance from the prescribed preservation techniques, container materials, and maximum holding times applicable to samples taken from a specific discharge. Applications for variances may be made by letters to the Regional Administrator in the Region in which the discharge will occur. Sufficient data should be provided to assure such variance does not adversely affect the integrity of the sample. Such data will be forwarded, by the Regional Administrator, to the Director of the Environmental Monitoring Systems Laboratory-Cincinnati, Ohio for technical review and recommendations for action on the variance application. Upon receipt of the recommendations from the Director of the Environmental Monitoring Systems Laboratory, the Regional Administrator may grant a variance applicable to the specific charge to the applicant. A decision to approve or deny a variance will be made within 90 days of receipt of the application by the Regional Administrator.

TABLE II-REQUIRED CONTAINERS	, PRESERVAT	TION TECHNIQUES, AND HO	LDING TIMES
Parameter No /name	Container <sup>1</sup>	Preservation 2, 3	Maximum holding ti

Parameter No /name	Container <sup>1</sup>	Preservation 2,3	Maximum holding time 4
Table IA-Bacteria Tests: 1-5 Coliform, total decal, and <i>E. coli</i>	PP,G	Cool. <10 °C. 0.0008%	6 hours.
6 Fecal streptococci 7 Enterococci Table IA Brotocca Tacta	PP, G PP, G	Cool, <10° 0.0008% Na <sub>2</sub> S <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub> <sup>5</sup> Cool, <10° 0.0008% Na <sub>2</sub> S <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub> <sup>5</sup>	6 hours. 6 hours.
8 Cryptosporidium 9 Giardia	LDPE	0-8 °C 0-8 °C	96 hours. <sup>17</sup> 96 hours. <sup>17</sup>
Table IA—Aquatic Toxicity Tests: 6-10 Toxicity, acute and chronic	PG	Cool 4 ºC 16	36 hours

### **Environmental Protection Agency**

#### §136.3

#### TABLE II-REQUIRED CONTAINERS, PRESERVATION TECHNIQUES, AND HOLDING TIMES-Continued

Parameter No /name	Container <sup>1</sup>	Preservation 2.3	Maximum holding time 4
Table IB—Inomanic Tests:			
1 Acidity	IP G	Cool 4°C	14 days
2 Alkalinity	PG	do	Do
Ammonia	PG	Cool. 4°C. H <sub>2</sub> SO <sub>4</sub> to pH<2	28 days
9. Biochemical oxygen demand	G	Cool. 4°C	48 hours
10. Boron	P. PFTE, or	HNO3 TO pH<2	6 months.
	Quartz.	-	
11. Bromide	P. G.	None required	28 days.
14. Biochemical oxygen demand, carbonaceous	P. G	Cool. 4°C	48 hours.
15. Chemical oxygen demand	P. G	Cool, 4ºC, H2SO4 to pH<2	28 days.
16. Chloride	P. G	None required	Do.
17. Chlorine, total residual	P.G	do	Analyze immediately.
21. Color	P.G	Cool. 4°C	48 hours.
23-24. Cyanide, total and amenable to	P. G	Cool, 4°C, NaOH to pH>12,	14 days.6
chlorination.	10	0.6g ascorbic acid 5.	
25. Fluoride	P	None required	28 days.
27. Hardness	P. G	HNO3 to pH<2, H2SO4 to pH<2	6 months
(28 Vydrogen ion (pH)	P.G	None required	Analyze immediately
31, 33. Kjeldahl and organic nitrogen	PG	Cool, 4°C, H2SO4 to pH<2	28 days.
Metals.			
18. Chromium VI7	P. G	Cool. 4 °C	24 hours.
35. Mercury 17	P. G	HNO <sub>3</sub> to pH<2	28 days.
3. 5-8. 12.13. 19. 20. 22. 26. 29. 30. 32-34.	P.G	do	6 months.
36. 37. 45. 47. 51. 52. 58-60. 62. 63. 70-72.		-	
74 75 Metals except boron, chromium VI			
and mercury7	-		
38 Dirate	P	Cool 4°C	48 hours
39 Nitrate-nitrite	E G	Cool 4ºC HaSO4 to pH<2	28 days
40 litrite	PG	Cool 4°C	48 hours.
41. Oil and grease	G	Cool to 4°C. HCl or HoSO4 to	28 days.
		pH<2.	
42. Organic Carbon	P. G	Cool to 4 °C HC1 or H2SO4 or	28 days.
-	and a second or a	H <sub>2</sub> PO4 to pH<2	100 00000
44 Orthophosphate	PG	Filter immediately, Cool, 4°C	48 bours
46 Oxvgen. Dissolved Probe	G Bottle and	None required	Analyze immediately
9	top.		
47 Winkler	do	Fix on site and store in dark	8 hours
48 Phenols	G only	Cool 4°C H-SO4 to pH<2	28 days
49 Phosphonus (elemental)	G	Cool 49C	48 hours
50 Prosphorus total	PG	Cool 4°C HaSO4 to pH<2	28 days
53 Residue total	P G	Cool 49C	7 days
54 Residue Filterable	P.G	do	7 days
(55 Residue, Nonfilterable (TSS)	PA	do	7 days
56 Residue Settleable	E G	do	48 hours
57 Residue volatile	PG	do	7 days
61 Silica	P PETE or	Cool 4 °C	28 days
or onda	Quartz	0001, 4 0	20 0095.
64 Specific conductance	P.G.	do	Do
85 Sulfate	PG	do	Do
66 Sulfida	P.C.	Cool 49C add zing acatata	7 daus
oo. Sanae	1. V	plue eodium hudrovide to	r days.
		pH>0	
67 Sulfite	PG	None required	Analyze immediately
68. Surfactante	P.G	Cool 4°C	A8 bours
60 Temperature	PC	None required	Apaluza
73 Turbidity	PG	Cool 4°C	48 bours
Table IC-Organic Tests 8	F. W. minimum	0001.4 0	40110013.
13 18_20 22 24_28 34_37 30_43 45_47	G Toton	Cool 4 9C 0.008% Na-S-0-5	14 days
56 76 104 105 109 111 112 Durpophia	lined con	0001, 4 0, 0.00070 14820203	14 Gays.
Helocarbone	hum		
6 57 106 Dumeshie aromatic hydrocarbone	do.	Cool 4 9C 0.008% Na.S.O. 5	Do
o, or, roo. Pulgeable alomatic hydrocarbons		HCI to pH29	00.
2. 4. Assolation and a source statistics	1.44	Cool 4 90, 0,00006 Marcio 5	De
5, 4. Acrolem and acrylonitine		adjust all to 4 510	00.
22 20 44 40 52 77 20 21 02 400 443	G Toton	Cool 4 9C 0.009% No.5 0.5	7 days until extraction
25, 50, 44, 49, 55, 77, 60, 61, 96, 100, 112. Decesion	G, Tellon-	C001, 4 °C, 0.000% Na2S2O3 5	A doub offer outraction;
Friend/S **	ined cap.		40 days after extrac-
7 20 Descriding a ll	1943	4.5	7 daug until autraat 12
7, 50. Denzidines"	0D	Cast 4 90	7 days until extraction.13
14, 17, 48, 50-52. Phthalate esters 11	do	C001, 4 *C	/ days until extraction;
			40 days after extrac-
	5	5	tion.

#### \$136.3

#### 40 CFR Ch. I (7-1-05 Edition)

TABLE II-REQUIRED CONTAINERS, PRESERVATION TECHNIQUES, AND HOLDING TIMES-Continued

Parameter No /name	Container !	Freservation 2.3	Maximum holding time 4
82–84. Nifrosamines II 14	do	Cool, 4 °C, 0 008% Na <sub>2</sub> S <sub>2</sub> O <sub>2</sub> , <sup>5</sup> store in dark	Do.
98-94 PCBs11	, do	Cool 4 °C	Do
<ol> <li>54, 55, 76, 79 Nitroaromatics and isophorone.11</li> </ol>	do	Cool, 4 PC, 0.008% NegSt03,5 store in dark	Do
<ol> <li>2, 5, 8–12, 32, 33, 58, 50, 74, 76, 99, 101 Polynuclear aromatic hydrocarbons<sup>10</sup>.</li> </ol>			Do.
15, 16, 21, 31, 87 Haloethers 11	d0-	Cool, 4 °C, 0.008% Na2S2035	Do
<ol> <li>35–37, 53–55, 73, 107 Chroninsted hydro- carbons<sup>1)</sup></li> <li>60–62, 66–72, 85, 86, 95–97, 102, 103. CDDs/ CDFs<sup>11</sup></li> </ol>	, do	Cool. 4 °C	Do
aqueous: field and lab preservation.	Ģ	Cool, 0-4 %C, pH<9, 0.008% NapSy01*	1 year
Solids, mixed phase, and tissue field preserva- tion	do	Cool. <4 "C	7 days
Solids, mixed phase, and tissue lab preceiva- tion	90	Freeze, c 10 %	1 year
Table ID—Pesticides Tests		A 172-971-02	10 Sec. 1
1-70 Pesticides 11	do	Cool, 4°C, pH 5-914	Do
able IE-Radiological Testi			
1-5 Alpha, beta and radium	P.G	HNO( to pH<2	6 months:

 1-5. Alpha, beta and radium
 P, G
 HNOs to pH<2</td>
 6 months:

 Table II Notes
 Polystylene (P) or glass (G). For microbiology, plastic sample containers must be made of stenizable materials (polypropulene or other autodravable plastic).
 \*5 simple preservations should be performed immediately upon sample collection. For composite chemical samples each aliquot
stoud be preserved at the time of collection. When use of an automated sampler makes if impossible to preserve each aliquot
stoud be preserved into Mizz doous Materials Regulations (49 CFR) part 172). The person offering such material to than somple is to be snipped by common carrier or sent through the United States Maik, it must comply with the Department of Transportation Buzzed by public such compliance. For the preservation requirements of Table II, the Office of Hazardous Materials
contained to the state and (NCG) in water solutions at concentrations of 0.04% by weight or less (pil about 162 or
greater). Suttinc acid (H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>) in water solutions at concentrations of 0.04% by weight or less (pil about 162 or
greater). Nucl acid (HO) in water solutions at concentrations of 0.04% by weight or less (pil about 162 or
greater). Nucl acid (H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>) in water solutions of 0.03% by weight or less (pil about 1.52 or
greater). Suttinc acid (H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>) in water solutions at concentrations of 0.04% by weight or
less (pil about 1.5 or
greater). Nucl acid acid solutions at concentrations of 0.03% by weight or less (pil about 1.62 or
greater), was date on nile to show that far the pecific types of samples under states are stable for the inage interviewe and
solution (Hydrovide (NAOH) in water solutions at concentrations of 0.03% by weight or less (pil about 1.62 or
greater), was date on nile to show that the necessary to maintain as maple site of samples and the tores preseed anile to betable to the material state are
additied pr

dine) <sup>13</sup> If 1,2-diphenylhydrazine is likely to be present, adjust the pH of the sample to 4 0±0.2 to prevent management to benzi-

dine <sup>13</sup> Extracts may be stored up to 7 days before analysis if storage is conducted under an mert (oxidant-free) atmosphere <sup>14</sup> For the analysis of diphenylnitrosamine, add 0.008% Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> and adjust pH to 7~10 with NaOH within 24 hours of sam-

<sup>14</sup>For the analysis of diphenylnitrosamine, add 0.008% Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> and adjust pH to 7–10 with NaDH within 2a hours or sem-pling. <sup>15</sup>The pH adjustment may be performed upon receipt at the laboratory and may be omitted if the samples are extracted within <sup>72</sup> hours of collection. For the analysis of addim, add 0.008% Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> <sup>16</sup> Sufficient ice should be placed with the samples in the stripping container to ensure that ice is still present when the samples plas arriva the laboratory. However, even if loci is present when the samples arrive, it is necessary to immediately measure the tomperature of the samples and continn that the 4C tomperature maximum has not been exceeded. In the isolated cases whore it can be documented that this holding temperature can not be met, the permittee can be given the option of on-site festing or can request a variance. The request for a variance should include supportive data which show that the lociectly of the effluent samples is not induced because of the increased holding temperature. <sup>17</sup> Samples collected for the determination of trace level mercury (100 rgd), using EPA Method 1631 must be collected in hight-preservation may be extended to 28 days if a sample is ovidized in the samples bolic. Samples collected are dissolved trace pred in a designated clean area in the field in accordance with procedures given in Method 1652. Samples that have been col-lected for determination of total cevel mercury must be many within 90 days of samples that have been col-lected for determination of total cevel theory of the sample within 90 days of samples that have been col-lected for determination of total cevel theory with be analyzed within 90 days of samples that have been col-lected for determination of total cevel theory when the other of the samples bolicetion.

Appendix D: Tabulated Water Quality Monitoring Data

		Flow Rate	pН	DO	Temperature	Fecal Coliform	E. coli	TKN		NH3- N		NO <sub>2</sub> - N		NO3- N		PO4 <sup>3-</sup> Dissolved	ТР		TSS	
Date	Station ID	cfs	<i>S.U.</i>	( <i>mg/L</i> )	deg C	col/100 ml	col/100 ml	( <i>mg/L</i> )		( <i>mg/L</i> )		( <i>mg/L</i> )		( <i>mg/L</i> )		( <i>mg/L</i> )	( <i>mg/L</i> )		( <i>mg/L</i> )	
5/24/2007	MB6	10.7	6.62	6.09	16.80	615	360	0.50	ND	0.50	ND	0.005	ND	1.300		0.03	0.06		19.00	
5/31/2007	MB6	3.9	7.04	6.60	18.70	2600	660	0.50	ND	0.50	ND	0.005	ND	1.100		0.03	0.05		9.00	
6/7/2007	MB6	7.6	7.20	6.30	16.40	720	570	1.10		0.50	ND	0.005	ND	1.000		0.06	0.15		2.00	ND
6/14/2007	MB6	9.3	7.35	NS	16.70	760	1200						1	Racteria S	amnlin	a Only				
6/19/2007	MB6	7.8	7.02	6.57	20.40	1040	580							Dacteria 5	ampin	goiliy				
6/21/2007	MB6	7.7	7.10	6.20	18.40	3900	610	0.50	ND	0.50	ND	0.005	ND	1.400		0.07	0.04		2.00	ND
6/28/2007	MB6	31.4	7.00	6.80	22.30	650	38000						]	Bacteria S	amplin	g Only				
7/5/2007	MB6	33.4	7.11	8.14	19.00	4300	3700	0.50	ND	0.50	ND	0.005	ND	1.400		0.05	0.11		18.00	
7/12/2007	MB6	25.8	6.90	NS	23.10	60000	10000													
7/19/2007	MB6	27.4	4.77	7.24	22.30	11000	5300						1	Bacteria S	amnlin	o Only				
7/24/2007	MB6	20.3	6.76	7.57	19.60	11000	2600							Ducteria D	ampini	5 Olly				
7/26/2007	MB6	20.8	7.10	7.68	21.00	627	380													
8/2/2007	MB6	19.1	7.27	7.61	21.30	587	410	0.50	ND	0.50	ND	0.005	ND	2.000		0.08	0.10		2.00	ND
8/9/2007	MB6	25.1	7.20	7.20	24.10	900	480						]	Bacteria S	amplin	g Only				
8/16/2007	MB6	14.1	7.39	7.41	20.70	2500	760	0.50	ND	0.50	ND	0.005	ND	2.300		0.15	0.19		6.00	
8/23/2007	MB6	19.5	7.11	8.10	18.10	4300	560													
8/30/2007	MB6	4.3	6.75	7.77	19.50	660	380						1	Bacteria S	amnlin	o Only				
9/13/2007	MB6	17.1	6.90	6.09	18.20	720	490							Ducteria D	ampini	5 Olly				
9/27/2007	MB6	4.4	6.85	5.70	20.10	500	210								-		 			
10/10/2007	MB6	17.4	6.49	5.66	17.70	31000	20000	0.82		0.21		0.027		1.350		0.09	0.16		11.00	
10/10/2007	MB6	5.9	7.01	7.56	17.30	27000	28000	0.99		0.21		0.024		1.350		0.09	0.16		5.00	
10/11/2007	MB6	5.9	6.36	6.35	17.90	3200	3400	0.71		0.11		0.005	ND	0.005	ND	0.06	0.01	ND	1.00	
10/25/2007	MB6	6.1	6.79	6.32	15.00	70000	1000	2.00		0.50	ND	0.005	ND	0.62		0.22	0.29		NS	
n		23	23	21	23	23	23	11		11		11		11		11	11		10	
min		3.9	4.77	5.66	15.00	500	210	0.50		0.11		0.01		0.01		0.03	0.01		1.00	
mean*		15.0	6.87	6.90	19.33	10373	5202	0.78		0.41		0.01		1.26		0.08	0.12		7.50	
max		33.4	7.39	8.14	24.10	70000	38000	2.00		0.50		0.03		2.30		0.22	0.29		19.00	
std. dev.		9.3	0.5	0.78	2.32	19115	9935	0.46		0.15		0.01		0.614		0.06	0.082		6.65	

		Flow Rate	pН	DO	Temperature	Fecal Coliform	E. coli	TKN		NH3- N		NO <sub>2</sub> - N		NO3- N		PO4 <sup>3-</sup> Dissolved	ТР		TSS	
Date	Station ID	cfs	<i>S.U.</i>	( <i>mg/L</i> )	deg C	col/100 ml	col/100 ml	( <i>mg/L</i> )		( <i>mg/L</i> )		( <i>mg/L</i> )		( <i>mg/L</i> )		( <i>mg/L</i> )	( <i>mg/L</i> )		( <i>mg/L</i> )	
5/24/2007	MB5	11.9	7.04	4.98	16.70	880	400	0.50	ND	0.50	ND	0.005	ND	1.200		0.03	0.07		5.00	
5/31/2007	MB5	3.5	6.48	2.86	17.80	580	570	0.50	ND	0.50	ND	0.005	ND	1.000		0.03	0.06		2.00	ND
6/7/2007	MB5	4.7	6.70	4.30	15.80	220	550	0.50	ND	0.50	ND	0.005	ND	0.900		0.04	0.12		2.00	ND
6/14/2007	MB5	6.1	6.97	NS	16.20	800	1900						B	cteria Sar	nnling	Only				
6/19/2007	MB5	8.5	6.96	3.34	19.50	980	680				-		Da	icteria Sai	nping	Olliy	 			
6/21/2007	MB5	5.2	6.90	4.30	18.40	5900	2600	0.50	ND	0.50	ND	0.005	ND	1.100		0.05	0.01	ND	5.00	
6/28/2007	MB5	20.5	6.80	4.90	23.10	680	33000						Ва	cteria Sar	npling	Only				
7/5/2007	MB5	29.6	6.74	4.88	20.30	5100	6000	1.00		0.50	ND	0.005	ND	0.005	ND	0.04	0.10		16.00	
7/12/2007	MB5	16.9	6.90	NS	23.10	58000	20000													
7/19/2007	MB5	16.9	6.30	5.13	21.10	3900	5700						B	cteria Sar	nnling	Only				
7/24/2007	MB5	20.2	6.35	6.13	20.00	3900	2900						Dt	leteria Sai	npnng	Olliy				
7/26/2007	MB5	20.0	6.71	6.07	21.60	1060	540				-									
8/2/2007	MB5	19.4	7.12	5.91	22.40	600	420	0.50	ND	0.50	ND	0.005	ND	0.005	ND	0.29	0.35		2.00	ND
8/9/2007	MB5	22.2	7.00	7.00	23.00	1680	120				-		Ba	cteria Sar	npling	Only				
8/16/2007	MB5	15.8	7.32	6.02	20.90	740	590	0.50	ND	0.50	ND	0.005	ND	2.800		0.27	0.30		2.00	ND
8/23/2007	MB5	16.8	6.92	6.86	17.05	1220	760													
8/30/2007	MB5	2.4	6.67	5.36	19.90	124	460						Ba	cteria Sar	nnling	Only				
9/13/2007	MB5	16.7	6.77	5.05	17.50	660	1300						20	eterra par		01119				
9/27/2007	MB5	3.4	6.40	4.00	18.70	106	780				1	1			1					
10/10/2007	MB5	12.6	7.03	3.25	18.50	33000	33000	0.99		0.15		0.020		0.700		0.05	0.12		3.00	
10/10/2007	MB5	5.2	6.85	3.86	18.30	26000	21000	1.16		0.21		0.018		0.630		NS	0.14		NS	
10/11/2007	MB5	2.0	6.88	4.64	17.30	5200	5100	0.71		0.10		0.005	ND	1.110		0.05	0.01	ND	6.00	
10/25/2007	MB5	5.4	6.63	3.21	14.80	1100	1700	0.50	ND	0.50	ND	0.005	ND	0.01	ND	0.01	0.10		2.00	ND
n		23	23	21	23	23	23	11		11		11		11		10	11		10	
min		2.0	6.30	2.86	14.80	106	120	0.50		0.10		0.01		0.01		0.01	0.01		2.00	
mean*		12.4	6.80	4.86	19.22	6627	6090	0.67		0.41		0.01		0.86		0.09	0.12		4.50	
max		29.6	7.32	7.00	23.10	58000	33000	1.16		0.50		0.02		2.80		0.29	0.35		16.00	
std. dev.		7.8	0.25	1.19	2.44	13896	10197	0.26		0.16		0.01		0.793		0.10	0.11		4.33	

		Flow Rate	рН	DO	Temperature	Fecal Coliform	E. coli	TKN		NH3- N		NO <sub>2</sub> - N		NO3- N		PO4 <sup>3-</sup> Dissolved		ТР		TSS	
Date	Station ID	cfs	S.U.	( <i>mg/L</i> )	deg C	col/100 ml	col/100 ml	( <i>mg/L</i> )		( <i>mg/L</i> )		( <i>mg/L</i> )		( <i>mg/L</i> )		( <i>mg/L</i> )		( <i>mg/L</i> )		( <i>mg/L</i> )	
5/24/2007	MB4	8.7	7.17	5.63	16.90	1060	410	1.01		0.50	ND	0.005	ND	1.300		0.03		0.07		8.00	
5/31/2007	MB4	2.6	6.64	3.20	18.10	620	560	0.50	ND	0.50	ND	0.005	ND	1.200		0.03		0.06		6.00	
6/7/2007	MB4	5.5	7.20	4.30	15.80	3200	760	0.50	ND	0.50	ND	0.005	ND	1.100		0.04		0.11		5.00	
6/14/2007	MB4	5.7	7.15	NS	16.10	640	890						Ba	cteria San	mling	Only					ľ
6/19/2007	MB4	5.8	7.03	4.80	19.60	660	630						Da		iipiing	Olly					
6/21/2007	MB4	7.8	7.20	4.50	17.80	4000	2500	0.50	ND	0.50	ND	0.005	ND	1.300		0.01		0.07		2.00	ND
6/28/2007	MB4	16.5	6.90	5.30	23.10	580	11000						Ba	cteria San	npling	Only					
7/5/2007	MB4	24.9	6.87	6.50	20.70	3800	3800	0.50	ND	0.50	ND	0.005	ND	0.660		0.03		0.11		22.00	
7/12/2007	MB4	12.1	6.90	NS	23.20	49000	24000														ľ
7/19/2007	MB4	12.1	6.28	6.01	22.20	3400	8000						Ba	cteria San	nnling	Only					
7/24/2007	MB4	18.5	6.93	6.15	20.10	3400	2800						Du	eterra ban	ipiine	, only					
7/26/2007	MB4	18.9	6.85	6.50	21.00	1160	610					1					r				
8/2/2007	MB4	17.4	7.26	6.36	22.60	780	460	0.50	ND	0.50	ND	0.005	ND	0.660		0.29		0.35		2.00	ND
8/9/2007	MB4	22.6	7.20	5.60	23.40	1670	160				1	1	Ba	cteria San	npling	Only		n			
8/16/2007	MB4	15.8	7.38	6.35	21.00	420	460	0.50	ND	0.50	ND	0.005	ND	2.900		0.26		0.03		4.00	
8/23/2007	MB4	17.8	6.91	6.96	17.40	900	680														
8/30/2007	MB4	5.6	6.58	5.12	18.60	720	310						Ba	cteria San	noling	Only					
9/13/2007	MB4	15.3	6.92	5.30	17.90	4400	2100	-							-re	,,					
9/27/2007	MB4	2.7	6.67	4.74	18.50	410	270					1					r				
10/10/2007	MB4	9.8	5.84	4.62	18.70	20000	25000	0.87		0.14		0.019		0.800		0.05		0.11		3.00	
10/10/2007	MB4	3.4	6.98	6.35	18.60	21000	19000	0.95		0.17		0.017		0.790		0.08		0.11		19.00	
10/11/2007	MB4	1.8	6.72	4.25	17.30	4200	4000	0.76		0.11		0.005	ND	1.350		0.05		0.01	ND	11.00	
10/25/2007	MB4	5.2	6.61	3.01	14.30	1160	2200	0.50	ND	0.50	ND	0.005	ND	0.52		0.01		0.08		2.00	ND
n		23	23	21	23	23	23	11		11		11		11		11		11		11	
min		1.8	5.84	3.01	14.30	410	160	0.50		0.11		0.01		0.52		0.01		0.01		2.00	<u> </u>
mean*		11.1	6.88	5.31	19.26	5530	4809	0.64		0.40		0.01		1.14		0.08		0.10		7.64	
max		24.9	7.38	6.96	23.40	49000	25000	1.01		0.50		0.02		2.90		0.29		0.35		22.00	
std. dev.		6.9	0.35	1.09	2.55	10975	7606	0.21		0.17		0.01		0.654		0.10		0.09		6.98	

		Flow Rate	pН	DO	Temperature	Fecal Coliform	E. coli	TKN		NH3- N		NO <sub>2</sub> - N		NO3- N		PO4 <sup>3-</sup> Dissolved		ТР		TSS	
Date	Station ID	cfs	<i>S.U</i> .	( <i>mg/L</i> )	deg C	col/100 ml	col/100 ml	( <i>mg/L</i> )		( <i>mg/L</i> )		( <i>mg/L</i> )		( <i>mg/L</i> )		( <i>mg/L</i> )		( <i>mg/L</i> )		( <i>mg/L</i> )	
5/24/2007	MB3	4.4	7.36	7.30	19.20	433	260	0.50	ND	0.50	ND	0.005	ND	1.100		0.03		0.05		2.00	
5/31/2007	MB3	1.2	7.06	4.85	21.10	840	530	0.50	ND	0.50	ND	0.005	ND	0.960		0.02		0.04		7.00	
6/7/2007	MB3	3.3	7.20	4.20	17.40	1000	540	0.50	ND	0.50	ND	0.005	ND	0.910		0.04		0.09		4.00	
6/14/2007	MB3	3.8	7.48	NS	17.40	580	740						F	Racteria Sa	mnling	Only					
6/19/2007	MB3	2.3	7.28	6.70	22.30	700	660		-						mpning	Olliy					
6/21/2007	MB3	2.5	7.50	6.40	19.40	3400	930	0.50	ND	0.50	ND	0.005	ND	0.730		0.03		0.09		13.00	
6/28/2007	MB3	7.2	7.60	7.00	25.20	120	5400		-				F	Bacteria Sa	mpling	Only					-
7/5/2007	MB3	8.9	7.44	7.71	22.40	3600	4600	0.50	ND	0.50	ND	0.005	ND	0.005	ND	0.02		0.07		13.00	
7/12/2007	MB3	4.8	7.40	NS	23.20	44000	5100														
7/19/2007	MB3	4.8	6.52	6.54	23.90	2000	2000						F	Racteria Sa	mnling	Only					
7/24/2007	MB3	6.5	7.21	7.71	20.80	2000	2200							Jacteria Ba	mpnng	Olly					
7/26/2007	MB3	1.9	6.99	6.75	22.40	760	340								-						
8/2/2007	MB3	1.5	7.45	6.64	23.30	310	160	0.50	ND	0.50	ND	0.005	ND	2.900		0.04		0.08		4.00	
8/9/2007	MB3	3.7	7.50	7.00	24.60	706	460		-				I	Bacteria Sa	mpling	Only					
8/16/2007	MB3	1.2	7.48	6.43	21.80	260	270	0.50	ND	0.50	ND	0.005	ND	0.560		0.01	ND	0.03		22.00	
8/23/2007	MB3	2.3	7.13	6.91	18.80	1300	860														
8/30/2007	MB3	1.3	6.80	7.87	20.30	627	580						F	Bacteria Sa	mnling	Only					
9/13/2007	MB3	1.9	6.87	4.63	17.50	4100	2000						-	actoria se	pe	omy					
9/27/2007	MB3	0.8	6.72	4.98	19.50	420	260		1			n									
10/10/2007	MB3	3.2	6.94	5.72	20.00	7700	6600	0.74		0.09		0.008		0.260		0.01		0.06		3.00	
10/10/2007	MB3	1.3	6.99	5.22	19.90	9400	7800	0.75		0.11		0.008		0.270		0.01		0.05		2.00	
10/11/2007	MB3	0.4	6.52	6.09	17.90	870	790	0.54		0.08		0.005	ND	0.560		0.02		0.01	ND	1.00	
10/25/2007	MB3	2.2	6.67	6.32	14.40	120	560	0.50	ND	0.50	ND	0.005	ND	0.94		0.05		0.13		2.00	ND
n		23	23	21	23	23	23	11		11		11		11		11		11		11	
min		0.4	6.52	4.20	14.40	120	160	0.50		0.08		0.01		0.01		0.01		0.01		1.00	
mean*		3.1	7.14	6.33	20.55	3706	1897	0.55		0.39		0.01		0.84		0.03		0.06		6.64	
max		8.9	7.60	7.87	25.20	44000	7800	0.75		0.50		0.01		2.90		0.05		0.13		22.00	
std. dev.		2.2	0.336	1.05	2.68	9106	2294	0.10		0.19		0.00		0.766		0.01		0.034		6.64	

		Flow Rate	pН	DO	Temperature	Fecal Coliform	E. coli	TKN		NH3- N		NO <sub>2</sub> - N		NO3- N		PO <sub>4</sub> <sup>3-</sup> Dissolved		ТР		TSS	
Date	Station ID	cfs	<i>S.U.</i>	( <i>mg/L</i> )	deg C	col/100 ml	col/100 ml	( <i>mg/L</i> )		( <i>mg/L</i> )		( <i>mg/L</i> )		( <i>mg/L</i> )		(mg/L)		( <i>mg/L</i> )		( <i>mg/L</i> )	
5/24/2007	MB2	1.5	7.28	6.95	20.50	280	170	0.50	ND	0.50	ND	0.005	ND	1.100		0.03		0.06		7.00	
5/31/2007	MB2	0.8	7.42	4.90	23.50	2000	680	0.50	ND	0.50	ND	0.005	ND	1.000		0.02		0.05		16.00	
6/7/2007	MB2	0.9	6.60	6.30	19.60	2100	190	0.50	ND	0.50	ND	0.005	ND	0.800		0.03		0.11		11.00	
6/14/2007	MB2	3.0	8.20	NS	19.50	4400	460						Bac	teria Sam	nling ()	nlv					
6/19/2007	MB2	1.6	7.89	7.43	24.60	480	620				-		Duc		ping 0	iiiy					
6/21/2007	MB2	1.0	7.90	6.80	6.80	1600	730	0.50	ND	0.50	ND	0.005	ND	0.480		0.04		0.07		9.00	1
6/28/2007	MB2	1.9	7.80	7.90	25.20	60	1300				-		Bac	teria Sam	pling O	nly					
7/5/2007	MB2	4.5	7.75	8.12	23.30	230	280	2.50		0.50	ND	0.005	ND	0.005	ND	0.01		0.06		11.00	
7/12/2007	MB2	2.3	7.80	NS	24.90	12000	2200														
7/19/2007	MB2	2.3	6.15	6.04	25.20	493	230						Bac	teria Sam	nling ()	nlv					
7/24/2007	MB2	2.5	7.58	8.11	21.80	493	390						Due	terra Barri	ping o	iii y					
7/26/2007	MB2	0.8	8.13	8.15	24.90	156	60		I				I				1	· · · · ·			
8/2/2007	MB2	0.8	7.56	5.90	26.50	106	120	0.50	ND	0.50	ND	0.005	ND	2.800		0.04		0.09		9.00	
8/9/2007	MB2	1.4	7.90	7.30	26.20	538	420		1				Bac	teria Sam	pling O	nly	1			T	
8/16/2007	MB2	0.4	8.44	6.93	24.50	800	370	0.50	ND	0.50	ND	0.005	ND	0.005	ND	0.01		0.05		10.00	L
8/23/2007	MB2	1.1	6.89	6.60	20.00	230	190														ľ
8/30/2007	MB2	0.3	8.11	7.78	23.50	680	140						Bac	teria Sam	nling ()	nlv					
9/13/2007	MB2	0.6	7.05	4.79	20.60	3200	540								r8 -	)					
9/27/2007	MB2	0.3	6.98	4.63	21.70	1600	150		1				1				1			T	
10/10/2007	MB2	2.2	7.90	0.21	21.20	420	470	0.81		0.09		0.005	ND	0.005	ND	0.01		0.05		4.00	
10/10/2007	MB2	2.0	7.90	0.19	21.20	340	350	0.82		0.09		0.005	ND	0.005	ND	0.02		0.05		4.00	
10/11/2007	MB2	0.1	8.19	0.24	19.70	350	370	0.92		0.08		0.006		0.270		0.02		0.08		15.00	
10/25/2007	MB2	2.1	6.82	6.11	16.30	1500	600	0.50	ND	0.50	ND	0.005	ND	1.10		0.06		0.13		2.00	ND
n		23	23	21	23	23	23	11		11		11		11		11		11		11	
min		0.1	6.15	0.19	6.80	60	60	0.50		0.08		0.01		0.01		0.01		0.05		2.00	
mean*		1.5	7.58	5.78	21.79	1481	480	0.78		0.39		0.01		0.69	ļ	0.03		0.07	$\square$	8.91	J
max		4.5	8.44	8.15	26.50	12000	2200	2.50		0.50		0.01		2.80	ļ	0.06		0.13	$\square$	16.00	J
std. dev.		1.0	0.58	2.56	4.18	2538	463	0.59		0.19		0.00		0.836		0.02		0.027		4.44	I

		Flow Rate	рН	DO	Temperature	Fecal Coliform	E. coli	TKN		NH3- N		NO <sub>2</sub> - N		NO3- N		PO <sub>4</sub> <sup>3-</sup> Dissolved	ТР		TSS	
Date	Station ID	cfs	<i>S.U.</i>	( <i>mg/L</i> )	deg C	col/100 ml	col/100 ml	(mg/L)		( <i>mg/L</i> )		( <i>mg/L</i> )		( <i>mg/L</i> )		( <i>mg/L</i> )	( <i>mg/L</i> )		( <i>mg/L</i> )	
5/24/2007	MB1	1.1	7.44	7.60	16.3	250	180	0.50	ND	0.50	ND	0.005	ND	1.800		0.04	0.05		2.00	
5/31/2007	MB1	0.3	7.08	7.85	17.9	200	170	0.50	ND	0.50	ND	0.005	ND	1.700		0.05	0.05		2.00	ND
6/7/2007	MB1	0.5	9.00	7.20	14.8	660	490	0.50	ND	0.50	ND	0.005	ND	1.800		0.05	0.14		2.00	ND
6/14/2007	MB1	0.2	8.20	NS	19.5	5400	560						Ro	ctoria Sam	nling ()	nlv				
6/19/2007	MB1	0.8	7.69	8.88	18.3	980	460		-				Ба	cterra Sam	ping O	hity	 			
6/21/2007	MB1	0.4	7.90	9.30	15.6	460	360	0.50	ND	0.50	ND	0.005	ND	2.000		0.04	0.01	ND	2.00	ND
6/28/2007	MB1	0.6	7.40	7.90	21.2	210	4800		-				Ba	cteria Sam	pling O	nly	 			-
7/5/2007	MB1	1.4	6.78	7.94	19.8	4200	4000	0.50	ND	0.50	ND	0.005	ND	1.000	ND	0.06	0.12		17.00	
7/12/2007	MB1	1.0	7.60	NS	19.5	28000	5300													
7/19/2007	MB1	27.4	5.74	8.79	20.7	3500	3300						Ro	ctoria Sam	nling ()	mlv				
7/24/2007	MB1	0.9	7.74	9.55	17.6	3500	1600						Ба	cterra Sam	ping O	hiiy				
7/26/2007	MB1	0.4	7.62	9.09	19.6	860	570		-				-				 			_
8/2/2007	MB1	0.3	7.87	9.47	19.5	1040	480	0.50	ND	0.50	ND	0.005	ND	1.700		0.06	0.07		2.00	ND
8/9/2007	MB1	0.6	7.80	8.80	21.4	763	410		-				Ba	cteria Sam	pling O	nly	 			-
8/16/2007	MB1	0.2	7.88	8.43	19.8	780	440	0.50	ND	0.50	ND	0.005	ND	1.900	ND	0.05	0.06		2.00	ND
8/23/2007	MB1	0.4	7.55	8.78	16.9	1060	480													
8/30/2007	MB1	0.1	7.09	9.37	18.4	1270	560						Ba	cteria Sam	nling ()	nlv				
9/13/2007	MB1	0.1	7.23	7.01	15.6	720	610						Da		ping O	hiiy				
9/27/2007	MB1	0.0	7.34	6.24	19.4	370	16000		-				-				 			_
10/10/2007	MB1	0.6	8.05	0.28	17.1	16000	11000	0.96		0.05		0.011		1.410		0.12	0.16		5.00	
10/10/2007	MB1	0.6	7.88	0.26	16.7	7000	780	0.67		0.06		0.012		1.420		0.12	0.15		3.00	
10/11/2007	MB1	0.0	8.43	1.35	16.7	1100	7800	0.50	ND	0.50	ND	0.005		1.530		0.08	0.09		1.00	
10/25/2007	MB1	0.1	6.70	6.30	12.9	1700	490	0.50	ND	0.50	ND	0.005	ND	1.00		0.06	0.12		2.00	ND
n		23	23	21	23	23	23	11		11		11		11		11	11		11	
min		0.0	5.74	0.26	12.90	200	170	0.50		0.05		0.01		1.00		0.04	0.01		1.00	
mean*		1.7	7.57	7.16	18.05	3479	2645	0.56		0.42		0.01		1.57		0.07	0.09		3.64	
max		27.4	9.00	9.55	21.40	28000	16000	0.96		0.50		0.01		2.00		0.12	0.16		17.00	
std. dev.		5.6	0.65	2.91	2.17	6375	4052	0.14		0.18		0.00		0.337		0.03	0.049		4.54	

		Flow Rate	pН	DO	Temperature	Fecal Coliform	E. coli	TKN		NH3- N		NO <sub>2</sub> - N		NO3- N		PO <sub>4</sub> <sup>3-</sup> Dissolved	ТР		гss	
Date	Station ID	cfs	<i>S.U.</i>	( <i>mg/L</i> )	deg C	col/100 ml	col/100 ml	( <i>mg/L</i> )		( <i>mg/L</i> )		( <i>mg/L</i> )		( <i>mg/L</i> )		( <i>mg/L</i> )	( <i>mg/L</i> )	(1	ng/L)	
5/24/2007	HB1	45.3	7.22	7.60	19.10	3300	2600	0.50	ND	0.50	ND	0.005	ND	7.200		1.20	1.34	(	5.00	
5/31/2007	HB1	10.6	7.08	6.49	20.60	2100	780	2.20		1.40		0.005	ND	8.200		1.81	1.85	8	3.00	
6/7/2007	HB1	30.9	6.60	6.40	17.40	2200	660	2.30		0.50	ND	0.005	ND	9.400		1.70	2.10		2.00	ND
6/14/2007	HB1	54.4	7.62	NS	16.10	900	1800						Ba	cteria Sam	nling ()	nlv				
6/19/2007	HB1	29.0	NS	NS	NS	5900	1400						D		ipning O	illy				
6/21/2007	HB1	22.7	7.30	5.80	19.30	780	820	0.50	ND	0.50	ND	0.005	ND	13.000		2.00	2.20		2.00	ND
6/28/2007	HB1	45.7	7.60	7.20	23.20	200	5200						Ba	icteria Sam	pling O	only				
7/5/2007	HB1	43.2	7.01	8.79	21.70	1160	2700	0.50	ND	0.50	ND	0.005	ND	0.005	ND	0.80	0.91	1	0.00	
7/12/2007	HB1	75.8	7.30	NS	22.10	41000	NS													ļ
7/19/2007	HB1	75.2	6.74	6.37	22.50	5900	3700						Ba	cteria Sam	nling ()	mlv				
7/24/2007	HB1	69.3	7.38	9.08	20.00	5900	2800						Dt	leteria Sail	ipning O	illy				
7/26/2007	HB1	28.9	7.24	7.77	22.20	1200	1700				-									
8/2/2007	HB1	22.5	7.22	7.54	23.30	800	430	1.20		0.50	ND	0.005	ND	12.000		2.10	1.80		2.00	ND
8/9/2007	HB1	43.0	7.50	7.50	24.00	1420	430						Ba	cteria Sam	pling O	only				
8/16/2007	HB1	19.7	7.55	7.25	22.60	860	410	0.50	ND	0.50	ND	0.005	ND	11.000	ND	1.90	2.20	1	0.00	
8/23/2007	HB1	19.7	7.16	7.74	19.60	880	640													ļ
8/30/2007	HB1	20.0	7.00	6.96	21.80	1030	1800						Ba	cteria Sam	nling ()	nlv				
9/13/2007	HB1	22.3	6.98	6.23	19.40	2700	840						Dt	leterna ban	ipning O	iii y				
9/27/2007	HB1	15.9	7.29	4.91	22.10	880	560													
10/10/2007	HB1	NS	7.61	0.23	19.10	26000	22000	1.30		0.13		0.061		5.410		0.94	1.05	4	5.00	
10/10/2007	HB1	NS	7.56	0.23	19.00	21000	16000	0.93		0.13		0.064		5.640		0.98	1.03	2	4.00	
10/11/2007	HB1	NS	8.38	2.10	19.20	1100	1600	NS		NS		NS		NS		NS	NS		NS	
10/25/2007	HB1	19.5	7.11	6.67	16.70	40000	440	1.40		0.50	ND	0.005	ND	14.00		2.20	1.80		2.00	ND
n		20	22	20	22	23	22	10		10		10		10		10	10		10	
min		10.6	6.60	0.23	16.10	200	410	0.50		0.13		0.01		0.01		0.80	0.91	2	2.00	
mean*		35.7	7.29	6.14	20.50	7270	3150	1.13		0.52		0.02		8.59		1.56	1.63		5.10	
max		75.8	8.38	9.08	24.00	41000	22000	2.30		1.40		0.06		14.00		2.20	2.20	1	0.00	
std. dev.		20.0	0.37	2.49	2.20	12295	5354	0.69		0.35		0.02		4.235		0.53	0.5029	3	3.28	

		Flow Rate	pН	DO	Temperature	Fecal Coliform	E. coli	TKN		NH3- N		NO <sub>2</sub> - N		NO3- N		PO <sub>4</sub> <sup>3-</sup> Dissolved		ТР		TSS	
Date	Station ID	cfs	<i>S.U.</i>	( <i>mg/L</i> )	deg C	col/100 ml	col/100 ml	( <i>mg/L</i> )		( <i>mg/L</i> )		( <i>mg/L</i> )		( <i>mg/L</i> )		( <i>mg/L</i> )		( <i>mg/L</i> )		( <i>mg/L</i> )	
5/24/2007	SR1	25.1	7.49	8.34	17.90	820	440	0.50	ND	0.50	ND	0.005	ND	1.800		0.02		0.03		4.00	
5/31/2007	SR1	5.8	6.98	7.21	18.70	700	380	0.50	ND	0.50	ND	0.005	ND	1.800		0.03		0.04		2.00	ND
6/7/2007	SR1	12.0	6.20	7.90	16.00	2200	590	0.50	ND	0.50	ND	0.005	ND	1.600		0.03		0.11		2.00	ND
6/14/2007	SR1	17.0	7.35	NS	17.60	1060	1100	Bacteria Sampling Only													
6/19/2007	SR1	12.8	7.45	7.40	22.80	4900	1800														
6/21/2007	SR1	13.1	7.50	7.00	17.80	3900	790	0.50	ND	0.50	ND	0.005	ND	1.800		0.03		0.04		2.00	ND
6/28/2007	SR1	27.2	7.50	7.70	21.80	170	6100	Bacteria Sampling Only													
7/5/2007	SR1	34.2	7.55	8.50	19.30	3700	3700	0.50	ND	0.50	ND	0.005	ND	1.400		0.03		0.07		7.00	
7/12/2007	SR1	41.0	7.20	NS	21.40	39000	NS														
7/19/2007	SR1	41.0	6.38	8.42	21.80	5800	4100	Bacteria Sampling Only													
7/24/2007	SR1	43.6	7.27	8.76	18.50	5800	3500														
7/26/2007	SR1	12.2	7.09	8.04	20.60	1020	520														
8/2/2007	SR1	11.5	7.50	8.52	21.90	110	390	0.50	ND	0.50	ND	0.005	ND	1.400		0.01	ND	0.01		2.00	ND
8/9/2007	SR1	23.5	7.40	7.40	22.70	1270	390	Bacteria Sampling Only													
8/16/2007	SR1	9.3	7.52	8.29	20.40	553	430	0.50	ND	0.50	ND	0.005	ND	1.600		0.02		0.06		2.00	ND
8/23/2007	SR1	9.3	6.85	8.64	17.10	900	460														
8/30/2007	SR1	6.8	6.75	8.11	19.20	420	430						Ba	cteria Sam	nling	Only					
9/13/2007	SR1	8.5	7.02	4.99	16.90	2000	630														
9/27/2007	SR1	4.6	6.90	6.02	19.20	820	480														
10/10/2007	SR1	NS	8.11	0.28	17.50	33000	23000	0.91		0.09		0.018		1.490		0.07		0.12		10.00	ļ
10/10/2007	SR1	NS	7.41	0.26	17.10	12000	9400	0.94		0.13		0.018		1.500		0.08		0.13		10.00	L
10/11/2007	SR1	NS	8.41	2.15	16.90	3000	2600	0.52		0.07		0.008		1.560		0.04		0.07		2.00	ļ
10/25/2007	SR1	7.6	6.88	6.54	13.80	4500	1700	0.50	ND	0.50	ND	0.005	ND	1.30		0.02		0.08		2.00	ND
n		20	23	21	23	23	22	11		11		11		11		11		11		11	
min		4.6	6.20	0.26	13.80	110	380	0.50		0.07		0.01		1.30		0.01		0.01		2.00	ļ
mean*		18.3	7.25	6.69	19.00	5550	2860	0.58		0.39		0.01		1.57		0.03		0.07		4.09	µ
max		43.6	8.41	8.76	22.80	39000	23000	0.94		0.50		0.02		1.80		0.08		0.13		10.00	
std. dev.		12.8	0.49	2.62	2.35	10025	5045	0.17		0.19		0.01		0.174		0.02		0.0386		3.30	

Appendix E: Presentation of Graphed Instream Water Quality Data








































# **APPENDIX B**

**Optical Brightener Sampling Report** 





Developed by the Rutgers Cooperative Extension Water Resources Program

Funded by the New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection RP 07–002

May 2011

# **Table of Contents**

BACKGROUND	3
METHODS	4
DATA SUMMARY	5
APPENDICES	7

# Figures

Figure 1 Optical Brightener Sampling Locations in the Musquapsink Brook Watershed . 4	ŀ
Figure 2 Average Fluorometric Readings for Samples Collected in May and August,	
2010	ś

# Background

Sources of pathogenic enteric bacteria in waterways include human, farm animal and/or wildlife excrement. Methods for detecting fecal coliform bacteria and identifying pathways from their sources are important in addressing point and nonpoint source pollution in watersheds (Tavares et al., 2008). Bacterial Source Tracking (BST) involves a series of microbiological and chemical analyses to determine sources of fecal bacteria in environmental water samples. One such source tracking method to identify *human* bacterial contamination in surface water is the fluorometric detection of optical brighteners. Optical brighteners are compounds added to laundry detergents and soaps, and have no natural sources. Because household plumbing systems combine effluent from washing machines and toilets, optical brighteners are associated with human sewage in sewer lines, septic systems and wastewater treatment plants (Hartel et al., 2007). Their presence in surface water, therefore, can be an indicator of an illicit connection, leaking pipes, or contamination from wastewater.

Data results obtained from surface water quality sampling in the Musquapsink Brook watershed show both wet and dry weather sources of E. coli and fecal coliform contamination. Microbial Source Tracking (MST) sampling using qPCR analysis has indicated the presence of human sources of bacterial loadings to the watershed. Potential human sources include leaking sewer lines and illicit connections. The project partners are required to identify and quantify sources of pollution in the watershed, as outlined by the tasks presented in the Quality Assurance Project Plan (QAPP) submitted for this project in January 2007 and as outlined by the objectives described in the original proposal for the Musquapsink Brook Watershed Restoration Plan, submitted in May These objectives and tasks were developed so that appropriate management 2006. practices are implemented and resources are allocated efficiently and economically throughout the watershed. Investigation beyond MST sampling is required to track down areas of detected human sources of pathogenic contamination so that point sources within the watershed can be adequately identified and addressed in the final Watershed Restoration and Protection Plan. Rutgers Cooperative Extension (RCE) Water Resources Program proposes to accomplish this using fluorometric analysis to detect the presence of optical brighteners in the stream.

# Methods

Two rounds of optical brightener sampling and fluorometric analysis were completed between May and August 2010 during dry conditions (no recorded precipitation within 48 hours of sampling event). Initially, there were 16 sites sampled. Two additional sites were added for the August sampling event. See Figure 1 below for locations of sampling sites. Site M03 was sampled in May 2010 but data is not included since the site location lies just outside of the watershed boundary.



Figure 1 Optical Brightener Sampling Locations in the Musquapsink Brook Watershed

# Data Summary

Fluorescence measurements were recorded from fluorometric analysis of the samples collected. The relative concentration of optical brighteners was measured in comparison to a blank solution with a known concentration of optical brighteners used in calibration. This data, as well as *in-situ* measurements of pH, dissolved oxygen (DO), and surface water temperature recorded during sampling, is provided in Appendix A. The average fluormetric reading for each sampling site is shown in Figure 2 below.



Figure 2 Average Fluorometric Readings for Samples Collected in May and August, 2010

The magnitude of the fluorescence reading indicates the relative strength of optical brightener in the sample. The highest fluorescence readings recorded were for samples collected from sites M04, M07, and M16. To further refine the trackdown of bacteria sources, fluorometric analysis results from the first round of sampling were used to adjust the location of sampling sites in the second round. Due to limited stream access and low-flow conditions, additional sampling locations could not be included in the regions of M04 and M16. M06a and M07a are located downstream and upstream, respectively, of

site M07. Values at or below zero indicate little to no presence of optical brightener in the sample.

Source tracking investigations completed by other research groups have reported positive correlations between fecal bacteria numbers and optical brightener levels, linking high levels of both indicators to human contamination. The RCE Water Resources Program study attempted to link physical surface water parameters (pH, DO, temperature) to optical brightener levels. The Pearson Product Moment is the ratio of covariance between the variables to the product of their standard deviations. The numerical value of the Pearson Product Moment ranges from -1.0 to +1.0. The closer the calculated coefficients are to +1.0 or -1.0, the greater the strength of the linear relationship between two independent variables. Correlations between *in-situ* physical surface water parameters and optical brightener levels were found to be, in general, weak and therefore no overlying conclusions could be drawn from this set of data. Further experimental design and laboratory research may provide further insight into the relationship between pH, DO, temperature and optical brightener presence in surface water.

# APPENDICES

> APPENDIX A Tabulated Data

Location ID	pН	DO	Temperature	<b>Flourometric Units</b> <sup>1</sup>		
		(mg/L)	(degree Celsius)	Reading 1	Reading 2	Reading 3
M01	7.11	5.93	20.4	-12	-8.9	4.22
M02	7.12	6.45	20.4	-13	16.1	14.5
M04	7.02	6.54	20.45	43.8	53.3	54.6
M05	6.79	3.81	19.5	-56	41.9	13
M05b*	6.79	3.81	19.5	22.1	-32	21.6
M06	6.74	3.56	19.15	36.3	12.4	-1.7
M07	6.84	4.19	19.45	122	118	136
M08	6.82	4.26	19.7	25.3	28	34.6
M09	6.83	3.83	20.15	-6.1	19.1	16.4
M10	7.08	6.41	21.4	2.82	-22	-1.1
M11	7.38	8.63	16.15	10.8	-5.8	1.5
M12	7.25	6.9	22.95	48	22	47.3
M12b*	7.25	6.9	22.95	4.3	22.1	-4.4
M13	7.42	8.84	17.55	-30	-1.8	-9
M14	7.47	8.6	18.55	24.9	27.1	16.5
M15	7.36	8.44	18.75	-22	-11	16.8
M15b*	7.36	8.44	18.75	29.1	3.4	0.56
M16	7.12	7.3	17.85	74.5	54.9	55.8
M17	7.28	8.11	19.1	12.2	9.6	11.1

## May 2010

\*Duplicate samples were collected at this location <sup>1</sup>Based on a scale of 0 to 100, with 100 indicating strong presence of optical brighteners in surface water sample

Location ID	рН	DO	Temperature	Flourometric Units <sup>1</sup>		
		(mg/L)	(degree Celsius)	Reading 1	Reading 2	Reading 3
M 01	7.64	6.33	23.1	12.2	36.1	14.3
M 02	7.64	6.67	23.2	-3.1	10.2	-13.1
M 04	7.25	6.8	23.6	54	9.8	5.4
M04*	7.25	6.8	23.6	-32	-11	12.3
M 05	7	3.52	22.8	89.2	53.9	0.23
M 06a	7.22	4.21	23.1	24.1	37.8	12.2
M 06	7.23	3.35	22.2	5.4	-9.5	-15.3
M 07	7.32	5.11	22.6	45.2	54.2	16.7
M 07a	7.28	5.3	22.3	-5.6	1.2	-22.3
M07a*	7.28	5.3	22.3	5.4	-19.7	-24.7
M 08	7.18	5.29	22.6	15.3	67.9	78.9
M 09	7.18	5.49	23.2	34.2	15.4	2.1
M 10	6.87	5.64	21.6	-22	8.7	-11
M 11	7.94	8.74	23	3.9	-5	-14
M11*	7.94	8.74	23	-12	5.6	1.3
M 12	6.66	4.49	24.6	35.6	24.1	26.9
M 13	7.76	10.7	22.2	-23	10.1	12.3
M 14	7.6	7.54	24.4	17.3	-2.4	-17.8
M 15 <sup>2</sup>	N/A	N/A	N/A	-	-	-
M 16 <sup>2</sup>	N/A	N/A	N/A	-	-	-
M 17 <sup>2</sup>	N/A	N/A	N/A	-	-	-

### August 2010

\*Duplicate samples were collected at this location

<sup>1</sup>Based on a scale of 0 to 100, with 100 indicating strong presence of optical

brighteners in surface water sample

<sup>2</sup>Sites with little to no flow. No samples collected.

**APPENDIX B Optical Brightener Standard Operational Procedure** 



### STANDARD OPERATING PROCEDURE OPTICAL BRIGHTENER ANALYSIS BY FLUOROMETRY

**Authors:** Jillian Thompson and Robert Miskewitz **Developed:** January 2010

#### I. Background

Optical brighteners are compounds added to nearly all modern laundry detergents, which adhere to fabric and absorb and emit light, countering the yellowing appearance of whites and making other colors appear brighter. These compounds are excited by light in the near UV range (360-365nm) and emit light in the blue range (400-440 nm). After light absorption, fluorescence is given off during the second exited state and can be measured by a fluorometer (Tavares et al. 2008).

Because household plumbing systems combine effluent from washing machines and toilets, optical brighteners are associated with human sewage in septic systems, sanitary sewer systems, and wastewater treatment plants (Hartel et al., 2007). Their presence in surface water, therefore, indicates contamination from wastewater.

#### **II.** Materials

- A. Fluorometer (Model 10-AU-000, Turner Designs, Sunnyvale, California).
- B. Optical Brightener Optical Kit (Turner Designs, part number10-302R): lamp (10-049) emitting near UV light at 310-390nm; a filter (10-069R) for the 300-400 nm light range; a 436 nm filter to greater decrease background fluorescence
- C. Tide® Powder Original Scent (no bleach)
- D. Deionized water
- E. Timer
- F. Nalgene 250 mL opaque collection bottles
- G. Transfer bottle
- H. Refrigerator
- I. Glass Cuvettes
- J. Cooler
- K. Scale (1.0 mg readability)

### III. Sample Collection and Storage

- A. Collect samples from the targeted waterbody in Nalgene 250 mL sampling bottles that have been acid cleaned and stored with 1% HCl (~5mL).
- B. Transfer bottle is rinsed three (3) times with sample water before filling.
- C. Sample water is collected with the transfer bottle placed 10cm below water surface facing upstream. Water is poured from the transfer bottle into a sample bottle.
- D. Sample bottles are labeled and kept on ice and in a dark cooler after collection.
- E. Upon arrival to the lab samples may be read after reaching room temperature or refrigerated at 4°C for up to five (5) days.

### IV. Flourometric Calibration and Standard Curves

- A. An optical brightener optical kit is installed in the fluorometer before any samples are read. This kit includes a lamp (10-049) emitting near UV light at 310-390 nm, a filter (10-069R) for the 300-400nm light range, and finally a 436 nm filter to greater decrease background fluorescence.
- B. Make two-fold serial dilutions from a solution of 100mg powdered Tide in one liter deionized water (100 ppm).

**a.** Mix 500 mL of the 100 ppm Tide solution with 500 mL deionized water to create the first dilution (50 ppm).

**b.** Mix 500 mL of the 50 ppm solution with 500 mL deionized water to create the second dilution (25 ppm).

**c.** Mix 500 mL of the 25 ppm solution with 500 mL deionized water to create the third dilution (12.5 ppm).

- C. Create a standard curve using the serial dilutions from 100mg of Tide in one liter of deionized water (100 ppm).
  - **a.** Adjust the fluorometer to a 80% sensitivity scale.
  - **b.** The fluorometric value of 0 should be set equal to pure deionized water.
  - **c.** The fluorometric value of 100 should be set equal to 100ppm of Tide in 1 liter of deionized water. This sets the equipment calibration.
  - **d.** Record fluorometric readings of the solutions created from the serial dilution procedure.
  - e. All results should be graphed (Fluormetric Reading vs. Concentration) to obtain a linear standard curve
- D. Create a second standard curve using two-fold serial dilutions of 100mg Tide in one liter of ambient water. A standard curve created with ambient water will indicate the influence of background organic matter on fluorescence readings.
  - **a.** Adjust the fluorometer to a 80% sensitivity scale.
  - **b.** The fluorometric value of 0 should be set equal to deionized water.
  - **c.** The fluorometric value of 100 should be set equal to 100ppm of Tide in 1 liter of deionized water. This sets the equipment calibration.

- **d.** Once the two-point equipment calibration is established, create serial dilutions of Tide in ambient water.
- e. Record fluorometric readings of the serial dilutions (100ppm, 50ppm, 25ppm, 12.5ppm)
- **f.** All results will be graphed (Fluormetric Reading vs. Concentration) to obtain a second linear standard curve.
- E. Compare the two standard curves. If organic matter in the ambient water is contributing to fluorescence readings, the ambient water solution readings will be higher than the deionized water solution readings.

**a.** The average difference between ambient water and deionized water fluorescence readings are calculated. This average represents a fluorescence reading due to background organic matter.

**b.** Any sample providing a reading at or below this calculated average will be considered to have only background sources of fluorescence.

### V. Sample Analysis

- A. Allow fluorometer and samples to warm up for 30 minutes
- B. Shake each sample well before analysis.
- C. Pour 9 mL sample water into cuvette (approximately 1/3 full). Place in fluorometer and start 10 second countdown.
- D. Record reading.
- E. Dispose of 9mL sample water and rinse cuvette with deionized water.
- F. Repeat steps C through E three times for each sample.
- G. Rinse the cuvette three times with deionized water before analyzing the next sample.

Sample analysis will provide qualitative results. Any fluorescence reading above the average difference between ambient water and deionized water fluorescence readings from the standard curves provide insight into the presence of optical brighteners in the sampled waterway. The magnitude of the fluorescence reading indicates the relative strength of optical brightener through multiple result and multiple site comparisons.

### VI. Statistical Analysis

The three fluorometric readings recorded for each sample will be averaged and presented with the standard deviation. All data (both field and fluorometric) will be compiled to determine if significant relationships exist between optical brightener readings and other parameters. Data will be statistically analyzed using Microsoft Excel. A correlation analysis of the entire set of data will be completed to determine the relationship between optical brightener values and pH, dissolved oxygen, and water temperature measurements, respectively. The Pearson's Product Moment analysis will be used to determine correlation coefficients. Coefficients will be presented with p-values to demonstrate statistical significance.

### VII. References

- Hartel, Peter G., Jennifer McDonald, Lisa Gentit, Sarah Hemmings, Karen Rodgers, Katy Smith, Carolyn Belcher, Robin Kuntz, Yaritza Rivera-Torres, Ernesto Otero, and Eduardo Schroder. "Improving Fluorometry as a Source Tracking Method to Detect Human Fecal Contamination." <u>Estuaries and Coasts</u> 30 (2007): 551-61.
- Tavares, Mary E., I. H. Spivey, Matthew McIver, and Michael A. Mallin. "Testing For Optical Brighteners and Fecal Bacteria To Detect Sewage Leaks in Tidal Creeks." <u>University of North Carolina Wilmington Center for Marine</u> <u>Sciences</u> (2008). <u>http://people.uncw.edu/hillj/classes/EVS595/Optical%20brightener%20paper%20</u> <u>for%20NCAS.pdf</u>
- 3. Leeds Point Chemistry Laboratory Standard Operating Procedures: Optical Brighteners. New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection. December 2006.

# **APPENDIX C**

Site Specific Restoration Projects



# MB1 Borough of Woodcliff Lake

Map of Proposed Areas of Disconnection Musquapsink Brook Watershed Restoration and Protection Plan


### **Borough of Woodcliff Lake**

<b>Project Identifier</b>		Geographic Coordinates	
MB1_WL	а	N41°01'37.9"	W074°04'18.0"
Site Description and BMP I and is occupied by a car deale curb cuts, rain gardens or ve Flow-through planter boxes ( treat bacteria in runoff.	<b>mpleme</b> ership. T egetated e.g., Filt	<b>Intation Opportunities:</b> The sit The parking lot contains several is swales. Parking areas could be erra <sup>®</sup> ) could be installed at the e	e is approximately 25 acres in area slands that could be retrofitted with e re-paved with pervious concrete. existing catch basins to capture and

### Site Photos:



<b>Project Identifier</b>		ic Coordinates	
b	N41°01'19.1"	W074°04'33.5"	
Impleme	nentation Opportunities: The site is a large residential area with		
dway disc	sconnection. A demonstration rain garden could be sited on Mill		
ff could b	be directed towards the two storm drains situated directly across		
gardens w	would capture stormwater runoff from the roadway and filter out		
eria that a	accumulate on the street (see photos below) and enters the basins		
raining to the stream.			
2 2	b Impleme dway disc ff could b gardens w teria that a	Geographie   b N41°01'19.1"   Implementation Opportunities: The site   dway disconnection. A demonstration rain ff could be directed towards the two storm   gardens would capture stormwater runoff f teria that accumulate on the street (see pho	



<u>Project Identifier</u>		Geographic Coordinates	
MB1_WL	с	N41°00'54.7"	W074°04'30.7''
Site Description and BMP Blueberry Drive. Demonstra community about issues surro houses. Pervious pavement recharge and decreasing storm	<b>Impler</b> ation rain ounding t could a nwater v	nentation Opportunities: The n gardens downgradient of the s stormwater runoff. Rain barrels replace existing concrete basket olumes entering waterways.	e site is an alleyway located off street could be used to educate the could be placed on downspouts of ball court, increasing groundwater



Project Identifier		Geographic Coordinates	
MB1_WL	d	N41°01'22.9"	W074°03'55.7"
Site Description and BMP I	Site Description and BMP Implementation Opportunities: The site is a series of residential roadways,		
most of which are off of Wei	rimus Ro	oad, about 14 streets and 110 acres in total. The majority of roads in	
this community contain no c	curbs or	sidewalks. Roadside vegetated swales and rain gardens could be	
implemented adjacent to the streets. In addition to downspout disconnection, swales along the road			
would greatly reduce stormwater volumes and pollutant loads to waterways.			



<b>Project Identifier</b>		Geographic Coordinates		
MB1_WL	e	N41°01'17.8"	W074°04'02.1"	
Site Description and BMP Implementation Opportunities: The site is Woodcliff Lake Historic Par			te is Woodcliff Lake Historic Park	
and is currently under constr	uction.	Opportunities for rain garden installations and pervious pavement		
retrofits exist. A rain garden	can be in	e incorporated into the landscape alterations near the historic building,		
collecting roof runoff and increasing infiltration on site. Pervious asphalt or pavers in the parking spots			halt or pavers in the parking spots,	
approximately 27 spots, near the swimming pool would decrease runoff volumes and pollutant loa		noff volumes and pollutant loads.		
Public access to the site offers opportunities for educational workshops.				



<b>Project Identifier</b>	<b>Project Identifier</b>		Geographic Coordinates	
MB1_WL	f	N41°01'29.6"	W074°03'35.7"	
Site Description and BMP	mplem	entation Opportunities: Dorch	ester Elementary School is located	
off Dorchester Road and has	recently	been repaved. However, a rain	garden opportunity exists with the	
aid of a curb cut in the island	d of the	lot. The island is of substantia	l size and would provide adequate	
space for a rain garden. The	rain ga	rden would capture pollutants fr	om the parking lot, while reducing	
runoff volumes. Stormwat	er educ	ation with the rain garden in	stallation as the focus could be	
implemented at the school.		-		



Project Identifier		Geographic Coordinates	
MB1_WL	g	N41°01'11.1"	W074°04'23.6"
Site Description and BMP	Impleme	mplementation Opportunities: The site is a large parking lot at Temple	
Emmanuel, approximately 3,	800 squa	are feet. Pervious pavement in the upper portion of the parking lot	
would limit stormwater runof	f and allo	allow for a route for recharge.	





# MB2 Hillsdale Borough





## **Borough of Hillsdale**

Project Identifier		<b>Geographic Coordinates</b>		
MB2_H	а	N41°00'31.1"	W074°04'13.4"	
Site Description and BMP Implementation Opportunities: The site is a parking lot locat			The site is a parking lot located	
on Werimus Road. The parking lot is a combination of grassed area and gravel. Strategic				
tree/shrub selection and planting location would infiltrate runoff and provide shade to the lot.				

### Site Photos:



<b>Project Identifier</b>		Geographic Coordinates	
MB2_H	b	N41°00'30.3"	W074°04'34.1"
Site Description and Community located near residential rain garden stormwater runoff volum	BMP In the intension the the intension of the second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second secon	<b>plementation Opportunities</b> ersection of Craig and Glen H ain barrels for downspout ollutant loads.	: The site a large residential Hook roadways. BMPs such as disconnections would decrease



<b>Project Identifier</b>	r	Geographic Coordinates		
MB2_H	с	N41°00'42.5"	W074°04'26.1"	
Site Description and E	BMP Im	plementation Opportunities:	The site is a neighborhood of	
medium density resident	ial housi	sing. An applicable BMP would be the implementation of Green		
Streets to the community	y on som	ne blocks. Due to the above-average width of the streets, more		
stormwater runoff is dire	ected to storm sewers. The volume may be limited by creating curb cuts			
in some locations along	g the str	treet, allowing for runoff to flow to adjacent rain gardens or		
stormwater planters. In	addition	on, narrowing the streets with curb extensions in certain areas		
would lessen the volume created while still providing adequate space for traffic flow.				



<u>Project Identifier</u>		Geographic Coordinates		
MB2_H	d	N41°00'22.9"	W074°04'1.3"	
Site Description and BMP Implementation Opportunities: The site is the Ann Blanch			The site is the Ann Blanche	
Smith Elementary School located on Hillsdale Avenue. The school is an ideal location to				
provide educational outreach about stormwater issues and BMPs. BMPs would include rain				
barrels, a rain garden on the island of the parking lot, and vegetated swales adjacent to the				
roadways.	roadways.			





# **MB2 Washington Township**





# Washington Township

<b>Project Identifier</b>		Geographic Coordinates		
MB2_Wa	a	N40°59'38.7"	W074°03'37.4"	
Site Description and BMP Implementation Opportunities: The Bergen County Jev			The Bergen County Jewish	
Community Center near Berkley Court is located at this site. Recommended BMPs for			ite. Recommended BMPs for	
implementation at this site include a naturalized detention basin and vegetated swales. Rain				
gardens can be installed on the parking lot islands. Invasive species, such as the Japanese know				
weed, would have to be removed before BMPs are installed.			-	

## Site Photos:



<b>Project Identifier</b>		<b>Geographic Coordinates</b>	
MB2_Wa	b	N40°59'43.4"	W074°03'39.4"
Site Description and BM	IP Imp	lementation <b>Opportunities</b> :	The site is located at the
Washington Township Fitne be replaced with permeable	ess and T pavemen	Cennis Club. The parking lot, tt.	approximately 1,115 ft <sup>2</sup> , could



<u>Project Identifier</u>		<b>Geographic Coordinates</b>		
MB2_Wa	с	N40°59′03.1″	W074°03′44.3″	
Site Description and BM	IP Imp	lementation Opportunities:	This site is occupied by a	
shopping center. The parking lot of the shopping center is in close proximity to the Musquapsink				
Brook; they are separated by just a small grassed area. There is evidence of streambank erosion,				
and the site would benefit from streambank stabilization measures. A rain garden or swale can				
be installed to capture the pollutants in runoff from the nearby parking lot. In addition, the				
parking lot can be retrofitted with permeable pavement.				



<b>Project Identifier</b>		Geographic Coordinates	
MB2_Wa	d	N40°59'03.1"	W074°03'44.3"
Site Description and BMH approximately 1,600 ft <sup>2</sup> in buildings contain a directly should be disconnected with area between the two apartm	<b><u>P</u> Imple</b> a area, y-connec h rain b nent buil	mentation Opportunities: located between two apartmeted impervious cover. The arrels or cisterns. A green a dings to further collect stormeter	This site includes an alleyway, nent buildings. The apartment e downspouts of the buildings lleyway can be installed in the water runoff.



<b>Project Identifier</b>		Geographic Coordinates	
		N10050110 4#	W/07/000//////
MB2_Wa	e	N40°59'18.4"	W074°03′44.1″
	<u> </u>		
Site Description and BN	<u>/IP Imr</u>	olementation Opportunit	ies: This site is a residential
neighborhood with approximately 50 homes on approximately 1/4 acre lots. About 55% of the			y <sup>1</sup> / <sub>4</sub> acre lots. About 55% of the
properties are directly connected to impervious cover. The downspouts of these homes should			
be disconnected with rain gardens or rain barrels. The driveways should incorporate permeable			
pavement. Homeowners should be offered educational workshops on the importance			
stormwater management and BMP implementation.			



<b>Project Identifier</b>		<b>Geographic Coordinates</b>		
MB2_Wa	f	N41°00'0.8"	W074°03'35.0"	
Site Description and BM	IP Imp	lementation Opportunitie	es: This site is a residential	
neighborhood with approximately 11 condominium buildings on 1/4 acre lots. Almost all of the				
downspouts are directly connected to roadway catch basins. The downspouts should			s. The downspouts should be	
disconnected with rain gardens and rain barrels. In addition, the existing detention basin and swale				
near the condos can be naturalized using native plants and shrubs.				



<b>Project Identifier</b>		Geographic Coordinates		
MB2_Wa	g	N40°59'21.1"	W074°03'23.2"	
	0			
Site Description and BMP Implementation Opportunities: This site is a park in a residential				
neighborhood. A rain garden can be installed to collect runoff from the parking lot. In addition,				
shoreline stabilization methods should be implemented to deter geese from entering the nearby				
Schlegel Lake. Geese fecal matter has been linked to the spread of diseases and bacterial				
contamination of water. To prevent this fecal matter from entering the water, high-growing				
ative plants should be installed along the perimeter of the lake.				



Project Identifier		<b>Geographic Coordinates</b>	
MB2_Wa	h	N40°59'31.8"	W074°03'52.4"
Site Description and BMP Implementation Opportunities: Elementary School is located at this site. A rain garden can be inst school to collect runoff from the 760 ft <sup>2</sup> parking lot. Also, the par permeable pavement. Students would benefit from the education Water Resources Program through the <i>Stormwater Management in</i>		The Washington Township alled near the right wing of the king lot can be retrofitted with al opportunities offered by the <i>a Your School Yard</i> curriculum.	





# MB3 Washington Township





#### Washington Township

Project Identifier		<b>Geographic Coordinates</b>		
MB3_Wa	а	N40°59'5.856"	W074° 3' 45.1866"	
Site Description and BM	P Impl	ementation Opportunities: Th	e site is Washington Township	
Shopping Center located on Pascack Road, near Finnerty Place. In the rear parking lot of the site, th			ne rear parking lot of the site, the	
creek is in view and is accessible. Runoff from the site enters the waterway directly. A vegetated buffe				
should be installed. A vegetated swale placed along a fence that separates the brook from the parking lot				
would serve the purpose of filtering stormwater runoff and conveying it away from the stream. Pervious				
pavement should be installed where possible to limit the runoff from the parking lot. Rain gardens should				
also be installed to limit pollutant (sediment and hydrocarbon) load into the creek.				

## Site Photos:



<u>Project Identifier</u>		Geographic Coordinates		
MB3_Wa	b	N40° 58' 53.6082"	W074° 3' 41.5182"	
Site Description and BMP Implementation Opportunities: The site is Our Lady of Good Counsel				
Church, which is located off Ridgewood Road. The location consists of a large parking lot. There is an				
opportunity for downspout disconnection and rain gardens near the main entrance.				



Project Identifier		Geographic Coordinates		
MB3_Wa	с	N40° 59' 0.5784"	W074° 3' 59.8428"	
Site Description and BMP Implementation Opportunities: Pine Lake Estates, a townhouse compl			ake Estates, a townhouse complex,	
is located at this site. All driveways and downspouts are directly connected to roadways or catch basing			ected to roadways or catch basins in	
nearby lawns. Disconnect	ion by r	neans of rain barrels and rain gardens would be ideal for this		
community.				



<u>Project Identifier</u>		<b>Geographic Coordinates</b>	
MB3_Wa d		N40° 59' 24.8058"	W074° 3' 53.136"

Site Description and BMP Implementation Opportunities: The site is a residential neighborhood consisting of about 60 homes on ¼ acre lots. 69% of the homes are directly connected to impervious cover. Some streets (Crest Place & Viola Terrace) do not have sidewalks. Therefore, rain gardens or vegetated swales along the streets with curb cuts to capture, treat, infiltrate runoff from roadways would be ideal BMPs. The disconnection of impervious cover by rain barrels or rain gardens is also appropriate for this site. Homeowners should be offered educational workshops on the importance of stormwater management and BMP implementation.



<u>Project Identifier</u>		<b>Geographic Coordinates</b>		
MB3_Wa	e	N40° 59' 7.4286"	W074° 4' 10.326"	
Site Description and BMP Implementation Opportunities: The site is a residential neighborhood on				
West Place. The streets have	West Place. The streets have no sidewalk, and the development contains about 25 homes on <sup>1</sup> / <sub>4</sub> acre lots.			
7% of the homes are directly connected to impervious cover. The creek is located behind homes on the				
west side of West Place. Rooftops should be disconnected with rain barrels or rain gardens on the				
residents' property. Also, roadside vegetated swales or gardens would limit stormwater volume entering				
waterways while filtering out pollutants. Homeowners should be offered educational workshops on the				
importance of stormwater management and BMP implementation.				



<u>Project Identifier</u>		Geographic Coordinates			
	C	N400 501 17 51041	W07404157000		
MB3_Wa	İ	N40° 59' 17.5194"	W074° 4° 5.7288°		
Site Description and BMP	Imnlen	nentation Opportunities. This sit	te is a residential neighborhood		
consisting of about 170 houses on 14 acre lots. Almost 70% of the homes are directly connected to					
impensions accur. Destants should be disconnected by means of usin homels are uncerty connected					
impervious cover. Roonops should be disconnected by means of rain barrens of rain gardens. Roadway					
could be converted to Green	Streets a	and retrofitted with vegetated swales	s, curb extensions, and/or planter		
boxes. Homeowners should	be of	fered educational workshops on	the importance of stormwater		
management and BMP implementation.					



Project Identifier		Geographic Coordinates		
MB3_Wa	g	N40° 59' 22.8264"	W074° 4' 17.3136"	
Site Description and BM Recreation Park on Ridgew field, and a <sup>3</sup> / <sub>4</sub> acre parking protect waterway from pollu- slow stormwater flow.	<b>IP Impl</b> ood Bou lot in po- ited runo	ementation Opportunities: The levard East. The location consists or condition. The site is adjacent ff. The buffer should be increased	e site is Washington Township of an office building, an athletic to a stream and has little buffer to to adequately filter pollutants and	



<u>Project Identifier</u>		Geographic Coordinates		
MB3_Wa	h	N40° 59' 31.164"	W074° 3' 55.3746"	
Site Description and BMP at 600 School Street. The conditions. There are cent replacement of cement chan infiltrate stormwater before <i>Your School Yard</i> curriculum	<b>Impleme</b> site has nent cha nels with it reache n in the so	entation Opportunities: The site s a 3,000 square-foot parking here nnels for stormwater conveya vegetated swales, installation of s storm drains, and implementation chool.	e is Washington Elementary School ot, ranging from average to poor nce. Recommendations include Frain gardens to capture, treat, and ion of <i>Stormwater Management In</i>	





## **MB4 Borough of Emerson**





#### **Borough of Emerson**

<u>Project Identifier</u>		<b>Geographic Coordinates</b>
MB4_E	а	
Site Description and BMP Imple Cedar Park Cemetery is located approximately 20 feet of existing clogged with sediment. Geese po near storm drains on the property	ementation on this site. riparian but opulations a	<b>Opportunities:</b> Approximately 82 acres of the Beth El and The cemetery property extends to the stream edge, with ffer. Storm drains located along the roadways appear to be re abundant. Flow-though planter boxes could be installed

<b>Project Identifier</b>		Geographic Coordinates		
MB4_E b		N40° 58' 24.276"	W074° 2' 34.3428"	
Site Description and BM consisting of about 90 he Rooftops should be discor offered educational worksh	<b>IP Imple</b> omes. 87 inected with hops on the	<b>mentation Opportunities:</b> The % of the rooftops are directly ith residential rain gardens or rai e importance of stormwater manag	site is a residential neighborhood connected to impervious surfaces. n barrels. Homeowners should be gement and BMP implementation.	



<b>Project Identifier</b>		Geographic Coordinates			
MB4_E	с	N40° 58' 6.6606"	W074° 2' 40.1382"		
Site Description and BMP Implementation Opportunities: The site is a residential neighborhood					
which consists of about 160 homes on 1/4 acre lots. 61% of the rooftops are directly connected to					
impervious surfaces. Rooftops should be disconnected with residential rain gardens or rain barrels. Some					
streets in the neighborhood have no curbs. Vegetated swales or roadside rain gardens could be utilized to					
capture, treat and infiltrate roadway runoff. Homeowners should be offered educational workshops on the					
importance of stormwater management and BMP implementation.					



Project Identifier		<b>Geographic Coordinates</b>	
MB4_E d		N40° 58' 7.842"	W074° 2' 48.6918"
Site Description and BM within a residential neight swales or rain gardens in filtering, as well as improve	<b>P</b> Implement porhood. Stalled on ed aesthetic	nentation Opportunities: The There is an opportunity for ro the park property. This wou c and wildlife habitat.	e site is a community park located adway disconnection via vegetated ld provide stormwater capture and



Project Identifier		Geographic Coordinates		
MB4_E e		N40° 58' 9.7248"	W074° 2' 28.935"	
Site Description and BMI Golf Club Road, near Sold parking lot and club buildin and would protect nearby w	P Implem ier Hill Re ng. Pervio aterways.	entation Opportunities: The site oad. The site has large portions o ous asphalt or permeable pavers w	e is a private golf club located on f impervious cover, including the rould aid in groundwater recharge	





## **MB4 Borough of Paramus**





## **Borough of Paramus**

Project Identifier		<b>Geographic Coordinates</b>	
MB4_P	а		
Site Description and BMP Impl and Cedar Park cemetery. Storn populations are abundant. Flow-t to capture and treat bacteria from	ementation m drains loc hough plant geese fecal	<b>Opportunities:</b> This site con- cated along the roadways are c er boxes could be installed nea matter and nutrients from fertil	tains 100 acres of the Beth El logged with sediment. Geese r storm drains on the property izer applications.

<u>Project Identifier</u>				<b>Geographic Coordina</b>	ates
MB4_P	b	N40°58.337'		W074°03.789"	
Site Description and BMP Implementation Opportunities			<u> Opportunities</u> :	The site is a residential	neighborhood with
the Musquapsink Brook passing through near Bluebell Court			and Cottonwood Court.	The neighborhood	
consists of about 40 homes on 1/4 acre lots. 74% of the rooftops are directly connected to impo				cted to impervious	
surfaces. Rooftops should be disconnected with residential rain gardens or rain barrels. Homeow				rels. Homeowners	
should be offered educational workshops on the importance of stormwater management an			agement and BMP		
implementation.					



<b>Project Identifier</b>		Geographic	<u>Coordinates</u>		
MB4_P	с				
Site Description and BMP Impl	ementation	<b>Opportunities:</b> The site is a	residential neighborhood; the		
Musquapsink Brook is accessible at the end of Drexel Road. The neighborhood consists of about			porhood consists of about 40		
homes on 1/4 acre lots. 77% of the rooftops are directly connected to impervious surfaces. Rooftop					
should be disconnected with residential rain gardens or rain barrels. Homeowners should be offered					
educational workshops on the importance of management and BMP implementation. An adequate b			entation. An adequate buffer		
should be in place to provide the s	stream with	protection.			
		-			



Project Identifier		<b>Geographic Coordinates</b>			
MB4_P	d				
Site Description and BMP Implementation Opportunities: The site is a residential neighborhood					
consisting of about 90 homes on <sup>1</sup> / <sub>4</sub> acre lots. 67% of the rooftops are directly connected to imperv					
surfaces. Rooftops should be disconnected with residential rain gardens or rain barrels. Homeown					
should be offered educational workshops on the importance of stormwater management and					
implementation.					



<b>Project Identifier</b>		Geographic Coordinates	
MB4_P	e		
Site Description and BMP Implementation which consists of about 100 homes on <sup>1</sup> / <sub>4</sub> impervious surfaces. Rooftops should be of Homeowners should be offered educational w		<b>on Opportunities:</b> The site i acre lots. 75% of the roofto disconnected with residential porkshops on the importance of	s a residential neighborhood ps are directly connected to rain gardens or rain barrels. Stormwater management and



<b>Project Identifier</b>		<b>Geographic Coordinates</b>		
MB4_P	f N40°57.987'		W074°04.117'	
Site Description and B approximately 10 acres in parking lot. Rain gardens of Educational workshops or in would increase the knowledge	MP Imp area. Ap could be mplement ge of the i	<b>Dementation Opportunities:</b> opproximately five acres is occu implemented on the islands in ation of <i>Stormwater Managemen</i> mportance of stormwater manage	The site is Parkway School, pied by athletic fields and 1.5 by the parking lot or near the school. <i>nt in Your School Yard</i> curriculum ement and BMP implementation.	



Project Identifier		<b>Geographic Coordinates</b>		
MB4_P	g	N40°58.337'	W074°03.789'	
Site Description and BMP Implementation Opportunities: The site is a residential neighborhood w				
the Musquapsink Brook pa	ssing throu	ough behind Manchester Way. The neighborhood consists of about		
45 homes on $\frac{1}{4}$ acre lots.	30% of	the rooftops are directly connected to impervious surfaces. The		
rooftops, therefore, should be disconnected with residential rain gardens or rain barrels. Homeowne				
should be offered educational workshops on the importance of stormwater management and B				
implementation.				





# **MB4 Washington Township**





#### Washington Township

<u>Project Identifier</u>		<b>Geographic Coordinates</b>		
MB4_Wa	a	N040°58.4'	W074°03.8'	
Site Description and BMP	ption and BMP Implementation Opportunities: Approximately 90 acres of the Beth El and			
Cedar Park Cemetery is loc	cated on	n this site. The cemetery property extends to the stream edge, with		
approximately 20 feet of ex	isting rij	iparian buffer. Storm drains located along the roadways appear to be		
clogged with sediment. Ge	ese popi	ulations are abundant. Flow-though planter boxes could be installed		
near storm drains on the pro-	perty. 7	There is an opportunity to increase the riparian buffer width along the		
northern edge of the property.				

<b>Project Identifier</b>	Geographic Coordinates		c Coordinates
MB4_Wa	b	40° 58' 42.4128"	W074° 3' 57.3834"
Site Description and BMP approximately ½ an acre, in offer any possibility for BMI accounts for approximately 3 pavement are viable implement	<b>Impleme</b> both the f Ps. The b 5% of th entation of	<u>rentation Opportunities</u> : The site contains a large parking lot, front and the back of the building. The front parking lot does no back parking lot drains to a field through multiple curb cuts and the total impervious area on the site. Rain gardens and permeable options.	







Project Identifier		<b>Geographic Coordinates</b>	
MB4_Wa	с	N040°58.7'	W074°04.1'
Site Description and BMP Implementat Pascack Road. The majority of the chape behind the building, near the garbage, for stormwater at the source.		<b>ion Opportunities:</b> The site is el's downspouts are disconnected a rain garden, which can serve	the Valley Bible Chapel, off of ed. There is a possible location e to capture, treat, and infiltrate



Project Identifier <u>Geographic Coordinates</u>		hic Coordinates		
MB4_Wa	d	N040°58.6' W074°04.3'		
Site Description and BMP In	Site Description and BMP Implementation Opportunities: This site belongs to a business with a large			
parking lot. The parking lot	covers app	approximately one acre of the property with impervious surface.		
Permeable pavement is the onl	y BMP opt	ption for this site.		

Project Identifier		Geographic Coordinates		
MB4_Wa	e	e N040°58.4' W074°03.9'		
Site Description and BMP Imp	plementat	ion Opportunities: The site i	s Washington Pond, which is a	
series of streets surrounding a ce	ntral pond	l in a residential area. Divided ir	to Pond Court, Pond Drive, and	
Pond Terrace, several opportuniti	es for BM	IP implementation exist. Pond C	ourt contains approximately five	
townhouse buildings on approximately 1/4 acre lots. All but one downspout are directly connected. F			ut are directly connected. Pond	
terrace contains approximately six townhouse buildings, also on approximately 1/4 acre lots, where only some			ely <sup>1</sup> / <sub>4</sub> acre lots, where only some	
side downspouts are disconnected. Pond Drive contains approximately four townhouse buildings, also on 1			townhouse buildings, also on 1/4	
acre lots, with the majority being directly connected. Downspouts should all be disconnected with rain				
barrels to reduce the stormwater runoff from the roofs of the development. There is potential for				
community rain garden to infiltrate and reduce the stormwater flow. The upper half of the development				
drains to the pond, where no buf	fer curren	tly exists. A vegetated buffer sh	hould be installed to reduce both	
stormwater flow and pollutant loa	ding. The	lower half of the development da	ains to Musquapsink Brook.	



<u>Project Identifier</u>		<b>Geographic Coordinates</b>		
MB4_Wa	f	N040°58.685'	W074°04.013'	
Site Description and BMP Im	plement	tation Opportunities: This site is a	a small residential community, with	
less than 50 townhouse units.	There a	are two main drainage channels to the Musquapsink Brook, all from		
impervious surfaces. One section	on drains	ns to a riprap swale, which is in poor condition. Most of the impervious		
surfaces in this development da	rain to th	this. The rest drain to a 28" reinforced concrete pipe, which discharges		
into the Brook as well. The re-	he Brook as well. The roof leaders are all directly connected to these conveyance channels. The ripra			
swale is eroding because of the large stormwater volumes. The channel also lacks a buffer and a significa				
amount of sediment has accumulated. Rain gardens and rain barrels are recommended for disconnection of				
impervious surfaces on this site. Vegetated buffers around the riprap channel would help to filter out pollutan				
and sediment while also reducin	and sediment while also reducing erosion from stormwater flows.			







<u>Project Identifier</u>		Geographic Coordinates	
MB4_Wa g		N40°58.7'	W074°03.1'
Site Description and BMP Imple	Site Description and BMP Implementation Opportunities: This site is a residential area centered about t		
Pershing Avenue, with approximately 120 homes on 1/4 acre lots. 55% of the properties contain direction			of the properties contain directly
connected impervious cover. Rooftops should be disconnected with rain barrels or rain gardens. Also,			barrels or rain gardens. Also, the
driveways could be retrofitted with pervious pavement. The homeowners should be offered an education			should be offered an educational
program stressing the importance of stormwater management and BMP implementation.			



Project Identifier		Geographic Coordinates		
MB4_Wa	h	N040°58'34.22"	W074°02'57.6"	
Site Description and BMP parking lot located on the sid vegetated buffer should be filter pollutants.	Impleme de. There installed	entation Opportunities: This site contains 3 baseball fields and a grave e is a stream along the backside of the field that lacks a buffer, therefore to help control erosion, stabilize stream channels, reduce flooding, an		



Project Identifier		Geographic Coordinates	
MB4_Wa i		N040°58.820'	W074°03.741'
Site Description and BMP property, and has a possible ra garden would serve to collect, t implementation opportunity near	Impleme in garde reat, and ur the ten	entation Opportunities: This si n location in the back of the school infiltrate runoff from the parking lo nis court parking lot, which covers	te is the Westwood High School ol, near the tennis courts. This rain ot. There is also another rain garden approximately 0.5 acres.





# MB4 Borough of Westwood

Map Mus Res



#### **Borough of Westwood**

<u>Project Identifier</u>		Geographic Coordinates			
MB4_We	a	N40° 58' 31.4034"	W074° 2' 37.3596"		
Site Description and BMP Implementation Opportunities: The site is a residential					
neighborhood of about 7 streets and 100 houses on <sup>1</sup> / <sub>4</sub> acre lots. 62% of the homes are directly					
connected to impervious cover. Rooftops should be disconnected via residential rain gardens or					
rain barrels. Driveways can be converted to permeable pavement. In addition, roadways can be					
converted to Green Streets with curb cuts and roadside rain gardens or with curb extensions.					
Homeowners should be offered educational workshops on the importance of stormwater					
management and BMP implementation.					



<b>Project Identifier</b>		Geographic Coordinates			
MB4_We	b	N40° 58' 40.8396"	W074° 2' 52.0728"		
Site Description and BMP Implementation Opportunities: The site is a residential					
neighborhood of about 4 streets and 70 houses on 1/4 acre lots. 54% of the homes are directly					
connected to impervious cover. Rooftops should be disconnected by residential rain gardens or					
rain barrels. Driveways can be converted to permeable pavement. In addition, roadways can be					
converted to Green Streets with curb cuts and roadside rain gardens or with curb bump outs.					
Homeowners should be offered educational workshops on the importance of stormwater					
management and BMP implementation.					





# MB5 Borough of Emerson




#### Subwatershed MB5

### **Borough of Emerson**

<u>Project Identifier</u>		<b>Geographic Coordinates</b>		
MB5_E	а	N040°58'40.3"	W074°02'06.1"	
Site Description and BM approximately 80 homes on downspouts to impervious s Driveways should be retroit educational workshop on the	<u>Site Description and BMP Implementation Opportunities</u> : This site is a residential area with approximately 80 homes on <sup>1</sup> / <sub>4</sub> acre lots. 53% of the properties in this area contain directly connected downspouts to impervious surface. Rooftops should be disconnected with rain gardens or rain barrels Driveways should be retrofitted with permeable pavement. Homeowners should also be offered ar educational workshop on the importance of stormwater management and BMP implementation			

# Site Photos:



<b>Project Identifier</b>		<b>Geographic Coordinates</b>				
MB5_E	b	N040°58'36.37"	W074°02'22.13"			
Site Description and BMP Implementation Opportunities: The site consists of residential streets,						
totaling approximately 40 homes with about 44% containing directly connected downspouts. Ackerman						
Park is located in this neighborhood. The park is small, and the area is limited, but there is a potential to						
install a community rain garden. Public access to the park provides educational opportunities centered						
around the rain garden in	around the rain garden installation.					





# **MB5 Borough of Westwood**

Map of Proposed Areas of Disconnection Musquapsink Brook Watershed Restoration and Protection Plan



### Subwatershed MB5

### **Borough of Westwood**

<u>Project Identifier</u>		Geographic Coordinates		
MB5_We	а	N40° 58' 46.26"	W074° 2' 38.76"	
Site Description and BM	P Impl	ementation Opportunities:	This site includes residential	
neighborhoods along Carl Place and Langner Place. Gabion baskets and riprap have been placed along				
portions of Carl Place for stabilization and flood control. Homeowners have also included riprap in their				
landscaping to mitigate flooding on their property. These two streets contain approximately 30 houses on				
<sup>1</sup> / <sub>4</sub> acre lots. 87% of the prop	perties co	ntain directly connected imperv	ious cover. Rooftops should be	
disconnected with rain gardens or rain barrels. Driveways should be retrofitted with permeable pavement.				
Homeowners should be offered	l educatio	onal workshops on the importanc	e of stormwater management and	
BMP implementation				



Project Identifier		<b>Geographic Coordinates</b>		
MB5_We	b	N40°58.730′	W074°02.799′	
Site Description and BMP Implementation Opportunities: This site is a residential neighborhood,				
located along Forest Avenue, with approximately 15 houses on ¼ acre lots. 30% of the properties contain				
directly connected impervious cover. Rooftops should be disconnected with rain gardens or rain barrels.				
Driveways should be retrofitted with permeable pavement. Homeowners should be offered educational				
workshops on the importance of stormwater management and BMP implementation.				

<u>Project Identifier</u>		Geographic Coordinates	
MB5_We	с	N40° 58' 42.38"	W074° 2' 33.5724"
Site Description and BMP located along Ward Avenue a properties contain directly c gardens or rain barrels. Driv offered educational workshop	Site Description and BMP Implementation Opportunities: This site is a residential neighborhood located along Ward Avenue and Taco Avenue with approximately 25 houses on <sup>1</sup> / <sub>4</sub> acre lots. 72% of the properties contain directly connected impervious cover. Rooftops should be disconnected with rain gardens or rain barrels. Driveways should be retrofitted permeable pavement. Homeowners should be		

<u>Project Identifier</u>		<u>Geographi</u>	ic Coordinates
MB5_We	d	N40°58.908′	W074°02.796′
Site Description and BMP Implementation Opportunities: This site is a residential neighborhood			
located along Ruckner Avenue with approximately 20 houses on 1/4 acre lots. 71% of the properties			
contain directly connected impervious cover. Rooftops should be disconnected with rain gardens or rain			
barrels. Driveways should	be retro	ofitted permeable pavement.	Homeowners should be offered
educational workshops on the importance of stormwater management and BMP implementation.			

<u>Project Identifier</u>		<b>Geographic Coordinates</b>	
MB5_We	e	N40° 58' 54.48"	W074° 2' 24.55"
Site Description and BMP Imp surrounding residential neighb that drain the adjacent propert presence was documented on Brook.	plementat orhood. ies and ro the park	ion Opportunities: This site is or The park contains a man-made p badways. The pond has no ripar property. The pond ultimately	cupied by Gritman Park and the cond with four stormwater inlets ian buffer and evidence of geese discharges to the Musquapsink



<u>Project Identifier</u>		<b>Geographic Coordinates</b>		
MB5_We	f	N 40° 59' 8.44"	W074° 2' 21.75"	
Site Description and BMP Implementation Opportunities: This site is a residential neighborhood				
located along 4 <sup>th</sup> Avenue with approximately 15 houses on <sup>1</sup> / <sub>4</sub> acre lots. Several of the properties contain				
directly connected impervious cover. Rooftops should be disconnected with rain gardens or rain barrels.				
Driveways should be retrofitted with permeable pavement. Homeowners should be offered educational workshops on the importance of stormwater management and BMP implementation.				

<u>Project Identifier</u>		<u>Geographi</u>	ic Coordinates	
MB5_We	g	N 40° 59' 7.69"	W0 74° 2' 46.64"	
Site Description and BMP Implementation Opportunities: This site is a residential neighborhood				
located between Lafayette Avenue and Clairmont Avenue with approximately 150 houses on 1/4 acre lots.				
Approximately 60% of the properties contain directly connected impervious cover. Rooftops should be				
disconnected with rain gardens or rain barrels. Driveways should be retrofitted with permeable pavement.				
Homeowners should be offered educational workshops on the importance of stormwater management and				
BMP implementation.				



Project Identifier		Geographic Coordinates		
MB5_We	h	N40° 59' 2.28"	W074° 2' 23.35"	
Site Description and BMP Implementation Opportunities: This site is characterized by an open tract				
of land situated adjacent to the Musquapsink Brook and served as a sampling point (MB005) for the				
surface water quality monitoring. The site is located along 3 <sup>rd</sup> Avenue and across from athletic fields. It				
contains no riparian buffer, and geese presence has been documented on several occasions.			several occasions.	



<u>Project Identifier</u>		Geographic Coordinates			
MB5_We	i	N40°58.956′	W074°02.610′		
Site Description and BMP Implementation Opportunities: This site is occupied by Brookside					
Elementary School and contains directly connected sidewalks, a roof, and a parking lot. The site offers an					
opportunity for a 400 square-foot rain garden installation at the main entrance. Students and teachers					
would benefit from both an in-class lesson and hands-on learning experience related to nonpoint source					
pollution and stormwater management.					





# **MB6 Borough of Emerson**

Map of Proposed Areas of Disconnection Musquapsink Brook Watershed Restoration and Protection Plan



# Subwatershed MB6

### **Borough of Emerson**

Project Identifier		Geographic Coordinates	
MB6_E	а	N40°58.957′	W074°02.014′
Site Description and BMI with approximately 85 ho impervious cover. Rooftop be converted to Green Stree of stormwater management	<b>P Implem</b> mes on <sup>1</sup> / s should b ts. Home and BMP	entation Opportunities: This 4 acre lots. 76% of the prop e disconnected with rain barrels owners should be offered educat implementation.	site is a residential neighborhood perties contain directly connected or rain gardens. Roadways should ional workshops on the importance

### Site Photos:

I



<u>Project Identifier</u>		Geographic Coordinates		
MB6_E	b	N40°58.908′	W074°01.993′	
Site Description and BMP Implementation Opportunities: This site is the Emerson Memoria				
Elementary School property. The site is approximately six acres of which about 2.5 acres is impervious			hich about 2.5 acres is impervious	
cover. The current stormwater conveyance system is in poor condition and sediment has built up in n			and sediment has built up in many	
of the cement channels on the property. Implementing vegetated swales in place of the cement channels				
would help infiltrate some of the rain water instead of simply directing it to storm drains. Rain gardens in				
the parking lot islands and near the school entrance would provide more opportunity for pollutant removal				
and groundwater recharge.				





# **MB6 Borough of Westwood**



Map of Proposed Areas of Disconnection Musquapsink Brook Watershed Restoration and Protection Plan



### Subwatershed MB6

### **Borough of Westwood**

Project Identifier		<b>Geographic Coordinates</b>	
MB6_We a		N40°59.203'	W074°02.099'
Site Description and BMP Implementation Opportunities: The site is a large mill pond receiving runoff from various sources – both grass runoff and storm sewer lines. The pond is located behind homes on 2 <sup>nd</sup> Avenue and has no buffer. There is a stone reinforcement on the narrow side of pond. A buffer should be implemented to lower pollutant loads to the pond and slow stormwater flows.			

# Site Photos:



Project Identifier		<b>Geographic Coordinates</b>		
MB6_We b		N40° 59' 34.1232"	W074° 1' 55.527"	
Site Description and BMP Implementation Opportunities: The site is a commercial property			site is a commercial property,	
including The Learning Express and the Hanami Japanese and Chinese restaurant. The parking lot at the			estaurant. The parking lot at this	
site should be retrofitted with pervious asphalt or pavers.				



<b>Project Identifier</b>		Geographic Coordinates	
MB6_We	с	N40° 59' 2.49"	W074° 1' 19.0662"
Site Description and BMP Implementation Opportunities: This site is a 2.5 acre apartment housing			
complex located on Crest Street. The Westwood Manor Complex is directly adjacent to a large pond			
which receives runoff from the back portion of the parking lot. The complex contains much impervious			
cover; downspouts should be disconnected via rain barrels or rain gardens. Limiting the volume of			
stormwater reaching the pond will limit the chance of contamination.			



Project Identifier		Geographic Coordinates
MB6_We	d	
Site Description and BMP Implementation Opportunities: This site is occupied by a car leasing		
business on Old Hook Road. The parking lo		t is pitched toward the stream with little riparian buffer to
protect the waterway. The parking lot should		be replaced with permeable pavement to capture polluted
runoff.		

<b>Project Identifier</b>		Geographic Coordinates	
MB6_We	e	N40° 59' 7.386"	W074° 1' 28.8582"
Site Description and BMP Implementation Opportunities: The site, Bedrogian Reality Agency, is a commercial property adjacent to the stream. The site has an elevated parking lot, which drains to the lower lot and then to the Musquapsink Brook. Pervious pavement should be utilized to limit the amount of impervious cover, thereby reducing the amount of stormwater and pollutants entering the waterway.			



<b>Project Identifier</b>		Geographic Coordinates		
MB6_We	f	N40° 59' 4.8366"	W074° 2' 16.5006"	
Site Description and BMP Implementation Opportunities: The site is Ketler Elementary School, located on 3 <sup>rd</sup> Avenue. The Musquapsink Brook is accessible from some portions of the site, which includes a large parking lot, asphalt playground, and numerous impervious surfaces. Implementation of rain gardens near the school and off the parking lot would reduce pollutant loadings to the stream.				



<b>Project Identifier</b>		<b>Geographic Coordinates</b>	
MB6_We	g	N40° 59' 30.5514" W074° 1' 27.5226"	
	Ũ		
Site Description and BMP Implementation Opportunities: The site is Berkeley Elementary School,			
located on the corner of Harrington and Berkeley Avenues in Westwood, New Jersey. The Musquap			d, New Jersey. The Musquapsink
Brook is located adjacent to the parking lot for the school property. Runoff from the lot and the gra		unoff from the lot and the grassed	
area reaches the stream directly. Downspouts on the school should be disconnected with rain gardens.			disconnected with rain gardens. A
green roof could be installed on a portion of the school building. The parking lot could be retrofi		arking lot could be retrofitted with	
permeable pavement.	_		-



<b>Project Identifier</b>		<b>Geographic Coordinates</b>		
h	N40° 59' 13.6998"	W074° 1' 38.0676"		
Site Description and BMP Implementation Opportunities: The site is occupied by the Westwood				
Hills Apartment Complex and covers approximately 14 acres. The roofs of the buildings have externation				
downspouts which should be disconnected with the implementation of rain barrels and cluster rain				
gardens.				
	h P Impler and cover be disco	Geographic   h N40° 59' 13.6998"   P Implementation Opportunities: The s   and covers approximately 14 acres. The ro   be disconnected with the implementation		



Project Identifier		Geographic	Coordinates	
	1			
MB6_We	i	N40° 59' 12.2418"	W074° 1' 27.6018"	
Site Description and BMP	<b>Imple</b>	mentation Opportunities: The s	site is a residential neighborhood,	
including Fern Street, Lexington Avenue, Brook Place, and Roosevelt Avenue with homes on <sup>1</sup> / <sub>4</sub> acre lots.				
The Musquapsink Brook is a	ccessib	le at the end of both Fern Street and	l Brook Place. An adequate buffer	
should be installed to ensure protection of the stream from common pollutants transported by road runoff			llutants transported by road runoff.	
58% of the properties contain directly connected impervious cover. Rooftops should be disconnected via			ooftops should be disconnected via	
rain barrels and/or rain gardens. Two cul-de-sac streets could take extra measures and push for stree				
cleaning to prevent the entrance of pollutants and sediments into the storm drains.			rm drains.	

## **APPENDIX D**

Select BMP Concept Designs

DMP III0I IIIdu0II 510				
Project ID: MB5_We_h				
Location:	Municipality: Borough of Westwood			
Segment of stream along 3 <sup>rd</sup> Avenue	Subwatershed: MB5			
BMP Description: Riparian Buffer Restoration Streambank Stabilization	Targeted Pollutants: Fecal contamination from geese total nitrogen (TN), total phosphorus (TP), and total suspended solids (TSS) in surface runoff			
Existing Conditions and Issues: This location served as a sampling site for the surface water quality monitoring conducted in the Summer of 2007. Currently, there is no vegetative buffer separating the Musquapsink Brook from the adjacent land. Geese inhabit this site and have been documented both in the stream and on the land. Because geese are prevalent in the Musquapsink Brook Watershed, they have been identified as significant contributors to fecal pollution. This portion of the stream also receives overland flow, which may carry excess nitrogen or phosphorus from fertilizer applications to nearby lawns or athletic fields. Evidence of downcutting is apparent along the streambank.				
Proposed Solution(s): A 30-foot wide buffer should be installed along the 150-foot se vegetation along the banks. This will prohibit geese from enter filter out pollutants from overland flow. The streambank shou logs to prevent further erosion and downcutting.	ection of stream that currently has no ring the Brook and will also function to Id be stabilized with live stakes and coir			
Anticipated Benefits: A 30-foot riparian buffer, similar to a vegetated filter strip, courrate for TN and TP, as reported in the NJDEP BMP Manual. TS Pathogens and Bacteria such as E. coli and Fecal Coliform with riparian buffer would also provide ancillary benefits, such as appeal to surrounding property owners. The biostabilization of loadings. Ketler Elementary School is located across from Extension Water Resources Program could present the <i>Storn</i> curriculum to students and then include them in the riparian beto the in-class lessons. It can also be used as a demo project DPW and Parks Staff.	Id be estimated to achieve a 30% removal S loadings may be reduced by up to 80%. will be reduced by up to 90% as well. A s enhanced wildlife habitat and aesthetic of the streambank would reduce sediment the proposed site. Rutgers Cooperative <i>nwater Management in Your School Yard</i> ouffer planting efforts as an augmentation t to launch educational programming for			
Possible Funding Sources: 319(h) grants from the New Jersey Department of Environmen Bergen County Soil Conservation District	tal Protection			

Borough of Westwood

United Water New Jersey

Partners/Stakeholders: Borough of Westwood Ketler Elementary School Bergen SWAN or other watershed groups

Estimate	d Cost:					
Task	Task Description					
				Cost		
1	Complete topographic survey and soils test			\$500		
2	Prepare final design			\$1,000		
3	Activities for BMP installation	Unit Cost	Quantity			
	Plant materials	\$5.00	1,125	\$5 <i>,</i> 625		
	Soil amendments, if necessary (lime, fertilizer)	-	-	\$300		
	Installation (assume volunteer-based effort)	\$25.22/hr*	15 people	\$3,027		
			8 hr/person			
	Supervision of volunteers	\$1,000	1	\$1,000		
	Educational Programs (Schools and DPW)	\$2,000		\$2,000		
	Contingency (20%)	-	-	\$2 <i>,</i> 390		
	Total BMP Installation Cost					
Total Estimated Project Cost						

\*Based on New Jersey State Value for Volunteer Time as reported by the Corporation for National and Community Service

Project ID: MB4 Wa f				
Location:	Municipality: Washington Township			
Washington Green Townhomes, Hampton Court	Subwatershed: MB4			
BMP Description:	Targeted Pollutants:			
Cluster rain gardens	total nitrogen (TN), total phosphorus			
	(TP), and total suspended solids (TSS)			
	Pathogens (E. Coli and fecal coliform)			
Existing Conditions and Issues: This site is a small residential community, with less than 50 townhouse units. There are two main drainage channels from the property to the Musquapsink Brook. Most of the impervious surfaces in this development drain to a riprap swale, in poor condition. A small portion of the property drains to a 28" reinforced concrete pipe. The roof leaders are all directly connected to these conveyance channels. The				
section of the Brook receiving stormwater from this site is eroc	ing because of the neavy water volumes.			
Proposed Solution(s): Cluster rain gardens are recommended for disconnection of impervious surfaces on this site. Approximately ten (10) bioretention systems, 200 square feet each, could be installed in this community.				
Anticipated Benefits: The rain gardens would each disconnect 1,000 square feet of impervious cover, reducing stormwater volumes by 250,000 gallons and reducing E.coli, Fecal Coliform, TN, TP, and TSS loads by 90%. The rain gardens would provide enhanced wildlife habitats and improved aesthetics.				
Possible Funding Sources: 319(h) grants from the New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection New Jersey Department of Transportation Bergen County Soil Conservation District Washington Township United Water New Jersey				
Partners/Stakeholders:				
Washington Township				
Bergen SWAN or other watershed groups				
Residents of Washington Green Townhomes				

Total Estimated Project Cost		\$18,800		
		Total BMP I	nstallation Cost	\$16,800
	Contingency (20%)			\$2,800
	Plant materials*	\$10/unit	400	\$4,000
	effort)*			<i>+_0,000</i>
	Rain garden installation (assume contractor		Quantity	\$10.000
3	Activities for BMP installation	Unit Cost	Quantity	+_/
2	Prepare final design			\$1.500
1	Complete topographic survey and soil tests			\$500
				Cost
Task	Task Description			Estimated
Estimate	ed Cost:			

\*Based on cluster rain garden installations at Tivoli Gardens in Parsippany-Troy Hills, NJ

Project ID: MB5_We_e					
Location: Gritman Park and surrounding neighborhood	Municipality: Borough of Westwood				
	Subwatershed: MB5				
BMP Description: Vegetated buffer around pond Streamside Living extension program for residents	Targeted Pollutants: total nitrogen (TN), total phosphorus (TP), and total suspended solids (TSS) in surface runoff <i>E. coli</i> and Fecal Coliform (geese contributions)				

Existing Conditions and Issues:

Gritman Park contains a man-made pond with four stormwater inlets that drain adjacent properties and roadways. There is one outlet from the pond that ultimately discharges to the Musquapsink Brook. The pond has no riparian buffer and geese fecal matter was documented on the park property. The pond is approximately one acre in area while the surrounding neighbhorhood covers nine. There are approximately 60 residential properties within the vicinity.

#### Proposed Solution(s):

A 30-foot vegetative buffer around the perimeter of the pond (approximately 600 feet) would deter geese from entering the water. The buffer would also intercept and filter overland flow, decreasing *E. coli* (fecal coliform) and sediment loadings to the stream.

A Streamside Living extension program for residents in the surrounding neighborhood would help to address the polluted runoff entering the pond via the stormwater inlets. The Streamside Living program would be modeled after the workshops offered in New Hampshire (Landscaping at the Water's Edge) and would engage homeowners in environmental stewardship. The program would offer information on the findings of this Watershed Restoration and Protection Plan, landscaping practices, local ordinance and land use regulations, and also on ideal BMPs for implantation on individual properties to achieve load reductions in TN, TP, TSS, and *E. coli* (fecal coliform). Workshop attendees could apply for "mini-grants" offered through the Streamside Living extension program. Selected applicants with approved designs would receive monetary support for installation of BMPs on their properties. This will reduce stormwater runoff at the source.

Anticipated Benefits:

A 30-foot vegetative buffer, similar to a filter strip, could be estimated to achieve a 30% removal rate for TN and TP, as reported in the NJDEP BMP Manual. TSS loadings may be reduced by up to 80%. A buffer would also provide ancillary benefits, such as enhanced habitat for desirable wildlife and aesthetic appeal to surrounding property owners. Up to 90% reduction of Fecal coliform and E. coli is to be expected.

Possible Funding Sources: 319(h) grants from the New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection New Jersey Department of Transportation Bergen County Soil Conservation District Borough of Westwood United Water New Jersey

### Partners/Stakeholders: Borough of Westwood Bergen SWAN or other watershed groups

#### Estimated Cost:

Estimated Cost.					
Task	Task Description			Estimated	
				Cost	
1	Complete topographic survey			\$500	
2	Prepare final design			\$1,500	
3	Activities for BMP installation	Unit Cost	Quantity		
	Plant materials	\$5/unit	4,500	\$22,500	
	Installation (assume volunteer-based effort)	\$25.22/hr*	30 people/	\$6,053	
			8 hours		
	Supervision of volunteers	\$1,000	2	\$2,000	
	Contingency (20%)			\$6,111	
	Streamside Living extension program			\$4,500	
	Mini-grants for homeowners to install BMPs	\$500/grant	30	\$15,000	
		Total BMP Installation Cost		\$56,164	
			-		
Total Estimated Project Cost		\$58,164			

\*Based on New Jersey State Value for Volunteer Time as reported by the Corporation for National and Community Service

Project ID: MB6 E a					
Location:	Municipality: Borough of Emerson				
Roadways in residential neighborhood;					
Intersection of Pascack Avenue and Haines Street	Subwatersned: MB6				
BMP Description:	Targeted Pollutants:				
Curb extensions, flow-through planter boxes and rain gardens	total nitrogen (TN), total phosphorus				
as part of a Green Street program.	(TP), total suspended solids (TSS) and				
	fecal coliform in roadway surface runoff				
Existing Conditions and Issues:					
This medium-density residential neighborhood contains appro	oximately 85 nomes on ¼ acre lots, with				
76% of the properties containing directly connected imp	ervious cover. Roadways account for				
contains sediment salt fuel hydrocarbons and/or nutrient	s that accumulate as a result of urban				
activities	s that accumulate as a result of urbain				
Proposed Solution(s):					
Green Streets reduce the negative impacts of stormwater run	off by mimicking natural conditions. Soil				
and native vegetation are used to manage runoff on the surfa	ace, at the source. Curb extensions, flow-				
through planter boxes, and rain gardens will be installed as	s part of a comprehensive Green Street				
program for this neighborhood.					
A curb extension is an angled narrowing of a roadway with a co	oncurrent widening of the sidewalk space.				
Rain gardens can be incorporated into these extensions to cap	ture stormwater flow from streets. Flow-				
through planter boxes are long, narrow landscaped areas wit	h vertical walls and flat bottoms open to				
the underlying soil. They allow for increased stormwater stora	ge volume in minimal space.				
Green Streets have been shown to reduce neak stormwater flo	we by 80% Eacol coliform TN TB and TSS				
will be removed through the filtering and adsorption capabilit	ies of both the vegetation and soil Flow-				
through planter boxes are estimated to achieve 25-50% TP rem	noval and 40-60% TN removal.				
Possible Funding Sources:					
319(h) grants from the New Jersey Department of Environmen	tal Protection				
New Jersey Department of Transportation					
Bergen County Soil Conservation District					
Borough of Emerson					
United Water New Jersey					
Partners/Stakeholders:					
Borough of Emerson					
Bergen Swaw or other watershed groups					

Estimate	d Cost:			
Task Task Description			Estimated	
				Cost
1 Complete topographic survey and soils test			\$500	
2	2 Prepare final design			\$1,500
3	Activities for BMP installation	Unit Cost	Quantity	
	Curb extensions	\$44/sqft	550 sqft	\$24,200
	Flow-through planter boxes	\$35/sqft	600 sqft	\$21,000
	Rain gardens	\$2/sqft	4,000 sqft	\$8,000
	Contingency (20%)			\$10,640
		Total BMP Installation Cost		\$63,840
Total Estimated Project Cost		\$65,840		

\*Based on New Jersey State Value for Volunteer Time as reported by the Corporation for National and Community Service

Project ID: MB6 We g				
Location: Berkeley Elementary School	Municipality: Borough of Westwood			
Berkeley Elementary School	Subwatershed: MB6			
BMP Description: Green Roof Rain Garden Permeable Pavement Stormwater Management in Your School Yard Curriculum	Targeted Pollutants: total nitrogen (TN), total phosphorus (TP), and total suspended solids (TSS) in surface runoff			
Existing Conditions and Issues: This school located just upstream of the confluence of the Musquapsink Brook and Pascack Brook, near sampling point MB6 and at the corner of Berkeley Avenue and Harrington Avenue. The Musquapsink Brook flows adjacent to the school property and receives direct runoff from the 0.5-acre parking lot situated next to it. The entire school property contains approximately 2.5 acres of directly connected impenvious cover				
Proposed Solution(s): An extensive green roof is proposed for part of the school facility located along Harrington Avenue. An extensive green roof is 6 inches or shallower and is designed to be virtually self-sustaining and with minimal maintenance requirements. Two (2) 200 square feet rain gardens are proposed for downspout disconnection on the main school building located along Berkeley Avenue. Replacing the existing asphalt with permeable pavement on the easternmost parking lot is also recommended for this site. Introduce <i>Stormwater Management in your School Yard</i> curriculum to engage students in how stormwater can have a negative impact on local bodies of water and how the students can have a				
Anticipated Benefits: The green roof would replace and disconnect approximately 4,000 square feet of rooftop. Green roofs are estimated to reduce runoff volumes by 50% on a yearly basis. This equates to 55,000 gallons of stormwater runoff that no longer reaches the Musquapsink Brook. Green roofs also offer benefits such as the mitigation of urban heat-island effects, conserving energy, creating wildlife habitat, and improving the aesthetics of a building (EPA, 2009). The two (2) rain gardens would disconnect approximately 2,000 square feet of rooftop, capturing approximately 50,000 gallons of stormwater and removing 90% of TN, TP, and TSS loadings. The rain gardens can also reduce 90% of E. Coli and Fecal Coliform loads in stormwater runoff by capturing runoff at the source before it can pick up non point source pollutants. The permeable pavement would replace 8,000 square feet of parking lot, capturing approximately 165,000 gallons of stormwater and reducing TN, TP, and TSS loads by nearly 60% (Virginia DCR Spec No.				
7, 2011). Possible Funding Sources: 319(h) grants from the New Jersey Department of Environment New Jersey Department of Transportation Bergen County Soil Conservation District Borough of Westwood United Water New Jersey	tal Protection			

### Partners/Stakeholders: Borough of Westwood Bergen SWAN or other watershed groups

#### Estimated Cost:

Task	Task Description			Estimated
				Cost
1	Soil tests, Site delineation, permitting fees			\$1,000
2	Prepare final design			\$2,000
3	Activities for BMP installation	Unit Cost	Quantity	
	Green roof installation and maintenance <sup>1</sup>	\$20/sqft	4,000 sqft	\$80,000
	Rain garden installation	\$2/sqft	400 sqft	\$800
	Permeable pavement <sup>2</sup>	\$10/sqft	8,000 sqft	\$80,000
	Contingency (20%)			\$32,160
	Implementation of school curriculum			\$1,000
		Total BMP Installation Cost		\$193,960
Total Estimated Project Cost		\$196,960		

<sup>1</sup>Green Roofs for Stormwater Runoff Control, EPA, 2009 <sup>2</sup>Virginia DCR Stormwater Design Specification No. 7, 2011

# **MUSQUAPSINK BROOK WATERSHED RESTORATION & PROTECTION PLAN** Third Avenue Concept Design

# **PROJECT LOCATION**



# **RIPARIAN/FORESTED BUFFER (1)**

A riparian or forested buffer is an area along a shoreline, wetland, or stream where development is restricted or prohibited. The primary function of aquatic buffers is to physically protect and separate a stream, lake, or wetland from future disturbance or encroachment. If properly designed, a buffer can provide stormwater management, and can act as a right-of-way during floods, sustaining the integrity of stream ecosystems and habitats. As conservation areas, aquatic buffers are part aquatic ecosystem and part urban forest.

# www.epa.gov

# **STREAMBANK STABILIZATION (2)**

Streambank stabilization consists of using vegetation or structural materials to stabilize and protect banks of streams, brooks, rivers, or excavated channels against scour and erosion from flowing water. Streambank vegetation that is sufficiently developed contributes large woody material to streams, creates critical structural elements of habitats for many different species. Still streambanks stabilized with shrub and tree vegetation provides excellent habitat for fish and wildlife species.

www.maine.gov





# **MUSQUAPSINK BROOK WATERSHED RESTORATION & PROTECTION PLAN** Berkeley Elementary School Concept Design

# **PROJECT LOCATION**



# RAIN GARDEN (1)

A rain garden is a landscaped, shallow depression that captures, filters, and infiltrates stormwater runoff. The rain garden removes nonpoint source pollutants from stormwater runoff while recharging groundwater.

# **GREEN ROOF (2)**

A green roof, or rooftop garden, is a vegetative layer grown on a rooftop. Green roofs provide shade and remove heat from the air through evapotranspiration, reducing temperatures of the roof surface and the surrounding air. On hot summer days, the surface temperature of a green roof can be cooler than the air temperature, whereas the surface of a conventional rooftop can be up to 90°F (50°C) warmer.

# **STORMWATER MANAGEMENT IN YOUR SCHOOL YARD (3)**

The Stormwater Management in Your School Yard educational program is designed to provide fourth and/or fifth grade students with an opportunity to apply their science, math, and communication skills to real-world environmental problems through the building of a rain garden on the school's campus. The main focus of the Stormwater Management in Your School Yard program curriculum is rain gardens. However, topics such as water, soil, and plant ecology are presented, and connections between these topics and rain gardens are introduced and discussed with the students.

# **PERVIOUS PAVEMENT (4)**

Permeable pavement is an alternative to asphalt or concrete surfaces that allows stormwater to drain through the porous surface to a stone reservoir underneath. The reservoir temporarily stores surface runoff before infiltrating it into the subsoil. The appearance of the alternative surface is often similar to asphalt or concrete, but it is manufactured without fine materials and instead incorporates void spaces that allow for storage and infiltration. (www.epa.gov)



# **SITE PLAN**

**Project ID:** MB6\_We\_g Municipality: Borough of Westwood Subwatershed: MB6 Location: Berkeley Elementary School















RUTGERS New Jersey Agricultural Experiment Station



- releases the water during the dry season.



•







# **MUSQUAPSINK BROOK WATERSHED RESTORATION & PROTECTION PLAN** Green Street Concept Design

# **PROJECT LOCATION**



# What is a Green Street?

Green streets are an innovative design concept that can transform our streets into appealing landscaoed areas while managing stormwater runoff. Designed to be attractive as well as functional, green streets use vegetation and soil to capture, slow, filter, and infiltrate stormwater runoff. They manage stormwater, provide environmental benefits, beautify our streetscapes, add greenery to urban areas, enhance pedestrian and bicycle safety, and provide habitat.

# **RAIN GARDEN (1)**

A rain garden is a landscaped, shallow depression that captures, filters, and infiltrates stormwater runoff. The rain garden removes nonpoint source pollutants from stormwater runoff while recharging groundwater.

# **TREE BOX FILTER (2)**

Tree box filters are in-ground containers used to control runoff water quality and provide some detention capacity. Often premanufactured, tree box filters contain street trees, vegetation, and soil that help filter runoff before it enters a catch basin or is released from the site. Tree box filters can help meet a variety of stormwater management goals, satisfy regulatory requirements for new development, protect and restore streams, control combined sewer overflows (CSOs), retrofit existing urban areas, and protect reservoir watersheds.

# **STORMWATER CURB EXTENSION (3)**

A curb extension or bump out is typically a paved area that extends into the street and is used to help calm traffic and increase pedestrian safety. By altering this design with curb openings that allow runoff to enter and adding a special soil mix and appropriate vegetation, a curb extension can function as an attractive stormwater facility while still providing traffic calming benefits.

# **PERVIOUS PAVEMENT (4)**

Permeable pavement is an alternative to asphalt or concrete surfaces that allows stormwater to drain through the porous surface to a stone reservoir underneath. The reservoir temporarily stores surface runoff before infiltrating it into the subsoil. The appearance of the alternative surface is often similar to asphalt or concrete, but it is manufactured without fine materials and instead incorporates void spaces that allow for storage and infiltration.

www.epa.gov



# **SITE PLAN**

CHANDLER

DRIVE

RUTGERS

New Jersey Agricultural Experiment Station







**SITE PHOTOS** 



**Project ID:** MB6\_E\_a Municipality: Borough of Emerson Subwatershed: MB6 Location: Roadways in residential neighborhood; intersection of Pascack Avenue and Haines Street

# **MUSQUAPSINK BROOK WATERSHED RESTORATION & PROTECTION PLAN** Washington Green Townhomes Concept Design

Project ID: MB4\_Wa\_f Municipality: Washington Township Subwatershed: MB4 Location: Washington Green Townhomes, Hampton Court

# **PROJECT LOCATION**



# WHAT IS A RAIN GARDEN?

A rain garden is a landscaped, shallow depression that captures, filters, and infiltrates stormwater runoff. The rain garden removes nonpoint source pollutants from stormwater runoff while recharging groundwater. A rain garden has two main goals. The first goal is to serve as a functional system to capture, filter, and infiltrate stormwater runoff at the source, and the second goal is to be an aesthetically pleasing garden. Rain gardens are an important tool for communities and neighborhoods to create diverse, attractive landscapes while protecting the health of the natural environment.









**SITE PLAN** 



# Black-eyed Susan (Rudbeckia laciniata) Inkberry Holly (Ilex glabra)

Purple Coneflower (Echinacea purpurea) Red-twig Dogwood (Cornus sericea) Sweet Pepperbush (Clethera alnifolia) Witchhazel (Hamamelis virginiana)

